
Cabinet
Date: Tuesday, 25 June 2019
Time: 10.00 am
Venue: Committee Rooms A&B, South Walks House, 

Dorchester, DT1 1EE
Membership: (Quorum 3) 
Spencer Flower (Chairman), Peter Wharf (Vice-Chairman), Tony Alford, Ray Bryan, 
Graham Carr-Jones, Tony Ferrari, Laura Miller, Andrew Parry, Gary Suttle and 
David Walsh

Chief Executive: Matt Prosser, South Walks House, South Walks Road, 
Dorchester, Dorset DT1 1UZ (Sat Nav DT1 1EE)

For more information about this agenda please telephone Democratic Services on 
01305 or Lee Gallagher  01305 224191 - lee.gallagher@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk

For easy access to the Council agendas and minutes download the free 
public app Mod.gov for use on your iPad, Android and Windows tablet. Once 
downloaded select Dorset Council.

 
Members of the public are welcome to attend this meeting with the exception of any items 
listed in the exempt part of this agenda. Please note that if you attend a committee 
meeting and are invited to make oral representations your name, together with a summary 
of your comments will be recorded in the minutes of the meeting.  Please refer to the 
guide to public participation at committee meetings for more information about speaking at 
meetings. 

There is a Hearing Loop Induction System available for public use on request.  Please 
speak to a Democratic Services Officer for assistance in using this facility.

Recording, photographing and using social media at meetings

Dorset Council is committed to being open and transparent in the way it carries out its 
business whenever possible.  Anyone can film, audio-record, take photographs, and use 
social media such as tweeting and blogging to report the meeting when it is open to the 
public, so long as they conform to the Protocol for filming and audio recording of public 
council meetings.

Public Document Pack



A G E N D A

Page No.

1  APOLOGIES

To receive any apologies for absence.

2  MINUTES 5 - 10

To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 4 June 2019.

3  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

To receive any declarations of interest. 

4  PUBLIC PARTICIPATION

To receive questions or statements on the business of the committee 
from town and parish councils and members of the public. 

5  FORWARD PLAN 11 - 26

To consider the Cabinet Forward Plan.

6  REVENUES AND BENEFITS POLICIES AND SCHEMES 27 - 48

To consider a report by the Cabinet Member for Finance, Commercial 
and Assets.

7  EQUITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS - DAY CARE & TRANSPORT 49 - 60

To consider a report by the Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care and 
Health.

8  DORSET COUNCIL LOCAL PLAN AND LOCAL DEVELOPMENT 
SCHEME

61 - 78

To consider a report by the Cabinet Member for Planning.

9  ADOPTION OF BOURNEMOUTH, CHRISTCHURCH,  POOLE AND 
DORSET WASTE PLAN

79 - 86

To consider a report by the Cabinet Member for Planning.



10  MAKING OF BERE REGIS NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 87 - 128

To consider a report by the Cabinet Member for Planning.

11  MILBORNE ST ANDREW NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 2018 TO 2033 - 
INDEPENDENT EXAMINER'S REPORT AND PROGRESS TO 
REFERENDUM

129 - 226

To consider a report by the Cabinet Member for Planning.

12  BROADWINDSOR NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN - INDEPENDENT 
EXAMINERS REPORT

227 - 306

To consider a report by the Cabinet Member for Planning.

13  URGENT ITEMS

To consider any items of business which the Chairman has had prior 
notification and considers to be urgent pursuant to section 100B (4) b) 
of the Local Government Act 1972. The reason for the urgency shall 
be recorded in the minutes.

14  QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS

To receive any questions from members in accordance with procedure 
rule 13.



This page is intentionally left blank



DORSET COUNCIL - CABINET

MINUTES OF MEETING HELD ON TUESDAY 4 JUNE 2019

Present: Cllrs Spencer Flower (Chairman), Peter Wharf (Vice-Chairman), 
Anthony Alford, Ray Bryan, Graham Carr-Jones, Tony Ferrari, Laura Miller, 
Andrew Parry, Gary Suttle and David Walsh

Also present: Cllrs Shane Bartlett, Simon Christopher, Susan Cocking, Les Fry,  
Brian Heatley, Rob Hughes, Stella Jones, Paul Kimber, Clare Sutton and 
Sarah Williams

Officers present (for all or part of the meeting):
Matt Prosser (Chief Executive Designate), Aidan Dunn (Executive Director - Corporate 
Development S151), Mathew Kendall (Executive Director of People - Adults), Jonathan 
Mair (Corporate Director - Legal & Democratic Service Monitoring Officer), Sarah 
Parker (Executive Director of People - Children), John Sellgren (Executive Director, 
Place) and Lee Gallagher (Democratic Services Manager - Dorset County Council)

In accordance with the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules of the Shadow Dorset 
Council, the decisions set out in these minutes will come into force and may then be 
implemented on the expiry of five working days after the publication date.

1.  Apologies

An apology for absence was received from Cllr Daryl Turner in his role as the 
Chairman of the Place Scrutiny Committee.

2.  Declarations of Interest

No declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests were made at the meeting.

3.  How we will work as a Cabinet

Cllr Spencer Flower, as the Leader of the Council, took the opportunity to 
introduce and explain the Cabinet portfolios at the first meeting of Dorset Council’s 
Cabinet, as listed below:

 Councillor Spencer Flower - Leader / Governance, Performance and 
Communications

 Councillor Peter Wharf - Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Corporate 
Development and Change

 Councillor Anthony Alford – Cabinet Member for Customer, Community and 
Regulatory Services

 Councillor Ray Bryan – Cabinet Member for Highways, Travel and Environment
 Councillor Graham Carr-Jones – Cabinet Member for Housing   
 Councillor Tony Ferrari – Cabinet Member for Finance, Commercial and Assets
 Councillor Laura Miller – Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care and Health

Page 5

Agenda Item 2

https://moderngov.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=160
https://moderngov.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=110
https://moderngov.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=138
https://moderngov.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=119
https://moderngov.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=128
https://moderngov.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=162
https://moderngov.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=207


2

 Councillor Andrew Parry – Cabinet Member for Children, Education and Early 
Help

 Councillor Gary Suttle – Cabinet Member for Economic Growth and Skills   
 Councillor David Walsh – Cabinet Member for Planning

He stressed the importance of each of the Cabinet portfolios and that members 
would put communities first and work for the good of all Dorset residents, provide 
effective communications, and work effectively with government as well as town 
and parish councils and other organisations.  The importance of a constructive 
working relationship with scrutiny committees was emphasised, and that a strong 
voice of challenge was welcomed and essential to make sure the Cabinet made 
sound decisions. 

Noted

4.  Public Participation

Questions from Tara Moggeridge and Toby Webber were asked at the meeting in 
relation to the academisation of Budmouth College.  The questions and answers 
are attached to these minutes as an annexure.

The no public statements were made at the meeting.

5.  Forward Plan

The Cabinet considered the Forward Plan as a first draft of the key decisions 
required until June 2020.  It was noted that the content would be reviewed to 
ensure that the content reflected the priorities of the Cabinet.

Noted

6.  Procurement Forward Plan Report - over £500k (2019-20)

The Cabinet considered a report by the Cabinet Member for Finance, Commercial 
and Assets on the planned procurement activities that constituted key decisions 
during 2019/20. 

Cllr Tony Ferrari reflected on the list of procurements in the report and explained 
that the items were not a set list of decisions.  He proposed that the procurement 
and awards of contracts valued under £5m be approved, and that all procurements 
over £5m would be brought back to the Cabinet for specific and detailed 
consideration.  Members agreed to the proposal.

A request was made by Cllr Paul Kimber that careful consideration should be 
given in respect of all procurements to award contracts to local companies as a 
priority.  Cllr Ferrari explained that this was a consideration as part of the 
procurement rules, and that it was appropriate to consider for all procurement 
decisions.

Page 6

https://moderngov.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=214
https://moderngov.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=182
https://moderngov.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=221


3

Decisions

1. That the procurements and awards of contracts set out in Appendix A to a 
maximum value of £5m be approved, and those over £5m would be reported back 
to Cabinet for detailed consideration.

2. In giving this approval, Members are approving known / likely procurement set 
for implementation during 2019/20 (or as specifically noted otherwise) on terms to 
be agreed by the delegated officer, Corporate Director or Portfolio Holder for each 
arrangement. 

3. That procurements exceeding the key decision threshold which are not yet 
identified will be subject to a separate report for approval by the Cabinet, at a later 
date.

Reasons for Decisions

1. Cabinet was required to approve all key decisions with financial consequences 
of £500k or more. It was also good governance to provide Cabinet with a summary 
of all proposed procurements prior to them formally commencing.

2. Planning procurements effectively ensures: effective stakeholder management; 
efficient sourcing; compliance with regulations and contract procedure rules; and, 
best value for money.

7.  Budmouth College Academy Conversion

The Cabinet considered a report by the Cabinet Member for Children, Education 
and Early Help on the academisation of Budmouth College which was due to be 
completed on 1 September 2019. As part of the academisation a request was 
received to ask Dorset Council to contribute to the restructuring of staff at the 
School in addition to the budget debt being inherited by the Council as part of the 
academisation.  

Cllr Andrew Parry introduced the report and explained the high risk profile of the 
request to fund restructuring at Budmouth College and explained that there was 
not enough detailed evidence to support the restructuring costs request as the 
financial picture was still emerging and more detail was needed.

Questions from Tara Moggeridge and Toby Webber were asked at the meeting in 
relation to the academisation of Budmouth College.  The questions and answers 
are attached to these minutes as an annexure.

Members shared concerns regarding the request to fund the restructuring at the 
College including Cllr Clare Sutton who expressed thanks for the cross-party 
involvement and briefing outside of the meeting on this important matter; Cllr Jean 
Dunseith, as the local member; and Cllr Tony Ferrari, as a member within the local 
area, and as the Cabinet Member for Finance, Commercial and Assets due to the 
poorly evidenced financial request.

Page 7



4

Decision

That the request for up to £600k for pay restructuring costs be declined as there 
are alternative opportunities to access funding for the restructure that will not place 
pressure directly on the council budgets.

Reason for Decision

Option 1 would incur additional cost to the council and put pressure on the budget 
as this cost was not budgeted for in 2018/19. Option 2 would result in restructure 
costs being identified from elsewhere and could potentially impact the Interim 
Executive Board (IEB) restructure timetable.

8.  Climate Change Update

Cllr Ray Bryan, as the Cabinet Member for Highways, Travel and Environment, 
provided a verbal update following decisions made at the Council meeting on 16 
May 2019 in respect of a climate change emergency being declared and to 
establish a cross-party Executive Advisory Panel on Climate Change.  He 
confirmed that Cllrs Ray Bryan, Peter Wharf, Daryl Turner, Maria Roe, Kevin 
Clayton, Rob Hughes and Kate Wheller had been appointed to serve on the Panel, 
with substitutions made when necessary.

The Panel would be initially comprised of 8 Council members which would firstly 
consider the background information on carbon reduction initiatives already 
delivered across the former Dorset Councils to establish the current position.  
Work would then focus on gathering evidence from experts to ensure the most up 
to date knowledge and information to inform the development of policies.

The first meeting of the Panel would be held soon, and updates would be regularly 
provided to Cabinet.

Members welcomed the update and a comment was made to ensure that there 
was a robust approach to communications to ensure that regular updates were 
provided to keep the public well informed, and also that action be taken in a 
staged way rather than wait for all actions to be taken at the end of the life of the 
Panel.  

Cllr Clare Sutton, as the Green Party Group Leader, agreed that good 
communication needed to be in place and welcomed the proactive approach taken 
to establish the Panel.  

Noted

9.  Fostering Update

Cllr Andrew Parry, as the Cabinet Member for Children, Education and Early Help, 
provided a verbal update in relation to Fostering and the role of members as 
corporate parents.  

He explained that there were currently 428 children in care which included some 
with very complex needs, and that the recruitment of social workers had been 

Page 8



5

identified as a priority by the former Dorset County Council which had 
commissioned the recruitment of a further 70 social workers over a two-year 
period. In 2018/19 21 foster carers had been approved in addition to 19 connected 
persons. 

A renewed Fostering Recruitment Strategy was being developed, together with 
continued publicity, to focus on the significant work to continue to recruit foster 
carers following the first year of the new arrangements and structure.

Noted

10.  Urgent items

There were no matters of urgency considered at the meeting.

11.  Questions from Members

One question from Cllr Brian Heatley on the Weymouth Museum Collection was 
received at the meeting in accordance with procedure rule 13.  The question and 
answer are attached to these minutes as an annexure.

A supplementary statement was shared by Cllr Heatley to indicate that he would 
continue to show some scepticism about the solution being progressed, and that 
he would still like an assessment of options available for the future of the 
Weymouth Museum Collection.  Cllr Suttle responded by confirming that the 
Council had every intention to rigorously ensure that the project was completed 
and that he would keep Cllr Heatley informed of progress. 

Noted

Duration of meeting: 10.00  - 10.50 am

Chairman

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



1

DRAFT - Cabinet Forward Plan - July 2019
For the period 30 JULY 2019 to 30 JUNE 2020 

(publication date – 1 JULY 2019)

Explanatory Note:
This Forward Plan contains future items to be considered by the Cabinet and Council.  It is published 28 days before the next meeting of the Committee.  
The plan includes items for the meeting including key decisions.  Each item shows if it is ‘open’ to the public or to be considered in a private part of the 
meeting.

Definition of Key Decisions
Key decisions are defined in Dorset Council's Constitution as decisions of the Cabinet which are likely to -
(a) to result in the relevant local authority incurring expenditure which is, or the making of savings which are, significant having regard to the relevant 

local authority’s budget for the service or function to which the decision relates (Thresholds - £500k); or
(b) to be significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working in an area comprising two or more wards or electoral divisions in the area of 

the relevant local authority.”
In determining the meaning of “significant” for these purposes the Council will have regard to any guidance issued by the Secretary of State in 
accordance with section 9Q of the Local Government Act 2000 Act.  Officers will consult with lead members to determine significance and sensitivity.

Private/Exempt Items for Decision
Each item in the plan above marked as ‘private’ will refer to one of the following paragraphs. 

1. Information relating to any individual.  
2. Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual.
3. Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding that information).  
4. Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or contemplated consultations or negotiations, in connection with any labour relations 

matter arising between the authority or a Minister of the Crown and employees of, or office holders under, the authority.  
5. Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could be maintained in legal proceedings.  
6. Information which reveals that the shadow council proposes:-

(a)  to give under any enactment a notice under or by virtue of which requirements are imposed on a person; or
(b)  to make an order or direction under any enactment.  

7. Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with the prevention, investigation or prosecution of crime.  

P
age 11

A
genda Item

 5



2

Subject / Decision Decision Maker Decision Due 
Date

Consultation Background 
documents

Member /
Officer Contact

Adoption of the Dorset and BCP 
Mineral Sites Plan

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open

Dorset Council 18 Jul 2019 Consultees:

Means of Consultation:

Dorset and BCP 
Mineral Sites Plan

Lead member - Cabinet 
Member for Planning

Lead officer - John Sellgren, 
Executive Director, Place  
jsellgren@dorset.gov.uk

Adoption of the Dorset and BCP 
Waste Plan

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open

Dorset Council - 
Cabinet

25 Jun 2019 Consultees:

Means of Consultation:

Dorset and BCP 
Waste Plan

Lead member - Cabinet 
Member for Highways, 
Travel and Environment

Lead officer - John Sellgren, 
Executive Director, Place  
jsellgren@dorset.gov.uk

Forward Plan

Key Decision - No
Public Access - Open

Dorset Council - 
Cabinet

30 Jul 2019 Consultees:
Members
Officers

Means of Consultation:
Meetings

None Lead member - Leader of 
the Council

Lead officer - Lee 
Gallagher, Democratic 
Services Manager - Dorset 
County Council  
lee.gallagher@dorsetcounci
l.gov.uk

Better Care Fund 
(recommendation from Health and 
Wellbeing Board)

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open

Dorset Council - 
Cabinet

30 Jul 2019 Consultees:

Means of Consultation:

None Lead member - Cabinet 
Member for Adult Social 
Care and Health

Lead officer - Mathew 
Kendall, Executive Director 
of People - Adults  
mathew.kendall@dorsetcou
ncil.gov.uk

P
age 12



3

Subject / Decision Decision Maker Decision Due 
Date

Consultation Background 
documents

Member /
Officer Contact

Annual Governance Statement

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open

Dorset Council - 
Cabinet

30 Jul 2019 Consultees:

Means of Consultation:

None Lead member - Leader of 
the Council

Lead officer - Jonathan 
Mair, Corporate Director - 
Legal & Democratic Service 
Monitoring Officer  
jonathan.mair@dorsetcounc
il.gov.uk

Quarter 1 Budget Report 2019/20

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open

Dorset Council - 
Cabinet

30 Jul 2019 Consultees:

Means of Consultation:

None Lead member - Cabinet 
Member for Finance, 
Commercial and Assets

Lead officer - Aidan Dunn, 
Executive Director - 
Corporate Development 
S151  
aidan.dunn@dorsetcouncil.
gov.uk

Wareham Neighbourhood Plan - 
Independent Examiners report and 
progress to Referendum

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open

Dorset Council - 
Cabinet

30 Jul 2019 Consultees:

Means of Consultation:

None Lead member - Cabinet 
Member for Planning

Lead officer - John Sellgren, 
Executive Director, Place  
jsellgren@dorset.gov.uk

P
age 13



4

Subject / Decision Decision Maker Decision Due 
Date

Consultation Background 
documents

Member /
Officer Contact

Motcombe Neighbourhood Plan 
2017 - 2027 - Independent 
Examiner's Report and progress 
to Referendum

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open

Dorset Council - 
Cabinet

30 Jul 2019 Consultees:
There will be ongoing dialogue with 
Motcombe Parish Council (the 
Qualifying Body) prior to a decision 
being made.

Means of Consultation:
The plan has been subject to a large 
amount of consultation as it has been 
produced. There is unlikely to be any 
further consultation once the 
Examiner’s Report has been 
published. The final version of the 
plan, as modified, will be subject to 
referendum subject to Cabinet 
agreeing this.

Motcombe 
Neighbourhood 
Plan 2017 to 2027
Examiner’s Report 
(including 
recommended 
modifications)

Lead member - Cabinet 
Member for Planning

Lead officer - John Sellgren, 
Executive Director, Place  
jsellgren@dorset.gov.uk

Promoting Independence 
Business Case (options appraisal 
for aids, adaptation and assistive 
technology contracts)

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Part exempt

Dorset Council - 
Cabinet

30 Jul 2019 Consultees:

Means of Consultation:

None Lead member - Cabinet 
Member for Adult Social 
Care and Health

Lead officer - Mathew 
Kendall, Executive Director 
of People - Adults  
mathew.kendall@dorsetcou
ncil.gov.uk

P
age 14



5

Subject / Decision Decision Maker Decision Due 
Date

Consultation Background 
documents

Member /
Officer Contact

Superfast Broadband - To invest 
funds, made up from grant from 
the Department of Food and Rural 
Affairs (DEFRA) and contract 
outturns

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Part exempt

Dorset Council - 
Cabinet

30 Jul 2019 Consultees:
 Local and national broadband 

providers
 DEFRA
 Broadband Delivery UK
 Superfast Programme Board 

and Team

Means of Consultation:
Email, telephone, structured 
discussions, formal open market 
review.

Outline Business 
Case

Lead member - Cabinet 
Member for Economic 
Growth and Skills

Lead officer - John Sellgren, 
Executive Director, Place  
jsellgren@dorset.gov.uk

Somerley Household Recycling 
Centre - Hampshire County 
Council charges for Dorset 
residents

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Part exempt

Dorset Council - 
Cabinet

30 Jul 2019 Consultees:
East Dorset councillors;
DWP Joint Committee;
Local residents in East Dorset

Means of Consultation:
Meeting with Hampshire County 
Council (HCC) 19/12/18;
Meetings with East Dorset 
councillors;
Public survey 14/02-14/03/19

Report to HCC; 
HWRC Cross 
Border Charging 
Update 
29/10/18;Letter 
from Cllr Humby 
(HCC) 16/10/18

Lead member - Cabinet 
Member for Customer, 
Community and Regulatory 
Services

Lead officer - John Sellgren, 
Executive Director, Place  
jsellgren@dorset.gov.uk

Procurement and award for 
provision of building cleaning that 
exceeds £5m in total contract 
value

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Part exempt

Dorset Council - 
Cabinet

30 Jul 2019 Consultees:
Service and programme lead(s)

Means of Consultation:
Directorate and organisation lead(s)

Forward plan report 
to tender for the 
provision of 
building cleaning

Lead member - Cabinet 
Member for Finance, 
Commercial and Assets

Lead officer - Aidan Dunn, 
Executive Director - 
Corporate Development 
S151  
aidan.dunn@dorsetcouncil.
gov.uk

P
age 15



6

Subject / Decision Decision Maker Decision Due 
Date

Consultation Background 
documents

Member /
Officer Contact

Statement of Accounts and 
Outturn 2018/19

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open

Dorset Council - 
Cabinet

3 Sep 2019 Consultees:

Means of Consultation:

None Lead member - Cabinet 
Member for Finance, 
Commercial and Assets

Lead officer - Aidan Dunn, 
Executive Director - 
Corporate Development 
S151  
aidan.dunn@dorsetcouncil.
gov.uk

Children's Safeguarding Annual 
Report

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open

Dorset Council - 
Cabinet

3 Sep 2019 Consultees:

Means of Consultation:

None Lead member - Cabinet 
Member for Children, 
Education and Early Help

Lead officer - Sarah Parker, 
Executive Director of 
People - Children  
sarah.parker@dorsetcouncil
.gov.uk

Internal Audit Plan (via Audit and 
Governance Committee)

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open

Dorset Council - 
Cabinet

3 Sep 2019 Consultees:

Means of Consultation:

None Lead member - Leader of 
the Council

Lead officer - Aidan Dunn, 
Executive Director - 
Corporate Development 
S151  
aidan.dunn@dorsetcouncil.
gov.uk

P
age 16



7

Subject / Decision Decision Maker Decision Due 
Date

Consultation Background 
documents

Member /
Officer Contact

Internal Audit Annual Report (via 
Audit and Governance Committee)

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open

Dorset Council - 
Cabinet

3 Sep 2019 Consultees:

Means of Consultation:

None Lead member - Leader of 
the Council

Lead officer - Aidan Dunn, 
Executive Director - 
Corporate Development 
S151  
aidan.dunn@dorsetcouncil.
gov.uk

Adult Safeguarding Annual Report

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open

Dorset Council - 
Cabinet

3 Sep 2019 Consultees:

Means of Consultation:

None Lead member - Cabinet 
Member for Adult Social 
Care and Health

Lead officer - Mathew 
Kendall, Executive Director 
of People - Adults  
mathew.kendall@dorsetcou
ncil.gov.uk

Draft Corporate Plan

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open

Dorset Council - 
Cabinet

1 Oct 2019 Consultees:

Means of Consultation:

None Lead member - Leader of 
the Council

Lead officer - Matt Prosser, 
Chief Executive Designate  
matt.prosser@dorsetcouncil
.gov.uk

P
age 17



8

Subject / Decision Decision Maker Decision Due 
Date

Consultation Background 
documents

Member /
Officer Contact

Youth Justice Plan

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open

Dorset Council - 
Cabinet

Dorset Council

1 Oct 2019

21 Nov 2019

Consultees:

Means of Consultation:

None Lead member - Cabinet 
Member for Children, 
Education and Early Help

Lead officer - Sarah Parker, 
Executive Director of 
People - Children  
sarah.parker@dorsetcouncil
.gov.uk

Unreasonable Complaints Policy

Key Decision - No
Public Access - Open

Dorset Council - 
Cabinet

1 Oct 2019 Consultees:

Means of Consultation:

None Lead member - Cabinet 
Member for Customer, 
Community and Regulatory 
Services

Lead officer - Jonathan 
Mair, Corporate Director - 
Legal & Democratic Service 
Monitoring Officer  
jonathan.mair@dorsetcounc
il.gov.uk

Making of Wareham 
Neighbourhood Plan

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open

Dorset Council - 
Cabinet

1 Oct 2019 Consultees:

Means of Consultation:

None Lead member - Cabinet 
Member for Planning

Lead officer - John Sellgren, 
Executive Director, Place  
jsellgren@dorset.gov.uk

P
age 18



9

Subject / Decision Decision Maker Decision Due 
Date

Consultation Background 
documents

Member /
Officer Contact

Equalities Policy

Key Decision - No
Public Access - Open

Dorset Council - 
Cabinet

1 Oct 2019 Consultees:

Means of Consultation:

None Lead member - Leader of 
the Council

Lead officer - Aidan Dunn, 
Executive Director - 
Corporate Development 
S151  
aidan.dunn@dorsetcouncil.
gov.uk

Adult Social Care - Direct 
Payments

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open

Dorset Council - 
Cabinet

1 Oct 2019 Consultees:

Means of Consultation:

None Lead member - Cabinet 
Member for Adult Social 
Care and Health

Lead officer - Mathew 
Kendall, Executive Director 
of People - Adults  
mathew.kendall@dorsetcou
ncil.gov.uk

Calendar of Meetings

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open

Dorset Council 17 Oct 2019 Consultees:

Means of Consultation:

Lead member - Leader of 
the Council

Lead officer - Jonathan 
Mair, Corporate Director - 
Legal & Democratic Service 
Monitoring Officer  
jonathan.mair@dorsetcounc
il.gov.uk

P
age 19



10

Subject / Decision Decision Maker Decision Due 
Date

Consultation Background 
documents

Member /
Officer Contact

Quarter 2 - Budget Update

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open

Dorset Council - 
Cabinet

5 Nov 2019 Consultees:

Means of Consultation:

None Lead member - Cabinet 
Member for Finance, 
Commercial and Assets

Lead officer - Aidan Dunn, 
Executive Director - 
Corporate Development 
S151  
aidan.dunn@dorsetcouncil.
gov.uk

Community Safety Plan (via Place 
Scrutiny Committee)

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open

Dorset Council - 
Cabinet

Dorset Council

5 Nov 2019

21 Nov 2019

Consultees:

Means of Consultation:

None Lead member - Cabinet 
Member for Housing

Lead officer - Andy Frost, 
Community Safety and 
Drug Action Manager  
andy.frost@dorsetcouncil.g
ov.uk

Substance Misuse Strategy (via 
Place Scrutiny Committee)

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open

Dorset Council - 
Cabinet

Dorset Council

5 Nov 2019

21 Nov 2019

Consultees:

Means of Consultation:

None Lead member - Cabinet 
Member for Housing

Lead officer - Andy Frost, 
Community Safety and 
Drug Action Manager  
andy.frost@dorsetcouncil.g
ov.uk

P
age 20



11

Subject / Decision Decision Maker Decision Due 
Date

Consultation Background 
documents

Member /
Officer Contact

Reducing Reoffending Strategy 
(via Place Scrutiny Committee)

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open

Dorset Council - 
Cabinet

Dorset Council

5 Nov 2019

21 Nov 2019

Consultees:

Means of Consultation:

None Lead member - Cabinet 
Member for Housing

Lead officer - Andy Frost, 
Community Safety and 
Drug Action Manager  
andy.frost@dorsetcouncil.g
ov.uk

Budget (MTFP/Council tax/Capital 
Programme/Treasury Mgt 
Strategy)

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open

Dorset Council - 
Cabinet

Dorset Council - 
Cabinet

Dorset Council

10 Dec 2019

28 Jan 2020

13 Feb 2020

Consultees:

Means of Consultation:

Lead member - Cabinet 
Member for Finance, 
Commercial and Assets

Lead officer - Aidan Dunn, 
Executive Director - 
Corporate Development 
S151  
aidan.dunn@dorsetcouncil.
gov.uk

Major Waste Disposal Contracts 
following competitive tender 
process

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Fully exempt

Dorset Council - 
Cabinet

10 Dec 2019 Consultees:
Dorset Waste Partnership Joint 
Committee
Dorset Council Procure to Pay
Dorset Council Internal & External 
Legal Advice

Means of Consultation:
Joint Committee report in January 
2018 and regular updates with the 
Chairman of the Dorset Waste 
Partnership Joint Committee.
Legal and Procurement support 
throughout drafting of documents.

Dorset Waste 
Partnership Joint 
Committee minutes 
- 15 January 2018 
(minutes 10 and 
11)

Lead member - Cabinet 
Member for Customer, 
Community and Regulatory 
Services

Lead officer - Karyn 
Punchard, Director  
karyn.punchard@dorsetcou
ncil.gov.uk

P
age 21



12

Subject / Decision Decision Maker Decision Due 
Date

Consultation Background 
documents

Member /
Officer Contact

Dorset Joint Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open

Dorset Council - 
Cabinet

10 Dec 2019 Consultees:

Means of Consultation:

None Lead member - Cabinet 
Member for Adult Social 
Care and Health

Lead officer - Sam Crowe, 
Acting Director of Public 
Health  
s.crowe@dorsetcc.gov.uk

Endorsement of the Dorset & East 
Devon Coast World Heritage Site 
Partnership Plan

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open

Dorset Council - 
Cabinet

10 Dec 2019 Consultees:
Multiple partner organisations with 
responsibility for management of the 
coast

Means of Consultation:
Stakeholder engagement and formal 
consultation on the draft plan

Dorset & East 
Devon Coast World 
Heritage Site 
Partnership Plan

Lead member - Cabinet 
Member for Highways, 
Travel and Environment

Lead officer - Ken Buchan, 
Coast & Countryside 
Service Manager  
ken.buchan@dorsetcouncil.
gov.uk

School Admissions Policy

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open

Dorset Council - 
Cabinet

28 Jan 2020 Consultees:

Means of Consultation:

None Lead member - Cabinet 
Member for Children, 
Education and Early Help

Lead officer - Sarah Parker, 
Executive Director of 
People - Children  
sarah.parker@dorsetcouncil
.gov.uk

P
age 22



13

Subject / Decision Decision Maker Decision Due 
Date

Consultation Background 
documents

Member /
Officer Contact

Pay Policy Statement

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Part exempt

Dorset Council 13 Feb 2020 Consultees:

Means of Consultation:

None Lead member - Deputy 
Leader - Corporate 
Development and Change

Lead officer - Aidan Dunn, 
Executive Director - 
Corporate Development 
S151  
aidan.dunn@dorsetcouncil.
gov.uk

Housing Allocations Policy

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open

Dorset Council - 
Cabinet

7 Apr 2020 Consultees:

Means of Consultation:

None Lead member - Cabinet 
Member for Housing

Lead officer - Mathew 
Kendall, Executive Director 
of People - Adults  
mathew.kendall@dorsetcou
ncil.gov.uk

Constitution Review

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open

Dorset Council - 
Cabinet

5 May 2020 Consultees:
Members
Officers
Service areas

Means of Consultation:
Meetings
Consultation
Correspondence

Dorset Council 
Constitution 
(approved in 
February 2019)

Lead member - Leader of 
the Council

Lead officer - Jonathan 
Mair, Corporate Director - 
Legal & Democratic Service 
Monitoring Officer  
jonathan.mair@dorsetcounc
il.gov.uk

P
age 23



14

Subject / Decision Decision Maker Decision Due 
Date

Consultation Background 
documents

Member /
Officer Contact

Area Neighbourhood Plan - 
Independent Examiners Report 
and progress to Referendum

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open

Dorset Council - 
Cabinet

Consultees:

Means of Consultation:

None Lead member - Cabinet 
Member for Planning

Lead officer - John Sellgren, 
Executive Director, Place  
jsellgren@dorset.gov.uk

Car Parking Charges and Tariffs

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open

Dorset Council - 
Cabinet

Consultees:
Parking Managers
Budget Working Group (December 
2018)

Means of Consultation:
Meeting

None Lead member - Cabinet 
Member for Highways, 
Travel and Environment

Lead officer - John Sellgren, 
Executive Director, Place  
jsellgren@dorset.gov.uk

Making of Arne Neighbourhood 
Plan

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open

Dorset Council - 
Cabinet

Consultees:

Means of Consultation:

None Lead member - Cabinet 
Member for Housing

Lead officer - John Sellgren, 
Executive Director, Place  
jsellgren@dorset.gov.uk

Wool Neighbourhood Plan - 
Independent Examiner report and 
progress to Referendum

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open

Dorset Council - 
Cabinet

Consultees:

Means of Consultation:

None Lead member - Cabinet 
Member for Planning

Lead officer - John Sellgren, 
Executive Director, Place  
jsellgren@dorset.gov.uk

P
age 24



15

Subject / Decision Decision Maker Decision Due 
Date

Consultation Background 
documents

Member /
Officer Contact

Making of Wool Neighbourhood 
Plan

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open

Dorset Council - 
Cabinet

Consultees:

Means of Consultation:

None Lead member - Cabinet 
Member for Planning

Lead officer - John Sellgren, 
Executive Director, Place  
jsellgren@dorset.gov.uk

Submit Gypsy and Traveller Site 
Allocations DPD to Secretary of 
State

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open

Dorset Council - 
Cabinet

Consultees:

Means of Consultation:

None Lead member - Cabinet 
Member for Planning

Lead officer - John Sellgren, 
Executive Director, Place  
jsellgren@dorset.gov.uk

P
age 25



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Date of Meeting: 25 June 2019

Lead Member: Cllr Tony Ferrari – Cabinet Member for Finance, Commercial and Assets

Lead Officer: Aidan Dunn, Executive Director (Corporate Development S151)

Executive Summary:

The Revenues & Benefits Service administers, on the Council’s behalf, a number of 
discretionary policies and schemes. This report considers the discretions that relate to:

 Housing Benefit awarded in respect of those receiving a War Disablement or 
War Widows Pension

 Council Tax discount
 Business Rates Revaluation Relief
 Hardship Relief
 Discretionary Housing Payments.

The report recommends that Cabinet agrees to adopt the attached policies and schemes 
to help ensure that a consistent approach is made to decision making across the Council’s 
area.

Equalities Impact Assessment:

Equalities Impact Assessments have been completed in respect of the Council Tax 
discretionary discount and Discretionary Housing Payments policies and there are no 
implications arising from this report. Assessments in relation to the other areas covered in 
the report are not necessary as there are no identified negative, or unclear, impact on any 
of the protected characteristic groups.
 

Budget: 

The cost of any discretionary award or payment can be met either from direct government 
grant or from budget provision

Risk Assessment: 

Having considered the risks associated with this decision, the level of risk has been 
identified as:
Current Risk: LOW 
Residual Risk LOW 

Cabinet
Revenues and Benefits Policies and Schemes

Page 27

Agenda Item 6



Page 2 

Other Implications:

None

Recommendation:

That Cabinet agrees:
1. To recommend to Full Council that, effective from 1 April 2019, that 100% of all 

income from War Disablement or War Widows Pension be disregarded when 
calculating entitlement to Housing Benefit in line with the resolution at Appendix A

2. To adopt the attached  Council Tax Discretionary Discount Policy at Appendix B
3. To adopt the Business Rates Revaluation Support Scheme set out at Appendix C
4. That any underspend in the government grant allocation of £243,000 be used to 

provide additional support for struggling businesses and that approval of such 
cases be delegated to the Executive Director (Corporate Development S151) in 
consultation with the Lead Member for Finance, Commercial and Assets.

5. To adopt the Hardship Relief Policy set out at Appendix D
6. To adopt the Discretionary Housing Payments Policy set out at Appendix E.

Reason for Recommendation:

To ensure that a consistent approach is taken in relation to the award of discretionary 
awards, discounts, payments and reliefs.

Appendices:

Appendix A – Housing Benefit – Local Scheme Resolution
Appendix B – Council Tax Discretionary Discount Policy
Appendix C – Business Rates Revaluation Support Scheme
Appendix D – Hardship Relief Policy
Appendix E – Discretionary Housing Payments Policy

Background Papers:
None

Officer Contact 
Name: Stuart Dawson, Head of Revenues & Benefits
Tel: 01305 211925
Email: stuart.dawson@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk

1. Introduction

1.1 There are a number of matters that require Cabinet’s attention to help ensure that 
decisions and determinations made by the Revenues & Benefits Service are made 
consistently across the Dorset Council area. These matters include:

 Agreeing a local scheme resolution for awarding of Housing Benefit in 
respect of those in receipt of a War Disablement or War Widows Pension

 Agreeing a policy for the awarding of Council Tax discretionary discounts
 Agreeing a Revaluation Support scheme for the awarding of relief to those  

local businesses affected by the 2017 national Rates revaluation
 Agreeing a policy for the awarding of Hardship Relief

Page 28



Page 3 

 Agreeing a policy for the awarding of Discretionary Housing Payments.

2. Housing Benefit awards for those in receipt of War Disablement or War 
Widows Pension

2.1 Housing Benefit is a means tested benefit which is awarded to those on low income 
who need help with their rent. The Housing Benefit scheme is administered locally by 
the Council on behalf of government, which meets most of the costs of the awards.

2.2 Government has decided that certain income should be disregarded when 
calculating entitlement to Housing Benefit. This includes the first £10.00 per week of 
any War Disablement or War Widows Pension received by the claimant. Under 
Section 134 (8) of the Social Security Administration Act 1992, Councils have the 
discretion to increase the amount that is disregarded of such income.

2.3 Following a successful campaign by the Royal British Legion, most Councils, 
including the Dorset District and Borough Councils, agreed to completely disregard 
any War Disablement or War Widows Pension when calculating entitlement to 
Housing Benefit. 

2.4 Government has agreed to meet 75% of the expenditure due to a Council voluntary 
disregarding War Disablement or War Widows Pensions, providing it is within a 
determined limit. The table below shows the voluntary expenditure in 2018/19 and 
the subsidy claimed.

Council Total expenditure
£

Government 
contribution

£

Cost met by 
Council

£
East Dorset 20,698 15,524 5,174
North Dorset 26,329 19,747 6,582
Purbeck 11,020 8,265 2,755
West Dorset 54,695 41,021 13,674
Weymouth & Portland 24,277 18,208 6,069
Total 137,019 102, 765 34,254

2.5 The full disregard of War Disablement Pension and War Widows Pension is in line 
with the principles of the Armed Forces Covenant as it can have a positive impact on 
the lives of those that have given much, such as the injured and the bereaved. It is, 
therefore, proposed that the Council agrees to disregard 100% of War Disablement 
Pension and War Widows Pension, effective from 1 April 2019, in line with the 
resolution set out at Appendix A.

2.6 The estimated cost of implementing the full disregard is set out below and is covered 
by existing budget provision.

Council Total expenditure
£

Government 
contribution

£

Cost met by 
Council

£
Dorset Council 122,051 91,538 30,513

3.0 Council Tax discretionary discounts

Page 29



Page 4 

3.1 Councils have the discretion to award Council Tax discounts of up to 100% of the 
amount due. Discounts can be awarded on an individual basis or in respect of a 
specific class of property or Council Taxpayer.

3.2       Applications for discretionary discounts must be considered on their individual merits 
and awards should only be made where the case is exceptional. The costs of any 
such discount awarded are met from the Council’s General Fund.

3.3 In order to ensure that a consistent approach is taken towards the award of 
discretionary discounts it is proposed that the Policy set out at Appendix B is 
adopted. The Policy has been developed having regard to the policies established by 
the Dorset District and Borough Councils and emerging best practice.

4.0 Revaluation Support Scheme

4.1 In 2017, Government committed to provide Councils with funding of £300m nationally 
to help support those businesses that were facing significant rates increases, as a 
result of the 2017 revaluation. Government asked Councils to use their discretionary 
powers under Section 47 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 to distribute this 
funding over the financial years 2017-21 through the award of rates relief.

4.2 In developing their schemes for awarding the rates relief the Dorset District and 
Borough Councils agreed the following common principles. 

 That relief would only be awarded for those ratepayers who have a rates 
liability on both the 31/03/17 and 01/04/17

 No relief would be awarded in respect of unoccupied premises
 Relief would be automatically awarded. However, arrangements would 

also be introduced allowing those businesses which are not positively 
identified to still be able to apply if they think that they are entitled

 Relief would be awarded to local independent businesses and not to 
those businesses that are part of a franchise, national or multi-national in 
nature 

 Relief would not be awarded to financial institutions, education 
establishments, health organisations and public bodies.

4.3 The table below sets out the amount of rates relief awarded across the Dorset 
Council area in 2018/19.

Council Grant allocation
£

Relief Awarded
£

No of Cases

East Dorset 109,000 98,011 263
North Dorset 77,000 65,623 205
Purbeck 106,000 105,901 93
West Dorset 212,000 211,628 174
Weymouth & Portland 87,000 86,202 70
Total 591,000 567,365 805

4.4 The grant allocation for Dorset Council is £243,000 in 2019/20 and £34,000 in 
2020/21.  To help ensure that support continues to be provided to those local 
ratepayers it is proposed that the scheme set out at Appendix C be adopted for 
2019/20. This has been developed having regard to the 2018/19 schemes that were 
adopted by the Dorset District and Borough Councils and looks to ensure that the full 
grant allocation of £243,000 is utilised.

Page 30



Page 5 

4.5 Relief awarded under the scheme will be subject to State Aid rules. Recipients will be 
made aware of their responsibility to notify the Council if their business has received 
State Aid of more than €200,000 over the last three years. 

4.6 There is a possibility that there will be an underspend of grant due to recipient 
businesses relocating during the year. With this in mind it is also proposed that the 
situation be monitored regularly and that any identified underspend of grant be used 
to provide additional support to those businesses that need extra help to meet their 
increased rates liability. This additional support would be considered on a case by 
case basis and determined by the Executive Director (Corporate Development S151) 
in consultation with the Lead Member for Finance, Commercial and Assets.

5.0 Hardship Relief

5.1 Section 49 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 provides the Council with 
discretion to award rates relief in order to alleviate hardship. The cost of awarding 
relief is shared between the national rating pool and the local Council Taxpayer. In 
view of this, no awards can be made unless the Council considers it to be in the 
interests of the Council Taxpayer to do so.

5.2 Although the relief is awarded at the Council’s discretion, government has provided 
the following guidance.

 Each case should be considered on its own merits
 The awarding of the relief should be the exception rather than the rule
 Hardship need not be confined strictly to financial hardship. All relevant 

factors affecting the ability of the business to meet its rates liability should 
be considered

 The “interests” of the local Council Taxpayers may go wider than direct 
financial interests, (e.g. where the employment prospects in the area 
would be worsened by the company going out of business, or the 
amenities of the area reduced, etc.)

 Where the granting of the relief would have an adverse effect on the 
financial interests of the local Council Taxpayers, the case for awarding 
relief may still on balance outweigh the cost to the Taxpayer.

5.3 In order to ensure that a consistent approach is taken towards the award of Hardship 
Relief it is proposed that the Policy set out at Appendix D is adopted. The Policy has 
been developed having regard to the policies established by the Dorset District and 
Borough Councils and incorporates the above guidance.

6.0 Discretionary Housing Payments

6.1 Discretionary Housing Payments (DHPs) are payments that are made at the 
discretion of the Council to help those in receipt of Housing Benefit or Universal 
Credit with their housing costs.

6.2 In making an award of DHP the Council must be satisfied that:
 The claimant has a rental liability in respect of their accommodation and is 

receiving support with their housing costs through the payment of Housing 
Benefit or Universal Credit

Page 31



Page 6 

 There is a shortfall between the claimant’s eligible rent (i.e. the actual rent 
less any ineligible service charges such as charges for water, heating, 
meals, etc) and the support they are receiving

 Based on the claimant’s circumstances (financial and otherwise) it is 
reasonable to provide additional support.

6.3 For the purposes of awarding a DHP, housing costs includes rent in advance, 
deposits and other lump sum costs associated with a housing need, such as removal 
costs. However, it does not include ineligible service charges, Council Tax charges, 
increases due to rent arrears or due to sanctions and reductions in Benefit.

6.4 The Council receives a government grant allocation each year for DHPs. Any amount 
not spent must be returned at the end of the year. The Council can supplement the 
grant, from its own funds, up to a determined limit. The table below sets out the total 
DHPs awarded across the Dorset Council area in 2018/19.

Council Government Grant
£

DHPs  Awarded
£

No of Awards

East Dorset 98,750 69,051 116
North Dorset 99,703 41,265 95
Purbeck 79,438 66,207 145
West Dorset 155,593 127,562 300
Weymouth & Portland 180,732 148,901 291
Total 614,216 452,986 947

Dorset Council’s grant allocation for 2019/20 is £553,455.

6.5 DHPs are administered by the Council’s Benefits Service as it is best placed to 
determine whether the applicant is eligible for additional support with their housing 
costs.

6.6 DHPs can have a positive impact on the lives of claimants who are struggling to meet 
their housing costs. As the total that can be awarded each year is cash limited it is 
essential that applications are always considered based on their individual merits. 

6.7 The Dorset District and Borough Councils have operated DHP policies or guidelines 
for a number of years. The Policy set out at Appendix E has been based on these 
documents but updated to incorporate “plain English”. It is proposed that the Policy 
be adopted to help ensure that a consistent approach is taken to the award of DHPs.

Page 32



Page 7 

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A

Housing Benefit - Local Scheme Resolution

In line with Section 134 (8) of the Social Security Administration Act 1992, Dorset Council 
has resolved to disregard 100% of the following prescribed incomes for both working age 
and pension age claimants, effective from 1 April 2019:

1. War disablement pensions
The war disablement pensions prescribed are:

a) any retired pay or pension or allowance payable in respect of disablement under 
an instrument specified in section 639(2) of the Income Tax (Earnings and 
Pensions) Act 2003

b) any retired pay or pension payable, to a member of the armed forces of the 
Crown in respect of a disablement which is attributable to service, under:

I. an Order in Council made under section 3 of the Naval and Marine Pay 
and Pensions Act 1865

II. the Army Pensions Warrant 1977
III. the Army Pensions (Armed Forces Pension Scheme 1975 and 

Attributable Benefits Scheme) Warrant 2010
IV. any order or regulations made under section 2 of the Air Force    

(Constitution) Act 1917
V. any order or regulations made under section 4 of the Reserve Forces Act

1996
VI. any instrument amending or replacing any of the instruments referred to

 above or any power of Her Majesty otherwise than under an enactment to 
make provision about pensions for or in respect of persons who have 
been disabled or have died in consequence of service as members of the 
armed forces of the Crown; and

c) a payment made under article 14(1) (b) of the Armed Forces and Reserve Forces 
(Compensation Scheme) Order 2005.

2. War widow’s pensions
The war widow’s pensions prescribed are:

a) any pension or allowance payable to a widow, widower or surviving civil partner 
under an instrument specified in section 639(2) of the Income Tax (Earnings and 
Pensions) Act 2003 in respect of the death or disablement of any person;

b) a pension payable, to a widow, widower or surviving civil partner of a member of 
the armed forces of the Crown in respect of death which is attributable to service, 
under;

I. an Order in Council made under section 3 of the Naval and Marine Pay 
and Pensions Act 1865

II. the Army Pensions Warrant 1977
III. the Army Pensions (Armed Forces Pension Scheme 1975 and 

Attributable Benefits Scheme) Warrant 2010
IV. any order or regulations made under section 2 of the Air Force 

(Constitution) Act 1917
V. any order or regulations made under section 4 of the Reserve Forces Act 

1996
VI. any instrument amending or replacing any of the above or any power of 

Her Majesty otherwise than under an enactment to make provision about 
pensions for or in respect of persons who have been disabled or have 
died in consequence of service as members of the armed forces of the 
Crown; and

Page 35



VII. a payment made under article 21(1)(a) of the Armed Forces and Reserve 
Forces (Compensation Scheme) Order 2005

c) a payment made to compensate for the non-payment of such a pension or 
payment as is mentioned in any of the preceding sub-paragraphs.

3.   Pension paid by a Government outside if Great Britain analogous to the above
A pension paid by the government of a country outside Great Britain which is analogous   
to any of the pensions or payments mentioned in the sub-paragraphs above.

4.   Pension paid to victims of National Socialist persecution
    A pension paid to victims of National Socialist persecution under any special provision 

made by the law of the Federal Republic of Germany, or any part of it, or of the Republic 
of Austria.

Page 36



Council Tax 
Discretionary 
Discount Policy 

Appendix B

Purpose
The purpose of the policy is to ensure that a consisent approach is taken 
when applications for Council Tax discretionary discounts are 
considered.

Scope

Councils have the discretion to award Council Tax discounts of up to 
100% of the amount due. Discounts can be awarded on an individual 
basis or in respect of a specific class of property or Council Taxpayer.

This policy sets out the factors that may be taken into account when 
applications for discretionary discounts are considered. It also provides 
the claimants review rights when they are dissatisfied with the decision. 

The policy applies to all Council Taxpayers who wish to apply for a 
discretionary discount. 

1. Introduction

1.1 Under Section 13A (1c)of the Local Government Act 1992, Councils have the discretion to 
award Council Tax discounts of up to 100% of the amount due. Discounts can be awarded on 
an individual basis or in respect of a specific class of property or Council Taxpayer.

1.2 Any application for discretionary discount must be considered on its individual merits and 
only awarded where the circumstances are considered to be exceptional. 

1.3 The aim of this document is to provide a guide to determining applications and it should not 
be seen as a policy that operates in a way so as to bind the Council in its use of the 
discretionary power.

POLICY DETAILS:

2. How to claim a Section 13A (1c) discretionary discount

2.1 An application must be in writing (or by email) to the Council and be made by the Taxpayer 
or by someone authorised to act on their behalf.

2.2 All applications must be supported by sufficient evidence to allow the Council to properly 
consider the claim. If the Taxpayer refuses to provide the Council with such evidence the 
application may be treated as incomplete and it will not be processed.  

Appendix 4

Page 37



  

3. How claims will be assessed

3.1 The Council will only consider awarding a discretionary discount in exceptional 
circumstances. However, it will consider each application on its own merits. In considering 
an application the following may be taken into account. 

 Evidence of exceptional financial hardship or exceptional personal 
circumstances

 Details as to how the claimant has attempted to meet their Council Tax liability 
prior to submitting the application

 Whether all other eligible Council Tax reductions, discounts and reliefs (such as 
Council Tax Support) have been considered and, where applicable, claimed and 
awarded

 The amount outstanding/claimed was not as a result of wilful refusal or culpable 
neglect

 The situation and reason for the application must be outside of the Taxpayer’s 
control

 The Taxpayer has no other assets that could be used to meet or reduce their 
liability.

4. Notification of decisions and awards

4.1 Discretionary discounts may be awarded for any amount (up to 100% of the charge due), for 
a specific period, for a fixed amount or for an ongoing period of liability. Where the period is 
ongoing, the award will be subject to regular review. The claimant will be notified of the 
decision as soon as possible after it has been made and any award will be by means of a 
discount being applied to the relevant Council Tax account. 

5. Review of a decision

5.1 Where the application is refused the claimant will be notified that they can ask for the 
decision to be reviewed. Any request for a review must be made, in writing or by email, 
within one calendar month of the decision letter.

5.2 The review will be carried out by a senior officer who was not involved in the original 
decision. When considering the review, the officer will look to respond within two months 
and will have regard to any further evidence supplied.

5.3 If the claimant is dissatisfied with the outcome of the review they can, within two months of 
the Council’s reply, appeal to the independent Valuation Tribunal Service to consider their 
case.

Page 38



Appendix C

Business Rates Revaluation Support Scheme
2019/20

1. This scheme is designed to assist those ratepayers who have suffered a significant 
increase in their rate liability, specifically caused by an increase in their Rateable 
Value, due to the 2017 revaluation. 

2. Relief will be awarded to those businesses that qualified for relief under the schemes 
for 2017/18 and 2018/19.

3. Relief will only be awarded if the business occupied the qualifying premises on 31 
March 2017 and they continue to remain in occupation.  

4. A business that qualifies for assistance under 2 and 3 above will be awarded relief at 
42% of the amount granted in 2018/19, subject to the following conditions.

I. If the premises are subject to a subsequent increase in rateable value, 
any relief awarded will continue to be based on the rateable value as 
at 1 April 2017. However, if the premises are subject to a subsequent 
reduction in rateable value (effective from 1 April 2017, onwards) the 
relief will be recalculated to take into account the reduced rateable 
value and its effective date 

II. Relief will not be backdated and awarded in respect of previous 
financial years.     

5. Relief will only be given to premises which are liable for occupied rates. No relief will 
be granted under this scheme in respect of unoccupied premises.

6. Relief will be awarded from 1 April 2019 on a daily basis. Ratepayers taking up 
occupation after 1 April 2019 will not be eligible for relief on the basis that new 
ratepayers would not have suffered from increases due to a revaluation. 

7. The scheme looks to target relief to local independent businesses and not those 
businesses that are part of a franchise, national or multi-national in nature. Relief will 
only be awarded to local businesses. Local businesses are, for the purposes of this 
scheme, those which have premises wholly in Dorset.

8. Relief may be awarded to a rate payer for more than one premises as long as all 
criteria are met.

9. Relief will not be awarded in the following cases:

I. Where the ratepayer has applied for a reduction in rateable value 
under S44a of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 and the 
property has a subsequent increase in rateable value after the 1st 
April 2017 which increases the rate charge.

II. Where the property is wholly or mainly used as or for:
• Banks, Building Societies, cash points, bureau de change, 

payday lenders, betting establishments, pawn brokers;
• Schools, academies, universities or other higher education 

institutions;
• National Health Service; including NHS & Foundation Trust 

and Practitioners who provide services under contract to the 
NHS;

Page 39



• Beach huts;
• Public bodies such as councils, fire authorities, police and 

crime commissioner, unions, legislative bodies and the armed 
forces.

III. Where the relief for the financial year 2019/20 would be less than 
£25.01. 

10. The Council will look to automatically award relief to those businesses which it 
believes qualify for the support. Those ratepayers who believe they may be entitled 
to relief may make an application in writing. Any such application should be received 
before 31 December 2019, in order for it to be considered.

 
11. Relief awarded under this scheme will be classed as state aid. Ratepayers will be 

required to ensure that they do not exceed state aid limits and should notify the 
Council if this is likely.

Page 40



Hardship Rates 
Relief Policy 

Appendix D

Purpose The purpose of the policy is to ensure that a consisent approach is taken 
when applications for hardship rates relief are considered.

Scope

Councils have the discretion to award up to 100% rates relief to 
ratepayers who are suffering from hardship. Applications must be 
considered on their individual merits and awards only made where the 
Council is satisfied that it is in the interests of the Council Taxpayer to do 
so.

This policy sets out the factors that may be taken into account when 
applications for hardship relief are considered. It also provides the 
applicant’s review rights when they are dissatisfied with the decision. 

The policy applies to all ratepayers who wish to apply for hardship relief. 

1. Introduction

1.1 Under Section 49 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988, Councils have the discretion to 
award hardship relief of up to 100% of the amount due. 

1.2 Any application for hardship relief must be considered on its individual merits and only 
awarded where it is considered to be in the interests of the Council Taxpayer to do so.

1.3 The aim of this document is to provide a guide to determining applications and it should not 
be seen as a policy that operates in a way so as to bind the Council in its use of the 
discretionary power.

POLICY DETAILS:

2. How to claim a hardship rates relief

2.1 An application must be in writing (or by email) to the Council and be made by the ratepayer 
or by someone authorised to act on their behalf.

2.2 All applications must be supported by sufficient evidence to allow the Council to properly 
consider the claim. If the ratepayer refuses to provide the Council with such evidence the 
application may be treated as incomplete and it will not be processed.    

3. How claims will be assessed

3.1 The Council will only consider awarding hardship relief in exceptional circumstances and 
where it is satisfied that it would be in the Council Taxpayers interest to do so. Each case 

Appendix 4

Page 41



will be assessed on its own merits. In considering an application the following may be taken 
into account. 

• Evidence of exceptional hardship or exceptional circumstances
• Details as to how the applicant has attempted to meet their rates liability 

prior to submitting the application
• Whether all other eligible rates reliefs have been considered and, where 

applicable, claimed and awarded
• The amount outstanding/claimed was not as a result of wilful refusal or 

culpable neglect
• The situation and reason for the application must be outside of the 

ratepayer’s control
• Is there evidence that it is in the interests of the local Council Taxpayer to 

make the award (e.g. does the ratepayer provide a needed amenity that 
would be lost if the business closed, is the ratepayer a major local employer 
and relief needed to keep the business in operation, etc)?

• Does the ratepayer have assets that could be used to meet or reduce their 
liability?

4. Notifications of decisions 

4.1 Hardship rates relief may be awarded for any amount (up to 100% of the charge due) or for 
a specific period. The claimant will be notified of the decision as soon as possible after it has 
been made and any award will be by means of applying the relief to the relevant rates 
account. 

5. Review of a decision

5.1 Where the application is refused the claimant will be notified that they can ask for the 
decision to be reviewed. Any request for a review must be made, in writing or by email, 
within one calendar month of the decision letter.

5.2 The review will be carried out by a senior officer who was not involved in the original 
decision. When considering the review, the officer will have regard to any further evidence 
supplied.

5.3 If the claimant is dissatisfied with the outcome of the review they can, within one month of 
the review decision, request that their case be considered by the Council’s Appeals 
Committee.

Page 42



A
Appendix E

Discretionary 
Housing Payments 
Policy 

Purpose The purpose of the policy is to ensure that a consisent approach is taken 
when applications for Discretionary Housing Payments are considered.

Scope

Councils have the discretion to award Discretionary Housing Payments 
(DHPs) to help those claimants who receive either Universal Credit 
(Housing Costs) or Housing Benefit and need further assistance with 
their housing costs. In determining whether a DHP should be given the 
Council must be satisfied that the claimant qualifies for additional 
support with their housing costs and that, based on their circumstances, 
it is reasonable to make the award.

This policy sets out the factors that may be taken into account when 
applications for DHP are considered. It also provides the claimants 
review rights when they are dissatisfied with the decision. 

The policy applies to all Housing Benefit or Universal Credit (with 
Housing Element) claimants who wish to apply for a DHP. 

1. Introduction

1.1 Under the Discretionary Financial Assistance Regulations 2001, Councils have the discretion 
to award Discretionary Housing Payments (DHPs) to help those claimants who receive either 
Universal Credit (Housing Costs) or Housing Benefit and who need further assistance with 
their housing costs.

1.2 In determining whether a DHP should be given the Council must be satisfied that the 
claimant qualifies for additional support with their housing costs and that, based on their 
circumstances, it is reasonable to make the award. 

1.3 DHPs have a positive impact on the lives of those who are struggling to meet their housing 
costs. The Council will look to use DHPs:

• To help develop and promote social inclusion for residents  
• To help minimise hardship 
• To help support anti-poverty strategies 

Appendix 4

Page 43



• To provide additional financial support to those in greatest need and to 
prevent homelessness

• To safeguard residents in their homes where it would be considered 
unreasonable for them to find suitable, affordable, alternative 
accommodation 

• To support vulnerable people in the community 
• To encourage residents to obtain and sustain employment 
• To help claimants to secure and maintain affordable tenancies 
• To help claimants through personal crises and difficult events

1.4 The aim of this document is to provide a guide to determining DHPs applications and it 
should not be seen as a policy that operates in a way so as to bind the Council in its use of 
the discretionary power.

POLICY DETAILS:

2. Criteria for a DHP

2.1 DHPs can only be awarded if the claimant is entitled to either:

 Housing Benefit; or
 Universal Credit that includes housing costs towards rental liability; and
 There is a shortfall between the claimant’s eligible rent (i.e. the actual rent less 

any ineligible service charges such as charges for water, heating, meals, etc) and 
the support they are receiving. 

2.2 DHPs cannot be paid towards Council Tax liability.   
 
3. What are housing costs? 
 
3.1 DHPs can be awarded to cover shortfalls between the eligible rent for the claimant’s 

accommodation and their Housing Benefit or Universal Credit award. 

3.2 Housing costs means eligible rent, but not ineligible service charges, such as, charges for 
water rates or sewerage and environmental services, increases due to rent arrears or due to 
sanctions and reductions in Benefits.  

 
3.3 Housing costs also includes rent in advance, deposits and other lump sum costs associated 

with a housing need such as removal costs.  However, it does not include Council Tax 
charges.

4. How to claim a DHP

4.1 An application for a DHP can be made by the claimant or by someone authorised to act on 
their behalf.

4.2 The application must be made on the Council’s application form and submitted to its 
Benefits Service. 

 4.3 All applications must be supported by sufficient evidence to allow the Council to properly 
consider the claim. If the claimant refuses to provide the Council with such evidence the 
application will be decided based on the application received.

Page 44



5. How claims will be assessed
5.1 All claims will be assessed on their individual merits. In considering an application the 

following will be taken into account. 

 Whether the Landlord is charging a reasonable rent for the accommodation 
occupied 

 Whether the customer is under-occupying their property 
 The shortfall between Housing Benefit or Universal Credit and the claimant’s 

eligible liability 
 The steps taken by the claimant to reduce their rental liability 
 Whether the Benefit Cap calculation has been applied 
 Whether a reduction in Housing Benefit or Universal Credit for under-

occupation in the Social Rented Sector has been applied 
 The financial and medical circumstances (including ill health and disabilities) of 

the claimant, their partner and any dependants and any other occupants of the 
claimant’s household as detailed on their DHP form or held by the Council’s 
Benefits Service for the calculation of Housing Benefit 

 The income and expenditure of the claimants household 
 Increases in essential work related expenditure due to the claimant moving 

home because of the reduction in Local Housing Allowance (LHA) rates 
 Any savings or capital held by the claimants household 
 The exceptional nature of the claimant and their household’s circumstances 
 Non-dependant income from other adults in the home 
 The possible impact on the Council of not making such an award, for example 

the pressure on priority homeless accommodation 
 The steps taken and ability for the claimant to improve their financial 

circumstances, for example through budgeting advice and support 
  If a DHP was previously granted for a rent deposit or rent advance to assist the 

claimant to secure an affordable tenancy, whether anything has changed since 
the affordability check was completed 

 Any other special circumstances brought to the attention of the Council’s 
Benefits Service such as fleeing domestic violence. 

6. Period of award 

6.1 The Council will decide the amount of the DHP, and the length of time it will be awarded, 
having regard to the circumstances of the case.

6.2 The start date of an award will normally be the Monday after the claim for a DHP is received. 
However, in exceptional cases an earlier date may be used to reflect the individual 
circumstances of the claimant. 

6.3 The Council will consider any reasonable requests for backdating an award of a DHP. 
However, an award can only be considered for a period where the linked Housing Benefit or 
Universal Credit is payable.

7. How payments will be made

7.1 DHPs are not awards of Housing Benefit. However, payments of DHP may be added to those 
for Housing Benefit. If the claimant’s Housing Benefit is paid to their landlord the DHP will 

Page 45



normally also be paid to them. Payment frequency will also be in line with how Housing 
Benefit is paid, in accordance with Housing Benefit legislation.

7.2 If the claimant is receiving Universal Credit, the DHP will usually be paid by the Council to the 
person who receives that award. Payments for rent deposits and rent in advance will 
normally be made direct to the claimant’s landlord.

8. Changes in circumstances
 
8.1 The claimant has a duty to notify the Council’s Benefits Office of any change in their 

circumstances that might affect their DHP entitlement. This should be done within one 
month of the change.  Where the claimant’s circumstances have changed the Council may 
choose to revise the DHP award.

9. Notification of a decision

9.1 The Council will notify the claimant, in writing, of its decision as soon as possible after it has 
been made.  If the DHP claim is successful the letter will include:

 The amount of DHP awarded 
 Whether any amount paid is in advance or in arrears 
 The period of any award 
 How, when and to whom the award will be paid 
 Further advice/support that is available such as budgeting advice etc 
 The claimant’s right to a review of the decision. 

If the DHP claim is unsuccessful the letter will include:
•     The reasons why an award is not being made
•     Further advice/support that is available such as budgeting advice etc
•     The claimant’s right to a review of the decision.

10. Review of a decision

10.1 DHPs are awarded at the discretion of the Council and are not subject to the same review 
process as Housing Benefit. In view of this, claimants will not have the right to appeal for 
their case to be heard by an independent tribunal. However, a claimant who is unhappy with 
Council’s decision can request a review. Any such request should be made to the Benefits 
Service, within one month of the decision, giving reasons why the review should take place.

10.2 The review will be carried out by a more senior officer who was not involved in the original 
decision. When considering the review, the officer will have regard to any further evidence 
supplied. The claimant will be notified of the review decision as soon as possible after it has 
been made. 

10.3 If the claimant is dissatisfied with the outcome of the review they can, within one month of 
the review decision, request that their case be considered by the Council’s Appeals 
Committee.

Page 46



11. Overpayments

11.1 The Council may seek to recover a DHP overpayment if it was caused by:
 The claimant failing to provide accurate  and complete information at the time 

the application was made
 The claimant failing to advise the Council of a subsequent change in 

circumstances which affects the information already given.

11.2 The Council will not normally seek to recover a DHP overpayment caused by an official error 
unless it is reasonable to expect the claimant to know that they were being overpaid at the 
time.

12. Fraud Prevention

12.1 The Council is committed to the fight against fraud in all its forms. A claimant who tries to 
fraudulently claim a DHP by falsely declaring their circumstances, or providing a false 
statement of evidence in support of their application, may have committed an offence. In 
such cases, the Council will look to take appropriate action.

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank



Date of Meeting: 25th June 2019

Lead Member: Cllr Laura Miller – Lead Member for Adult Social Care & Health

Lead Officer: Mathew Kendall

Executive Summary:

The predecessor Dorset County Council Cabinet reviewed its charging policy in 2015 to 
support the implementation of the Care Act. It was agreed that the predecessor Dorset 
County Council would charge the full cost of putting in place the arrangements for meeting 
needs, in accordance with the person’s ability to pay as determined by a financial 
assessment in accordance with the Care Act and Charging Regulations.  

The policy was reviewed again in 2017, following which some changes were made to the 
treatment of disability-related income in the financial means-test. There were public 
consultations to support both previous reviews.

The remaining element of the policy to be implemented is in respect of contributions 
required towards the cost of Day Care and Transport. (It should be noted that the changes 
detailed in this report were implemented for new users accessing services from 1st 
January 2019).  It is proposed that the changes would take effect from 8th September 
2019.  This will give enough time to communicate and support those affected through the 
changes and provide enough time to make the system changes required.    

Based upon the current cohort the implementation of the policy to those in receipt of a 
service prior to 1st January 2019 will mean an increase in contributions for 112 people; 65 
of these are self-funders.

The key impact to consider is that of the 112 whose contribution will increase.  It is 
therefore important to engage and communicate what is happening, why and when.  It is 
proposed to speak directly with each service user impacted to offer support and guidance.  
Further details on the proposed engagement plan are in the main body of the report and 
the attached plan. A further mitigation is to implement the increases in day care 
contributions in two stages.

The People (Adults) budget has a savings target in 2019/20 of £5m.  One element of that 
is £500k additional income based upon the full implementation of the policy.  Clearly, if the 
recommendations for full implementation are not agreed this additional saving would need 
to be found from elsewhere.  Implementation from 8th September, will in itself result in a 
shortfall in this savings target for 19/20 of approximately £200k-£250k that will need to be 
made up elsewhere.

All contributions under the policy are based upon the ability of the service user to pay 
following a Financial Assessment.  Therefore, any increase in contributions does not 
necessarily imply hardship.  This would be mitigated by offering each individual a new 

Cabinet
Equitable Contributions – Day Care & 
Transport

Page 49

Agenda Item 7



Page 2 

Financial Assessment to take account any changes in circumstances and ensure that their 
income from benefits was maximised.

Equalities Impact Assessment:

N/A – this report relates to the implementation of a previously agreed policy change

Budget: 

The People (Adults) budget has a savings target in 2019/20 of £5m.  One element of that 
is £500k additional income based upon the full implementation of the agreed Fairer 
Charging policy.  Clearly if the full implantation is not agreed this additional saving would 
need to be found from elsewhere.

Based upon the current cohort the implementation of this policy change will yield in the 
region of £540k

Risk Assessment: 

Having considered the risks associated with this decision, the level of risk has been 
identified as:
Current Risk: MEDIUM
Residual Risk LOW

Other Implications:

None

Recommendation:

The Cabinet agrees:

That the current policy is fully implemented and that all service users are asked to 
contribute the full cost of putting in place the arrangements for meeting needs, based on 
their assessed income and savings, and  

That these changes would take effect; 
 for transport provided from 8th September 2019, and

 for the day care element, to be increased in two stages; 50% for care provided 
from 8th September, followed by full cost to be payable for care received from 
6th October 2019. The stepped increase provides some mitigation for the 
move towards the full assessed contribution for meeting care costs.

Reason for Recommendation:

The policy with regards to full cost charging was previously agreed by the predecessor 
Dorset County Council.  The proposed implementation date of 8th September gives 
enough time for appropriate communications and support for those that will be affected by 
the changes.

Page 50



Page 3 

The stepped increase for day care contributions provides some mitigation for the move 
towards the full assessed contribution to meet care costs.

Appendices:

Communications and engagement plan.

Background Papers:

1. Predecessor Dorset County Council Cabinet Report 13th May 2015 - The Outcomes of 
the Consultation on Financial Policies to Implement the Care Act in Dorset 
https://dorset.moderngov.co.uk/CeListDocuments.aspx?CommitteeId=137&MeetingId
=497&DF=13%2f05%2f2015&Ver=2

2. Current charges

Officer Contact 

Name: Steve Hedges
Tel: 01305-221777
Email: steve.hedges@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk

Page 51

https://dorset.moderngov.co.uk/CeListDocuments.aspx?CommitteeId=137&MeetingId=497&DF=13%2f05%2f2015&Ver=2
https://dorset.moderngov.co.uk/CeListDocuments.aspx?CommitteeId=137&MeetingId=497&DF=13%2f05%2f2015&Ver=2


Page 4 

1. Introduction
The predecessor Dorset County Council Cabinet reviewed its charging policy in 2015 to 
support the implementation of the Care Act. It was agreed that the predecessor Dorset 
County Council would charge the full cost of putting in place the arrangements for 
meeting needs, in accordance with the person’s ability to pay as determined by a financial 
assessment in accordance with the Care Act and Charging Regulations.  

The policy was reviewed again in 2017, following which some changes were made to the 
treatment of disability-related income in the financial means-test. There were public 
consultations to support both previous reviews.

The remaining element of the policy to be implemented is in respect of contributions 
required towards the cost of Day Care and Transport. (It should be noted that the 
changes detailed in this report were implemented for new users accessing services from 
1st January 2019).  It is proposed that these changes (for all those in receipt of care or 
transport pre-1st January 2019) would take effect; for transport provided from 8th 
September 2019; and for the day care element, to be increased in two stages; 50% for 
care provided from 8th September, followed by full cost to be payable for care received 
from 6th October 2019. The stepped increase provides some mitigation for the move 
towards the full assessed contribution for meeting care costs.

2. Background
All contributions under the policy are based upon the ability of the service user to pay 
following a financial assessment.  Therefore, an increase in contributions does not imply 
hardship.  

There are currently 744 service users who receive day care with or without transport (that 
is not a Direct Payments or Individual Service Funds).  Of these, 192 (26%) have been 
assessed as having £nil ability to pay and 66 (9%) have been assessed as self-funders. 
The changes proposed will affect contributions for day care and transport to day care.

Day Care is primarily provided through Tricuro.  Day Care contributions are £12.63 per 
half day sessions or £25.26 for a full day.  The true cost of day care (as per Tricuro rates) 
is higher and is based on the level of complexity of the individual’s needs, expressed as 
low, medium, or high complexity: low £48 per day, medium £57 per day and high £95 per 
day.  It is proposed to increase contribution levels to the current true costs. 

Transport to day care opportunities can be via the in-house fleet or external taxi service.  
The offer of transport is differentiated between standard and concessionary.  
Concessionary transport contribution is applicable to those in receipt of mobility benefit – 
a benefit that is not included in the financial assessment calculations – or to self-funders. 
The current contributions are £2.76 per journey for standard transport and £4.51 plus 55p 
per mile over 5 miles for concessionary transport. It is proposed to move to a standard 
charge of £10 per journey across the board.  

Page 52



Page 5 

The combined increase in day care and travel rates could result in additional income of 
£540k per annum as shown in the following table:

Contribution type Number Additional 
Contribution (£k)

Nil cost 192 0
Part Cost 486 120
Self-funding 66 420
Total 744 540

The table below shows that of those who contribute in part, or full cost, 112 will contribute 
more.

Contribution impact: Part Cost Self-funded Total
Decreased Charge 4 0 4
No change 435 1 436
Increased Charge 47 65 112
TOTAL 486 66 552

This table shows the weekly impact:

Of those with an increased 
contribution:

Part Cost Self-funder

<£10 per week 5 0
£10 - £20 per week 4 0
£20 - £30 per week 10 2
£30 - £40 per week 5 7
£40 - £50 per week 10 4
£50 - £75 per week 7 13
£75 - £100 per week 2 6
£100 - £150 per week 1 17
£150 - £200 per week 1 5
>£200 per week 2 11
TOTAL 47 65

These are the top 5 weekly increases:

Top 5 weekly increases for 
each type

Part Cost 
(£pw)

Self-funder 
(£pw)

1 269.22 448.70
2 224.19 448.70
3 155.22 361.90
4 134.21 358.96
5 92.44 278.96

Page 53



Page 6 

The locality areas for those affected is:

Increased 
contribution 
amount

Number Area

All 112 Blandford (6), Bridport (11), Dorchester (5), Ferndown 
(21), Weymouth & Portland (24), Purbeck (19), 
Shaftesbury (2), Sherborne (3), Sturminster (5), 
Swanage (9), Verwood (7)

£50 - £75 per 
week

20 Blandford (3), Bridport (3), Dorchester (1), Ferndown (4), 
Weymouth & Portland (5), Purbeck (1), Swanage (3)

£75 - £100 per 
week

8 Bridport (2), Weymouth & Portland (3), Purbeck (1), 
Shaftesbury (1), Swanage (1)

£100 - £150 per 
week

18 Blandford (2), Dorchester (1), Ferndown (6), Weymouth & 
Portland (1), Purbeck (4), Swanage (3), Verwood (1)

£150 - £200 per 
week

6 Ferndown (3), Weymouth & Portland (1), Purbeck (2)

>£200 per week 13 Ferndown (4), Weymouth & Portland (4), Purbeck (2), 
Sturminster (1), Verwood (2)

This is the breakdown by Primary Support Reason (PSR)

PSR of service users with an increased charge Part Cost Self-funder
Learning Disability Support 12 4
Mental Health Support 1 0
Physical Support 15 26
Social Support 13 25
Support with Memory & Cognition 6 10
Total 47 65

3. Engagement & Communications
The key impact to consider is that of the 112 whose contribution will increase.  It is 
therefore important to engage and communicate what is happening, why and when.  It is 
proposed to speak directly with each service user and their families (where appropriate) 
affected to offer support, guidance, information and consider the impact for them and any 
potential alternatives 

Work in relation to this will include:

 Direct contact by a Social Worker with all affected including the offer of a Care 
Package and/or financial assessment review

 Help-line hosted by the Adult Access Team
 FAQ page on Dorsetforyou
 Communications to elected members
 Appropriate internal communications.

A more detailed plan is attached to this report.

Page 54



Appendix 1

Adult and Community Services restructure and review – communications 
plan

Contents
Background – setting the scene ......................................................................................................................................................................................................2

What are our objectives? ................................................................................................................................................................................................................3

Audiences, messages and channels.................................................................................................................................................................................................3

Audiences – internal....................................................................................................................................................................................................................3

Audiences – external ...................................................................................................................................................................................................................5

Key messages ..............................................................................................................................................................................................................................6

Channels ......................................................................................................................................................................................................................................8

What and when – our action plan .................................................................................................................................................................................................16

Project plan-on-a-page..............................................................................................................................................................................................................16

What's happening when – high-level ........................................................................................................................................................................................16

Detailed comms delivery plan ...................................................................................................................................................................................................17

Resources ......................................................................................................................................................................................................................................19

Risks...............................................................................................................................................................................................................................................20

Evaluation......................................................................................................................................................................................................................................21

P
age 55



Background – setting the scene

In May 2015, Dorset County Council undertook public consultation on possible changes to the amount that people contribute to the cost of the adult social 
care services they receive.  From the information collected at that time, it was agreed that the actual cost of services used should be charged and subsidies 
and discounts would no longer apply. 

The increased contributions have been put into place in stages over the last four years. Currently all care apart from attending day centres and transport is 
now charged at the full cost. The full implementation of the policy will mean that all service users who are assessed as able to make a contribution to the 
cost of their care are treated equally.  This will take effect from 8th September 2019.

Anyone whose financial assessment shows that they could afford to pay all, or a greater amount towards the actual cost would be affected. This means that 
their weekly contribution will be increasing in line with the financial assessment and based on the actual cost of their care

The actual cost, and therefore the charges in future, will be as follows:

Tricuro day centre sessions (there are 2 sessions in a full day):
If your needs have been assessed as “Low” - £24 per session (£48 per day)
If your needs have been assessed as “Medium” - £27.50 per session (£57 per day)
If your needs have been assessed as “High” - £47.50 per session (£95 per day)

Attendance at day activity sessions provided by other organisations will vary and will be charged according to the actual cost of the service. 

Transport services are currently either charged as “Standard transport” and billed by Dorset Council on a 4-weekly invoice basis, or as “Concessionary 
transport” which is paid directly to the (Tricuro) day centre.  From 8th September 2019, this will change, and all transport will be charged at one rate of £10 
per single journey.  Service users will be sent a 4-weekly invoice by Dorset Council for this and no transport costs will be paid directly to day centres.

P
age 56



Dorset Council will charge the full cost of putting in place the arrangements for meeting needs, in accordance with a e person’s ability to pay as determined 
by their financial assessment in accordance with the Care Act and Charging Regulations for all with effect from the first the four-week billing run after 8th 
September 2019.  This relates to:

1. Day Care
2. Transport/travel charges
3. Withdrawal of concessionary transport based upon mobility benefit

What are our objectives?

Audiences, messages and channels

Audiences 

Stakeholder Group RAG Requirement Relevant channels

Service Users and Carers and families 
(as appropriate)

A Personalised letter outlining the changes, how 
they are affected and the timescale for 
introduction of new charges

Letter and phone call.  Home visits where 
requested.

Cabinet G Report outlining changes for approval to go 
ahead

Report

Elected Members G Briefing outlining changes Email

Social Workers A Briefing to outline changes Email

P
age 57



Finance Team A Briefing to outline changes Email

Providers A Letter to outline changes (personalised by 
service user)

Letter

Detailed communications delivery plan

Audience/sta
keholder 

group

Due 
Date

Item Channel Copy
written by

Copy
reviewed 

by

Copy
signed
off by

Copy 
sent/

actioned 
by

Description Done?

DC Cabinet 25 June Cabinet Paper Cabinet report Steve 
Hedges

Paul 
Beecroft

Simon 
Robson

Steve 
Hedges

Report outlining changes for 
approval to go ahead

Service Users 
and carers 
and families 
(as 
appropriate)

25 June Letter to Service 
Users and Carers

Letter Steve 
Hedges

Paul 
Beecroft/
Katie 
Lowe

Simon 
Robson

All Personalised letter outlining the 
changes, how they are affected and 
the timescale for introduction of 
new charges

Elected 
members

26 June Briefing for elected 
members

Email Steve 
Hedges

Paul 
Beecroft

Steve 
Hedges

Briefing outlining changes

Providers 26 June Letter to providers Email/Letter Steve 
Hedges

Paul 
Beecroft

Steve 
Hedges

Brief to outline changes 
(personalised by service user)

Social 
Workers

26 June Briefing for social 
workers

Email/ASC 
Essentials

Steve 
Hedges

Paul 
Beecroft 

Jon 
Goodwin

Briefing to outline changes

P
age 58



Finance Team 26 June Briefing for Finance 
Team

Email Steve 
Hedges

Paul 
Beecroft

Briefing to outline changes

AAT 26 June Briefing for AAT Email Steve 
Hedges

Paul 
Beecroft

Briefing to outline changes

General 
public

July 
2019

Web page Dorset Council 
website

Paul 
Beecroft

Paul 
Beecroft

Update wording for charging policy 
page

P
age 59



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Date of Meeting: 25 June 2019

Lead Member: Cllr David Walsh – Lead Member for Planning

Lead Officer: Hilary Jordan, Corporate Manager, Planning (Community & Policy 
Development)

Executive Summary:

The local plans adopted by the predecessor councils still form the statutory development 
plan for the new council, and will remain so until replaced by a new plan.  The 
Consequential Order for Dorset Council requires the Council to produce and adopt a new 
local plan, reflecting the changed council geography, by April 2024.  Members of the 
Shadow Executive have previously expressed a preference to adopt the plan by April 
2023, and officers reported to the Shadow Executive in February 2019 that this was 
possible, albeit challenging.

Councils are required to publish ‘local development schemes’ or programmes of plan 
preparation work, to make sure that local communities are aware of the plans in place, 
those in preparation, and the opportunities they will have to be involved.  The draft Dorset 
Council Local Development Scheme, attached as Appendix 1, sets out a proposed 
programme for preparing the Dorset Council Local Plan in line with this agreed target date.  
It also includes the programmes for the final stages of the Waste Local Plan, Minerals 
Sites Plan, and Purbeck Local Plan, currently in preparation.

The Purbeck Local Plan is currently at examination stage but the other local plan reviews 
currently in preparation have not advanced as far.  Continuing these separate local plan 
reviews alongside the preparation of the Dorset Council Local Plan would have significant 
additional resource implications, particularly bearing in mind the ambitious timescale 
intended for the Dorset Council plan.  Officers therefore recommend that other than the 
Purbeck plan, these reviews are not continued separately, but instead that the work 
already carried out be brought together as input to the new Dorset Council plan.   

The planning authorities in Dorset have previously worked together through the member-
level Dorset Strategic Planning Forum. Having such a forum in place is valuable in 
enabling councils to meet their statutory ‘duty to cooperate’ on strategic planning matters, 
and it is important that the Council continues its commitment to cooperation with 
neighbouring councils, as stated in the Statement of Common Ground that was jointly 
agreed by the predecessor councils.  This commitment will need to be demonstrated 
during the examination into the Purbeck Local Plan.        

Equalities Impact Assessment:

None – the Dorset Council Local Plan will be subject to detailed equalities impact 
assessment during its preparation.

Cabinet
Dorset Council Local Plan and Local 
Development Scheme

Page 61

Agenda Item 8



Page 2 

Budget: 

£975,000 has been carried forward from the previous district council budgets, reserved for 
local plan preparation work including evidence base studies and public examination costs.

Risk Assessment: 

Having considered the risks associated with this decision, the level of risk has been 
identified as:
Current Risk: MEDIUM
Residual Risk: MEDIUM

There is a risk of having less control over development decisions in the absence of an up-
to-date local plan and five-year supply of deliverable land for housing.  
There is a risk of not being able to complete the local plan in the challenging timetable 
proposed. Having adequate staff resources is critical, as is political support, which is why a 
member task and finish group is to be set up from an early stage.  Not all of the stages are 
in the council’s control however, as the plan must go through a public examination and be 
found sound if it is to be adopted.  Joint working with other councils is also necessary to 
ensure a sound plan. 

Other Implications:

A wide range of economic, social and environmental issues will be considered as part of 
plan preparation and a number of impact assessments will be carried out.  The 
achievement of sustainable development is the aim of the planning system.

Recommendation:

1. That Dorset Council progresses with a Dorset Council Local Plan in line with the high level 
project plan set out in the draft Local Development Scheme (Appendix 1) with the aim of 
adopting the plan by April 2023;

2. That the separate local plan reviews currently under way in the Dorset Council area, with 
the exception of the Purbeck plan which has reached examination,  do not continue, but 
that all existing work carried out on these reviews be used where possible to shape the new 
Dorset Council Local Plan;  

3. That the attached draft Local Development Scheme (Appendix 1) be approved as Dorset 
Council’s current programme for plan preparation;

4. That Dorset Council retains its commitment to cooperation with neighbouring councils on 
strategic planning matters, as expressed in the Statement of Common Ground approved by 
the predecessor councils.

Reason for Recommendation:
To ensure that work on the preparation of a new Dorset Council Local Plan can be 
progressed to enable adoption by April 2023.

Appendices:  
Appendix 1: Draft Dorset Council Local Development Scheme May 2019

Background Papers:
Report to Shadow Executive, 11 February 2019, Timeline and Resources for Producing 
the Dorset Council Local Plan
Dorset Statement of Common Ground on Strategic Planning Matters (approved by the 

Page 62



Page 3 

Strategic Planning Forum)

Officer Contact 
Name:  Hilary Jordan 
Tel:  01305 252303
Email:  hilary.jordan@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk

1. Introduction

1.1 Local Plans set out the locations where development will take place and the policies 
that will be used to guide decisions on planning applications.  They form part of the 
statutory development plan, meaning that decisions on applications must be made in 
accordance with them unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  Having an 
up-to-date local plan in place is important to provide certainty to local communities 
and the development industry.  It also enables the council to have greater control 
over development in the area, as if policies are out of date (including where the 
council cannot demonstrate that it has the required five-year supply of deliverable 
sites for housing) then less weight can be given to them in decisions and the national 
‘presumption in favour of sustainable development’ applies.   

1.2 The Local Plans adopted by the predecessor councils have been carried forward as 
policies of the new Dorset Council, and will remain as the statutory development 
plans for their areas until replaced by a new plan.  As such they continue to be the 
policy framework against which the council will make decisions on planning 
applications.  

1.3 The Consequential Order for Dorset Council requires that a new Local Plan reflecting 
the new council geography be adopted by April 2024. The Shadow Executive for 
Dorset Council was keen to ensure that the plan was adopted as soon as possible, 
and recommended that this should be by April 2023.  A report to the Shadow 
Executive meeting of 11 February 2019 recommended that this was possible but 
challenging, and depended on adequate staff resources being in place.

1.4 The Shadow Executive also agreed in February that a task and finish group of 
councillors be set up, reporting to the Cabinet, to provide the strategic lead for the 
Dorset Council Local Plan, and this group will now be established.

2. Current Local Plans

2.1 The Consequential Orders establish that all policies adopted by the predecessor 
councils are carried forward as the policy of the new council.  This means that all the 
current adopted local plans still apply as the statutory development plan for the 
various parts of the Dorset Council area, though policies carry less weight where the 
plans are more than five years old and where the council cannot demonstrate a five-
year supply of deliverable housing sites.  Where this is the case, national policy as 
set out in the National Planning Policy Framework still applies and decisions need to 
be taken in accordance with it.  The Purbeck local plan and Christchurch and East 
Dorset local plan are both now more than five years old and the same weight cannot 
be attached to their policies.  The West Dorset, Weymouth & Portland local plan and 
North Dorset local plan will be five years old in October 2020 and January 2021 
respectively.  Only the Purbeck area currently has a five-year housing land supply. 

Page 63



Page 4 

2.2 Local plan reviews are under way across the area and much work has already taken 
place to review policies and identify potential sites for housing, employment and 
other development.  The current stage of each plan, and the work required to take 
them to adoption, is summarised in the table below:

Area Current 
position

Potential 
adoption date

Further work required to reach 
adoption

East Dorset Options 
consultation 
completed

Late 2020 Pre-submission publication; 
collation of responses; 
submission; examination 
(including consultation on 
modifications) 

North Dorset Issues and 
options 
consultation 
completed

Autumn 2021 ‘Preferred options’ consultation; 
pre-submission publication; 
collation of responses; 
submission; examination 
(including consultation on 
modifications)

Purbeck Plan at 
examination, 
with hearings 
taking place 
July and August 
2019 

Late 2019 Preparation for and attendance at 
examination; consultation on 
modifications

West Dorset, 
Weymouth & 
Portland 
(joint plan)

‘Issues and 
options’ and 
‘preferred 
options’ 
consultations 
completed

Late 2020 Pre-submission publication; 
collation of responses; 
submission; examination 
(including consultation on 
modifications)

3. Options for future Local Plan preparation

3.1 The Shadow Executive has agreed that the new Dorset Council local plan should be 
prepared as quickly as possible, with the aim of adoption by April 2023, rather than 
April 2024 as specified in the Consequential Orders.    This is a challenging 
timeframe, which can only be met if there are adequate resources in place and if the 
examination process is straightforward.

3.2 The Shadow Executive also agreed previously (at its October 2018 meeting) that it 
should be for the new Council to decide whether or not to continue with the individual 
local plan reviews for the Purbeck, East Dorset, North Dorset and West Dorset, 
Weymouth & Portland areas.  It is important to make this decision as soon as 
possible to provide greater certainty to local communities and the development 
industry, as well as to enable the workload to be properly organised.    

3.3 The resource implications of the proposed April 2023 adoption date for the Dorset 
Local Plan were set out in some detail in the February report to the Shadow 
Executive, which made clear that this adoption date would only be possible if the 
current level of planning policy staff resource were maintained. Since then a number 
of posts have been proposed for deletion in the transitional staff structure, and 

Page 64



Page 5 

officers are in discussion about ensuring the appropriate level of staff resources to 
undertake the work on the new plan.  Continuing the separate local plan reviews as 
well as the Dorset Council plan would have significant additional resource 
implications, estimated in the previous report to require a further 14 full-time 
equivalent staff.   There would also be additional costs involved in the separate local 
plan examinations, with the Planning Inspectorate fees likely to be in the region of 
£50,000 for each plan.

3.4 Continuing with the individual reviews alongside the preparation of the Dorset 
Council plan could also be confusing and time-consuming to consultees and 
stakeholders, resulting in multiple consultations on similar issues. 

3.5 As the Purbeck plan review is at a more advanced stage than any of the others, with 
the examination currently under way, it is suggested that this review continues, but 
that the work on the other plans be subsumed into the preparation of the new Dorset-
wide plan.  Work to date has included several public consultations and the 
preparation of much of the necessary evidence base, the results of which will be 
relevant to the new plan.        

4. The draft Local Development Scheme 

4.1 The draft ‘Local Development Scheme’ is attached as Appendix 1 to this report.  This 
is the work programme for future planning policy document preparation that all 
councils are required to publish and keep up to date.  One of the main purposes of 
this requirement is to make sure that all the stakeholders who need to be involved in 
the plan preparation process are aware of the programme and able to plan for their 
input.

4.2 The main document proposed is of course the new Dorset Council Local Plan.  A 
great deal of engagement and consultation has already taken place during the 
preparation of the individual local plan reviews, and this will inform the new plan.  It is 
however proposed that further informal engagement and consultation with Dorset’s 
communities will take place before the publication of the full draft plan.  This will be 
an opportunity to consider all the development options across the new council area, 
ensure that a consistent approach is taken, and ensure that all the relevant 
stakeholders including town and parish councils are fully engaged in the process of 
preparing the new plan.  

4.3 The draft local development scheme sets out a programme that includes: options 
consultation in autumn 2020; pre-submission publication in summer/autumn 2021; 
submission for examination in spring 2022; and adoption in April 2023.  This is in line 
with the draft programme included within the February report to the Shadow 
Executive, and officers are already working on the early stages of plan preparation. It 
is not proposed in this draft Local Development Scheme that any of the individual 
local plan reviews are continued, other than the Purbeck local plan.

4.4 The  Local Development Scheme includes the dates for adoption of the new Waste 
Local Plan and Minerals Sites Plan, both of which are at advanced stages of 
preparation and due to be adopted this year.  It includes information on adopted 
Neighbourhood Plans and those in preparation.  It also includes sections on the 
Community Infrastructure Levy and on Supplementary Planning Documents. 

4.5 It does not include a separate programme for the continued preparation of the 
Dorset-wide Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Development Plan Document.  
This has been in preparation across the whole Dorset area (including that part now 

Page 65



Page 6 

within the Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Council area) as a joint project 
between the various councils.  As the new unitary councils have been introduced, 
and also as the need for new sites is almost entirely within the Dorset Council area, it 
is proposed that rather than continue as a separate document, the allocation of sites 
should take place within the new Dorset Local Plan.   

4.6 A Dorset Council-wide ‘Statement of Community Involvement’ has been drafted, to 
replace the individual Statements prepared by the previous district councils.  This is 
due to be published for public consultation this summer and will be brought back to 
Cabinet for adoption later in the year. 

5. Duty to Cooperate

5.1 The Dorset Strategic Planning Forum was established in 2015 to provide a member-
level forum for joint working on strategic planning matters, recognising the 
importance of such liaison in meeting the statutory Duty to Cooperate on strategic 
planning matters.  The Forum’s membership comprised two members from each of 
the councils within Dorset, together with representatives of the Dorset Local 
Enterprise Partnership and Dorset Local Nature Partnership.  Members from 
surrounding local authorities were invited if there were particularly relevant matters to 
discuss.  

5.2 A Statement of Common Ground was agreed by the Forum, and signed by all of the 
predecessor councils in both the Dorset Council and Bournemouth, Christchurch and 
Poole council areas.  Such Statements are required to be submitted with local plans 
in order to demonstrate the cooperation that is taking place.  The Statement will need 
to be revised in due course to reflect the new council geography, but in the meantime 
members are asked to confirm their previous commitment to cooperation as 
expressed in the existing Statement of Common Ground, which has been submitted 
to the Purbeck Local Plan inspector.  

5.3 Cooperation between Dorset Council and Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole 
Council will be vital as part of preparation of both councils’ local plans and so it is 
recommended that the Forum should continue.  Terms of reference clearly need to 
be revised following local government reorganisation, and a provisional revised set of 
terms of reference were discussed at the Forum meeting in March.  An updated draft 
of these revised terms of reference will be brought to Cabinet in future, following 
further discussion with Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole and other adjoining 
Councils.      

Page 66



THE LOCAL DEVELOPMENT SCHEME 
FOR DORSET

www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk

June 2019

Page 67

https://www.dorsetforyou.gov.uk/home.aspx


C o n t e n t s  P a g e

CONTENTS

Introduction....................................................................................................................................................1

Local Plans ......................................................................................................................................................2

Minerals and Waste Plans...............................................................................................................................3

Neighbourhood Plans......................................................................................................................................5

Community Infrastructure Levy.......................................................................................................................6

Supplementary Planning Documents and Guidance ........................................................................................7

Statement of Community Involvement ...........................................................................................................8

Key Programme Milestones ............................................................................................................................9

Page 68



P a g e  | 1

INTRODUCTION

This is the Local Development Scheme (LDS) for Dorset Council, setting out a programme for the 
preparation of new planning policy documents. The main focus is the production of a new local plan for 
Dorset, but minerals and waste policies are also being reviewed. 

Predicted timescales / dates for consultation periods are given in square brackets [], however these may be 
subject to change and will be updated regularly.

Page 69



P a g e  | 2

LOCAL PLANS

The main Development Plan Document (DPD) to be produced will be the Dorset Council Local Plan. This will 
replace the current local plans adopted by the Borough and District Councils that existed prior to April 
2019. 

Minerals and waste policies are contained in separate DPDs. Existing and proposed minerals and waste 
plans and are discussed in the next section.

EXISTING LOCAL PLANS AND REVIEWS PROPOSED LOCAL PLANS
Purbeck Local Plan (2018 – 2034)

The Purbeck Local Plan will set out planning policies 
and propose allocations to meet the needs of the 
whole of the former Purbeck District area. The plan was 
submitted for examination in January 2019. The 
examination will take place during Summer 2019 and 
adoption is anticipated in December 2019. 

Upon adoption, the Purbeck Local Plan (2018 – 2034) 
will replace the Purbeck Local Plan Part 1, but the 
Swanage Local Plan, which runs until 2027, will 
continue to apply to Swanage. 

Dorset Council Local Plan

The Dorset Council Local Plan will set out planning 
policies and propose allocations to meet the needs of 
the whole of the Dorset Council area. It will look ahead 
until at least 2038 in order to ensure provision for 
growth for 15 years on adoption. The key stages and 
likely timescales are: 
 Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report: [July 

2019]
 Options Consultation: [September 2020]
 Publication: [September 2021]
 Submission: [March 2022]
 Examination: [Summer 2022]
 Adoption: [Spring 2023]

Existing Local Plans

Whilst work is being progressed on a new local 
plan for Dorset, existing adopted DPDs will 
continue to apply to the areas they covered 
previously.  

Existing local plans are:

 Christchurch and East Dorset Local Plan 
Part 1: Core Strategy (2014)

 East Dorset Local Plan (2002): Saved 
policies only

 North Dorset Local Plan Part 1 (2016)
 North Dorset District-Wide Local Plan 

(2003): Saved policies only
 Purbeck Local Plan Part 1 (2012)
 Swanage Local Plan (2017)
 West Dorset, Weymouth and Portland 

Local Plan (2015)

Existing local plans can be viewed online here - 
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/planning-
buildings-land/planning-policy/planning-
policy.aspx

Borough / District Local Plan Reviews

The current local plan reviews for: East Dorset; 
North Dorset; and West Dorset and Weymouth & 
Portland, will no longer be taken forward. The 
work undertaken on these reviews will feed into 
the new Dorset Council Local Plan. 

It is intended that the Dorset Council Local Plan would 
replace all existing local plans in the Dorset Council 
area upon adoption.   

The Dorset-wide Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling 
Showpeople Site Allocations Joint Development Plan 
Document (DPD), which has been in preparation, will 
no longer be taken forward. Any policies relating to, 
and allocations needed for, Gypsies, Travellers and 
Travelling Showpeople in the Dorset Council area will 
be made in the Dorset Council Local Plan.
 

Page 70

https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/planning-buildings-land/planning-policy/planning-policy.aspx
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/planning-buildings-land/planning-policy/planning-policy.aspx
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/planning-buildings-land/planning-policy/planning-policy.aspx


P a g e  | 3

MINERALS AND WASTE PLANS

Adopted and emerging minerals and waste local plans cover the geographical area administered by Dorset 
Council and Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole (BCP) Council.  Prior to 1st April 2019 this area was 
administered by Dorset County Council and the unitary authorities of Bournemouth and Poole. Adopted 
and emerging minerals and waste plans will continue to apply to the same geographical area.

The emerging Mineral Sites Plan and Waste Plan were the subject of examination hearings before local 
government reorganisation came into effect on 1st April 2019 but their adoption will be the responsibility of 
the new Dorset Council and BCP Council. They will replace the ‘saved’ policies of the minerals and waste 
plans that currently exist, with the exception of the Bournemouth, Dorset and Poole Minerals Strategy, 
which will remain part of the development plan.

EXISTING MINERALS AND WASTE PLANS PROPOSED MINERALS AND WASTE PLANS

Existing minerals and waste plans are:

 Bournemouth, Dorset and Poole 
Minerals Strategy (2014)

 Bournemouth, Dorset and Poole 
Waste Local Plan (2006) : Saved 
policies only

 Dorset Minerals and Waste Local Plan 
(1999): Saved policies only 

Existing minerals and waste plans can be viewed 
online here - 
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/planning-
buildings-land/planning-policy/planning-
policy.aspx

 

The Bournemouth, Christchurch, Poole and 
Dorset Waste Plan

This plan will cover the whole of the Dorset 
Council and BCP Council administrative areas. It 
will set out the aims, objectives and spatial 
strategy for dealing with waste and will also 
contain policies and allocations for waste 
management sites.

The plan has undergone examination and the 
inspector found it sound, subject to the inclusion 
of modifications contained in his report. The plan 
will now be put before Dorset Council and BCP 
Council for adoption. Once adopted it will 
supersede all remaining ‘saved’ policies in the 
2006 Waste Local Plan. 

The key stages and likely timescales are: 

 Adoption: [July 2019]

The Bournemouth, Christchurch, Poole and 
Dorset Mineral Sites Plan

This plan will cover the whole of the Dorset 
Council and BCP Council administrative areas. It 
will contain site allocations and other detailed 
policies to deliver the adopted Minerals Strategy. 

The plan is at examination and, if found sound will 
be put before Dorset Council and BCP Council for 
adoption. Once adopted it will supersede all 
remaining ‘saved’ policies in the 1999 Minerals 
and Waste Local Plan. 

The key stages and likely timescales are: 

 Adoption: [Autumn 2019]

Page 71

https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/planning-buildings-land/planning-policy/planning-policy.aspx
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/planning-buildings-land/planning-policy/planning-policy.aspx
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/planning-buildings-land/planning-policy/planning-policy.aspx


P a g e  | 4

EXISTING MINERALS AND WASTE PLANS PROPOSED MINERALS AND WASTE PLANS
The Bournemouth, Christchurch, Poole and 
Dorset Minerals Strategy Review

Further review of the Minerals Strategy will take 
place following the adoption of the Mineral Sites 
Plan and the Waste Plan during 2019. It is likely 
that any further review will be undertaken jointly 
with BCP Council. 

The timescales for the Minerals Strategy Review 
may be subject to change (depending on the 
extent of the review that is undertaken), but the 
key stages and likely timescales are:

 Sustainablity Appraisal Scoping Report: 
[September 2019]

 Publication: [November 2020]
 Submission: [April 2021]
 Adoption: [June 2022]

Page 72



P a g e  | 5

NEIGHBOURHOOD PLANS 

When neighbourhood plans are ‘made’ they form part of the statutory development plan.  In June 2019, 15 
neighbourhood plans in the Dorset Council area had been made and several others were in production. Up-
to-date information on neighbourhood plans can be viewed here - 
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/planning-buildings-land/planning-policy/dorset-council-planning-
policy/neighbourhood-plans-in-dorset/neighbourhood-plans-in-dorset.aspx

EXISTING NEIGHBOURHOOD PLANS PROPOSED NEIGHBOURHOOD PLANS

The following neighbourhood plans 
have been made:

 Askerswell
 Bere Regis
 Bourton
 Buckland Newton
 Cerne Valley
 Fontmell Magna
 Gillingham
 Hazelbury Bryan
 Holwell
 Loders
 Lytchett Matravers
 Piddle Valley
 Pimperne
 Shillingstone
 Sturminster Newton

These neighbourhood plans have gone through examination 
with a recommendation that, subject to modification, they 
should proceed to referendum:

 Broadwindsor
 Milborne St Andrew

These neighbourhood plans are at examination:

 Blandford + (including Bryanston and Blandford St 
Mary)

 Wareham Town

The following neighbourhood areas have been designated 
and in most cases neighbourhood plans are in preparation:

 Arne
 Alderholt
 Beaminster
 Bridport Area
 Charmouth
 Chesil Bank
 Chetnole and Stockwood
 Chickerell
 Corscombe, Halstock and District
 Iwerne Minster
 Leigh
 Longburton (Cam Vale)
 Maiden Newton and Frome Vauchurch
 Melbury Abbas and Cann
 Milton Abbas
 Motcombe
 Okeford Fitzpaine
 Portland
 Puddletown
 Shaftesbury
 Stinsford
 Sturminster Marshall
 Sutton Poyntz
 Upper Marshwood Vale
 West Lulworth
 Wool Parish
 Yetminster and Ryme Intrinsica  

 

Page 73

https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/planning-buildings-land/planning-policy/dorset-council-planning-policy/neighbourhood-plans-in-dorset/neighbourhood-plans-in-dorset.aspx
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/planning-buildings-land/planning-policy/dorset-council-planning-policy/neighbourhood-plans-in-dorset/neighbourhood-plans-in-dorset.aspx


P a g e  | 6

COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY

The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) provides a mechanism for collecting financial contributions from 
developers towards the provision of infrastructure to support development. On 1st April 2019, Dorset 
Council became the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging Authority and began administering the 
charging schedules adopted by the former district and borough councils. 

Charging schedules have been adopted for all the former district and borough councils, except North 
Dorset, where CIL is not charged. Links to the relevant charging schedules are available here -  
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/planning-buildings-land/planning/community-infrastructure-
levy/community-infrastructure-levy.aspx

The CIL charging schedule for the former Purbeck District Council area is being reviewed alongside the 
review of the Purbeck Local Plan. The examination of the revised draft charging schedule for Purbeck will 
take place in Autumn 2019 and adoption is anticipated in December 2019.     

The Government consulted on draft legislation to amend the CIL Regulations during December 2018 and 
January 2019. These changes are intended to complement the assessment of viability in the National 
Planning Policy Framework and aim to make the system of developer contributions more transparent and 
accountable. Key changes include measures to ensure that consultation on preparing charging schedules is 
proportionate; and operational reforms, which aim to provide a more transparent approach to reporting on 
the use of developer contributions to fund infrastructure. If the Government enact the amended 
Regulations as drafted, it will require the Council to prepare and publish an ‘Infrastructure Funding 
Statement’ by 31st December 2019. This (and any other required changes to how CIL is charged and 
administered) will be made in accordance with the timescales set out in the amended Regulations.

The Government requires that local plans should set out the contributions expected from development and 
that the viability of all relevant policies including the cost implications of CIL and S106 should be taken into 
account at plan making stage.  Development of the proposed Dorset Council Local Plan will require the 
review of evidence relating to infrastructure needs and viability and presents an opportunity to prepare a 
single replacement CIL charging schedule for the new plan area. The introduction of new CIL Regulations 
will help inform the way forward.

Page 74

https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/planning-buildings-land/planning/community-infrastructure-levy/community-infrastructure-levy.aspx
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/planning-buildings-land/planning/community-infrastructure-levy/community-infrastructure-levy.aspx


P a g e  | 7

SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENTS AND GUIDANCE

Adopted Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) and Guidance (SPGs) will continue to apply to the 
areas they covered prior to April 2019.

SPDs relating to internationally important wildlife sites will be the priority for review, including:

 The Dorset Heathlands Planning Framework 2015 – 2020
 Nitrogen Reduction in Poole Harbour
 The Poole Harbour Recreation Planning Framework 2019 – 2034

These three SPDs also relate to areas within Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole and so will be reviewed 
jointly with BCP Council.  

Page 75



P a g e  | 8

STATEMENT OF COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT

A single Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) for the Dorset Council area, which also relates to 
minerals and waste policy, is being prepared. It will set out how Dorset Council will involve the community 
in the preparation and review of planning policy documents and in making planning decisions. The draft SCI 
is online here – add link.

Page 76



P a g e  | 9

KEY PROGRAMME MILESTONES

The following table outlines the key programme milestones for the production of Development Plan 
Documents.  All timescales are indicative and may be subject to change.

Development Plan Document

Q
3 

20
19

Q
4 

20
19

Q
1 

20
20

Q
2 

20
20

Q
3 

20
20

Q
4 

20
20

Q
1 

20
21

Q
2 

20
21

Q
3 

20
21

Q
4 

20
21

Q
1 

20
22

Q
2 

20
22

Q
3 

20
22

Q
4 

20
22

Q
2 

20
23

Q
2 

20
23

Purbeck Local Plan (2018 – 2034) Su A
Dorset Council Local Plan Sc Pr Pu Su A
Bournemouth, Christchurch, Poole and Dorset Mineral 
Sites Plan    

A

Bournemouth, Christchurch, Poole and Dorset Waste 
Plan

A

Bournemouth Christchurch, Poole and Dorset Minerals  
Strategy

Sc Pr Pu Su A

Key:

Sc Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Consultation
Pr Plan Preparation
Pu Pre-submission Publication
Su Submission and Examination
A Adoption

Page 77



This page is intentionally left blank



Date of Meeting: Cabinet - 25 June 2019; Council - 18 July 2019

Lead Member: Cllr David Walsh – Lead Member for Planning

Lead Officer: John Sellgren – Executive Director for Place

Executive Summary:

In March 2018 the draft Bournemouth, Dorset and Poole Waste Plan was submitted to the 
Secretary of State and an independent inspector was appointed to hold an examination into 
the plan’s soundness. Public hearings were held in June 2018. The inspector was invited to 
include in his report any recommendations needed to make the plan sound and therefore 
capable of adoption.

The Inspector’s report has now been issued and it concludes that, subject to the inclusion 
of the modifications, the plan is legally compliant and sound. The modifications do not 
significantly alter the thrust of the overall strategy that was submitted for examination. 

Under the provisions of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended), it 
is the responsibility of the Local Planning Authority to adopt the Waste Plan. It can only be 
adopted if it includes the modifications that the inspector considers are needed to make it 
sound. 

As the Plan covers the two administrative areas of Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole 
Council (BCP) and Dorset Council, it will need to be adopted by both unitary authorities. 
Once this occurs, there will follow a 6-week legal challenge period from the date of adoption 
during which interested parties have the right to challenge the plan on legal/procedural 
matters under the provisions of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

The Waste Plan will be the first local plan adopted by Dorset Council and it will provide an 
up-to-date statutory planning framework for waste matters across the entire local authority 
area, as well as that of Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole. This will enable both Councils 
to plan positively for waste needs up to 2033 in compliance with national policy. It will also 
supersede the remaining ‘saved’ policies from the 2006 Bournemouth, Dorset and Poole 
Waste Plan. 

Equalities Impact Assessment:

The Waste Plan has been the subject of an Equalities Impact Assessment (including EqIA 
screening) and issues identified in the assessment have been taken into consideration in 
preparing the plan.  

Budget: 

There are no immediate budget implications associated with adoption of the Waste Plan, 
although there is a right of legal challenge for a six-week period immediately following the 

Cabinet / Council 
Adoption of Bournemouth, Christchurch,  
Poole and Dorset Waste Plan

Page 79

Agenda Item 9



Page 2 

adoption of a plan. In the event of such a challenge there may be legal costs associated with 
defending the challenge.
In the event that the Council opts not to adopt the plan, it would expose the authority to the 
risk of on-going significant costs in dealing with planning appeals and having to commission 
extra evidence to justify its decisions on waste applications. This is because there would not 
be an up-to-date development plan and so the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development would prevail, with decisions having to be judged directly against the National 
Planning Policy Framework. It would also pose a risk to the waste management 
responsibilities of Dorset Council in terms of planning to meet future needs.

Risk Assessment: 

Having considered the risks associated with this decision, the level of risk has been identified 
as:
Current Risk: LOW
Residual Risk LOW

Other Implications:

The plan was the subject of a Sustainability Appraisal (incorporating Strategic Environmental 
Assessment) and a Habitats Regulations Assessment. It has also involved all relevant 
service providers within Dorset Council. Any issues regarding sustainability or corporate 
interests have been taken into account in preparing the plan.  

Recommendation:

That Cabinet commends the Bournemouth, Christchurch, Poole and Dorset Waste Plan to 
Council and requests that Council:

1. resolves to adopt the Plan subject to its inclusion of the main modifications that are 
appended to the Inspector’s Report;

2. confirms that the formal adoption date will begin two weeks from the date at which 
both BCP Council and Dorset Council have resolved to adopt the plan; 

3. delegates to the Lead Member for Planning, after consultation with the Executive 
Director for Place:

a. any additional (non-material) modifications to the Plan which were the 
subject of consultation, together with any other additional modifications 
which benefit the clarity of the Plan;

b. authority to expedite any technical/procedural matters associated with 
adoption of the plan, including those connected with Dorset Council’s role as 
the Competent Authority on matters relating the Habitats Regulations 
Assessment1 of the Plan.

Reason for Recommendation:

 To ensure Dorset Council has an up-to-date statutory policy framework for 
considering planning applications for waste development.

 To comply with the requirements of the statutory/consequential orders concerning 
Shaping Dorset Council which require a council-wide local plan by 2024.

1 Under the provisions of the Conservation (Natural Environment, etc.) Regulations (Northern Ireland) 1995 (as 
amended) (commonly referred to as the Habitats Regulations)

Page 80



Page 3 

Appendices:
None

Background Papers:

1. Waste Plan Inspector’s Report and Schedule of Main Modifications
2. Submitted Waste Plan, together with insets 1-7, 8-13, and appendices.

Officer Contact 

Name: Emma Macdonald
Tel: 01305 228585
Email: emma.macdonald@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk

1. Overview

1.1 Responsibility for waste planning matters rests with county and unitary authorities. Since 
1997, the preparation of waste planning policies in Dorset has been undertaken jointly by 
the relevant waste planning authorities across Dorset. Prior to 1 April 2019 this was Dorset 
County Council, Bournemouth Borough Council and Borough of Poole. Since 1 April this 
responsibility now falls on Dorset Council and BCP Council. 

1.2 The current statutory local plan context for waste matters is provided by the ‘saved’ 
policies of the Bournemouth, Dorset and Poole Waste Local Plan 2006. In 2014 work 
began on a replacement Waste Plan to provide an up-to-date spatial strategy and policy 
framework to meet the waste needs of the plan area. The draft plan was submitted to the 
Secretary of State in March 2018, which marked the commencement of an examination 
into the plan’s soundness, led by an independently appointed inspector. Following the 
hearing sessions in June 2018, modifications that were deemed necessary to make the 
plan sound were consulted on before the inspector issued his final report at the end of 
January 2019. The inspector concluded that the plan was legally compliant and sound, 
subject to the modifications set out in his report. 

1.3 The adoption of the Waste Plan will represent the culmination of a substantial amount of 
work which has involved extensive liaison with local residents, the waste industry, waste 
management authorities, statutory bodies  and other interested parties and several 
consultation stages. It provides the principal mechanism for the consideration of planning 
applications for waste development and it seeks to ensure waste needs can be met in a 
sustainable manner by moving waste up the Waste Hierarchy (i.e. prevention / reuse / 
recycling / recovery / disposal), thereby seeking to treat any residual waste that cannot 
be prevented, reused or recycled as a resource before pursuing the last resort of disposal. 
As a consequence of this approach the Waste Plan does not propose the allocation of 
any landfill sites and instead promotes a range of management facilities and infrastructure 
ranging from strategic sites to household recycling centres. It is essential in providing the 
policy basis for the delivery of municipal waste management (for which Dorset Waste 
Partnership is responsible) as well as commercial, industrial and certain specialised waste 
streams.

1.4 It is important to note that the Waste Plan is strategic in its remit in that it covers the 
geographical area administered by Dorset Council and BCP and will provide a strategy 
for the period up to 2033. Its adoption will be a positive achievement for the new councils 
as part of their wider local development frameworks. It also provides detail in the form of 
site allocations and development management policies.

Page 81

https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/planning-buildings-land/planning-policy/dorset-county-council/pdfs/planning/new-waste-plan/inspectors-report-on-waste-plan.pdf
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/planning-buildings-land/planning-policy/dorset-county-council/pdfs/planning/new-waste-plan/main-modifications-appendix-to-inspectors-report-on-waste-plan.pdf
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/planning-buildings-land/planning-policy/dorset-county-council/pdfs/planning/new-waste-plan/waste-plan-pre-submission-draft-part-1.pdf
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/planning-buildings-land/planning-policy/dorset-county-council/pdfs/planning/new-waste-plan/insets-1-7.pdf
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/planning-buildings-land/planning-policy/dorset-county-council/pdfs/planning/new-waste-plan/insets-8-13.pdf
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/planning-buildings-land/planning-policy/dorset-county-council/pdfs/planning/new-waste-plan/waste-plan-pre-submission-draft-appendices-excluding-insets.pdf


Page 4 

2. The Inspector’s Report

2.1 The Inspector’s report has now been issued and this concludes the examination. It 
contains a schedule of main modifications. These are modifications which are considered 
material to the Plan. 

2.2 The Inspector can only recommend main modifications put before him by the Waste 
Planning Authorities if invited to do so by the Waste Planning Authorities. It follows that 
the modifications attached to the report are those which were acceptable to the Waste 
Planning Authorities (having regard to the views of interested parties and under the 
guidance of the Inspector).   

2.3 The report confirms that although there are a large number of modifications, they do not 
significantly alter the thrust of the overall strategy. The Inspector concludes that, subject 
to the inclusion of the modifications, the plan is legally compliant and sound.

3 Adoption of the Plan

3.1 Under the provisions of Section 23(5) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 
(as amended), it is the responsibility of the Waste Planning Authorities to adopt the Waste 
Plan. The plan can only be adopted subject to inclusion of the main modifications. For this 
reason it is recommended that the plan be adopted with the inclusion of the main 
modifications. 

3.2 As the Plan covers the administrative areas of Dorset Council and Bournemouth, 
Christchurch and Poole Council (BCP) it will need to be adopted by the both authorities. 
To allow for the necessary processes to take place it is recommended that the formal 
adoption date is two weeks after both resolutions have been secured.

3.3 Once the plan is adopted, there will follow a 6-week legal challenge period from the date 
of adoption. During this period interested parties have the right to challenge the plan on 
legal/procedural matters only under the provisions of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004.

4 Concluding Comment

4.1 The adoption of the Waste Plan will provide Dorset Council and BCP with an up-to-date 
policy framework that will replace the ‘saved’ policies from the 2006 plan. Under the 
provisions of the National Planning Policy Framework development should be determined 
in accordance with the adopted development plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise. Having a plan that accords with the latest national policies will provide both 
Authorities with greater certainty in securing acceptable development that provides for 
Dorset’s waste needs in a manner that is consistent with the Waste Plan.  For these 
reasons I have no hesitation in commending the Waste Plan to you.

Page 82



DORSET COUNCIL
COMMITTEE REPORT IMPACT ASSESSEMENT FORM

This form must be completed by the report author and sent to officers, together 
with the draft committee report, as part of the report clearance process (see 
attached flowchart)

Committee Title: Cabinet

Date of Meeting: 25 June 2019

Title of Report: Adoption of Bournemouth, Christchurch,  Poole and Dorset Waste Plan

Impact Assessment:

Does this report relate to a new or revised strategy, policy or 
function?

Yes / No

If this is a new strategy, policy or function, has an EQIA screening 
form been completed?

Yes / No

Has this report been subject to an Equalities Impact Assessment? Yes / No

Has full use of appropriate evidence been made in the compilation of 
this report?

Yes / No

Has this report been risk assessed? Yes / No

What is the level of residual risk? (i.e. reflecting the recommendations 
in this report and mitigating actions proposed)

If risk is identified as ‘High’ the front page and main body of the report 
should identify the risks and proposed mitigation.

Low
Medium
High

Are there any property or asset implications? (if yes the report should 
identify how these will be addressed)

Yes / No

Are there any corporate parenting, children safeguarding or adult 
safeguarding implications? (if yes the report should identify how these 
will be addressed)

Yes / No

Have any sustainability implications been identified (if yes the report 
should identify how these will be addressed)

Yes / No

Are there any public health or community safety implications? (if yes, 
the report should identify how the recommended course of action will 
enhance either area)

Yes / No

Have any VAT implications been identified? (if yes, the report should 
identify how these will be addressed)

Yes / No

Are there any negative impacts on voluntary organisations? Yes / No

Page 83



Public / Exempt Report:

Is the report to be treated as exempt or confidential, i.e. Not for 
Publication?

Yes / No

If ‘yes’, please state relevant paragraph(s) from the Local 
Government Act (see overleaf) and specify the reasons why you 
consider it should be exempt

Yes / No

Specific Reasons for Making Report Exempt

Categories of exempt information:

1. Information relating to any individual;
2. Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual;
3. Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person 

(including the authority holding that information);
4. Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or contemplated 

consultations or negotiations, in connection with any labour relations matter arising 
between the authority or a Minister of the Crown and employees of, or office holders 
under, the authority;

5. Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could be 
maintained in legal proceedings;

6. Information which reveals that the authority proposes:
a) to give under any enactment a notice under or by virtue of which requirements 

are imposed on a person; or
b) to make any order or direction under any enactment; 

7. Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with the 
prevention, investigation or prosecution of crime.

Page 84



Once all comments have been received email a 
copy of the report to your Executive Director and 
Portfolio Holder for approval, a minimum of 21 

days before the committee date. 

Prior to drafting your report inform your 
Corporate Director/Head of Service and line 
manager of the report outline and decision 

required.  If it’s a cabinet report request Portfolio 
Holder and Corporate Director approval to add 

the report to the Cabinet Forward Plan.  

It is a corporate requirement to 
consult the Monitoring Officer and 
Executive Director for Corporate 

Development.

You must not submit a report for 
the committee agenda unless 

your report has been through the 
above steps and approved by the 
Executive Director and Portfolio 

Holder.

Committee Chairmen may hold an agenda 
programme meeting in the week prior to the 
agenda dispatch.  Report authors, and Chief 

Officers will be required to attend.

Brief the Portfolio Holder, if necessary, in 
advance of the meeting.  Portfolio Holders will 

present reports at cabinet meetings.

Draft the report using the corporate template. A 
minimum of 28 days before the meeting date 
email the report to your Corporate Director/ 
Head of Service.  Plus corporate consultees 

Monitoring Officer, Executive Director for 
Corporate Development (& unions if 

appropriate). Attach a completed Impact 
Assessment Form to the email.

Send final report to Committee Mailbox 8 days 
before the committee date.  

If your report requires a key decision or is 
exempt it must be published on the Forward 

Plan a minimum of 28 days before the meeting.

If the report is approved by the 
Portfolio Holder & Director complete 

and submit the Forward Plan 
notification form to Democratic 

Services.

All committee reports must be 
cleared by the Executive Director.

(Exceptions are Planning and 
Licensing application reports).

Approval from the relevant Portfolio 
Holder is also required for any date 
modification to the Forward Plan.  

Once a change has been approved 
notify Democratic Services

14 days before the committee date send 
finalised report to Democratic Services.  DS 

will draft an agenda with all reports and 
circulate to the Committee Chairman/Vice-

chairman, Executive Director and Corporate 
Director.  

Page 85



This page is intentionally left blank



 
Date of Meeting: 25 June 2019 
 
Lead Member: Cllr David Walsh – Lead Member for Planning 
 
Lead Officer: Frances Summers - Senior Planning Policy Officer

Executive Summary: 
 
The purpose of the report is to seek approval to ‘make’ (adopt) the Bere Regis 
Neighbourhood Plan.  

The Bere Regis Neighbourhood Plan was prepared by the Bere Regis Neighbourhood 
Plan Group (BRNPG) with support from Council officers. It involved several stages of 
consultation and an independent examination by a qualified examiner. On 19th March 2019 
Purbeck District Council resolved that the plan should proceed to referendum. 

The referendum was held on 2nd May 2019 and there was a 40.19% turnout. 447 (83%) 
voted in favour and 92 (17%) voted against. Legislation requires that more than 50% of the 
votes need to be in favour if a neighbourhood plan is to proceed any further. 

Minor errors found in the referendum version need to be rectified and they are detailed 
within this report.  

Following the positive referendum result, the final stage is for the Council to make (adopt) 
the plan within 8 weeks of the referendum. The circumstances where the Council is not 
required to make a neighbourhood plan are where it considers that making it would 
breach, or otherwise be incompatible with, any EU or human rights obligations. Officers do 
not believe that this would be the case as evidenced by the Equalities Impact Assessment 
discussed below and found in Appendix 3. The final version of the plan is attached to this 
report in Appendix 2. 

Equalities Impact Assessment: 

Officers prepared an Equalities Impact Assessment (EqIA) of the pre-referendum version 
of the plan in December 2018. Although changes have been made to the plan through the 
examination, they are not considered to affect the equalities impact assessment outcomes 
as of December 2018. This version of the EqIA is attached to this report as Appendix 3. 
The EqIA concludes that the plan will have no negative impacts on equality. It will sit 
alongside existing Purbeck Local Plan policies that apply to Bere Regis, which also has no 
negative impacts as shown in EqIAs completed at the time. 

Budget:  

Making the Neighbourhood Plan will require the notification of parties who have expressed 
an interest in the making of the plan. This can be accommodated within existing budgets. 

Risk Assessment:  
Having considered the risks associated with this decision, the level of risk has been 
identified as: 
Current Risk: HIGH/MEDIUM/LOW (Delete as appropriate) 

 

Dorset Council - Cabinet  

Making the Bere Regis Neighbourhood Plan  

Page 87

Agenda Item 10



Page 2  

Residual Risk HIGH/MEDIUM/LOW (Delete as appropriate) 

Other Implications: 
 
Cabinet is the first meeting at which the plan could be made following the formation of 
Dorset Council. In order to adhere to legislation in the Neighbourhood Planning Act 2012 
(As amended) 25A. (1), the plan must be ‘made’ within 8 weeks of referendum. The plan’s 
referendum was held on 2 May 2019, 8 weeks from this date is 27 June 2019. 
 
As the Council is required to make the Bere Regis Neighbourhood Plan by 27 June 2019 
(within 8 weeks of the referendum), this presented a conflict with the overview and scrutiny 
procedure rules which provide for a call-in period of five working days to pass following the 
publication of the decision of the Cabinet before it can be implemented, and any delay 
likely to be caused by the call-in process would seriously prejudice the Council’s or the 
public’s interests.  As such it has been necessary to consult with the Chairman of the 
Place Scrutiny Committee to seek an exemption from the call-in procedure on the basis of 
urgency.  Cllr Daryl Turner as the Chairman of the Place Scrutiny Committee agreed to the 
request on Monday 10 June 2019 and this has been logged with Democratic Services.  
With this urgency exemption the Plan can therefore be made by the required date of 27 
June 2019.  

Recommendation: 

That the Council agrees: 

(1) that the making of the neighbourhood plan would not breach and is compatible with EU 
and human rights obligations;  

(2) that the Bere Regis Neighbourhood Plan as submitted to and approved by referendum 
is made under section 38A(4) of the 2004 Act;  

(3) that with the agreement of Bere Regis Parish Council the Bere Regis Neighbourhood 
Plan as made is modified by: 

o the replacement of the wording of Policy BR6 with that recommended by the 
examiner and approved by Purbeck District Council on 19 March 2019; and 

o the deletion of the proposed SANG from Map 5, as recommended by the 
examiner and approved by Purbeck District Council on 19 March 2019 (the 
extent of the SANG is shown elsewhere in the plan); 

on the basis that such modifications do not materially affect the policies in the plan or 
are correcting errors of a type contemplated by section 61M(4) of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990. 

Reason for Recommendation: 

National Planning Practice Guidance, Paragraph 641, states ‘if the majority of those who 
vote in a referendum are in favour of the draft neighbourhood plan or Order (or, where 
there is also a business referendum, a majority vote in favour of both referendums), then 
the neighbourhood plan or Order must be made by the local planning authority within 8 
weeks of the referendum’. 

                                                           
1 Reference ID: 41-064-20170728  

Page 88



Page 3  

Appendices: 
1. Errors found in referendum version of Bere Regis Neighbourhood Plan; 
2. Bere Regis Neighbourhood Plan; 
3. Equalities Impact Assessment; and 
4. Decision statement. 

Background Papers: 
Please see the following webpage for background papers that were submitted as evidence 
supporting the plan: https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/planning-buildings-land/planning-
policy/purbeck/neighbourhood-planning-purbeck/bere-regis-neighbourhood-plan.aspx  

Officer Contact  
Name: Frances Summers 
Tel: 01929 557384 
Email: frances.summers@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk  

 
Main report 

1.1 Under the Localism Act 2011, town and parish councils can prepare neighbourhood 
plans. The plan forms part of the development plan which both shapes the area and 
helps inform decisions on individual planning applications. They are an opportunity 
for communities to set out their local vision for the growth they would like to see in 
their areas. On adoption of the neighbourhood plan, the amount of CIL that would go 
to the parish would increase from the standard 15% to 25%, as set out in regulations. 

1.2 Bere Regis Neighbourhood Plan allocates land for 105 homes, Suitable Alternative 
Natural Greenspace (SANG) which mitigates impacts on designated heathland, and 
employment. It protects Local Green Spaces, community facilities and protects 
against flood risk. The plan articulates the community’s vision for the area and 
provides a local steer on the Purbeck Local Plan Part 1 development management 
policies.  

1.3 Work began on the Bere Regis Neighbourhood Plan in January 2013 and the final 
draft of the plan was submitted to the Council in October 2018. Neighbourhood plans 
are subject to several stages of consultation and they have to meet the ‘basic 
conditions’ tests, set in legislation. In order to check that neighbourhood plans meet 
the basic conditions and comply with all relevant legislation and procedures, they are 
required to be independently examined by a suitably qualified examiner. Officers and 
the Bere Regis Neighbourhood Plan Group (BRNPG) appointed an examiner, who 
provided a final report in March 2019. It is published online at 
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/planning-buildings-land/planning-
policy/purbeck/neighbourhood-planning-purbeck/bere-regis-neighbourhood-
plan.aspx.  

1.4 The 19 March 2019 Purbeck District Council meeting considered each of the 
recommendations made in the report and the reasons for them. Council resolved 
that, “the Bere Regis Neighbourhood Plan proceed to referendum subject to 
modifications being made in line with the examiner’s recommendations and subject 
to clarification of the settlement boundary shown in map 3 by the General Manager – 
Planning and Community Services in consultation with the local Ward 
Member”. Following this, Map 3 was clarified.  

1.5 The referendum was held on 2 May 2019 and from a turnout of 40.19%, 477 
individuals (83%) voted in favour and 92 (17%) against. Legislation says that within 8 
weeks of a positive vote, the plan needs to be made (adopted) by the Local Planning 

Page 89

https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/planning-buildings-land/planning-policy/purbeck/neighbourhood-planning-purbeck/bere-regis-neighbourhood-plan.aspx
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/planning-buildings-land/planning-policy/purbeck/neighbourhood-planning-purbeck/bere-regis-neighbourhood-plan.aspx
mailto:frances.summers@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/planning-buildings-land/planning-policy/purbeck/neighbourhood-planning-purbeck/bere-regis-neighbourhood-plan.aspx
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/planning-buildings-land/planning-policy/purbeck/neighbourhood-planning-purbeck/bere-regis-neighbourhood-plan.aspx
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/planning-buildings-land/planning-policy/purbeck/neighbourhood-planning-purbeck/bere-regis-neighbourhood-plan.aspx


Page 4  

Authority, unless it considers doing so would breach, or otherwise be incompatible 
with, any EU or human rights obligations. The examiner’s report, which the Council 
has accepted, concluded on page 9 that the plan satisfies, ‘the basic conditions 
regarding compliance with European legislation including the newly introduced basic 
condition regarding compliance with the Habitat Regulations’ and that ‘the plan has 
no conflict with the Human Rights Act’. Therefore, officers believe that the Council 
has already agreed that both obligations have been satisfied. As a result, officers 
consider that the Council has already made its position clear on both points.  

1.6 Since referendum, it has been noted that the plan contains two minor errors. Please 
see Appendix 1 for details. The errors were in the plan that went to Council in March 
2019 and in the referendum version of the plan. To summarise, the errors were: 

 wording in Policy BR6: Affordable Housing was not changed as per the 
examiner’s report; and 

 the SANG was not removed from Map 5.  

1.7 Section 61M4() of the 1990 Act allows the local planning authority to modify a 
neighbourhood plan they have made if they consider that the modification does not 
materially affect any of the policies in the plan. Both the qualifying body and officers 
believe the errors do not materially affect any of the policies in the plan. The Parish 
Council agree that the errors must be rectified to be consistent with the modifications 
suggested by the examiner.  

1.8 Due to the errors, officers recommend the Council to agree to make the plan on the 
basis that;  

 the current incorrect wording of Policy BR6 is replaced with that recommended by 
the examiner and approved by Purbeck District Council on 19 March 2019; and 

 the deletion of the proposed SANG from Map 5, as recommended by the 

examiner and approved by Purbeck District Council on 19 March 2019 (the extent 

of the SANG is shown elsewhere in the plan); 

on the basis that such modifications do not materially affect the policies in the plan or 

are correcting errors of a type contemplated by section 61M(4) of the Town and 

Country Planning Act 1990. 

1.9 The Council is required to make the Bere Regis Neighbourhood Plan by 27 June 
2019. This presents a conflict with the overview and scrutiny procedure rules for 
Cabinet which provide for a call-in period of five working days to pass following the 
publication of the decision of the Cabinet before it can be implemented. In this 
instance, any delay likely to be caused by the call-in process would seriously 
prejudice the Council’s or the public’s interests. As such it has been necessary to 
consult with the Chairman of the Place Scrutiny Committee to seek an exemption 
from the call-in procedure on the basis of urgency. Cllr Daryl Turner as the Chairman 
of the Place Scrutiny Committee agreed to the request on Monday 10 June 2019 and 
this has been logged with Democratic Services. With this urgency exemption the 
Plan can therefore be made by the required date of 27 June 2019.  

1.10 Should the Council decide to make the plan, the Council is required to produce a 
Regulation 19 Decision Statement as soon as possible. A copy of the statement is 
attached to this paper as Appendix 4. 

1.11 Following this, officers will make the necessary arrangements, as prescribed in 
legislation, to: 

a) publish the plan and details of where it can be inspected on the relevant section 
of Dorset Council website; and 

Page 90



Page 5  

b) notify anyone who previously asked to be notified of the making of the plan and 
where it can be inspected. 

1.12 Having regard to a), legislation says that it is at the Council’s discretion as to how to 
publish its decision in any manner it considers to be likely to bring it to the attention 
of people who live, work or carry on business in the plan area. Officers believe this 
can be achieved by notifying those on the Council’s planning policy contacts’ 
database in writing or by email. This comprises of local planning agents / developers 
and those who have specifically asked to be kept informed of neighbourhood 
planning. Officers will also ensure that the relevant parts of Dorset Council website 
are updated, to make clear to anyone thinking of submitting a planning application in 
Bere Regis that the neighbourhood plan is statutory for determining planning 
applications.  

1.13 Should the Council decide to make the neighbourhood plan, there would follow a 
period of six weeks where applications could be made to the High Court for a judicial 
review. 

1.14 The plan may be reviewed in whole or in part in the future.  

 

Page 91



Appendix 1 

Error 1: Policy BR6: Affordable Housing 

The examiner approved the plan subject to some modifications. One of the modifications 
was to change the wording in Policy BR6: Affordable Housing Tenures as shown below. 
Red, strikethrough text signifies a deletion, green underlined text indicates an insertion. For 
ease, the examiners approved version is shown as well as the version that was in the plan 
during the referendum.  

Examiner’s approved version 

Policy BR6: Affordable Housing Tenures 
All residential development sites will be expected to deliver 40% affordable housing on site, 
unless exempted by national legislation; Purbeck’s affordable housing policy, or is offset by 
the provision of affordable housing elsewhere in Bere Regis village, or; the allocation is 
offset by an equivalent financial contribution from the developer as agreed by Purbeck 
District Council. Any proposals for the offset of affordable housing requirement will need to 
be dealt with by use of simultaneous planning applications. Offsets can only be provided 
within Bere Regis village and any such proposals will need to be agreed by Purbeck District 
Council.  
Affordable Housing will be provided on residential development sites in the following ratios 
unless compelling evidence is available to support different ratios. Housing for occupation by 
Key Workers will be encouraged.  

 70% affordable housing for rent 

 10% discounted market sales homes that must be purchased and re-sold at a set 
proportion of open market value and will, in the first instance, be available to local 
people; 

 10% shared ownership homes, i.e. where people own part of the dwelling and rent 
the remainder from a Registered Social Landlord (RSL); and 

 10% starter homes.  
All the above tenure types are as defined in the definition of affordable housing set out in the 

Glossary of the NPPF 2019. 

Referendum version 

Policy BR6: Affordable Housing Tenures 

All residential development sites will be expected to deliver 40% affordable housing on site 

unless exempted by national legislation; offset by development of affordable housing 

elsewhere, or; the allocation is offset by a financial contribution from the developer. Offsets 

can only be provided within Bere Regis village and any such proposals will need to be 

agreed by Purbeck District Council. Affordable Housing will be provided on residential 

development sites in the following ratios unless compelling evidence is available to support 

different ratios. Housing for occupation by Key Workers will be encouraged. 

 70% affordable housing for rent; 

 10% discounted market sales homes that must be purchased and re-sold at a set 
proportion of open market value and will, in the first instance, be available to local 
people; 

 10% shared ownership homes, i.e. where people own part of the dwelling and 
rent the remainder from a Registered Social Landlord (RSL); and 

 10% starter homes. 

Page 92



Page 7  

All the above tenure types are as defined in the definition of affordable housing set 

out in the Glossary of the NPPF 2019. 

Errors 2: Map 5 

The examiner recommended removing the SANG from Map 5 as shown in the map below. 

Examiner’s approved version 

 

Referendum version 

Page 93



Page 8  

 

Page 94



2019-2034

Bere Regis 
NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN

Page 95



2

Contents 
 

Introduction. Vision & objectives                                           3 

Legislative requirements                                                        4 

Information about Bere Regis                                                5 

Map 1 - Parish Boundary                                                       6 

History of the village                                                             7 

Map 2 - Conservation Area                                                   7 

Planning  Policies                                                                11 

Impact on Wildlife Habitats                                                12 

Flooding in Bere Regis                                                        13 

Noise Attenuation                                                               14 

Housing                                                                             15 

Map 3 - Development Sites                                                17 

Business & Employment                                                      19 

Community Services & Facilities                                         20 

Map 4 - Community facilities                                              21 

Community Hall                                                                 22 

Tourism                                                                               22 

Open Spaces                                                                       22  

Map 5 - Local Green Spaces                                               23

Supporting evidence is available to download from the website  
www.bereregisparishcouncil.co.uk or printed copies can be  
obtained from the Parish Clerk. 
 
Acknowledgements – Bere Regis Parish Council are indebted to all those parishioners who have 
assisted in the preparation of this Neighbourhood Plan, through attendance at public consultations; 
involving themselves with working parties, or, providing invaluable feedback on our proposals. 
 
All plans reproduced under Ordnance Survey licence LA100022058 
 
Photography by Julien and Sam Lightfoot ©2018. Design by Julien Lightfoot ©2018 

                                                                                                        Page 96



Introduction 
 
This Neighbourhood Plan has been prepared by the 
community of Bere Regis. It sets out a vision and 
objectives for how the Parish of Bere Regis will 
develop from 2019 to 2034. This text is supported by 
maps and Supporting Evidence (SE), as mentioned in 
the text. All of the supporting evidence is available to 
download from www.bereregisparishcouncil.co.uk. 
 
Our thinking drew heavily on the Parish Plan (SE1) 
which was completed in March 2007. We are 
indebted to those who put considerable effort into 
preparing that document. When work commenced  
on this Neighbourhood Plan it was envisaged that it 
would provide a comprehensive document that  
dealt with all areas of the parish, intended to  
provide guidance on the activities and aspirations  
of our residents.  
 
However, after receiving advice from our local 
authority colleagues, it became apparent that the plan 
was required primarily as a guide to what residential 
and commercial development should be allowed, 
together with identification of appropriate sites.  
 
Consequently, this plan deals with the provision of 
additional housing, as required by Purbeck District 
Council (PDC); encouraging a range of dwelling types 
to meet demand. This plan also seeks to protect 
sensitive areas including the Conservation Area by 
avoiding inappropriate development or overdevelop-
ment, while providing support for local shops, 
facilities and businesses. 
 
Because future development will be restricted to areas 
immediately around the village of Bere Regis it might 
appear that outlying and rural areas have not been 
given consideration. This is not the case. Such areas 
are already adequately covered by planning policies 
and guidance both at local and national levels. 
Consequently, we have not identified any need to 
replicate that advice or to provide any additional 
protection to those areas.  
 
This Neighbourhood Plan seeks constructive change 
intended to meet the needs of current and future 
residents while protecting and enhancing those 
features that contribute towards the character and 
essence of the parish. Once agreed, the 
Neighbourhood Plan will form part of the statutory 
development plan for the area, which means it will be 

used to guide future development in the Parish and 
determine planning applications. 
 
This Neighbourhood Plan relates to the Parish of Bere 
Regis. The plan area was designated by PDC on 14th 
January 2014. The extent of the plan area is shown  
on  Map 1. 

 
Vision & objectives 

 
Our vision is to sustain a safe and lively parish 
community, centred on the village of Bere Regis.  
 
To achieve this, our objectives are to:  
•  Facilitate the development of a sufficient quantity 

of new housing to meet local demand, with a range 
of affordable, shared ownership, and market 
properties. 

l   Ensure that new housing is designed to fit well with 
the local streetscape and blend with the vernacular 
architecture. 

•  Ensure that new developments integrate well with 
existing housing in order to maintain a strong sense 
of community. 

•  Support and sustain existing community facilities 
and services, including social, sporting and leisure 
facilities plus medical and emergency services. This 
plan also supports the provision of a new 
community hall and further recreational 
opportunities. 

•  Support existing and new employment 
opportunities in the parish. 

•  Protect and enhance our environment including 
support for local wildlife habitats, Local Green 
Spaces and public rights of way. 

BERE REGIS NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 2018

3
Page 97



Legislative Requirements 
 
There are various legislative requirements and tests that 
the Neighbourhood Plan has to meet in order to pass 
examination. A draft order meets the basic conditions if:  
(a) having regard to national policies and advice 

contained in guidance issued by the Secretary of State, 
it is appropriate to make the order,  

(b) having special regard to the desirability of preserving 
any listed building or its setting or any features of 
special architectural or historic interest that it 
possesses, it is appropriate to make the order,  

(c)  having special regard to the desirability of preserving 
or enhancing the character or appearance of any 
conservation area, it is appropriate to make the order,  

(d)  the making of the order contributes to the 
achievement of sustainable development,  

(e)  the making of the order is in general conformity with 
the strategic policies contained in the development 
plan for the area of the authority (or any part of that 
area),  

(f)  the making of the order does not breach, and is 
otherwise compatible with, EU obligations, and  

(g)  prescribed conditions are met in relation to the order 
and prescribed matters have been complied with in 
connection with the proposal for the order.  

Pursuing sustainable development is at the heart of the 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), which states 
that plan making and decision taking should be made 
with the aim of achieving sustainable development at a 
local level. 
 
Sustainable development incorporates three inter-related 
components, namely; environmental, social and 
economic. It is the responsibility of the Local Planning 
Authority (LPA) to ensure that all three components are 
balanced effectively. Planning policies are the starting 
point for decision making and it is essential that policies 
allow positive environmental, social and economic 
benefits in order to achieve a sustainable future. This 
means seeking improvements in the quality of our built, 
natural and historic environment as well as improving 
people’s quality of life. There should, therefore, be gains 
in building design, including the replacement of poor 
design with high quality design; increased biodiversity 
and amenity value within a locality; promotion of job 
opportunities through the protection of, and increase in 
employment space; protection from natural risks such as 

flooding, and; the provision of a balanced and high-
quality housing stock.  
Neighbourhoods have been encouraged by the 
Government to develop plans which support the strategic 
development needs identified within the Local Plan as 
well as positively supporting and shaping development 
within their area. The Bere Regis Neighbourhood Plan 
seeks to manage future development through the parish 
in a positive and supportive way so that the community, 
and the structures which support it, are sustainable for 
future generations. It is intended that careful implementa-
tion of the policies will bring about an overall 
improvement in the quality of both the natural and built 
environments, as well as enhancing residents’ well-being 
and overall quality of life.  
 
The Consultation Statement (SE2), shows the process 
followed in the production of this Plan. 
 
   

Purbeck Local Plan  
 
The Purbeck Local Plan divides the Purbeck district into 
five spatial areas. Within the north-west spatial area Bere 
Regis is identified as a key service village for local 
residents. Facilities in Bere Regis are also relied upon by 
residents in the adjoining settlements of Affpuddle, 
Turnerspuddle and Bloxworth in the Purbeck area, and 
the village of Winterborne Kingston in the North Dorset 
administrative area. 
 
Following publication of the government’s standard 
methodology for identifying housing need and an update 
of the Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA), PDC 
have confirmed that an additional 168 homes per year 
are required in the Purbeck area, instead of 120 as 
indicated in the Purbeck Local Plan. The Parish Council 
has worked closely with PDC and it has been agreed that 
105 additional dwellings should be provided in 
settlement extensions around the village of Bere Regis 
during the plan period to 2034. 
 
This figure of 105 dwellings has been included in PDC 
consultations during 2018, as part of their comprehensive 
Local Plan review, which is due for adoption in late 2019. 
References in this Neighbourhood Plan to the ‘Purbeck 
Local Plan’ refers to policies in PLP1 (November 2012) 
and any subsequently adopted Local Plans that cover the 
Bere Regis parish.

4
Page 98



The parish of Bere Regis at 3,319 hectares (8,201 
acres or 12.81 square miles), covers a large 
geographical area, and includes the main settlement 
of Bere Regis plus the hamlets of Hyde, Bere Heath, 
The Warren, Chamberlaynes, Roke, Shitterton and 
Lane End. 
 
The village of Bere Regis is situated in the Bere valley 
and lies on an important intersection between the 
main A35 and A31. The C6 runs south from the 
village to link with Wool, while the Winterborne 
Kingston road provides a link to Blandford Forum in 
the north. Immediately around the village are the hills 
of Bere Down, Woodbury Hill and Black Hill. From 
any of these viewpoints it is apparent that the most 
outstanding characteristic of the village is the way it 
nestles above the Bere Stream, with much of the 
village enjoying a southerly aspect. 
 
The village stands at the gateway to the Purbeck 
region, with the entire parish enjoying outstanding 
countryside that is rich with natural beauty and 
diversity of wildlife. There is a strong sense of 
community with good use made of retail, sporting, 
leisure and worship facilities. 
 
Population Profile - The 2014 mid-year estimate from 
the Office for National Statistics (ONS) indicated a 
population for the parish of 1,762 made up of 61.8% 
within the age range 16 to 64 years of age, and an 
even balance between males and females (SE3). 
Population diversity in the parish was 97.9% white 
British and 2.1% BME (black and minority ethnic) 
with just 0.8% whose main language is not English. 
Data shows that 30.5% of residents are classified as 
residents of isolated rural communities with 22.4% 
classified as residents of small towns. The same 
proportion (22.4%) of the population are described as 
successful professionals living in suburban or semi-
rural homes (SE4). 
 
Housing - The 2014 mid-year estimate suggests 841 
households in the parish, made up of 27.1% 
comprising a single person, 34.9% married couples 
with or without dependents, and 10.6% cohabiting 
with or without dependents. The data indicates that 
58.8% of properties in the parish were owner 
occupied; 38.4% rented, and; 1.9% comprised 
second homes.  

Access and Connectivity - There is a limited bus 
service connecting Bere Regis to Dorchester and 
Winterborne Kingston (four a day). Two buses then 
continue from Winterborne Kingston to Blandford 
Forum. Due to the poor public transport facility, 
residents of Bere Regis are very car dependent with 
statistics showing that just over 80% of people travel 
to work by car (SE5). 
 
Bere Regis Parish Council has set up a neighbourhood 
car scheme to assist those with mobility problems or 
who are unable to rely on public transport. This 
service helps parishioners with travel to hospital and 
dental appointments, shopping, interviews, and 
transport to college. There are school buses that 
operate at either end of the school day during term 
time to take students to Lytchett Minster. Members of 
the public can use these buses for transport if space is 
available. The number 187 bus provides transport for 
students travelling to The Thomas Hardye School in 
Dorchester. There are also mini-buses that transport 
students from the village to some of the private 
schools in the area. 
 
Economic Activity - A classification adopted by the 
ONS is the socio-economic classification, which 
groups the population based on occupation. The 
largest group in the parish of Bere Regis is lower 
managerial, administrative and professional 
occupations (class 2) representing 22.6% of the 
residents. This compares to 20.8% in England and 
Wales (SE6). 
 
Education - Figures from the ONS indicate that 27.1% 
of Bere Regis residents have qualified at Higher 
National Certificate (HNC) or higher, compared to 
27.2% in England and Wales. Just 4.4% of Bere Regis 
residents have no educational qualifications 
compared to 5.7% in England and Wales (SE7).

BERE REGIS NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 2018

5

Information about the parish of Bere Regis

Page 99



6
Map 1 - Bere Regis Parish Boundary

Map reproduced under OS licence reference no.100052617

Affpuddle & 
Turnerspuddle

Wool

East Stoke

 Wareham

Bloxworth

Winterborne Kingston

Anderson

Winterborne 
WhitechurchMilborne 

St Andrew

1

 Miles

20

Page 100



The Village History 

 
General Background - The Historic Environment 
Statement (SE8) gives detail on the history of the 
parish and how it has evolved through time. The 
Statement suggests that there may have been a 
prehistoric settlement on the same site as the village. 
However, the existing village is thought to be of 
Saxon origin and flourished in the mediaeval period 
due to its royal patronage and the annual Woodbury 
Hill Fair. Sadly, very little architecture remains from 
the mediaeval period due to severe fires in the 17th, 
18th and 19th centuries. 
 
In 1981 much of the village was established as a 
Conservation Area. The extent of this designation is 
shown on Map 2. The Conservation Area covers the 
older parts of the village together with the hamlet of 
Shitterton, which still retains a somewhat separate 
identity. In 2002 a Conservation Area Appraisal (SE9) 

was produced by Purbeck District Council, which 
documents the important architectural features of 
individual buildings, and describes the vernacular 
styles apparent within the village. This appraisal 
provides supplementary planning guidance that will 
be used in determining planning applications. 
Another important feature of the village are the back 
lanes that link principal streets with the surrounding 
countryside. These green lanes are of historical 
importance and add much to the character of the 
village. 
 
Housing - Until after the First World War, most 
housing was provided by the surrounding estates, 
often under service agreements including agricultural 
tenancies. From 1938 onwards, the village benefited 
from new housing development, mostly council 
owned, together with some commercial 

BERE REGIS NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 2018

7

4410

cale mileS

/ 221

es

/

Map 2 - Village Conservation Area

Conservation Area

Map reproduced under OS licence reference no.100052617

Page 101



developments. The residential developments include:  
l  Southbrook begun in 1938/39, finished in 1945/49, 

about 20 properties. 
l  Sitterton Close begun in 1939/40, finished in 

1945/46, 12 properties. 
l  Egdon Close completed in 1945/47, 24 properties. 
l  Green Close completed 1949/51, 32 properties. 
l  Southmead completed 1968/69, 19 properties. 
l  Boswells Close 1966/71, 17 properties. 
l  Manor Farm Road, Old Barn Road and Elder Road, 

all date from the late 1970s  
l  Turberville Court provides sheltered housing and 

also dates from the 1970s 
l  Cyril Wood Court, a retirement home for artists, 

opened on the north side of West Street in 1976.  
 
The 1980s saw a reduction in the provision of new 
public housing, with encouragement for market 
housing. This resulted in the housing estate being 
developed at the western end of Elder Road together 
with its two satellite roads, Stanbarrow Close and 
Bitchams Mead. There have also been developments 
at Kingsbere Court and Woodbury Court, together 
with individual houses built on infill sites around 
Snow Hill and in Shitterton. White Lovington was 
developed in the 1990’s, while Griffins Gardens, a 
mixed development site of 18 houses off North Street, 
was completed in 2008 and Springrove to the west of 
North Street was completed a few years earlier. 
 
The advent of ‘Right to Buy’ in 1980 saw much of the 
publicly owned housing move into private ownership, 
with Housing Associations becoming the landlords of 
former council properties. 
 
Thus, the 20th century saw considerable new 
development within the village but, with the 

exception of relatively small developments off the C6 
such as White Lovington, development has largely 
been confined to the north of Bere Stream. This 
development pattern has enabled the village to retain 
a compact appearance and has helped to protect the 
separate identity of Shitterton. 

 
The Natural Environment - The parish of Bere Regis 
follows the path of the Bere Stream from the chalk 
downs in the north-west, through the sands and 
gravels around Bere Regis village, to the heathland in 
the south-east. This contrasting geology and varying 
land use provides an exceptional setting to the parish. 
 
Woodbury Hill lies to the east of the village and is the 
site of an iron-age hill fort. In mediaeval times the hill 
became the site of the largest trade fair in the south of 
England. This fair terminated at the time of the Second 
World War. There are also fine views from Black Hill 
to the south of the village, while Bere Down to the 
north of the by-pass also provides views across  
the area.  
The chalk downland to the north of the parish 
remains in agricultural use as it has since mediaeval 
times. To the east of the parish is a large area of 
woodland, part ancient and part commercial, whilst 
the southern part of the parish includes significant 
areas of heathland. Locally the Bere Stream and River 
Piddle are fine examples of chalk stream habitats. 
Water from the chalk aquifers has supported the 
watercress growing industry for many years. All of 
these factors combine to provide exceptional diversity 
of landscape within a relatively small area. 
 
The local countryside is particularly rich in areas of 
wildlife interest, with three Sites of Special Scientific 

8
Page 102



Interest (SSSI) and four Sites of National Conservation 
Interest (SNCI) within the parish (SE10). Most of these 
sites are accessible from the network of footpaths 
radiating from the village. Black Hill SSSI and Higher 
Hyde Heath SSSI are also designated as European 
Special Areas of Conservation (SAC), Special 
Protection Areas (SPA) and Ramsar Sites (wetland sites 
of international importance). Black Hill is a popular 
walking area for locals and visitors and provides 
superb views to the north and the south. The hill is in 
private ownership but is managed by Natural England 
under a Countryside Stewardship Management 
Agreement. Work focuses on scrub management for 
the enhancement of a rare type of heathland habitat. 
 

At the southernmost end of the 
parish is the Higher Hyde Nature 
Reserve, which includes an SSSI 
owned and managed by Dorset 
Wildlife Trust (DWT). The reserve 
has a wide range of heathland 
habitats, ponds and woodland, 
with a variety of rare species.  
This site is an important habitat 
for several rare wildlife species 
including all six British reptiles, 
namely, the Sand Lizard, Slow 
Worm, Common Lizard, Adder, 

Grass Snake and Smooth Snake. The area also 
supports rare butterflies, such as the Silver-Studded 
Blue and Grayling; dragonflies, and rare plants such 
as Pale Heath Violet and Marsh Gentian. 
 
Most of the SNCIs are on private land but one within 
the village is now the village nature reserve, owned 
by the Parish Council. This reserve includes much of 
Souls Moor, including part of the Bere Stream and 
associated woodland. There is a varied bird 
population including Kingfishers, Little Egret, Heron, 
and Sparrowhawk. There is a plant list of over 100 
varieties that have been found across this area, 
including several rarities such as the Southern  
Marsh Orchid. 
 
Woodland planting by Dr Brian May in 2013 across 
land to the south of the village, on what was 
originally Shitterton Farm, is creating another 
important wildlife area. Rides between the blocks of 
native trees are accessible to walkers. These areas 
already provide a good habitat for butterflies and 
other insects. 

Business and Employment - Although mainly a 
dormitory town for the Poole/Bournemouth 
conurbation and the county town of Dorchester, the 
parish has a reasonably vibrant commercial sector. A 
Parish Council survey conducted in 2012 (SE2) 
determined that apart from farming there are 44 
commercial enterprises in the parish, ranging from 
sole traders to The Dorset Golf & Country Club, which 
employs 80 people at the height of the tourist season. 
A small industrial estate at the end of North Street, 
known as Townsend, is home to a few businesses, 
while the filling station provides a useful retail outlet, 
together with employment for several local people. 
The total number of people employed in the parish, 
including those employed in farming, is estimated to 
be about 250.   
 
At one time, farming would have been the mainstay of 
commercial life in Bere Regis, along with supporting 
industries such as blacksmiths, mills, machinery 
dealers, and feed merchants. However, all dairy 
farming has ceased; several farms have been 
amalgamated to form larger holdings, while others are 
now farms only in name since land has been sold and 
the farmhouses are occupied purely for residential 
purposes. There are eleven identifiable farms in the 
Parish with eight of them still operated as commercial 
units. These are generally operated by tenant farmers, 
mostly of the Drax Estate. Nearly all the farms are 
family run with the assistance of occasional 
employees or through use of agricultural contractors. 
 
Community Facilities and Services - Bere Regis 
Parish, and in particular the village, enjoys a wide 
range of facilities and amenities, many of which are 
provided by voluntary clubs and associations. These 
contribute greatly to the quality of life enjoyed by 
residents and visitors. The central location of Bere 
Regis within the county, and its long history, together 
with the variety of facilities and rural amenities that 
are available, have created an excellent environment 
in which to live, work and play. 
 
Emergency and Medical Services - The village is 
served by a dental practice and doctor’s surgery, both 
of which are located centrally in the village. The 
Purbeck Local Plan highlighted a need for additional 
space at the local doctor’s surgery. However, the 
current site is constrained by size so it is unlikely that 
substantial additional facilities could be provided on 
the existing site. The surgery is unlikely to move 

BERE REGIS NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 2018

9
Page 103



unless the number of registered patients can be 
increased. However, there is potential for rooms in 
the new Community Hall to be used for specialist 
treatment and consultation. Bere Regis also supports 
one of three retained fire stations in the Purbeck area. 
There may be capacity for the fire station to re-locate 
to the Townsend employment site if the need or 
opportunity should arise.  
 

Education - Since work began on the Neighbourhood 
Plan the primary school has moved to a larger site off 
Southbrook. This has freed up the old school site for 
re-development. 
 
Meeting Places - The village benefits from several 
small, long established venues including the Drax 
Hall, Scout Hut, Sports Club and Golf Club, all of 
which can be hired for events. The Parish Plan 
identified that the Drax Hall is no longer fit for 
purpose, and this Neighbourhood Plan encourages 
provision of a replacement Community Hall. 
 
Recreation - A range of facilities exist for recreation 
including the Sports Club, children’s play area, youth 
shelter and kicking wall. The Golf Club and Shooting 
School at Hyde lie within the parish, while the 
Gliding Club sits on the parish boundary. 
 
The area of recreation area that should be provided 
within rural settlements has been assessed by Fields in 
Trust, and against their published guidelines the 

parish has a shortfall of ½ acre children’s play area 
and ⅓ acre in pitch provision. Adoption of an area of 
land immediately to the south of the sports ground, 
identified as Green Infrastructure in the Purbeck Local 
Plan, would go some way to addressing this 
imbalance.  
 
In addition, there is a good network of public and 
permissive rights of way that generally radiate from 
the village. These provide public access to much of 
the Parish. Bere Regis Parish Council would like to 
restore a bridleway link across the A35 which was 
broken when the bypass was built in 1982.  The 
Parish Council supports the provision of additional 
open space for informal recreational and dog walking 
opportunities. Housing policies within this plan 
include opportunities for the provision of additional 
open space.  
 
Other Services - Bere Regis enjoys various retail 
outlets, food outlets and public houses in the parish. 
These facilities not only help to meet the community’s 
needs, but also serve the tourist trade and contribute 
in many ways to clubs and societies. These are places 
where people meet; they display notices and adverts, 
and at times they are used as collection points for 
community questionnaires and feedback forms. All of 
these businesses depend on trade from local people, 
but also serve a wide area outside the Parish, together 
with the seasonal tourist trade. 
 

Southern By-pass Route 
 
In 2004, the Purbeck Transportation Study considered 
options for a southern bypass to reduce traffic 
movements through the village, through provision of a 
link between the A35 (Poole Road) and the C6. 
Dorset County Council identified a preferred route for 
the by-pass in 2009. Estimates were drawn up of 
between £10 million and £14 million. Since that time 
transport priorities have changed and budgets 
reduced. Whilst DCC do not anticipate the project 
becoming a priority in the lifetime of the current 
Dorset Transport Plan, it has not been deleted as a 
policy. Consequently, Bere Regis Parish Council will 
continue to work with DCC to find an acceptable 
route for a by-pass.

10
Page 104



Planning applications for development in the Parish of 
Bere Regis will be determined in accordance with 
local and national planning policies, with reference to 
planning guidance. However, policies in this 
Neighbourhood Plan are intended to provide greater 
local detail than is available in those other 
documents, and this Neighbourhood Plan will be 
relied upon when determining planning applications. 
 
 
 
Settlement boundaries identify the envelope within 
which development will be allowed, subject to the 
proposals being in accordance with local and 

national planning policies. Some development can be 
allowed outside of the settlement boundary, such as 
residential development in rural exception sites, 
provided proposals accord with planning policy and 
meet a proven need. This Neighbourhood Plan 
proposes changes to the settlement boundary as 
detailed on the maps (SE11), and are based on 
findings detailed in the supporting evidence (SE12). 

 
Policy BR1: Settlement Boundaries 
For the purposes of any development plan policy 
which refers to settlement boundaries, the settlement 
boundary for Bere Regis is shown on (Map 3). 

BERE REGIS NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 2018

Planning Policies

Settlement Boundaries

11Page 105



12

Purbeck has a wealth of biodiversity and geodiversity 
of international and national importance, such as 
heathlands. These sites are afforded statutory 
protection through specific legislation and are 
designated according to the habitats and species of 
interest. Species and habitats of local importance are 
identified within the Dorset Biodiversity Protocol. 
Other local biodiversity interests lie within Sites of 
Nature Conservation Interest (SNCIs); Local Nature 
Reserves (LNRs), and; habitats and species of 
principal importance to biodiversity, including 
Ancient Woodland and veteran trees.  
 
Where there is biodiversity interest, a Biodiversity 
Mitigation and Enhancement Plan (BMEP) will be 
required for approval by the DCC Natural 
Environment Team (DCC NET). The BMEP certificate 
obtained from the DCC NET should be submitted to 
support  planning application. Development 
proposals that might impact on habitats and species 
of European importance (SPAs & SACs) and Ramsars 
are subject to a Habitats Regulations Assessment 
(HRA) to determine what harm might be caused and if 
adequate mitigation has been proposed.  
 
The Dorset Heathlands Planning Framework 
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) states that 
planning authorities should consult Natural England 
about proposals for additional residential units within 
400 metres of the Dorset Heaths, as this is the most 
sensitive area. The intention is that no net increase in 
residential units should be allowed inside the 400m 
consultation area.  
 
There is also a requirement for new residential and 
tourist accommodation developed between 400 
metres and 5 kilometres of a Dorset Heath to provide 

mitigation for any adverse impact on the protected 
sites. Mitigation might be provided through the 
provision of additional open space and facilities to 
meet recreation needs, and deflect pressure from 
heathland habitats; the provision of heathland support 
areas; heathland management including use of 
warden services; access and parking management 
measures; and use of green infrastructure. 
 
The SPD provides guidance as to when a Suitable 
Alternative Natural Greenspace (SANG) might be 
required and what it needs to achieve. Generally, 
residential sites approaching 50 or more homes will 
require a SANG to mitigate the impact of new 
residential development on heathland. The final 
extent and design of a SANG needs to be agreed with 
Natural England and will be based on the guidelines 
in the Dorset Heathlands Planning Framework. 
 
The Back Lane housing site is of sufficient size to 
require a SANG for mitigation. The SANG is intended 
to provide an alternative walking route, particularly 
for dog walking. The intention is to avoid damage to 
local heathland areas that might be caused by 
increased visitor numbers.     
 
An ‘in principle’ agreement has been reached 
between the main landowner and Natural England for 
a SANG to be provided along the north of the village, 
following the route of the bypass. This SANG is 
intended to encourage people from the new 
development to exercise and walk dogs locally rather 
than across the Black Hill SSSI. The landowner will 
work with Natural England and the Parish Council to 
ensure residents are encouraged to use the SANG 
through distribution of advisory leaflets to all 
dwellings; information boards being provided along 

Impact on wildlife habitats

Page 106



13

the route of the SANG, and; advice and updates being 
provided in the Parish Magazine. 
 
Policy BR2: SANG 
A Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace (SANG) of 
approximately 4.5ha will be created as identified on 
Map 3. The SANG must be available for use upon first 
occupation of the homes at Back Lane. If bunds are 
formed (see Policy BR5: Noise Attenuation), these 
may be located in the SANG but must not adversely 
affect the function of the SANG.    

 
The Purbeck Local Plan includes a policy on the 
protection of Poole Harbour Special Protection Area 
(SPA). Two main impacts are identified: 
•  Increased nutrient loading (nitrogen) in the harbour 

arising from additional sewage generation, and  
•  Disturbance to birds caused by increased 

recreational pressures in and around the harbour  
that planning policy requires future development 
proposals to include measures to avoid or mitigate the 
adverse effects of too much nitrogen in the harbour, 
and to manage shoreline access to Poole Harbour.  
Purbeck District Council has published, jointly with 
the Borough of Poole and West Dorset District 
Council, a Nitrogen Reduction in Poole Harbour 
Supplementary Planning Document which provides 
greater detail including required levels of mitigation 
and potential measures to achieve nitrogen neutrality.  
 

 
 
 

Flooding in  
Bere Regis 
 
The village of Bere Regis sits within an area governed 
by the ‘Frome and Piddle Catchment Flood 
Management Plan’ (CFMP). The River Piddle runs 
through the southern part of the parish with only its 
tributary, the Bere Stream running through the village 
of Bere Regis. This watercourse forms a continuation 
of the stream running through the village of Milborne 
Saint Andrew (which is not in Purbeck), where there 
have been flooding problems. The northern part of the 
parish, including the village of Bere Regis, is in a 
Groundwater Protection Zone, identified as an 
important source of drinking water. Consequently, the 
area is covered by policies in the Purbeck Local Plan. 
 
Most flooding in Bere Regis village has been around 
Shitterton Bridge, which has inadequate capacity to 
deal with extreme rainfall. Consequently, surplus 
water has to cross the road, leading to flooding of 
some properties near the bridge. Some other 
properties and roads in the village are occasionally 
affected by surface water flooding particularly at 
Southbrook, Rye Hill and Green Close and a strip of 

Page 107



14

land between the village and the A35. Roads 
elsewhere in the parish, particularly around Hyde and 
Chamberlaynes Farm, flood regularly due to poor 
drainage and the wet nature of surrounding areas. 
This effect needs to be considered by this 
Neighbourhood Plan, and also in future planning 
policies. 
 
There is also an issue with the foul sewers servicing 
Bere Regis. The poor condition of underground pipes, 
unauthorised connections to the sewerage system, 
and overflows from the surface water drainage system 
mean that sewers occasionally reach capacity and 
this can cause overflow. 
 
Consequently, new residential and commercial 
development around the village will need to comply 
with the district flood risk policy, including any 
updates to it. 
 
 
Policy BR4: Bere Regis Groundwater 
Development will only be permitted where it not 
only meets Local Plan policies covering flood risk 
and SUDs, but also incorporates specific 
measures so as to not exacerbate groundwater 
flooding or flooding from sewers in the area. This 
may include incorporating, where required, 
sealed sewerage systems and the development 
should only rely upon septic tanks where 
groundwater levels allow their effective operation.  
 
 

Noise attenuation 
 
Noise attenuation must be provided to the north of 
the Back Lane site in order to achieve appropriate 
noise levels in the new housing (SE13). It is hoped 
that such noise attenuation measures could be 
designed to also benefit much of the existing village. 
The Parish Council’s aspiration is to avoid un-
necessary movements of construction traffic through 
the village and surrounding road network. One way 
of achieving this would be for excess soils and 
subsoils from the application site to be used within 
the SANG in the form of a landscaped noise 
attenuation bund.  
 
Policy BR5: Noise Attenuation 
Residential development at Back Lane must provide 
appropriate noise attenuation. SE13 Noise Impact 
Assessment demonstrates the possibility of achieving 
internal and external noise levels as set out in the 
British Standards 8233:2014. The method of 
attenuation chosen for use can differ from SE13’s rec-
ommendations provided it still complies with the 
British Standards 8233:2014 or such equivalent 
publication that supersedes it. 
 
 

Page 108



BERE REGIS NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 2018

15

Housing 
 
This section provides information regarding land 
allocations for residential development. This 
information needs to be read in conjunction with the 
section on general policies earlier in this plan. Regard 
should also be given to district wide policies and 
documents such as The Dorset Heathlands Planning 
Framework 2015-2020 Supplementary Planning 
Document, together with national planning policy and 
guidance.  
 
Proposed number of dwellings 
The Purbeck Local Plan (November 2012) indicated 
that 120 new homes were required annually in the 
Purbeck area with a settlement extension of 50 new 
homes proposed for Bere Regis. When BRPC 
commenced work on the Neighbourhood Plan our 
assumption was for 50 additional dwellings, but it 
subsequently became clear that the Purbeck district 
would need to provide a greater number of dwellings, 
to meet local demand. Consequently, BRPC agreed to 
take a pro-active approach to dealing with the 
problem. As a result, proposed housing numbers were 
increased to 70. More recently, the results of the 
SHMA (Strategic Housing Market Assessment) 
commissioned by PDC indicated that considerably 
more homes would be needed through the district. 
The exact number of new homes required in the 
district has not been finalised, but BRPC again took a 
pro-active approach to the situation. Through 
inclusion of the old school site, plus some dwellings at 
Tower Hill, the plan now allocates enough land to 
allow the construction of 105 dwellings, assuming a 
density of 30 dwellings per hectare.  PDC have 

confirmed that this land area and housing numbers 
are in line with requirements being included in their 
Local Plan review. 
 
What constitutes a dwelling?  
Within the Neighbourhood Plan the terms ‘housing’, 
‘dwelling’ and ‘homes’ are inter-changeable. In broad 
terms, these all refer to self-contained units of 
residential accommodation. These might be in the 
form of houses or bungalows (detached, semi-
detached, link attached or terraced), or flats. The 
number of each type of dwelling is constantly 
changing, and it will be for the developers to 
determine market demand during the planning 
process. However, BRPC have identified a clear need 
for more starter homes, plus units for elderly and less 
mobile people, as well as family homes. 
Consequently, a range of property sizes and styles will 
be required. 

 
What will these dwellings look like?  
Developers need to work closely with BRPC, 
parishioners and PDC to consider development 
density and architectural styles before submitting 
planning applications for any of the sites. Sites that 
adjoin the Conservation Area need to be designed 
sympathetically to reflect local architecture. Use of 
traditional materials will be encouraged. Development 
in both Tower Hill and North Street need to respect 
the linear form of development that is apparent 
through such areas. Both the old school site and 
White Lovington might accept more contemporary 
styling, although development on the old school site 

Back Lane former allotments site

Page 109



16

will be very visible from Rye Hill and, therefore, this 
site needs to be developed in a style and density that 
sits well with the village. 
 
Parking & Access  
The narrow medieval road layout in the Conservation 
Areas of Bere Regis makes car parking a particular 
problem, with traffic congestion a regular occurrence, 
particularly in West Street, North Street, Butt Lane, 
Snow Hill and Tower Hill. New housing in the village 
will exacerbate congestion at peak traffic times. It is 
important that new residential developments do not 
increase the parking load on the existing narrow 
streets. Consequently, this plan requires that each unit 
of housing in all the development areas be provided 
with adequate off-road parking spaces. The Parish 
Council expects: 
 
l   Vehicular access to the Back Lane site to be from 

West Street, although the preferred access for 
construction traffic would be direct from the A35, 
subject to the agreement of Highways England and 
Dorset County Council. 

l  Access to the Tower Hill site for construction and 
future parking will be from Tower Hill with no traffic 
access from Barrow Hill 

l   There will be no vehicular access to the residential 
site on North Street from the A35 roundabout. All 
parking is to be provided within the development to 
avoid on-road parking. Construction traffic might 
take access from the A35 roundabout subject to 
agreement with Highways England and Dorset 
County Council. 

 
Considerate Construction 
The allocated development sites lie close to existing 
residential developments. Consequently, developers 
will be expected to exercise due care and 
consideration to neighbours during the planning and 
construction phases on all sites. 
 
Affordable Housing Tenure  
Affordable housing includes all types of dwellings that 
are available for sale or rent, for those people whose 
needs are not met by the market. This includes 
housing that provides a subsidised route to home 
ownership and/or is for essential local workers. 
Affordable Housing may fall into one or more of these 
categories: 
l  Affordable housing for rent (must be available at 

least 20% below local market rents) 

l  Starter homes (available only to those with a 
household income of less than £80,000) 

l  Discounted market sales housing (must be sold at a 
discount of at least 20% below local market value) 

l  Other categories including shared ownership and 
equity loans 

 
The most recent Strategic Housing Market Availability 
Assessment indicates that Purbeck should consider a 
mix comprising 77% social rented/affordable rented 
housing and 23% intermediate housing to rent or 
purchase, including shared ownership and discounted 
sales. However, the Housing Needs Survey (SE14) 
conducted by PDC shows that the amount of social 
rented housing in the village is already very high with 
Bere Regis providing about 30% more publicly rented 
accommodation per head of population than Dorset 
as a whole. Consequently, this Neighbourhood Plan is 
seeking a departure from the Purbeck Local Plan with 
a different mix of affordable housing tenure, to better 
meet the local needs of residents.   

 
Policy BR6: Affordable Housing Tenures 
All residential development sites will be expected to 
deliver 40% affordable housing on site, unless 
exempted by Purbeck’s affordable housing policy, or is 
offset by the provision of affordable housing elsewhere 
in Bere Regis village, or; the allocation is offset by an 
equivalent financial contribution from the developer 
as agreed by Purbeck District Council. Affordable 
Housing will be provided on residential development 
sites in the following ratios unless compelling 
evidence is available to support different ratios.   
l  70% affordable housing for rent; 
• 10% discounted market sales homes that must be 

purchased and re-sold at a set proportion of open 
market value and will, in the first instance, be 
available to local people;  

• 10% shared ownership homes, i.e. where people 
own part of the dwelling and rent the remainder 
from a Registered Social Landlord (RSL);  

• 10% starter homes.   
 
All the above tenure types are as defined in the 
definition of affordable housing set out in the  
Glossary of the NPPF 2019. 

Page 110



BERE REGIS NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 2018

17

Development Sites
 

Five development sites have been chosen by way of a 
selection process detailed in SE15. Development on 
these sites must be in accordance with the relevant 
adopted district plan policies and other policies in 
this Neighbourhood Plan, namely; 
 
•  It is the wish of the Parish that construction traffic 

from the sites is kept to a minimum throughout the 
village. The Parish Council’s aspiration is to reduce 
movements of construction traffic through the 
village and surrounding road network, one way of 
achieving this is through the creation of a bund 
which could be landscaped and can form part of 
the SANG, alternative ways would be ensuring 
good traffic movement from the sites to the 
surrounding road network diverting away from  
the village. 

•  The affordable housing tenure split will conform to 
that set out in Policy BR6. 

•  The developer will need to satisfy the Lead Local 
Flood Authority and Wessex Water that they have   

measures in place to address the impact of    
development on all forms of potential flooding  
as set out in Policy BR4.  

•  Habitats Regulations requirements must be met as 
set out in local and national planning policy. The 
residential development at Back Lane will need to 
provide a SANG as detailed in Policy BR2 

•  Development will require nitrogen mitigation to be 
provided, as set out in Policy BR3. 

•  Development proposals should incorporate 
appropriate landscaping to support biodiversity; 
create an attractive setting for the development, 
and; soften the visual impact of development 
against open countryside. 

•  Applying a housing density of 30 dwellings per 
hectare suggests that these sites should provide the 
following number of units - Back Lane 55; North 
Street 12; Tower Hill 3, and Former School Site 23 
units. The White Lovington site should be 
developed at a lower density to respect the existing 

Map 3 - Proposed Development Sites (Housing, Commercial & Community Hall).

Page 111



18

development in that area, and this site is expected 
to provide around 12 dwellings. Dwellings on that 
site should be designed in keeping with the 
character of the area. 

•  Developments that adjoin the Conservation Area 
must respect the character and appearance of the 
Conservation Area. 

•  Vehicular access to the Back Lane site will only be 
from West Street between The Chanelles and 45 
West Street, as indicated on Map 3. The access 
must be designed to protect Back Lane from 
damage, with Back Lane maintained as a Green 
Lane. Bollards will be required to prevent 
additional traffic using that route.  

•  The North Street site will be developed with level 
access to the dwellings from street level and with 
properties fronting on to North Street to respect the 
prevailing local character. All parking must be 
provided within the development site. Developers 
should consider innovative designs to provide 
parking at the rear of the houses.  

•  The Tower Hill site is sensitive both due to the 
close proximity of residential properties and the 
ecological/historical significance of land to the 
north of the area designated for development. Any 
planning application for this site must include 
proposals for the provision of appropriate 
protection for the undeveloped area. The land to 
the north of the development area will be 

designated as Local Green Space or used for the 
Common Land swap (see further detail in the 
section on the Community Hall). 

•  The Former School Site and White Lovington sites 
should include areas for informal recreation. 

•  Due to the rich history of the area, developers will 
be required to contact the County Archaeologist to 
ascertain whether site investigations will be 
required on any of the sites, to record any 
undesignated assets that might exist. 

 
Policy BR7: Residential Development 
New residential development will be allowed on  
the five allocated sites shown on Map 3, comprising: 
•  Back Lane (BL) - Land extending to about 

1.8 Hectares (4.7 acres) to deliver approximately 
55 homes 

•  North Street Housing - Land extending to about  
0.6 Hectares (1.48 acres) to deliver approximately 
12 homes 

•  Tower Hill – Land extending to about 0.1 Ha  
(0.25 acres) to deliver 3 homes 

•  White Lovington - Land extending to about  
1.0 Hectare (2.5 acres) approximately 12 homes 

•  Former School Site – Land extending to about  
0.7 Hectares (1.73 acres) to deliver approximately 
23 homes  

White Lovington

North Street

Old school site

Tower Hill

Page 112



BERE REGIS NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 2018

19

The Purbeck Local Plan allocated a small 
employment site near the filling station to provide 
employment opportunities for local people. The 
existing safeguarded employment area will be 
retained. However, as this plan proposes to increase 
the number of new dwellings within settlement 
extensions, this Neighbourhood Plan proposes a 
larger employment site. Any large-scale developments 
(in excess of one hectare) must be supported by 
suitable transport assessments and mitigation 
measures in line with the requirements of the 
Department of Transport Circular 02/2013 ‘The 
Strategic Road Network & the Delivery of Sustainable 

Development’. Subject to meeting other planning 
requirements this commercial site could be suitable 
for provision of facilities falling under the following 
use classes; A3 (restaurants & cafes), A5 (hot food 
takeaway), B1 (business), B1a (offices), B8 (storage & 
distribution) and C1 (hotels). Surplus excavated 
material from the site may be used to form noise 
attenuation bunds in accordance with Policy BR5 
 
Policy BR8 North Street Employment 
Development that supports local employment will be 
allowed on the allocated site at the end of North 
Street, as shown on Map 3.  

Business & Employment

Page 113



Community facilities provide for the health and 
wellbeing, social, educational, spiritual, recreational, 
leisure and cultural needs of the community. Some of 
the community facilities and services available in the 
parish are shown on Map 4.  As a key service village 
in the north-west Purbeck region, Bere Regis has a 
defined local centre, as defined in the Purbeck Local 
Plan. However, this defined centre does not actually 
reflect the area of commercial and retail activity. 
Furthermore, due to the limited nature and 
distribution of retail and service facilities within the 
village, it is proposed to remove the local retail centre 
boundary and protect the local centre uses and 
community services and facilities through reliance on 
Policy CF: Community Facilities and Services in the 
Purbeck Local Plan, which: 
l    safeguards existing facilities and services,  
l    sets out where new community facilities and 

services should be located, and  
l    sets out conditions under which an existing 

community facility or service might be replaced by 
a new community facility or service. 

 
The retail units at Rye Hill, Shell Garage and the 
village store are considered to constitute appropriate 
out of town retail uses. However, any proposals for 
additional retail use must first look to the village 
centre and the employment site. If the development 
proposed is over 200sqm then a retail impact 
assessment must be provided. 

Policy BR9: Community Facilities and Services  
New community facilities and services will be 
encouraged to locate within the defined settlement 
boundary. Proposals for facilities outside of the 
settlement boundary will be allowed where: 
•  The use cannot reasonably be met within the 

settlement; 
•  The facility meets an identified local need; 
•  It is located close to a settlement in an accessible 

location using a sustainable means of travel;  
•  Its impact on landscape, environment and local 

character is minimised. 
 
The change of use of buildings, land and new retail 
development up to 200m2 gross floor space for small  
scale local shopping and local centre uses (either as 
part of mixed use developments or in isolation) will 
be permitted where the proposal meets a local need 
and the facility can be readily accessed by walking, 
cycling and public transport. It is also important that 
the sequential and impact assessments of the NPPF 
are satisfied setting out how proposals do not detract 
from the function, vitality and viability of the District’s 
hierarchy of retail centres. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Community Services & Facilities 
(including local retail provision)

20
Page 114



The Purbeck Local Plan already provides safeguards 
against loss of commercial facilities. To secure 
additional protection, Bere Regis Parish Council will 
be nominating the following as assets of community 
value. The local community will be given a first 
opportunity to purchase such property assets, so that 
these can be retained in their current use.  
 
Post Office  
Village Shop 
Hairdresser  
Royal Oak Public House 
Drax Inn Public House 
 

4410

cale milesS

/ 221/

Map 4 - Community Services and facilities.

21

Community Services & facilities 

Preferred site for Community Hall    Q

New School

Sports Field & Club

Chapel

Shop
Post Office

Dentist

Doctors

Drax Arms

Hairdressers

Fire Station

Drax Hall

Royal Oak

Allotments

Cemetery

Filling Station

Church & Churchyard
Scout Hut

Car Park

Map reproduced under OS 
licence reference no.100052617

Q

BERE REGIS NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 2018

Page 115



22

Community Hall  
 
Both the Parish Plan and Purbeck Local Plan 
identified limitations with existing meeting places in 
the parish, and recommended provision of a new 
community meeting space. A working party, 
commissioned by BRPC, has confirmed that the Drax 
Hall is no longer fit for purpose. The Drax Hall has no 
parking facilities and is on two levels with difficult 
access to the first floor. The building suffers from 
damp, inadequate kitchen facilities, poor heating, and 
restricted space around the stage. There are also 
concerns about the cost of ongoing repairs and 
maintenance. With a growing and ageing population, 
the Drax Hall will increasingly fail to meet the needs 
of users. 
 
BRPC strongly support the development of a 
community hall on the Souls Moor site, as 
recommended by the working party, due to its central 
location within the village. This site will allow the 
provision of on-site parking; adequate meeting rooms 
to meet demand, plus modern facilities to meet local 
and regional demands. Use of this site will require  
de-registration of part of Souls Moor as common land 
by way of a land swap. The preferred area for such a 
land swap lies to the north of the Tower Hill 
development site.   
 
Tourism 
 
The village of Bere Regis lies on the main holiday 
route between London and the south coast so, unsur-
prisingly, tourism is an important part of the local 
economy. Visitors enjoy local attractions such as the 
mediaeval church and Black Hill SSSI, while tourists 
make use of local camping sites, caravan parks and 
guest houses. The close proximity of larger regional 
attractions such as the Jurassic Coast, Monkey World, 
Lulworth Castle and the Tank Museum also encourage 

visitors to the village. Our public houses and shops 
benefit from the holiday trade. Consequently, this 
Neighbourhood Plan actively encourages the 
provision of additional holiday facilities, including 
accommodation facilities where this complies with 
other policies in the development plan. 
 
 Open Spaces  
Important areas of open green space that do not 
already enjoy appropriate protection have been 
identified on the plan as areas of Local Green Space. 
It is hoped that further areas of open space will be 
created as part of the proposed residential and 
commercial development. There is a presumption that 
these areas will be retained for recreation, local 
amenity or as breaks in the built form. Future 
development will not be permitted on such areas, 
except small-scale facilities for sport, leisure and 
assembly, where such facilities cannot be provided 
elsewhere, and there is a proven need for such 
facilities in the area. This plan seeks to protect and 
enhance existing green infrastructure in the area and 
the riverine environment to ensure that it maximises 
its benefit to the environment and people of the 
parish. Areas of existing and proposed open space are 
listed at SE16 together with justification for them 
being considered as Local Green Space. Preference 
will be given to land lying to the north of the Tower 
Hill site being used for the common land swap, but if 

Page 116



23

the application for the common-land swap is 
unsuccessful then this area will be retained as Local 
Green Space. 
 
Policy BR10: Local Green Space 
The following sites, as shown on Map 5, are 
designated as Local Green Space, where  
development will not be allowed except in 
exceptional circumstances: 
•  The Recreation Ground; 
•  Green Space around the Church; 
•  The Play Park; 
•  “Podgers” and West Street green space; 
•  Bitchams Mead green space and nature reserve; 
•  Souls Moor SNCI and village nature reserve; 
•  Elder Road Green Space; and 
•  Elder Road extension. 
  
  
Monitoring 
The ultimate purpose of the Neighbourhood Plan is to 
ensure that future development in Bere Regis is not 
only sustainable but also contributes positively to the 

delivery of the vision set out at the start of this Plan. It 
is, therefore, important that the Neighbourhood Plan 
policies are implemented efficiently and effectively. 
This is the role of the LPA as the decision maker 
responsible for evaluating planning applications. 
However, the Parish Council expect to contribute to 
that process by working in partnership with key 
stakeholders to ensure that any significant 
development proposals that come forward are 
consistent with the Neighbourhood Plan.  
 
Whilst some policies may have a single outcome, 
specific to particular development site proposals, 
other policies might have more than one possible 
outcome. This could make monitoring too complex 
for it to have any real value.  
 
However, Bere Regis Parish Council undertake to 
monitor activity on at least an annual basis, to 
consider delivery of plan policies and the extent to 
which targets have been met. These reports will be 
available to view on the Parish Council web site. 

BERE REGIS NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 2018

Map 5  Local Green Spaces with footpaths.

Page 117



NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN
Bere Regis 

Bere Regis Parish Council. © Sept 2018         www.bereregisparishcouncil.co.uk

Bere Regis Parish Council commends this plan to all residents of the parish. Through it, and on 
behalf of everyone who has taken many opportunities to comment and contribute, we hope that 
we are presenting a plan for constructive change to meet the needs of current and future 
residents, whilst protecting and enhancing those well-loved features that contribute to the 
essence and character of our beautiful village and parish.

Page 118



 

 

Bere Regis Neighbourhood Plan: Regulation 19 Decision Statement, May 2019 

Summary 

1. Following a positive referendum result, Dorset Council is publishing its 

decision to ‘make’ (adopt) the Bere Regis Neighbourhood Plan as part of the 

Council’s Development Plan, in accordance with regulation 19 of the 

Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012. The plan can be 

viewed online at https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/planning-buildings-

land/planning-policy/purbeck/neighbourhood-planning-purbeck/bere-regis-

neighbourhood-plan.aspx and in hard copy at Dorset Council, Westport 

House, Worgret Road, Wareham, Dorset, BH20 4PP. 

Background 

2. Bere Regis Parish Council, as the qualifying body, successfully applied for Bere 

Regis parish to be designated a Neighbourhood Area under Part 2 of the 

Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012. The Neighbourhood Area 

was designated in January 2013. 

3. Following the submission of the Bere Regis Neighbourhood Plan to the former 

Purbeck District Council (now part of Dorset Council), it was publicised and 

comments invited from the public and stakeholders. In order to check that 

neighbourhood plans meet the ‘basic conditions’ and comply with all relevant 

legislation and procedures, they are required to be independently examined by a 

suitably qualified examiner. In association with the Bere Regis Neighbourhood 

Plan Group, the Council appointed an independent examiner, John Slater BA 

(Hons), DMS, MRTPI, to review the whether the Neighbourhood Plan met the 

basic conditions required by legislation and whether it should proceed to 

referendum. 

 

Page 119



4. The examiner’s report concluded that, subject to certain modifications proposed 

in his report dated 4 March 2019, the plan did meet the basic conditions and 

could therefore proceed to a local referendum. The former Purbeck District 

Council (now part of Dorset Council) considered the report and resolved to allow 

the plan to proceed to referendum, subject to some minor alterations. 

5. The Neighbourhood Plan (amended in line with the proposed modifications) was 

the subject of a referendum held on Thursday, 2 May 2019 at Bere Regis. The 

referendum question was: 

‘Do you want Purbeck District Council to use the Neighbourhood Plan for Bere 

Regis to help it decide planning applications in the neighbourhood area?’ 

6. 539 ballot papers were issued and the result was as follows: 

Yes No Spoiled papers 
447 (83%) 92 (17%) 0 (0.%) 

 

7. Legislation requires that the District Council must ‘make’ the Neighbourhood 

Plan if more than half of those who voted did so in favour of the plan, unless this 

would breach or would otherwise be incompatible with an EU obligation or any of 

the Convention rights (within the meaning of the Human Rights Act 1998). 

Decision and reasons 

8. Dorset Council met on 25 June 2019 and resolved to make the Bere Regis 

Neighbourhood Plan. This is on the basis of the Council’s belief that making it 

would not breach, and is compatible with, EU and human rights obligations. 

9. Therefore, in accordance with the relevant regulations, the Bere Regis 

Neighbourhood Plan is ‘made’ and shall form part of the Development Plan for 

Dorset.  

Page 120



 

 

 

 

Bere Regis Neighbourhood Plan 

Equality Impact Assessment  

(Pre-submission Consultation) 

 

 

June 2018 

 

 

Page 121



Page 1 of 8 
 

Contents 

Bere Regis Neighbourhood Plan Policy Impacts – Equality Impact Assessment 2 

What is the title of the strategy, policy, service or review ................................................. 2 

What are the aims and objectives of the plan and which Corporate priorities are they 

designed to meet? ................................................................................................................. 2 

Relevant corporate priorities............................................................................................. 2 

Vision and objectives of the plan ...................................................................................... 2 

Who will the BRNP have an impact on e.g. public, visitors, staff, members, and 

partners? ................................................................................................................................ 3 

Are there any potential barriers to implementing changes to the plan, e.g. capacity or 

financial issues? .................................................................................................................... 3 

Who will be involved in implementing the plan? ................................................................ 3 

What data do you already have, broken down by equality strands, about your service 

users or the people your plan will have an impact on? ..................................................... 3 

Population ........................................................................................................................ 3 

Age profiles ...................................................................................................................... 3 

Ethnic groups ................................................................................................................... 4 

Socio-economic classifications ......................................................................................... 4 

Access .............................................................................................................................. 4 

Type of housing ................................................................................................................ 4 

Economic activity .............................................................................................................. 4 

Why undertake an EqIA? ...................................................................................................... 4 

Which BRNP policies are subject to the EqIA? .................................................................. 5 

EqIA of the Bere Regis Neighbourhood Plan Policies ....................................................... 6 

Comments on the EqIA ......................................................................................................... 7 

EQIA recommendations ........................................................................................................ 7 

 

Page 122



Page 2 of 8 
 

Bere Regis Neighbourhood Plan Policy Impacts – Equality Impact 

Assessment 

What is the title of the strategy, policy, service or review 

1. Bere Regis Neighbourhood Plan (BRNP) first draft version 

2. Which officers are 
involved in the EqIA? 

 
Frances Summers, Planning Policy Officer 
 

3. Date of assessment June 2018 

4. What are you impact 
assessing? 

Policies in the BRNP final draft version. 

5. Existing/new/ 
changing/revision 

New  

6. Other (additional 
information) 

None 

 

What are the aims and objectives of the plan and which Corporate 
priorities are they designed to meet? 

Relevant corporate priorities 

7. All of the Purbeck District Council corporate priorities and targets for 2016 – 2021 
are relevant to the BRNP: 

 Protecting and enhancing the local environment 

 Meeting the housing needs of local people 

 Improving the local economy and infrastructure 

 Enhancing local communities and involvement 

 Being an efficient and effective council 

Vision and objectives of the plan 

8. The BRNP sets out what the people of Bere Regis wish their parish to be like in the 
years to 2017 and beyond. The BRNP vision provides a summary of the 
aspirations for the village: 

“Our vision is to sustain a safe and lively parish community, centred on the village”.  

9. The BRNP sets out a number of objectives to achieve the vision: 

Page 123



Page 3 of 8 
 

 Facilitate the development of new housing in sufficient quantity to meet local 

demand, with a range of affordable, shared ownership, and market properties, 

designed to fit well with the local streetscape and blend with the vernacular 

architecture. 

 Support and sustain existing social and sporting facilities, and to create a new 

Community Hall designed to enhance and enrich the lives of residents. 

 Support existing and new employment opportunities in the parish, particularly by 

encouraging the establishment of businesses in the proposed commercial area. 

 Protect and enhance the environment including public rights of way. 

 

Who will the BRNP have an impact on e.g. public, visitors, staff, 
members, and partners?   

10. The main impact of the pre-referendum BRNP will be on: 

 Bere Regis residents;  

 Bere Regis service users; and 

 Businesses operating in Bere Regis and the surrounding areas.  

Are there any potential barriers to implementing changes to the plan, 
e.g. capacity or financial issues? 

11. None are anticipated. 

Who will be involved in implementing the plan?   

12. The plan has been prepared by the BRNP Group, working closely with officers at 
Purbeck District Council, who support the content of the first draft plan.  

13. Officers have provided the BRNP Group with advice on plan content, 
communication style and the format of the plan which is written in plain English, 
jargon free and supplemented with appropriate images. 

What data do you already have, broken down by equality strands, 
about your service users or the people your plan will have an impact 
on? 

Population 

14. The population of Bere Regis is currently around 1,7751. 

Age profiles 

                                            
1  Bere Regis town profile: https://apps.geowessex.com/stats/AreaProfiles/Parish/bere-regis 
 
 

Page 124

https://apps.geowessex.com/stats/AreaProfiles/Parish/bere-regis


Page 4 of 8 
 

15. Almost 24.8% of the population are aged 65 and over, which is lower than the 
Dorset average of 28.3%1.  

16. 15.3%1 of people in Bere Regis are 16 years and under compared to the Dorset 
average of 15.9%1.  

Ethnic groups 

17. 97.9%1 of the Bere Regis population are White British with 2.1%1 from Black and 
minority ethnic groups. Comparable data for Dorset is 95.5%2 and 4.5%2. 

Socio-economic classifications  

18. 0.7% of the Purbeck population claim housing/council tax benefit2 (data only 
available at District level). 

Access 

19. 11.5%1 of Bere Regis households do not own a car or van compared to 15.5%1 
across Dorset. 

Type of housing 

20. The average Bere Regis house price is £417,167 for a detached property and 
£259,458 for a terraced property3.  

21. 58.8% of Bere Regis homes are owner occupied, 20.2% are social rented and 
18.2% are private rented1.   

Economic activity 

22. Almost 16% of the population is retired2. 

Why undertake an EqIA? 

23. Purbeck District Council is required to undertake EqIA of its policies, plans and 
strategies to ensure that they do not discriminate against any group or individual in 
the community. The duty to undertake EqIA arises from the Race Relations 
(Amendment) Act 2000. Following the referendum of the LMNP, Purbeck District 
Council will formally ‘make’ or adopt the plan as part of the Council’s Local 
Development Plan. As such, the policies within the LMNP must be subject to an 
EQIA. 

24. Previous EqIAs undertaken in Purbeck have included a range of equalities issues 
as required by law. To incorporate EqIAs into the plan-making process, we also 
need to take into account some of the wider issues of social inequalities, in 
particular rural isolation and related deprivation, for example fuel poverty. 
Therefore the following nine equality areas are used in a matrix to determine 
whether the LMNP policies have potential implications in relation to: age (Ag), 
disability (D), ethnicity (E), faith or belief (F), gender (G), gender reassignment 
(GR), sexual orientation (SO), social inequalities (SI), rural isolation (RI). The 

                                            
2 Dorset Statistics: https://apps.geowessex.com/stats/AreaProfiles/District/dorset 
3 Right Move: http://www.rightmove.co.uk/house-prices/Bere-Regis.html 
 

Page 125

https://apps.geowessex.com/stats/AreaProfiles/District/dorset
http://www.rightmove.co.uk/house-prices/Bere-Regis.html


Page 5 of 8 
 

matrix identifies where the policies are compatible, have potential conflict or likely 
conflict with the equality areas. 

Which BRNP policies are subject to the EqIA? 

25. The following first draft BRNP policies are subject to the EqIA: 

 BR1 Settlement Boundaries 

 BR2 Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace 

 BR3 Nitrogen Mitigation 

 BR4 Bere Regis Groundwater 

 BR5 Noise Attenuation 

 BR6 Affordable Housing Tenure 

 BR7 Residentail Development 

 BR8 North Street Employment 

 BR9 Community Facilities and Services 

 BR10 Local Green Space 

 

Page 126



 

Page 6 of 8 
 

EqIA of the Bere Regis Neighbourhood Plan Policies 

 

Issues in relation to: 
Settlement 
Boundaries 

SANG 
Nitrogen 

Mitigation 
Groundwater 

Noise 
Attenuation 

Affordable 
Housing 
Tenure 

Residential 
Development 

North Street 
Employment 

Community 
Facilities and 

Services 

Local Green 
Space 

Age Compatible Compatible Compatible Compatible Compatible Compatible Compatible 

Compatible Compatible Compatible 

Disability Compatible Compatible Compatible Compatible Compatible Compatible Compatible 

Compatible Compatible Compatible 

Ethnicity Compatible Compatible Compatible Compatible Compatible Compatible Compatible 

Compatible Compatible Compatible 

Faith of belief Compatible Compatible Compatible Compatible Compatible Compatible Compatible 

Compatible Compatible Compatible 

Gender Compatible Compatible Compatible Compatible Compatible Compatible Compatible 

Compatible Compatible Compatible 

Gender 
Reassignment 

Compatible Compatible Compatible Compatible Compatible Compatible Compatible 

Compatible Compatible Compatible 

Sexual Orientation Compatible Compatible Compatible Compatible Compatible Compatible Compatible 

Compatible Compatible Compatible 

Social Inequalities Compatible Compatible Compatible Compatible Compatible Compatible Compatible 

Compatible Compatible Compatible 

Rural isolation Compatible Compatible Compatible Compatible Compatible Compatible Compatible 

Compatible Compatible Compatible 

P
age 127



 

Page 7 of 8 
 

Comments on the EqIA 

26. In undertaking the assessment, it is important to note that existing adopted policies in the 
PLP1 will continue to apply to Bere Regis even when the BRNP is ‘made’ unless the 
Neighbourhood Plan has specifically identified removal of an adopted policy. The status of 
these policies is also taken into consideration in the EqIA. It is also important to bear in 
mind that the Local Plan Review and other plans prepared by the District Council will 
address a range of policies that are not included in the BRNP. For example, options to 
meet the accommodation needs of gypsies, travellers and travelling showpeople in 
accordance with the equality area of ethnicity are to be addressed through the local plan.  

27. The BRNP aims to ‘sustain a lively parish community, centred on the village’, by facilitating 
a range of new housing to suit the needs of the plan area, support community facilities to 
enrich the lives of the residents, support existing and new employment opportunities and 
to enhance and protect the environment. Bere Regis is mainly a dormitory town for 
Poole/Bournemouth conurbation and Dorchester, however the plans vision and objectives 
will enhance the village’s self-sufficiency and reduce the need for residents to travel 
elsewhere. These improvements will also serve to reduce existing inequalities and rural 
isolation for those who do not benefit from public or private transport. For example, for 
disabled people, older people and young people without access to cars or a regular bus 
service. This is why all of the BRNP policies score well in terms of compatibility with issues 
of age, disability, social inequalities and rural isolation.  

28. Support to retain and expand the safeguarded employment area is compatible with all of 
the equality areas. In particular it accords with the additional development within the 
village as it would reduce the need for the residents to travel out of the village. Without 
such the plan would conflict with a number of equality areas in terms of access to suitable 
transport and service/ facility provisions.   

29. The plans emphasis on important open spaces, the SANG and the European protected 
sites are particularly welcomed and are compatible with a range of equality areas 
providing safe, sustainable and pleasant environments for the community to live amongst.  

EQIA recommendations 

30. All of the BRNP policies assessed in the EQIA were compatible with the equality areas. 
However, this assessment assumes that the adopted policies in PLP1 will also be fully 
taken into account when detailed development schemes are considered by the Council at 
the planning application stage. It also assumes that the emerging policies in the Local 
Plan Review will be progressed and adopted to ensure that equality needs, for example, 
those of the gypsy, traveller and travelling showpeople community will be met over the 
plan period. The following recommendation is therefore made: 

 Ensure that emerging policies in the Local Plan Review are fully progressed and 
adopted to ensure that any equality needs which are not included within the BRNP are 
addressed at a district wide level. 

 

Page 128



Date of Meeting: 25 June 2019 

Lead Member: Cllr David Walsh – Portfolio Holder for Planning 

Lead Officer: Ed Gerry - Planning Policy Team Leader

Executive Summary:

The Milborne St Andrew Neighbourhood Plan has recently been subject to independent 
examination. The purpose of this report is to consider the content of the Examiner’s Report 
and agree that the plan, as modified, can proceed to referendum on the basis that it meets 
the basic conditions, is compatible with the Convention rights, and complies with the 
definition of a neighbourhood development plan.

Equalities Impact Assessment:

Part of the independent examiner’s role is to consider whether the neighbourhood plan 
would breach, or otherwise be incompatible with any of the Convention rights within the 
meaning of the Human Rights Act 1998. No issues were raised by him in this regard.

Budget: 

Once a referendum date has been set, the Council becomes eligible for a grant of 
£20,000. This grant is intended to cover the costs associated with the Council’s input into 
the production of the neighbourhood plan including the examination and referendum. The 
grant of £20,000 will be sufficient to cover the costs associated with the examination and 
referendum.

Risk Assessment: 

Having considered the risks associated with this decision, the level of risk has been 
identified as:
Current Risk: LOW
Residual Risk LOW

No risks identified for this stage. Neighbourhood plans that successfully pass the 
referendum stage will become part of the development plan and therefore, subject to a 
successful outcome at the referendum, this plan will be used when determining future 
planning applications in the Civil Parish of Milborne St Andrew. 

Other Implications:

The referendum will be organised by Electoral Services. Ongoing support for the plan will 

Cabinet

Milborne St Andrew Neighbourhood 
Plan 2018 to 2033 – Independent 
Examiner’s Report and Progress to 
Referendum

Page 129

Agenda Item 11



Page 2 

be provided by Planning and Community Services.

Recommendation:

The following recommendations are made:
(a) members agree that the Milborne St Andrew Neighbourhood Plan 2018 to 

2033, as modified (please see Appendix B), can proceed to referendum; and
(b) a recommendation to ‘make’ the Milborne St Andrew Neighbourhood Plan 2018 

to 2033 be made to the next Cabinet meeting after the referendum if the result 
of the referendum is in support of making the plan and there are no other issues 
identified that would go against such a decision.

Reason for Recommendation:

To progress the Milborne St Andrew Neighbourhood Plan to referendum so that pending a 
favourable vote, the plan can be ‘made’. 

Appendices:

Appendix A: Examiner’s Report
Appendix B: Final Version of Neighbourhood Plan (Tracked Changes version)

Background Papers:

Documents relating to the submission and examination of the Milborne St Andrew 
Neighbourhood Plan can be accessed via the following link: 
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/planning-buildings-land/planning-policy/north-
dorset/neighbourhood-planning/submitted-plans/milborne-st-andrew.aspx

Officer Contact 
Name: Ed Gerry, Planning Policy Team Leader
Tel: 01258 484211
Email: ed.gerry@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk

1. Background and Reason Decision Needed

1.1. The neighbourhood plan area for Milborne St Andrew was formally designated by 
North Dorset District Council (NDDC) on the 16 June 2014.  Following significant 
amounts of consultation and research Milborne St Andrew Parish Council (the 
Qualifying Body) submitted the Milborne St Andrew Neighbourhood Plan to the District 
Council in October 2018. NDDC consulted on the submission version of the plan. The 
consultation period was from Friday 18 January 2019 to Friday 1 March 2019. 

1.2. The District Council (prior to the formation of Dorset Council) subsequently made 
arrangements for an independent examination of the plan as required by The 
Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 (as amended). The examination 
was conducted by Mr David Kaiserman BA DipTP MRTPI and Dorset Council and the 

Page 130

https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/planning-buildings-land/planning-policy/north-dorset/neighbourhood-planning/submitted-plans/milborne-st-andrew.aspx
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/planning-buildings-land/planning-policy/north-dorset/neighbourhood-planning/submitted-plans/milborne-st-andrew.aspx
mailto:ed.gerry@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk


Page 3 

Parish Council were sent a copy of the Examiner’s Report (Appendix A) on the 13 May 
2019.  

1.3. The Examiner’s Report concludes that, subject to a number of recommended 
modifications, the plan should proceed to referendum. Officers have considered each 
recommended modification proposed and consider that they, along with some minor 
changes to correct errors, should be incorporated within an amended neighbourhood 
plan and that the amended plan should proceed to referendum. Milborne St Andrew 
Parish Council has confirmed that it accepts the recommended modifications set out in 
the Examiner’s Report. The proposed modifications and corrections to the plan are set 
out in the proposed final version of the plan. Please see Appendix B.

1.4. It is currently anticipated that the referendum will be held in August 2019. Subject to a 
successful outcome at the referendum stage officers will recommend that the plan is 
‘made’ by Dorset Council. If ‘made’ the plan will become part of the development plan 
for the area it covers. Consequently, the plan will be used when determining future 
planning applications in the Civil Parish of Milborne St Andrew.  

 

Page 131



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Milborne St Andrew  

Neighbourhood Plan 

2018 to 2033 

 
A report to Dorset Council1 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 
David Kaiserman BA DipTP MRTPI 

Independent Examiner 

13 May 2019 

                                                           
1 On 1 April 2019 the county’s nine councils were replaced by two new organisations, Dorset Council and Bournemouth, 

Christchurch and Poole Council. This report was prepared largely on the basis of the submitted documents and the Regulation 16 

responses and therefore refers to the Council as “North Dorset District Council” in most places.  
Page 133



 

MILBORNE ST ANDREW NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN.EXAMINER’S REPORT.MAY 19.1  

Executive Summary 

 

I was appointed by North Dorset District Council on 15 March 2019, with the agreement of 

Milborne St Andrew Parish Council, to carry out the independent examination of the Milborne St 

Andrew Neighbourhood Plan. 

 

The examination was completed solely on the basis of the written representations received, no 

public hearing appearing to me to have been necessary. I made an unaccompanied visit to the 

area covered by the Plan on 9 April 2019. 

 

Milborne St Andrew is a rural parish in North Dorset, lying between Dorchester and Blandford 

Forum. The Parish Council decided to commission the preparation of a neighbourhood plan in 

February 2014, and it was formally submitted to the then North Dorset District Council in October 

2018. The Local Plan for the area designates Milborne St Andrew as a “larger village” which will be 

expected to deliver sufficient new dwellings to meet identified local and essential rural needs. 

Taking into account existing commitments and recently-built dwellings, the plan concludes that at 

least 32 dwellings need to be provided in the village over the period 2018-2033, and sufficient land 

for this is identified through the plan process. Both the “target” figure and the specific allocation 

are questioned by some of the representations received, and my conclusions on these challenges 

are dealt with in the body of my report. 

 

While seeking to ensure that an appropriate amount of land to meet both housing and 

employment needs is identified, the Neighbourhood Plan is clear that its primary objective is that 

“….local people continue to be able to afford to live here, to work and socialise in the village, and 

that it remains the safe and attractive rural village that it has always been”. 

 

Subject to a number of recommendations (principally for changes to the detailed wording of some 

policies), I have concluded that the Milborne St Andrew Neighbourhood Plan meets all the 

necessary legal requirements at this stage of its preparation, and consequently am pleased to 

recommend that it should proceed to referendum. 

 

  

Page 134



 

MILBORNE ST ANDREW NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN.EXAMINER’S REPORT.MAY 19.2  

Contents 

 

• Introduction 

• Procedural matters 

• A brief picture of the Neighbourhood Plan area 

• The basic conditions 

• Other statutory requirements 

• National policy 

• The existing Development Plan for the area 

• The consultation exercise (Regulation 14) 

• General observations about the Plan  

• Representations received (Regulation 16) 

• The Neighbourhood Plan’s approach to determining housing need 

• The policies: 

- Policy MSA1:  Meeting local needs – amount and location of new development 

- Policy MSA2:  Meeting housing needs – dwelling types 

- Policy MSA3:  Meeting employment needs – business requirements 

- Policy MSA4:  Supporting community facilities 

- Policy MSA5:  Development of the Camelco site 

- Policy MSA6:  Settlement boundary 

- Policy MSA7:  Creating safer roads and pedestrian routes  

- Policy MSA8:  Parking provision 

- Policy MSA9:  Reinforcing local landscape character 

- Policy MSA10: Protecting local wildlife 

- Policy MSA11: Local green spaces 

- Policy MSA12: Improving recreation opportunities, and having regard to European 

internationally protected sites 

- Policy MSA13: Locally important character features 

- Policy MSA14: Character and design guidance 

- Policy MSA15: Minimising flood risk 

• Projects 

• Conclusions on the basic conditions 

• Formal recommendation 

• Appendix 1 – Summary Table of Recommendations 

 

  

Page 135



 

MILBORNE ST ANDREW NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN.EXAMINER’S REPORT.MAY 19.3  

Introduction 

 

1. This report sets out the findings of my examination of the Milborne St Andrew Neighbourhood 

Plan (the MSANP), submitted to North Dorset District Council (NDDC) by Milborne St Andrew 

Parish Council in October 2018. The Neighbourhood Area for these purposes is the same as 

the Parish boundary. 

 

2. Neighbourhood plans were introduced into the planning process by the Localism Act 2011. 

They aim to help local communities shape the development and growth of their area, and the 

intention was given added weight in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), first 

published in 2012 but revised in July 2018 and February 2019, which continues to be the 

principal element of national planning policy. Detailed advice is provided by national Planning 

Practice Guidance (PPG) on neighbourhood planning, first published in March 2014. 

 

3. The main purpose of the independent examination is to assess whether or not the Plan 

satisfies certain “basic conditions” which must be met before it can proceed to a local 

referendum, and also whether it is generally legally compliant. In considering the content of 

the Plan, recommendations may be made concerning changes both to policies and any 

supporting text. 

 

4. In the present case, my examination concludes with a recommendation that, subject to 

certain detailed recommendations, the Plan should proceed to referendum. If this results in a 

positive outcome, the MSANP would ultimately become a part of the statutory development 

plan, and thus a key consideration in the determination of planning applications relating to 

land lying within the NP area. 

 

5. I am independent of the Parish Council and do not have any interest in any land that may be 

affected by the Plan. I have the necessary qualifications and experience to carry out the 

examination, having had 30 years’ experience as a local authority planner (including as Acting 

Director of Planning and Environmental Health for the City of Manchester), followed by over 

20 years’ experience providing training in planning to both elected representatives and 

officers, for most of that time also working as a Planning Inspector. My appointment has been 

facilitated by the Independent Examination Service provided by Trevor Roberts Associates. 

 

Procedural matters 

 

6. I am required to recommend that the Milborne St Andrew Neighbourhood Plan either: 

• be submitted to a local referendum; or 

• that it should proceed to referendum, but as modified in the light of my 

recommendations; or 

• that it not be permitted to proceed to referendum, on the grounds that it does not meet 

the requirements referred to in paragraph 3 above. 

 

7. In carrying out my assessment, I have had regard to the following principal documents: 

• the submitted MSANP 

• the pre-submission version of the MSANP 

• the MSANP Consultation Statement (October 2018) 

• the MSANP Basic Conditions Statement (October 2018) 

• the MSANP Strategic Environmental Assessment Determination Statement (June 2017) 

• the MSANP SEA Report (October 2018) prepared by Dorset Planning Consultant Ltd 

Page 136



 

MILBORNE ST ANDREW NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN.EXAMINER’S REPORT.MAY 19.4  

• the Habitats Regulations Assessment (April 2019) prepared by Dorset Council 

• the representations made to the MSANP under Regulation 16 (and, where appropriate, 

under Regulation 14) 

• selected policies of the adopted Local Plan for North Dorset 

• relevant paragraphs of the National Planning Policy Framework  

• relevant paragraphs of the national Planning Policy Guidance. 

 

8. I carried out an unaccompanied visit to the Plan area on 9 April 2019, when I looked at the 

overall character and appearance of the Parish, together with its setting in the wider 

landscape, those areas affected by specific policies in the Plan, and the locations referred to 

by objectors. I refer to my visit as appropriate elsewhere in this report. 

 

9. It is expected that the examination of a draft neighbourhood plan will not include a public 

hearing, and that the examiner should reach a view by considering written representations2. 

In the present case, I considered hearing sessions to be unnecessary, as the consultation 

responses clearly articulated the objections to (and some support for) the Plan and presented 

arguments for and against its suitability to proceed to a referendum. I should add that none of 

the representations received at the Regulation 16 stage included a request for a hearing.  

 

A brief picture of the Neighbourhood Plan area 

 

10. Milborne St Andrew is a village in North Dorset straddling the A354, roughly half-way between 

Dorchester and Blandford Forum. It lies within attractive, undulating countryside, with the 

main part of the village lying on lower land forming the shallow valley of the Bere stream; this 

bisects the village as it runs from north to south to join the River Piddle.  The visual character 

of the built-up area is very varied, with many older dwellings in the vicinity of the church (such 

as along Chapel Street), contrasting with an expanse of post-war housing on rising land to the 

west of Milton Road, the northern elements of which (eg Huntley Down) showing more 

affinity to the local vernacular than the area to the south (such as at Hopsfield). Ribbon 

development and some infill characterises Homefield to the south-east of the main part of the 

village; and there is an unusual detached group of two and a half storey semi-detached 

houses (The Rings), off Blandford Hill to the east of the Milborne Business Centre. 

 

11. The present population of the parish (2011 Census) is given as 1062, living in 453 homes. The 

adopted North Dorset Local Plan designates Milborne St Andrew as one of 18 larger and more 

sustainable villages, which are expected to make a contribution towards meeting identified 

local and essential rural needs. The Local Plan does not specify how many new homes need to 

be built in the Parish, but the MSANP concludes that land for at least 32 dwellings (above 

existing commitments) needs to be identified over the period 2018-2033. A particular issue 

arising from the consultation exercises is the need to provide more lower-cost and smaller 

houses for local residents (including an element of starter-homes).  

 

12. At the present time, in addition to the church, the village supports a small general store, post 

office, primary school, pre-school and a pub. In addition, there is a village hall and a range of 

outdoor recreation facilities. There is also a small branch surgery, with limited opening hours. 

A notable characteristic of the village is the network of public rights of way (including bridle-

ways) which criss-cross the area, providing links into the surrounding countryside. 

  

                                                           
2 Paragraph 9(1) of Schedule 4B to the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). 

Page 137



 

MILBORNE ST ANDREW NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN.EXAMINER’S REPORT.MAY 19.5  

The basic conditions 

 

13. I am not required to come to a view about the ‘soundness’ of the plan (in the way which 

applies to the examination of local plans); instead I must principally address whether or not it 

is appropriate to make it, having regard to certain “basic conditions”, as listed at paragraph 

8(2) of Schedule 4B to the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). The 

requirements are also set out in paragraph 0653 of the Planning Practice Guidance. I deal with 

each of these conditions below in the context of the MSANP’s policies but, in brief, all 

neighbourhood plans must: 

• have regard to national policy and guidance (Condition a); 

• contribute to the achievement of sustainable development (Condition d); 

• be in general conformity with the strategic policies in the development plan for the local 

area (Condition e); 

• not breach, and otherwise be compatible with, EU obligations, including human rights 

requirements (Condition f); 

• not breach the requirements of Chapter 8 of Part 6 of the Conservation of Habitats and 

Species Regulations 2017 

• comply with any other prescribed matters. 

 

14. The Basic Conditions Statement4 (BCS), prepared by Dorset Planning Consultant Ltd on behalf 

of the Parish Council, is dated October 2018. After summarising the relevant statutory 

requirements, it takes each section and policy of the MSANP and assesses its relationship with 

the national and local planning context, adding appropriate comments on general conformity. 

I have regard to specific elements of this document as necessary when considering the 

detailed provisions of the Plan. 

 

Other statutory requirements 

 

15. A number of other statutory requirements apply to the preparation of neighbourhood plans, 

all of which I consider have been met in this case. These are: 

 

• that the Parish Council is the appropriate qualifying body (Localism Act 2011) able to 

lead preparation of a neighbourhood plan; 

• that what has been prepared is a Neighbourhood Development Plan, as formally defined 

by the Localism Act; that the plan area does not relate to more than one Neighbourhood 

Area; and that there are no other neighbourhood plans in place within the area covered 

by the plan; 

• that the plan period must be stated (which in the case of Milborne St Andrew is 2018 to 

2033); and 

• that no “excluded development” is involved (this primarily relates to development 

involving minerals and waste and nationally-significant infrastructure projects). 

 

16. I have also borne in mind the particular duty under section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings 

and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 to pay special attention to the desirability of “preserving or 

enhancing the character or appearance” of any conservation area. 

 

 

                                                           
3 Reference ID: 41-065-20140306 
4 The title of the document is actually “Basic Conditions Report”, but I have adopted the more usual description 

Page 138



 

MILBORNE ST ANDREW NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN.EXAMINER’S REPORT.MAY 19.6  

17. A screening report is required in order to determine whether a neighbourhood plan needs to 

be accompanied by a Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA), under the terms of the 

Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004. It is the qualifying 

body’s responsibility to undertake any necessary environmental assessments, but it is the 

Local Planning Authority’s responsibility to engage with the statutory consultees. 

 

18. A Strategic Environmental Assessment Screening Report for the MSANP was submitted to 

NDDC in April 2017 and subsequently made available to the statutory consultation bodies. As 

a result of the responses received, NDDC concluded that an SEA was required for the 

following reasons:  

 

• the Plan was likely to allocate land for 45-60 dwellings; and 

• the Plan area includes a large number of heritage assets. 

 

19. The results of the subsequent SEA, carried out by Dorset Planning Consultant Ltd on behalf of 

the Parish Council, are contained in a report dated October 2018. This sets out the 

background to, and scope of, the assessment, and focuses on the likely effects of the MSANP 

on the environment, including an evaluation of “reasonable alternatives” (based on the call 

for sites exercise carried out in early 2016). For this, each candidate for land allocation was 

scored against eight SEA objectives; the impact of each of the Plan policies was assessed in the 

same way. The consultants concluded that there are no likely significant adverse impacts 

arising from the Plan. 

 

20. The requirement to assess the impact of the Plan on any European site first involves the 

carrying out of a Habitats Regulations Assessment screening exercise by the competent 

authority (originally NDDC), based on information provided by the Parish Council5. This 

demonstrated that, due to possible impacts on important areas outside the MSANP area 

(Poole Harbour and the Dorset Heathlands), a more detailed assessment was needed. The 

relevant HRA report (published by the successor authority to NDDC, Dorset Council) is dated 

April 2019. Three of its conclusions make the same point, and it is convenient for me to deal 

with them here: I recommend that Policies MSA1, MSA3 and MSA5 include reference to the 

need for new development to adhere to the Nitrogen Reduction in Poole Harbour 

Supplementary Planning Document and to the Dorset Heathlands Planning Framework SPD, 

as appropriate.  

 

21. It is a requirement under the Planning Acts that policies in neighbourhood plans must relate 

to “the development and use of land”, whether within the Plan area as a whole or in some 

specified part(s) of it. I am satisfied that that requirement is met. 

 

National policy 

 

22. National policy is set out primarily in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)6, a key 

theme being the need to achieve sustainable development. The NPPF is supported by 

Planning Practice Guidance (PPG), an online resource which is continually updated by 

                                                           
5 This is contained in a report prepared by AECOM dated 27 March 2019. 
6 My examination has taken place after the introduction of the current version of the National Planning Policy 

Framework, which was published in February 2019. However, paragraph 214 of the new NPPF makes it clear that the 

policies in the first version of the Framework (March 2012) apply for the purpose of examining plans submitted on or 

before 24 January 2019, which is the case here. All references in this report to NPPF paragraph numbers therefore relate 

to the original (2012) version. 

Page 139



 

MILBORNE ST ANDREW NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN.EXAMINER’S REPORT.MAY 19.7  

Government. I have borne particularly in mind the advice in the PPG that a policy in a 

neighbourhood plan should be clear and unambiguous, concise, precise and supported by 

appropriate evidence7. 

 

The existing Development Plan for the area 

 

23. The current development plan for the area includes the North Dorset Local Plan (NDLP) Part 1 

(adopted January 2016), together with a number of policies “saved” from the North Dorset 

District-Wide Local Plan 2003. For convenience, throughout my report I will refer to these 

simply as parts of the (adopted) Local Plan. 

 

24. NDDC embarked upon a review of the local planning framework soon after adoption of the 

NDLP, and published an “Issues and Options” document on which consultation ended on 22 

January 2018. Basic Condition (e) requires neighbourhood plans to be “in general conformity 

with the strategic policies of the development plan for the area”: this clearly means the 

adopted development plan. However, I bear in mind the advice at paragraph 0098 of the PPG, 

which says: “Although a draft neighbourhood plan or Order is not tested against the policies in 

an emerging Local Plan, the reasoning and evidence informing the Local Plan process is likely 

to be relevant to the consideration of the basic conditions against which a neighbourhood 

plan is tested.” 

 

The consultation exercise (Regulation 14) 

 

25. This regulation requires the Parish Council to publicise details of their proposals “in a way that 

is likely to bring [them] to the attention of people who live, work or carry on business in the 

area”, and to provide details of how representations about them could be made. Regulation 

15 requires the submission to the Local Planning Authority of a statement setting out the 

details of what was done in this respect, and how the qualifying body responded to any 

matters which arose as a result of the consultation process. 

 

26. The Consultation Statement (described as a summary, but containing a detailed account of the 

way stakeholders, including local commercial interests and landowners, were involved in the 

preparation of the Plan) is dated October 2018. It explains the various methods used to keep 

people involved and informed during the various phases of plan preparation; sets out the 

means employed to gather relevant information and opinion (for which the Parish Council 

obtained the assistance of an independent consultancy); and summarises the levels of 

response and key issues raised at the “options” stage of the process and subsequently at the 

pre-submission stage. There is an easily-accessed summary of the results of the consultation 

processes and the Working Group’s responses. 

 

27. I am more than satisfied, having read the Consultation Statement and noted its various 

appendices, that the requirements of Regulation 14 have been fully met by the 

Neighbourhood Plan Group’s activities. 

 

 

 

 

                                                           
7 Paragraph 041 Reference ID 41-041-20140306 
8 Paragraph 009 Reference ID: 41-009-20160211 

Page 140



 

MILBORNE ST ANDREW NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN.EXAMINER’S REPORT.MAY 19.8  

General observations about the Plan 

 

28. The following comments may be helpful in understanding the way I have approached my 

report on the Plan and the observations and recommendations which I make upon it: 

 

• the Plan Working Group have spent considerable time and energy, in full consultation 

with the local community at large, in identifying the issues and objectives that they wish 

to include in the Plan, and this entirely reflects the aims of the “localism” agenda; 

 

• the recommendations I make concentrate on the policies themselves, since that is what 

the basic conditions relate to; 

 

• the Plan properly focuses on land use policies, reflecting Planning Practice Guidance; 

 

• I have addressed the policies broadly in the order that they appear in the submitted 

plan. I have set out my views about each of the policies, irrespective of whether or not 

any modification is thought necessary; 

 

• my recommendations for changes to the policies and any associated or free-standing 

changes to the text of the Plan are highlighted in bold italic print. 

 

29. The Plan document opens with a double-page Policies Map9 before explaining in plain English 

the purpose of the Plan, setting its preparation firmly within the context of the adopted North 

Dorset Local Plan. It summarises the way the Plan was prepared; refers to the desirability of 

keeping it under review (paragraphs 1.13 to 1.15); sets out the key social, demographic and 

economic statistics which have informed the approach to policy-making; and introduces the 

reader to Milborne St Andrew’s historic assets, as well as to the important issue of flood risk. 

 

30. Section 3 of the Plan sets out the guiding vision and objectives which underpin it. The 

concisely-expressed vision is that “….local people continue to be able to afford to live here, to 

work and socialise in the village, and that it remains the safe and attractive rural village that it 

has always been”. It is worth noting here that one of the four stated objectives (“to support a 

working, active village”) acknowledges the fact that the village is expected to grow during the 

Plan period.  

 

31. The introduction to Section 4 (“Supporting a working, active village”) provides the context to 

the first six policies, dealing with housing, employment and community needs. The remaining 

three sections deal with promoting a walkable village and minimising potential traffic 

problems; reinforcing local character and creating attractive places to live; and minimising 

flood risk. A small number of proposed projects (as opposed to strictly land-use policies) are 

found in the body of the Plan; and there are two appendices, one containing a list of the 

supporting documents used as part of the evidence base, and the other a draft traffic 

management concept for tackling some of the problems associated with the A354, which 

bisects the main part of the village from east to west. 

 

32. Overall, the Plan document is attractively set out, with generous use of plans, photographs 

and tables to break up the text. The policies themselves are clearly differentiated from the 

                                                           
9 I have noted that NDDC have suggested different ways of displaying this information, but am content for this to be 

considered by the Parish Council without further comment from me. 

Page 141



 

MILBORNE ST ANDREW NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN.EXAMINER’S REPORT.MAY 19.9  

supporting or contextual material by being printed in a different colour. These features, 

together with its commendable use of “no-nonsense” plain English (and even a few wry 

observations), make the Plan very user-friendly and easy to navigate. 

 

33. The contents page of the Plan lists the pages on which each of the subject headings is to be 

found – the document itself, however, is not paginated and I recommend that that small 

improvement be made. 

 

Representations received (Regulation 16) 

 

34. 11 representations were made in response to the submitted Plan.  Four of these were from 

national bodies who raised no objections (Highways England, Natural England, Historic 

England and Sport England); Dorset County Council had some minor comments to make about 

the flood risk issues; and I will deal with NDDC’s observations in the body of the report. SGN 

(gas suppliers) had no comments. Significant objections to the Plan have been made on behalf 

of Wessex Strategic Ltd and Wyatt Homes (each of whom have a local land interest), and Mrs 

Nicola Pye (a local home-owner and land-owner). A supporting representation has been made 

on behalf of Bracken Developments Ltd. The strategic issues raised by or on behalf of the 

developer interests are addressed in the following section of my report, with more detailed 

matters being addressed under the appropriate policy headings. 

 

The Neighbourhood Plan’s approach to determining housing need 

 

35. Policy 2 of Part 1 of the adopted North Dorset Local Plan is the core spatial strategy for the 

District. In summary, it identifies the area’s four main towns as the principal focus of future 

growth, with Stalbridge and 18 “larger villages” (of which Milborne St Andrew is one) meeting 

local needs. Outside these identified settlements, the remainder of the District will be subject 

to countryside policies where development will be strictly controlled, unless it is required to 

enable essential rural needs to be met.  

 

36. Local Plan Policy 6 describes the overall housing requirements for North Dorset during the 

Plan period (2011-2031), reiterating that the vast majority of the growth will be in the four 

main towns and allocating broad minimum housing numbers to each. Elsewhere, “the level of 

housing and affordable housing provision will be the cumulative number of new homes 

delivered to contribute towards meeting identified local and essential rural needs. At least 825 

dwellings will be provided in the countryside (including Stalbridge and the villages) during the 

period 2011 – 2031”.  

 

37. Settlements such as Milborne St  Andrew therefore do not have specific “targets” for 

identifying land (either for housing or employment uses), and the MSANP is clearly an 

appropriate vehicle for taking the issue further. As paragraph 1.4 of the Plan says: 

“Neighbourhood planning has been promoted through the Local Plan as a way for local 

communities to develop their own vision and set out what development they need and where 

it should be built”.  

 

38. The Basic Conditions Statement sets out the approach taken to underpin the MSANP’s policies 

in relation to housing provision. This was informed by an independent Housing Needs 

Assessment Report carried out by Dorset Planning Consultant Ltd, finalised in October 2018. 

The concluding table of that report summarises the factors taken into account in arriving at 

the final housing needs figure – these include the Parish’s assumed (pro-rata) share of the 825 

Page 142



 

MILBORNE ST ANDREW NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN.EXAMINER’S REPORT.MAY 19.10  

dwellings outside the main centres; past build rates; affordability data; and population and 

housing mix data. The result is a figure in the range 36-78 dwellings, with 56 being selected for 

the purposes of the Plan. 11 dwellings had already been built since the beginning of the Plan 

period (2018) and 13 more had been granted planning permission since then. This leads to a 

final requirement of 32 dwellings. Over the Plan period, it was calculated that the Parish 

would experience in total a 12% increase in the housing stock.  

 

39. The report recommends that the calculation of housing need should broadly reflect the latest 

local Strategic Housing Market Assessment (2015), which suggests a slightly higher annual 

requirement across North Dorset. In addition, further flexibility is advocated in order to reflect 

the DCLG’s draft Indicative Assessment of Housing Need (as at September 2017), which 

suggested that the starting point for considering “objectively assessed need” for North Dorset 

should be increased. I understand that this approach is currently being adopted in the review 

of the Local Plan. Dorset Planning Consultant Ltd conclude that adopting these higher targets 

is likely to result in “a more robust assessment of general housing need for the area”. The 

overall methodology is, however, the subject of objections on behalf of two interested 

parties. 

 

40. Consultants Savills act on behalf of Lewis Wyatt (Construction) Ltd – Wyatt Homes, who have 

an interest in land to the north of Blandford Hill, to the east of the main part of the village. 

This site is subject of a planning application (currently undecided) for the erection of 47 

dwellings, including 19 affordable homes (ref: 2/2018/0652/FUL). In addition to their site-

specific objections (to which I will return when considering Policy MSA5), Savills consider the 

approach to the calculation of housing need to be flawed, for the following principal reasons: 
 

• the Local Plan was adopted on an out-of-date evidence base and the reviewed version 

of it is behind schedule;  

 

• local government re-organisation is taking place, and the new Dorset Council is likely to 

wish to progress a unitary local plan as soon as possible. There is, according to Savills, “a 

clear direction of travel to no longer progress with the Local Plan reviews in the 

area….”10,  adding to further delay in updating the strategic context for calculating 

housing need;  

  

• the recently-published Housing Delivery Test shows that North Dorset has to boost its 

supply figure by 20%; and 

 

• NDDC accept that (at December 2018), the area has a 3.3 years supply of land (Savills 

say the more realistic figure should be in the range 2.03-2.69 years), as opposed to the 

standard 5-year requirement.   

 

41. Savills also dispute one minor aspect of the SEA exercise in relation to their clients’ site. This in 

practice has little impact on the overall conclusion; more generally, I note that no objection is 

raised to the way the exercise was carried out, and no issues arise in relation to the scope of 

this examination. 

                                                           
10 The source of this assumption relates to a minute recording decisions of the Shadow Executive Committee for the new 

authority which met on 11 February 2019. It does not state that work on the existing local plan reviews should be 

abandoned, but proposes that “all existing work carried out to date....be used where possible to shape the new Dorset 

Local Plan”. In addition, I note that the current (2 April 2019) website states that the NDDC will publish a consultation 

report on the Issues and Options document for the North Dorset plan “in due course”. 

Page 143



 

MILBORNE ST ANDREW NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN.EXAMINER’S REPORT.MAY 19.11  

42. Savills conclude that: “this background is entirely relevant to the examination of the Milborne 

St Andrew Neighbourhood Plan in determining whether it meets the basic conditions. At no 

point in any of the Neighbourhood Plan submission documents is there any acknowledgement 

that the North Dorset Local Plan Part 1 is out of date and has been for some time, nor that the 

Council cannot demonstrate a 5 year housing supply……..Acceptance of the submission 

Neighbourhood Plan would effectively be an acceptance that upon the plan being made it 

would immediately form part of an out of date development plan”. They also consider the 

decision to apportion the housing requirement in the rural areas on a pro-rata basis fails to 

allow for the variations in the villages’ sustainability and therefore their ability to 

accommodate new development. They say the Plan should “look to increase its housing needs 

in line with projected increases and allocate more sites to ensure that it can meet these 

needs”. 

 

43. Alder King adopt a similar position on behalf of Wessex Strategic Ltd, who have a controlling 

interest in land to the south of Blandford Hill known as Homefield, and which is the subject of 

an outline planning application (ref: 2/2018/1577/OUT) again currently undetermined. As 

with the previous representation, they seek to promote their clients’ site over that selected 

for development in the Plan (see Policy MSA5). They consider that the Plan fails to meet its 

identified affordable housing needs, and that it is insufficiently “future-proofed”, for reasons 

similar to those given by Savills (and specifically because only one site is allocated for 

housing). The conclusion they reach is that, on a pro-rata basis, a minimum of 52 new homes 

would be needed in Milborne St Andrew, with 21 of these being affordable. 

 

44. Alder King quote paragraph 29 of the 2018 version of the NPPF: “Neighbourhood planning 

gives communities the power to develop a shared vision for their area. Neighbourhood plans 

can shape, direct and help to deliver sustainable development by influencing local planning 

decisions as part of the statutory development plan. Neighbourhood plans should not 

promote less development than set out in the strategic policies for the area, or undermine 

those strategic policies”.11 Alder King suggest that this requirement is not met.  

 

45. I have noted the advice at paragraph 040 of the PPG12, to the effect that: “there is no ‘tick box’ 

list of evidence required for neighbourhood planning. Proportionate, robust evidence should 

support the choices made and the approach taken. The evidence should be drawn upon to 

explain succinctly the intention and rationale of the policies in the draft neighbourhood plan 

…”; and also that, where neighbourhood plans contain polices relevant to housing supply, 

“these policies should take account of latest and up-to-date evidence of housing need....”.  

 

46. I consider that, so far as the MSANP’s approach to the identification of housing need is 

concerned, these requirements are met. In particular: 

 

• it cannot be doubted that the Plan explains clearly and succinctly the intention and the 

rationale of its policies; 

 

• due regard has clearly been given to the various factors which have underpinned the 

calculation of housing need set out in the Plan, including those that suggest the need for 

some flexibility; 

 

                                                           
11 This covers similar ground to paragraph 184 of the 2012 version of the NPPF 
12 Reference ID: 41-040-20160211 

Page 144



 

MILBORNE ST ANDREW NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN.EXAMINER’S REPORT.MAY 19.12  

• given the broader context within which neighbourhood plans are prepared, as well as in 

terms of the basic conditions, I consider it to be both unreasonable and unnecessary to 

hold up progress on the Plan in the way that is being sought.  It is clear to me that 

national guidance cannot be interpreted in such a way as to result in neighbourhood 

plans effectively being in a prolonged state of uncertainty (even if there is the prospect 

of fluidity at the strategic level due to factors such as local government reorganisation). 

In my opinion, the MSANP has been prepared on the basis of a reasonable 

understanding of the evidence about housing need as it existed at the time, and that is 

as much as could be asked of it; 

 

• the NPPF requirement is that neighbourhood plans “should not promote less 

development than set out in the strategic policies for the area, or undermine those 

strategic policies”. I am clear that the MSANP does not do this, and to that extent it 

satisfies basic conditions (a) and (e); 

 

• it is in any event clear that the Parish Council understand the need for monitoring and 

reviewing the Plan in due course (see paragraphs 1.14 and 1.15), something that may 

well be brought into sharper focus as progress is made on the revisions to the strategic 

planning framework for the North Dorset area; 

 

• it also remains the case that any planning application for development of land not 

allocated in the MSANP would need to be assessed on its merits, and in the light not just 

of the development plan, but all other material planning considerations – such as the 

latest information about the supply of, and need for, housing land, and the broad 

presumption in favour of sustainable development; 

 

• I also take note of the fact that Policy MSA1 specifically allows for the possibility (in 

certain carefully-prescribed circumstances) of unallocated greenfield sites outside the 

settlement boundary being released for housing, thus providing further flexibility should 

the need for it be demonstrated.  

 

47. Given the above analysis, I recommend that no changes be made to the Plan arising from 

the objections to its conclusions in relation to the housing land requirements. 

 

The policies 

 
 

Policy MSA1: Meeting local needs – amount and location of new development 
  

 

48. This policy puts into effect the approach discussed in the previous section. It firstly states that, 

when added to the limited infill allowed for under the Local Plan and an allowance for the 

conversion of rural buildings, the land allocations “should more than meet the projected 

housing need of about 2.8 dwellings per annum over the Plan period”. The second element of 

the policy sets out the approach to be taken in relation to proposals outside the settlement 

boundary, to which I also referred earlier.  

 

49. I am satisfied that Policy MSA1 meets the basic conditions in that it meets the NPPF 

requirement to plan positively to meet local housing needs, and that this should be done in 

the context of the settled strategic framework provided by the adopted development plan for 

the area. As a minor point, given that only one site is allocated for development (the subject 

Page 145



 

MILBORNE ST ANDREW NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN.EXAMINER’S REPORT.MAY 19.13  

of Policy MSA5), I recommend that the first line of the policy read “Sufficient land is 

allocated…..”, rather than “Sufficient sites are allocated…..”. 

 
 

Policy MSA2: Meeting housing needs – dwelling types 
 

 

50. Policy MSA2 reflects the evidence of local housing needs in the Parish gathered during the 

plan preparation period. It does not seek to impose specific targets for different categories of 

need, nor to prioritise them. Instead, the policy simply states that the type and size of housing 

to be permitted should “primarily provide” affordable homes for rent; starter and shared 

ownership affordable homes; one, two and three-bedroom open-market homes; and homes 

specifically designed for people with more limited mobility. In addition, conditions may be 

imposed on planning permissions to ensure that the supply of smaller homes is not eroded by 

future extensions. Finally, larger open-market homes (effectively with four or more 

bedrooms) “will require special justification”, and should be designed to allow for potential 

future sub-division. 

 

51. Savills object to the last of these elements, which they say is inconsistent with Local Plan 

Policy 7. This states that the local planning authority will support a split of “about 40% of 

market housing…as one or two bedroom properties and about 60% of market housing as 

three or more bedroom properties”, something which reflects the 2015 SHMA requirement of 

16% of new open-market housing to be of four bedrooms or more. For this reason, they 

conclude that the “special justification” requirement should be removed from the Policy. 

 

52. As it is worded, this last element of Policy MSA2 does not explain what kind of evidence an 

applicant would be expected to supply in order to satisfy its terms (and I note that there is 

nothing in the supporting material – paragraph 4.5 - which precedes it). While I consider that 

Savills over-state the extent to which the reference to a special justification leads to significant 

conflict with LP Policy 7, the broad policy emphasis is clear without the need to include 

something whose practical implications are unclear. I therefore recommend that the 

requirement for a special justification to be provided to support applications for open-

market homes containing four or more bedroom be deleted.  

 

53. NDDC question the reference to the possibility of conditions being imposed on permissions for 

new dwellings to restrict their extension, suggesting instead that potential adverse impacts 

are considered before conditions are applied (since they might not actually be needed). It 

seems to me that the simple phrase “where appropriate” allows for the necessary flexibility 

on this point and therefore that the policy need not be re-worded. 

 
 

Policy MSA3: Meeting employment needs – business requirements 
 

 

54. The Basic Conditions Statement records the fact that the Local Plan does not set any specific 

employment targets for Milborne St Andrew, but adds that the latest evidence suggests that 

there is unmet need locally. This approach of considering employment needs locally is 

supported by the Local Plan. The main existing employment sites at the Business Centre and 

Deverel Farm are said to be well used and not able to meet the level of enquiries for small 

workshops and larger manufacturing and servicing businesses. 

 

Page 146



 

MILBORNE ST ANDREW NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN.EXAMINER’S REPORT.MAY 19.14  

55. Policy MSA3 seeks to protect all the existing employment sites (including a range of smaller 

ones), and contains a presumption in favour of their being able to re-configure to meet 

changing needs. In addition, new smaller enterprises will be supported in principle. Specific 

support is given to the expansion of Deverel Farm so that it can accommodate a range of 

larger businesses, subject to a number of environmental and related safeguards. 

 

56. I am satisfied that, as well as being in broad conformity with the Local Plan, Policy MSA3 has 

strong support from NPPF paragraph 28, and thus that it meets the basic conditions. 

 
 

Policy MSA4: Supporting community facilities 
 

 

57. Figure 3 of the MSANP is a bar-chart showing the full list of community assets enjoyed in the 

village and the value that local residents place on each of them. Policy MSA4 supports their 

improvement in principle, subject to the character of the area being safeguarded. This 

objective is supported at national and local level, and there are no issues in relation to the 

basic conditions.  

 

58. Savills consider that the Plan should include a generic expression of support for additional 

surgery capacity (an issue highlighted at paragraph 4.12 of the document), rather than the 

matter being dealt with as a requirement of a land allocation (see policy MSA5). They draw 

attention to the fact that their clients’ current proposal would meet the identified need. Alder 

King make a similar point, but I see no reason, given the scope of this examination, to make 

any recommendations in connection with these representations. 

 
 

Policy MSA5: Development of the Camelco site 
 

 

59. This represents the most significant site-specific proposal in the Plan. It concerns an area of 

“brownfield” land south of the A354 (Blandford Hill) to the east of the village itself (and beyond 

the existing settlement boundary), previously used in connection with a food production 

facility. Policy MSA5 allocates it for a mixed-use development including housing, employment 

and community facilities, subject to a list of 15 detailed requirements. Paragraph 4.39 of the 

supporting material states that there would be sufficient room for at least 32 dwellings (“but 

potentially a higher number, given the need for smaller dwelling types”), once the land 

requirements for employment uses, highway improvements, accessible green space and 

community buildings are taken into account.  

 

60. The allocation is supported by Ken Parke Planning Consultants, acting on behalf of Bracken 

Developments Ltd. Their representation is accompanied by a planning statement prepared in 

connection with an intended application for outline planning permission (access only) to 

develop the site for up to 61 dwellings, business units and a pre-school nursery13. 

 

61. While Alder King and (by inference) Savills comment on the relative suitability of the Camelco 

site to meet the housing and employment needs concerned, neither of these representations 

suggests that the proposed allocation, in its own terms, fails to meet any of the basic conditions, 

and I have no reason of my own to come to a different view. On my visit, I noted that it contains 

derelict buildings, considerable amounts of hard-core and earth-mounds, together with 

                                                           
13 A web-search reveals that the application was made to NDDC on 19 March 2019. 

Page 147



 

MILBORNE ST ANDREW NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN.EXAMINER’S REPORT.MAY 19.15  

extensive areas of hard-standing, leading to an access on to Lane End, near the junction with 

the A354: the re-use of a substantial (2.2ha) site on the edge of the village for a mixed use 

development would clearly accord with a range of national and local planning policies.  

 

62. This land emerged as the top-scoring site following a “call for sites” exercise in 2017 conducted 

by the MSANP working group, and based on seven criteria for selection, which are set out in 

Figure 2 of the Plan document. Paragraphs 4.32 - 4.35 contain a summary of the group’s 

conclusions: those sites which generally scored positively against the criteria featured in the 

options consultation, and the choice was then narrowed down to three, the owners of which 

were invited to present their ideas at an open meeting in November 2017. Paragraph 4.35 says: 

“There was no clear “second place” in terms of local opinion or sustainability, and although 

consideration has been given as to whether a reserve site should be identified, this seems 

unnecessary given that the Camelco site will more than meet the identified local need for the 

plan period”.  

 

63. Alder King consider that their clients’  Homefield site is a better “fit” than Camelco since 

(for a number of reasons) they believe the latter to be uneconomic to develop, and thus 

that it would be unable to deliver the community benefits sought. They provide a detailed 

assessment of the strengths and weaknesses of each site as they see them, concluding that 

Camelco “does not represent sustainable development when compared to reasonable 

alternatives”14. They recommend that it be replaced in Policy MSA5 with Homefield or that 

both sites are allocated (with Camelco held in reserve). 

 

64. Savills make no explicit comparison of the merits of their clients’ land north of Blandford 

Hill and those of the Camelco site, although it is clear to me from their representations 

that they consider the former is to be preferred. One example of this is their suggestion 

that the Plan would be improved if the provision of a new surgery (an aspiration found at 

paragraph 4.12) were the subject of “a generic expression of support” rather than “a 

delivery requirement of an allocation policy” (a reference to criterion g) of Policy MSA5). 

Alder King make a similar comment. 

 

65. Mrs Pye states that the criteria set out in Figure 2 differ slightly from those used in the 

initial selection process and this, together with some other procedural criticisms, leads her 

to suggest that the Plan’s conclusions about the merits of the various sites are misleading 

(and even biased in favour of the Camelco site). 

 

66. PPG paragraph 04215 states: “A qualifying body should carry out an appraisal of options 

and an assessment of individual sites against clearly identified criteria”, and it is clear to 

me that that requirement has been met in the case of the MSANP. I note in any event that 

the criticisms received to policy MSA5 do not (with the possible exception of some of Mrs 

Pye’s comments) extend to the basic methodology adopted, which seems to me to be both 

comprehensive and rational; rather, in their various ways, the objectors question the 

judgements that were ultimately reached.  

 

 

67. It is not within my remit as an Examiner to reach any conclusions of my own on the 

outcome of the site-selection exercise, especially given what I have said about the 

                                                           
14 Alder King assert that the Plan “fails to achieve sustainable development” per se, but the bulk of their representation is 

devoted to a comparative analysis of the merits of the alternative sites. 
15 Reference ID: 41-042-20170728 

Page 148



 

MILBORNE ST ANDREW NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN.EXAMINER’S REPORT.MAY 19.16  

evidence of compliance with PPG paragraph 042. Any allegations of significant procedural 

irregularities are capable of being addressed by other means. I have concluded that Policy 

MSA5 meets the basic conditions. 

 
 

Policy MSA6: Settlement boundary 
 

 

68. The opportunity has been taken to make minor adjustments to the settlement boundary for 

the village established in the 2003 Local Plan. These are limited to the inclusion of land now 

built on or with planning permission, together with land well-related to the village core; and 

the exclusion of open land on the edge of the settlement and land associated with community 

buildings, where such areas are considered to be inappropriate for development in principle. 

Paragraph 4.42 says that the Camelco site has not been included within the settlement 

boundary because it is thought preferable to address the matter once the scheme has been 

built (and potentially when the Plan is reviewed). 

 

69. NDDC, to summarise their representation, envisage scope for conflict between the MSANP 

and the adopted Local Plan (which includes a presumption against development in rural areas 

beyond settlement boundaries). I agree with that concern, which is shared by Savills and Mrs 

Pye. I can see no disadvantage in the Plan adopting what is generally-accepted best practice in 

this respect. I therefore recommend that Figure 5 (the revised settlement boundary) be 

amended to include the Parish Council’s reasonable interpretation of the anticipated land-

take in relation to Policy MSA5. In addition, I consider it would be helpful if Figure 5 

indicated those areas of land subject of the revisions referred to in paragraph 4.41. This 

recommendation (and that which follows) should also be reflected in the Policies Map which 

opens the Plan document.  

` 

70. I also think it desirable that some thought be given to the way the boundary is drawn in the 

vicinity of the Milborne Business Centre: at present, this land lies outside the designated 

settlement, although there are two very small residential enclaves, one on either side of it, 

which are included. Were my recommendation above to be accepted, the exclusion of this 

important site would become somewhat anomalous. I therefore further recommend that 

consideration be given to a more comprehensive approach to the settlement boundary in 

this area, which would be likely to lead to a single detached element of built form (and 

proposed built form) being brought within it, lying both north and south of the A354. 

 
 

Policy MSA7: Creating safer roads and pedestrian routes 
 

 

71. Section 5 of the Plan deals with the related issues of development and traffic generation, 

focusing on the safety of pedestrians trying to cross (and to walk along) the main A354. An 

additional element identified as needing attention is the visual impact of any traffic 

management measures which might be proposed. Table 3 lists the locations where action is 

considered necessary. Policy MSA7 encourages more walking in new developments, through a 

range of design measures; it also seeks proportionate developer contributions towards the 

schemes sets out in Table 3. These requirements are supported by several elements of the 

NPPF and Policy 13 of the adopted Local Plan: the policy satisfies the basic conditions. 

 

 

 

Page 149



 

MILBORNE ST ANDREW NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN.EXAMINER’S REPORT.MAY 19.17  

 

 

Policy MSA8: Parking provision 
 

 

72. This policy requires parking in connection with new or extended homes (including 

conversions) to be provided in accordance with figures set out in Table 5. This is a very 

detailed and specific set of figures which is based on the data gathered from the household 

questionnaires completed in the early stages of the Plan. It is acknowledged that the 

requirements exceed those of the current County standards “to better reflect the real-life 

situation of the village, where car ownership levels are high and public transport simply not 

flexible enough to forego the need for a car”. The policy also requires the design of any 

parking areas to be sensitive to the village’s character. 

 

73. Savills object to the proposed increase in parking requirements over and above those adopted 

by the County Council. They say that the case for an increase is not made (suggesting a 

skewed statistical exercise when the survey results were assessed) and a conflict between the 

additional parking and the need to avoid large areas of hard-standing (a design issue 

mentioned in the policy). Savills add that the NPPF seeks to promote sustainable forms of 

transport. 

 

74. It is clearly outside the ability of a neighbourhood plan to achieve anything worthwhile in 

relation to improvements to public transport, and for that reason I do not consider that Policy 

MSA8 is flawed when judged against the basic conditions. That having been said, it seems to 

me that it is over-prescriptive and that the justification for departing from a county-wide 

approach to parking requirements is weak. The Plan suggests (paragraph 5.11), that car 

ownership levels in two and three – bedroomed houses are already higher than the 

projections for 2026 – but I do not see that that, of itself, is a strong reason for abandoning 

the county guidelines.  

 

75. I respect the discretion which neighbourhood plans have been given to reflect local 

circumstances “on the ground”; but in this case, it is most unlikely that Milborne St Andrew is 

any different from scores of similar villages in Dorset, such that there is a clear case for 

departing from an accepted approach to parking provision. I therefore recommend that Policy 

MSA8 be amended to remove the need to comply with the figures set out in Table 5. 

 
 

Policy MSA9: Reinforcing local landscape character 
 

 

76. Section 6 of the Plan describes the landscape character of the wider area within which the 

Parish sits, highlighting the importance of the stream corridor, hedgerows and trees, and 

significant areas of woodland. There is also reference to the richness of the local 

archaeological remains. Policy MSA9 seeks to ensure that development respects and 

enhances these characteristics. This objective clearly accords with national and local policies; 

however, I recommend that the first line of the policy include the phrase “where 

practicable”: “Development should respect and, where practicable, enhance local landscape 

character….” 

 

 

 

 

Page 150



 

MILBORNE ST ANDREW NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN.EXAMINER’S REPORT.MAY 19.18  

 

Policy MSA10: Protecting local wildlife 
 

 

77. This policy is similar to the previous one. It requires development to enhance biodiversity and 

to protect the existing ecological network (shown in Figure 8). A certified biodiversity 

mitigation and enhancement plan would be required in certain, specified, circumstances. 

There are no difficulties from the point of view of the basic conditions; however, as with 

Policy MSA9, it may not always be appropriate or possible to secure enhancements to an 

asset (as opposed to ensuring the absence of harm). I recommend that the first sentence of 

the policy be amended to read: “Development should protect and, where practicable, 

enhance biodiversity through an understanding of the wildlife interest that may be affected 

by the development, and the inclusion of measures that will protect the existing ecological 

network (as shown in Figure 8) and, again, where practicable, secure an overall biodiversity 

gain.”. 

 
 

Policy MSA11: Local green spaces 
 

 

78. This policy gives effect to NPPF paragraph 76: “Local communities through local and 

neighbourhood plans should be able to identify for special protection green areas of particular 

importance to them. By designating land as Local Green Space, local communities will be able 

to rule out new development other than in very special circumstances”.  Paragraph 77 of the 

NPPF goes on to say that the Local Green Space (LGS) designation will not be appropriate for 

most green areas or open space, and should only be used where three criteria are met, 

namely: 

 

• where the green space is in reasonably close proximity to the community it serves; 

 

• where the green area is demonstrably special to a local community and holds a 

particular local significance, for example because of its beauty, historic significance, 

recreational value (including as a playing field), tranquility or richness of its wildlife; 

and 

 

• where the green area concerned is local in character and is not an extensive tract of 

land. 

 

79. Table 7 of the Plan lists 10 locations which it is proposed to protect as LGS, giving brief 

reasons for the choice, and these are shown on Figure 9. I looked at all of them on my visit to 

the village. They range in size from the very small (eg at The Green) to the substantial area of 

land known as The Grove, which provides a stream-side setting for the southern part of the 

village. The policy satisfies the basic conditions;  as evidence of the sensible discretion with 

which the exercise was carried out, I note that two other areas of land, designated as locally 

important in the 2003 Local Plan, have not been designated as LGS for the purposes of the 

MSANP (for reasons given at paragraph 6.15). 

 

80. Dorset County Council consider that LGS10 (The Green at Bladon View, referred to above) falls 

short of the NPPF tests. They say that it is “an area of highway…..(which) has a particular 

singular purpose and should not be designated otherwise”, and that it fails to meet any of the 

Page 151



 

MILBORNE ST ANDREW NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN.EXAMINER’S REPORT.MAY 19.19  

criteria at paragraph 100b16. There is, however, no prescribed method of satisfying these 

criteria, beyond considering the results of the pre-submission consultation process. I have 

noted that in the case of the MSANP this is summarised, together with a clear and detailed 

assessment (which resulted in a number of possible sites being rejected as not satisfying the 

tests) in a document available online as part of the evidence base for the Plan. I am satisfied 

that this provides evidence that the exercise was carried out in line with the intention of the 

NPPF requirements (and reflects Local Plan policy 15) and I therefore make no 

recommendation regarding the list of sites identified for protection in Policy MSA11. 

 
  

Policy MSA12: Improving recreational opportunities, and having regard to European and 

internationally protected sites  
 

 

81. This policy has two elements. The first seeks protection and enhancement of informal outdoor 

recreation opportunities (including the footpath network) and is guided by figures in Table 8. 

This mirrors the approach in the Local Plan, which uses quantity standards set out by Fields in 

Trust (FIT) in respect of outdoor space, including for sport and play. Paragraph 6.17 of the Plan 

says that the village falls short of these optimum figures in four of the five categories of 

recreation activity shown in Table 8. The policy requires development to protect and, where 

possible, enhance recreational provision and that, with schemes of 10 or more dwellings, this 

should be done on site unless it is not practical to do so. Where on-site provision is not 

possible, suitable off-site facilities will be required. 

 

82. Savills say that it is unclear how the requirements in Table 8 have been derived, and question 

the relationship with the FIT approach, and thus with the Local Plan (in particular in relation to 

the 10-dwelling threshold). In addition, they object to the need for the Parish Council to 

support any off-site arrangements. I do not consider that any conflict with the Local Plan on 

this issue produces difficulties in relation to basic condition e); however, I agree that it is not 

appropriate for any off-site provision to require the clear support of the Parish Council as a 

pre-condition, and I recommend that that reference in the last sentence of part a) of Policy 

MSA12 be deleted. 

 

83. I have noted Mrs Pye’s doubts about the deliverability of some of the Plan’s aspirations in 

relation to extensions to the footpath network, but these have little significance so far as my 

examination is concerned. 

 

84. The second part of the policy deals with the need for any development to avoid having an 

adverse effect on Poole Harbour or the Dorset Heathlands, both of which are internationally-

important wildlife habitats. The policy requires a Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace or a 

Heathland Infrastructure Project to be agreed with Natural England before any approval can be 

given to a housing scheme containing more than 10 dwellings, and is in line with current 

practice in the wider area. Arising from the results of the Habitats Regulations Assessment 

referred to earlier, I recommend that the policy require any net new residential development 

within 5km of the European site to ensure no adverse effects on its integrity; that reference 

to “planned development or pending applications” be replaced with the phrase “project or 

plan”; and that reference is made to the need for adherence to the Nitrogen Reduction in 

Poole Harbour Supplementary Planning Document. 

 
 

                                                           
16 The equivalent in the 2012 version of the NPPF is paragraph 77 

Page 152



 

MILBORNE ST ANDREW NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN.EXAMINER’S REPORT.MAY 19.20  

 

Policy MSA13: Locally-important character features 
 

 

85. This policy sets out a range of physical features in the village (such as the stream and its 

bridges, the flint walls etc) which contribute significantly to its particular character. The policy 

seeks to ensure that care is taken to retain and improve these elements and their setting. 

Again, there is a need to acknowledge that improvement may not always be possible through 

the development management process, and so I recommend that the phrase “where possible” 

be included in the first sentence of the policy: “Care should also be taken to retain and, where 

possible, improve existing features…..”. 

 
 

Policy MSA14: Character and design guidance 
 

 

86. Policy MSA14 sets out some general and some specific guidance on a wide range of design 

matters. In principle, there is nothing here which fails to reflect national and local planning 

policy advice; however, I agree with NDDC’s comment about its detailed nature and with 

Savills who (although they do not use the term) consider elements of it to be too prescriptive 

– in particular, references to the density of housing schemes and the depths of rear gardens. 

 

87. Rather than suggest a re-wording of the policy to reflect these criticisms, I am content that 

the Parish Council re-visit the precise scope and wording of Policy MSA14, with the 

following points in mind: 
 

• generally, the policy should be greatly simplified, concentrating on the broad 

requirement for new development to respond positively to the local character and 

history of the area, in order to reinforce the sense of place. The detailed components 

of design should be contained in the supporting material, if necessary by adding to 

Table 1117 or the text in paragraphs 6.29-6.33; 
 

• the references to new development being required to be “visually attractive” or 

involve “good architecture” are too vague and subjective and should be deleted; 
 

• the requirements for the density of housing to be below 20dph and for rear garden 

lengths to be a minimum of 20m are too prescriptive and should both be deleted. 

Reliance should instead be placed on a case-by-case assessment of schemes against 

the overall policy objectives and the supporting material; 
 

• the references to a mix of building styles, the need for affordable housing to be 

indistinguishable from market housing, the requirement for details of utility fixtures 

to be included within an application and the desire to discourage high boundary 

walls and fences are all relevant development management guidance for applicants, 

and should  be retained in the policy. 

 
 

Policy MSA15: Minimising flood risk 
 

 

88. Milborne St Andrew has a history of problems caused by flooding caused both by the Bere 

stream overflowing and by surface-water run-off at times of heavy rainfall. This policy says 

that all development upstream of March Bridge which is likely to produce increased surface 

                                                           
17 This is referred to as Table 10 in the fourth paragraph of the policy, which I take to be a typographical error 

Page 153



 

MILBORNE ST ANDREW NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN.EXAMINER’S REPORT.MAY 19.21  

water run-off eventually discharging into the Bere must be supported by a surface and foul 

water strategy which satisfies four specified criteria. Paragraph 7.5, while not a policy in its 

own right, notes that the relevant Flood Risk Management Team should be consulted on all 

development proposals for one dwelling or more in flood risk areas: NDDC point out that this 

approach deviates from national minimum standards, but acknowledge that the village has 

specific issues and that the more rigorous approach set out in the policy is supported by 

Wessex Water. I have also noted that no objections were raised by Dorset County Council. As 

a footnote, I commend the Plan for including a summary of the sometimes confusing 

responsibilities of public and other agencies, and of landowners, in relation to flooding issues. 

 

Projects 

 

89. The Plan also includes four “Projects”, dealing with a suggested Community Land Trust; traffic 

Management; where and how the Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace will be delivered; 

and a Conservation Area appraisal. All these are properly separated out from the strictly land-

use policies, while helpfully being located close to the text to which they are related. 

 

Conclusions on the basic conditions 

 

90. I am satisfied that the Milborne St Andrew Neighbourhood Plan makes appropriate provision 

for sustainable development. I conclude that in this and in all other material respects, subject 

to my recommended modifications, it has appropriate regard to national policy. Similarly, and 

again subject to my recommended modifications, I conclude that the Plan is in general 

conformity with the strategic policies in the development plan for the local area. There is no 

evidence before me to suggest that the Plan is not compatible with EU obligations, including 

human rights requirements. 

 

Formal recommendation 

 

91. I have concluded that, provided that the recommendations set out above are followed, the 

Milborne St Andrew Neighbourhood Plan would meet the basic conditions, and I therefore 

recommend that, as modified, it should proceed to a referendum. Finally, I am required to 

consider whether the referendum area should be extended beyond the Neighbourhood Plan 

Area, but I have been given no reason to think this is necessary. 

 

 

David Kaiserman 

 

David Kaiserman BA DipTP MRTPI  

Independent Examiner 

 

13 May 2019 

Page 154



 

MILBORNE ST ANDREW NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN.EXAMINER’S REPORT.MAY 19.22  

APPENDIX 1 – SUMMARY TABLE OF RECOMMENDATIONS 

 

Examiner’s 

report 

paragraph 

    NP reference Recommendation 

20 Policies MSA1, 

MSA3 and MSA5 

• include reference to the Nitrogen Reduction in 

Poole Harbour SPD and the Dorset Heathlands 

Planning Framework SPD as appropriate 

33  • add pages numbers throughout the Plan to 

correspond with the Contents Page 

49 Policy MSA1 • change first line of policy to read “Sufficient land is 

allocated…” 

52 Policy MSA2 • delete the requirement for special justification to 

support applications for open-market homes 

containing four or more bedrooms 

69 Policy MSA6 • amend Figure 5 (revised settlement boundary) to 

include anticipated land take as per Policy MSA5 

and to indicate areas of land subject to revisions 

70 Policy MSA6 • consider a more comprehensive approach to the 

settlement boundary in the vicinity of the Milborne 

Business Centre 

75 Policy MSA8 • remove the need to comply with the figures set out 

in Table 5 

76 Policy MSA9 • include the phrase “where practicable” in the first 

line of the policy 

77 Policy MSA10 • amend the first paragraph of the policy  

82 Policy MSA12 • in the last sentence, delete the requirement to have 

the clear support of the Parish Council as a pre-

condition 

84 Policy MSA12 • detailed amendments to the wording of part b) of 

the policy 

86 Policy MSA13 • include the phrase “where possible” in the first line 

of the policy 

87 Policy MSA14 • revisit the precise scope and wording of the policy 

bearing in mind a number of specific points 

 

Page 155



This page is intentionally left blank



Milborne St Andrew 
Neighbourhood Plan 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2018 to 2033 
Milborne St Andrew Parish Council, North Dorset 

Submission Final versiondraft, October May 20198 

Page 157



Milborne St Andrew Neighbourhood Plan SUBMISSION DRAFTFinal Version MayOctober 20198 

Contents 

Policies Map 

 

 

  

Page 158



Milborne St Andrew Neighbourhood Plan SUBMISSION DRAFTFinal Version MayOctober 20198 

Contents 

 

 

 

  

Page 159



Milborne St Andrew Neighbourhood Plan SUBMISSION DRAFTFinal Version MayOctober 20198 

Contents 

Contents 

Policies Map 

What this Plan is all about … ........................................................................................................ 1 

1. Introduction ......................................................................................................................... 2 

The North Dorset Local Plan .................................................................................................... 3 

How this Neighbourhood Plan was prepared ............................................................................ 4 

Should and Will, and the weight to be given to this Plan ........................................................... 5 

The Plan Period, Monitoring and Review .................................................................................. 5 

2. Key facts about Milborne St Andrew parish .......................................................................... 6 

Social and economic statistics .................................................................................................. 7 

Transport and Infrastructure statistics ...................................................................................... 8 

Natural Environment................................................................................................................ 9 

Historic Environment ............................................................................................................... 9 

Flooding and other hazards .................................................................................................... 10 

3. Vision and Objectives ......................................................................................................... 11 

Vision ..................................................................................................................................... 11 

Objectives .............................................................................................................................. 11 

4. Supporting a working, active village ................................................................................... 12 

Housing, employment and community needs ......................................................................... 12 

 Meeting Local Needs – Amount and Location of New Development ............ 14 

 Meeting Housing Needs – Dwelling Types ................................................... 14 

 Meeting Employment Needs – Business Requirements ............................... 16 

 Supporting Community Facilities ............................................................ 2221 

MSA Project 1 Community Land Trust .......................................................................... 2221 

Development Site Selection ............................................................................................... 2221 

 Development of the Camelco Site ........................................................... 2625 

Settlement Boundary ......................................................................................................... 2726 

 Settlement Boundary .............................................................................. 2928 

5. Promoting a walkable village and minimising potential traffic problems ......................... 2928 

Traffic Management ........................................................................................................... 3130 

 Creating safer roads and pedestrian routes ............................................... 3231 

MSA Project 2. Traffic Management in Milborne St Andrew .......................................... 3331 

Parking ............................................................................................................................... 3332 

 Parking Provision ..................................................................................... 3533 

6. Reinforcing local character and creating attractive places to live ...................................... 3734 

Landscape Character........................................................................................................... 3734 

 Reinforcing Local Landscape Character ....................................................3835 

Local Wildlife ..................................................................................................................... 3936 

 Protecting Local Wildlife ....................................................................... 4037 

Local Green Spaces ............................................................................................................ 4138 

 Local Green Spaces ............................................................................... 4239 

Improving Recreation Opportunities, including Access to Nature ....................................... 4441 

Page 160



Milborne St Andrew Neighbourhood Plan SUBMISSION DRAFTFinal Version MayOctober 20198 

Contents 

 Improving Recreation Opportunities, and having regard to European and  
internationally protected sites ........................................................................................ 4845 

MSA Project 3. Identifying where and how the SANG will be delivered ......................... 4845 

Locally Distinctive Features and Designs ............................................................................ 4845 

MSA Project 4. Conservation Area Appraisal................................................................. 5047 

 Locally important character features ...................................................... 5551 

 Character and Design Guidance .............................................................. 5551 

7. Minimising flood risk .......................................................................................................5752 

 Minimising Flood Risk ........................................................................... 5853 

Appendix 1 – Supporting Documents ..................................................................................... 6054 

Appendix 2 – Traffic Management Concept ............................................................................ 6256 

 

Tables and Figures 

Figure 1. Neighbourhood Plan Area .......................................................................................... 2 

Table 1. Housing Need Figure Basis ....................................................................................... 12 

Figure 2. Site Assessment Criteria ........................................................................................... 13 

Figure 3. Graph showing resident’s support of local facilities ................................................... 16 

Figure 4. Sites assessed, including Camelco, and Reasonable Alternatives ........................... 2322 

Table 2. Camelco Site Assessment ..................................................................................... 2423 

Figure 5. The Revised Settlement Boundary ........................................................................ 2827 

Figure 6. Pedestrian crossing focus, The Square .................................................................. 3129 

Table 3. Traffic Management Measures .............................................................................. 3130 

Figure 7. Parking problems observed – on roads, junctions, pavements… ............................. 3332 

Table 4. Car ownership levels ............................................................................................. 3432 

Table 5. Car parking reality ................................................................................................. 3433 

Table 6. Important Treed and Woodland Areas ...................................................................3835 

Figure 8. Existing and potential ecological network areas .................................................... 4037 

Table 7. Local Green Spaces .............................................................................................. 4239 

Figure 9. Local Green Spaces and Important Treed and Woodland Areas ............................. 4340 

Table 8. Further Recreation Opportunities ......................................................................... 4441 

Table 9. Further Recreation Opportunities ......................................................................... 4643 

Figure 10. Map showing existing route network and potential improvement projects ............ 4744 

Table 10. Potential projects to improve access to the countryside ........................................ 4744 

Figure 11. Listed & Possible Locally Important Historic Buildings in the Conservation Area.... 4946 

Table 11. Local vernacular design guidance.......................................................................... 5248 

Figure 12. Illustrative photos – Brick and Flint samples .......................................................... 5349 

Figure 13. Illustrative photos – Cobb and Render samples ..................................................... 5450 

 

All maps produced in this document are subject to OS copyright © Crown copyright and database 
right.  All rights reserved (100051154) 2018/2019 

  

Page 161



Milborne St Andrew Neighbourhood Plan SUBMISSION DRAFTFinal Version MayOctober 20198 

Contents 

  

Page 162



Milborne St Andrew Neighbourhood Plan SUBMISSION DRAFTFinal Version MayOctober 20198 

Page 1 

What this Plan is all about … 

When the community first considered preparing a Neighbourhood Plan in 2014, no-one expected 
it to take over 4 years.  But working out what development is needed where, and what it is about 
an area that is cherished and which planning can help safeguard, is no easy task.  However, having 
gone through numerous consultations, talking with the Local Planning Authority, Service 
Providers, landowners, developers and the local community, and pulled together evidence on a 
range of topics, from housing, employment, transport, heritage, ecology and more, the findings 
and conclusions have been condensed into this Plan. 

This Plan will be a key document in determining future planning applications in Milborne St 
Andrew.  It sets out policies as to what sort of development will be supported and where.  
Proposals that are in line with the policies in this Plan should be approved, and those that don’t 
should be refused, unless there are compelling reasons that clearly justify a different approach.   

So what is different about this Plan that makes it worthwhile?  

This Plan identifies the locations where new 
development will be supported.  In particular, it 
allocates land opposite the Milborne Business 
Centre to be the main site where new homes, 
plus some small-scale workshops, a new Pre-
School and Branch Surgery, will be built.  As a 
previously developed ‘brownfield’ site on the 
edge of the village, it makes a lot of sense to 
prioritise building in this location over 
alternative greenfield sites.   

It sets out design standards, including more 
generous parking standards, for all new 
development to comply with.  This should 
mean that developers and their architects have 
a clear steer as to the type of development that 
will be supported, that will enhance the village 
and not cause problems for neighbouring 
properties 

It also sets outidentifies the priorities for 
improving local roads and footpaths, to make 
the village feel safer and easier to walk around.  
By having this in place, Developers will know 
what measures are expected and can factor the 
likely costs into their plans, and the Highways 
Authority will also know what measures the 
community wish to see put into place.   

It also highlights the flooding issues that have 
happened in the past, that justify a more 
rigorous approach to assessing flood risk and 
drainage solutions than would otherwise 
happen (particularly on smaller sites where 
flooding issues can sometimes be overlooked).  

Page 163



Milborne St Andrew Neighbourhood Plan SUBMISSION DRAFTFinal Version MayOctober 20198 

Page 2 

1. Introduction 

1.1. Milborne St Andrew is the name of a North Dorset village and its rural parish, located 
between the towns of Dorchester and Blandford Forum.  The parish covers just over 10 square 
kilometres (about 4 square miles) of chalk valley and downland, with the Bere Stream running 
north to south through the village.  The main road between Dorchester and Blandford Forum – 
the A354 – runs east to west through the village, with rural lanes connecting north to Milton 
Abbas, north-west to Dewlish, south to Affpuddle and south-east to Bere Regis. 

Figure 1. Neighbourhood Plan Area 

 

1.2. The Milborne St Andrew Neighbourhood Plan area was designated by North Dorset 
District Council in June 2014.  It follows the parish boundary.   

Page 164



Milborne St Andrew Neighbourhood Plan SUBMISSION DRAFTFinal Version MayOctober 20198 

Page 3 

The North Dorset Local Plan 

1.3. The statutory development plan 
includes the North Dorset Local Plan 
Part 1 (2016), together with a number of 
policies “saved” from the North Dorset 
District-Wide Local Plan (2003) and the 
relevant minerals and waste plans.  The 
Local Plan examines the need for 
development across the area and sets 
out the strategy of where development 
should happen.  The adopted strategy is 
to concentrate new homes at the four 
main towns, with additional 
development in rural villages such as 
Milborne St Andrew to meet local needs.  
This is because significant growth in 
rural area is considered unsustainable, 
as access to services is limited, and 
public transport simply not convenient or sufficient to easily access the nearby towns.  Planning 
policies generally seek to protect the intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside, the best 
and most versatile agricultural land, and the biodiversity benefits of less intensively farmed land. 

1.4. Neighbourhood planning has been promoted through the Local Plan as a way for local 
communities to develop their own vision and set out what development they need and where it 
should be built.  Neighbourhood Plans can, for example,  

 review settlement boundaries or allocate specific sites for development; 

 identify and protect local green spaces and other local features that contribute to the 
character and history of the area; 

 influence what new buildings should look like, and requirements for parking, landscaping 
etc, provided this does not make development too costly to build. 

1.5. The Local Plan does not specify the amount of 
new homes or business premises to be built in Milborne 
St Andrew.  It does set a housing need figure for rural 
areas of at least 825 dwellings to be built in Stalbridge 
and the eighteen larger and more sustainable villages, of 
which Milborne St Andrew is one.  This figure (and 
potentially figures for all designated Neighbourhood Plan 
areas) will be re-examined through the Local Plan 
Review, and early indication is that the overall rate of 
development may need to increase from 285 dwellings 
per annum to 366 dwellings per annum.  The latest 
employment evidence contained in the Bournemouth, 
Dorset and Poole Workspace Strategy 2016 suggests 
that there is no strategic need for more employment land 
– therefore the main consideration is whether there is a 
specific local need. 

  

Page 165



Milborne St Andrew Neighbourhood Plan SUBMISSION DRAFTFinal Version MayOctober 20198 

Page 4 

How this Neighbourhood Plan was prepared 

1.6. From February 2014, when the 
first vote at the Parish Council started 
this process, there has been various 
consultation sessions, a packed village 
hall on several occasions, stands at the 
school May fair and other drop-in 
events, website and magazine articles 
providing updates in the dozens, 
together with questionnaires and 
flyers to every household, to try to 
reach out and engage with as many 
local residents as possible.  The village 
has risen to the occasion to give their 
opinions and responses.   

1.7. At many points the 
Neighbourhood Plan Group - all local 
residents - have asked for help from 
the community.  We have had 
wonderful support, with no arm 
twisting, from volunteers to deliver 
flyers and questionnaires around the 
village.  The Milborne Reporter 
editorial team has been very 
supportive and even featured our 
articles on their front page at the site 
options stage.  We have had help from 
the Parish Council with funding and 
website support.  And the Facebook 
page has been shared by many, 
resulting in numerous comments that 
have been both positive and 
challenging. 

1.8. We’ve asked for people’s 
comments on issues and ideas, what is 
special about the village, what needs 
to change, and which sites should be 
developed.  We have asked 
landowners what they can offer the 
village.  We’ve asked service and 
infrastructure providers what they 
require to better serve the village, 
taking into account the likely level of 
growth.  We’ve had a good level of 
response at all stages – with over 50% 
of the household questionnaires 
returned in 2016, and the landowner 

Page 166



Milborne St Andrew Neighbourhood Plan SUBMISSION DRAFTFinal Version MayOctober 20198 

Page 5 

presentations in November 2017 had a packed hall (100 person capacity).  We put the consultation 
details and forms online to allow those unable to come to the events to respond as well.  The final 
consultation was on the pre-submission draft of the Plan.  This took place from July through to 
early September 2018.  It included consultation with statutory consultees including the local 
planning authority, adjoining parish councils, Natural England, Historic England and the 
Environment Agency.  This provided some useful feedback and further changes were made, as 
described in the consultation summary.  The latter stages of the process have also been run in 
tandem with the strategic environmental assessment checks, to help identify which choices are 
the most ‘sustainable’ and what additional measures could be put in place to avoid harm to the 
built and natural environment. 

1.9. It’s been good fun downloading or transcribing the numerous replies, helped by our 
experienced data analyst who informed and educated us on the intricacies and possible pitfalls in 
interpreting the results!  We all feel that we know the village much better - taking photos, and 
making notes, in the rain, in the wind, and even in the sun.   

1.10. The result of all this work is what you see in this Plan.   

Should and Will, and the weight to be given to this Plan 

1.11. It is worth pointing out in this introduction, that as the Neighbourhood Plan is part of the 
development plan, planning decisions should be made in accordance with the policies in this Plan 
and the adopted Local Plan, unless material considerations are so significant as to justify a 
departure.   

1.12. Just because a policy says ‘should’ does not mean that it can be treated as a suggestion 
that can be disregarded.  There are many types of development that will be considered against 
the policies in this plan, and because of this, some flexibility needs to be built into the policy tests 
on occasion.  Where the word “should” is used, this is because it was thought conceivable that a 
proposal may not be able to fully comply with that policy’s requirements, but that if it aligned 
with the policy intention as far as possible, it may still on balance be found to be acceptable 
(depending on the reasons why complying wholly was not possible, and the extent to which the 
proposal aligned with that policy and the development plan as a whole).  Therefore, where the 
word “should” is used, and an applicant considers that there are good reasons why their proposal 
cannot meet the policy requirements, they should explain this as part of their application, and 
show how they have aligned with that policy’s intention as far as possible.   

The Plan Period, Monitoring and Review  

1.13. The plan period (the period this Plan will be in effect) is from April 2018 to March 2033.  
This coincides with the proposed end-date suggested forof the revised North Dorset Local Plan.   

1.14. Although this Plan is intended to last to 2033, it will make sense to start a review before 
the end of the plan period.  Best practice suggests that Local Plans should be reviewed at least 
every 5 years, and the need to review this Plan should be considered by the Parish Council in 2023 
and annually thereafter.   

1.15. Whether a review is necessary will depend on the extent of any changes in national or local 
policy, the changing needs within the Parish, or whether the Plan is not delivering the intended 
outcomes (something that should be picked up through the Strategic Environmental Assessment 
monitoring requirements).  The decision to review this Plan will ultimately rest with the Parish 
Council, as the responsible body for Neighbourhood Planning.    

Page 167



Milborne St Andrew Neighbourhood Plan SUBMISSION DRAFTFinal Version MayOctober 20198 

Page 6 

2. Key facts about Milborne St Andrew parish 

 

  

Page 168



Milborne St Andrew Neighbourhood Plan SUBMISSION DRAFTFinal Version MayOctober 20198 

Page 7 

Social and economic statistics 

2.1. At the time of the 2011 Census 
there were 1,062 people living in Milborne 
St Andrew parish, forming 453 households 
in a parish of 472 dwellings.  The parish is 
in pre-2019 Abbey ward (in North Dorset 
008A LSOA) and iswhich was amongst the 
40% least deprived neighbourhoods in the 
country.  The median age (2011 Census) 
was 46 years old.  Compared to North 
Dorset, the age profile is skewed towards 
those in their late 40s to early 70s, with a 
notable lack in the early adult (15 - 29) age 
cohort. 

2.2. Most people (83%) were in good or 
very good health, with 1 in 5 people 
(18.5%) claiming that their day-to-day 
activities are limited by health conditions.  
About 1 in 8 people (11.7%) regularly 
provided some degree of unpaid care.  
These figures are fairly typical for North 
Dorset. 

2.3. Nearly half (44%) of all household were occupied by 2 persons.  About one in six 
households are lone pensioners (aged 65 or more).  About one in four households (24%) are 
families with dependent children living at home.  Most houses (87% of the housing stock in 2011) 
were detached or semi-detached houses or bungalows, typically with 3 or more bedrooms.  There 
are very few flats or apartments, and comparatively few terraced properties compared to the 
North Dorset average.  As such, most homes (82%) would be considered ‘under-occupied’, with 
very few cases of overcrowding.   

 

Page 169



Milborne St Andrew Neighbourhood Plan SUBMISSION DRAFTFinal Version MayOctober 20198 

Page 8 

2.4. House prices are much higher than average wage levels – which is true across Dorset.  The 
average house price (2015/6) is £250,000 - £300,000, whereas the typical North Dorset single-
income household can only afford a mortgage of just over £10oK.  Second and holiday home 
ownership levels are not so significant as to cause a problem. 

2.5. There are opportunities for work locally and in the nearby towns.  In 2011 very few people 
(4.7% or fewer than 1 in 20 working-age people) were unemployed– although this was slightly 
higher than North Dorset as a whole (which at that time had an unemployment rate of 3.7%). 

Transport and Infrastructure statistics 

2.6. The A354 bisects the village, connecting to the main towns of Blandford Forum and 
Dorchester.  The road carries approximately 6,600 vehicles / day (in the main 12 hour period). 

2.7. Public transport (bus) services in the village are too few and far between to be considered 
a reliable and easy means of transport to nearby towns, and with continuing funding cuts there is 
no certainty over future service provision.  In 2018 there has been a regular 2-hourly service to 
Blandford Forum (8.5 miles) the local market town, but starting too late for people travelling to 
get to work by 9am.  The 2-hourly service to the county town of Dorchester (9.0 miles) can 
potentially be used by workers, provided they can make the last bus (leaving 5:54pm) as the 
service does not extend later into the evenings.  There are no services on Sundays or Bank 
Holidays.  Getting into the Poole / Bournemouth conurbation is trickier, for example to get to a 
hospital appointment, as there is only a limited period where an appointment could fit in with the 
outward and return journeys and onward connections. 

 

2.8. It is hardly surprising then, that people are more reliant on cars than people living in the 
nearby towns.  According to the 2011 Census, almost every household (93%) had a car (this 
compares to 82% in Blandford Forum) and most households (56%) had at least 2 cars (compared 
to 38% in Blandford Forum).  Four out of every five journeys to work rely on the private car, and 
very few of these journeys (just 11%) are for distances of under 5km. 

2.9. Having said this, the village has a good range of facilities, including a post office and shop, 
first school and pre-school, pub, sports field and pavilion, village hall and playing fields.  So a lot of 
day to day needs are met locally. 

Page 170



Milborne St Andrew Neighbourhood Plan SUBMISSION DRAFTFinal Version MayOctober 20198 

Page 9 

Natural Environment 

2.10. The Dorset Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 
runs along the parish boundary with Dewlish (to the north-
west), and wraps around the northern part of the parish 
about 1km from the parish boundary.  The landscape 
within the parish is mainly chalk downland and valley, and 
although it may not be designated as part of the AONB, it 
includes many enjoyable views and vistas.  There is an 
extensive network of public rights of way criss-crossing the 
area, and the Jubilee Trail passes along the eastern side of 
the parish. 

2.11. The area enjoys dark skies and a general lack of 
light pollution, however the area around the Milborne 
Business Centre is notably brighter.   

2.12. Although there are no nationally important wildlife 
sites in the parish, there are sites of local nature 
conservation importance - including Longthorns Wood and 
Milborne Wood (both ancient woodland), Dewlish Lane 
Road (a conservation verge), Weatherby Castle and the 
Bere stream.  A section of the Bere Stream downstream of 
Milborne St Andrew is designated as a Site of Special 
Scientific Interest (Bere Stream SSSI) and the river 
discharges into Poole Harbour (a protected SSSI, SPA and 
Ramsar site) which is known to have issues with high 
nutrient levels, and therefore any development 
discharging into the Bere Stream needs to be considered.  
There are also internationally protected heathlands around 
Bere Regis, within 5km of the village. 

2.13. Since 2011 records of protected species within the 
parish include Adonis Blue butterfly, Brown Long-eared 
Bat, Cuckoo, Dingy Skipper butterfly, Eurasian Badger, 
European Water Vole, Soprano Pipistrelle and Wall 
butterfly, plant species including Bluebell, Divided Sedge, 
Field Scabious, Quaking-grass and Wild Strawberry. 

Historic Environment 

2.14. There are 12 scheduled monuments in the plan 
area, the most notable being Weatherby Castle, an Iron 
Age hillfort, to the south.  There is also an extensive range 
of barrows and earthworks and the remains of a Medieval 
settlement in the farmland surrounding the village. 

2.15. There are 40 Listed buildings or structures in the 
parish, most of which are Grade II with the exception of the 
Parish Church (Grade II*).  Many of these lie within the 
Conservation Area, which was designated in 1995.  There is 

Page 171



Milborne St Andrew Neighbourhood Plan SUBMISSION DRAFTFinal Version MayOctober 20198 

Page 10 

no current conservation area appraisal or management plan, however in assessing the impact of a 
major wind turbine scheme in March 2013 the following observations were made by the 
Conservation Officer: 

The Milborne St. Andrew Conservation Area 
was designated in 1995 and includes the 
historic core of the village together with its 
open parkland and former Milborne House 
to the south the latter of which not only 
reflects its former status but also its role in 
providing a setting for particular buildings 
and the village when viewed from the 
south, south east and south west 

 The history of the settlement is complex 
and to a degree obscure. The former St. Andrew’s parish comprised two distinct areas north and 
south of the Blandford to Dorchester Road and comprising Deverel and St. Andrew. The village as we 
know it now comprises a mix of buildings from at least the 17th century onwards and which comprise 
both buildings reflecting the vernacular traditions of the county as well as more polite, high status 
buildings, the latter including the parish church and remnants of Milborne House (now Manor Farm) 
to the south with their associated structures and settings 

…its character and appearance [are that of] a typical rural village with its range of vernacular, polite 
secular and ecclesiastical buildings. 

Flooding and other hazards 

2.16. Milborne St Andrew has always had a history of flooding with the winters of 2000/2001 
and latterly the winter of 2013/2014 being the worst in living memory.  The flooding was due to 
periods of heavy rainfall, causing high river and ground water levels (when the underlying chalk 
aquifer has filled up), and exacerbated by run off from surrounding land, including natural springs, 
local roads, hard-surfaced areas and agricultural land. 

2.17. The main flood risk relates to the Bere Stream that runs north to south through the centre 
of the village.  The main flooding experienced has been along Milton Road, and across the A354 
main road into The Causeway, with houses in Milton Road, the Square, the Causeway and Chapel 
Street flooded.  In 2000-2001, bungalows in the Bladen View area of Milborne were inundated 
with mud and debris flowing off the adjacent ploughed field.  In previous years flood alerts have 
also been issued in connection with run-off from the land above the school site, and along 
Dewlish Road and the A354 into the village.  When groundwater enters the drainage network, the 
flood waters can become contaminated by raw sewage.   

2.18. There is a sewage treatment works south of the village, for which an odour consultation 
zone has been designated by Wessex Water to avoid potential development being adversely 
impacted by odours.  Wessex Water have indicated that it is likely that further development 
within the village will exceed the current operating consents of the pumping station, and network 
capacity improvements will therefore be required.  Prioritising and programming these works will 
be necessary to ensure that capacity improvements can be delivered to match the rate of 
development. There is also a storage lagoon on land west of the village, south of the A354, used 
to store liquid fertiliser produced from the anaerobic waste facility in Piddlehinton. The digestate 
is a nutrient rich liquid used to fertilize agricultural land. 

Page 172



Milborne St Andrew Neighbourhood Plan SUBMISSION DRAFTFinal Version MayOctober 20198 

Page 11 

3. Vision and Objectives 

3.1. Milborne St Andrew is generally thought to be a friendly, safe and attractive place by its 
residents, whether young or old (or somewhere in between).   

3.2. It is remarkable for a number of reasons, including  

 its valley setting (with the winterbourne Bere stream running through its centre),  

 its farming links (surrounding fields with their cycle of changing crops and livestock, and 
tractors part of the village life),  

 its historic roots (with nearby Weatherby Castle, the barrows in the surrounding chalk 
downland and the many old and iconic buildings in the village), and  

 its strong community spirit (the school, post office, pub and village hall and recreation 
facilities as well as local job opportunities all making this possible).   

3.3. The main worries people have, include: the ability to afford to live here (exacerbated by 
the cost of housing and reliance on a car), the possible reduction in community facilities and 
services (as a result of public spending cuts and other pressures), and increasing traffic and road 
safety (especially on the A354). 

Vision 

The vision for Milborne St Andrew is – simply put – that local people continue to be able to afford 
to live here, to work and socialise in the village, and that it remains the safe and attractive rural 
village that it has always been. 

Objectives 

To support a working, active village – with affordable homes, local job opportunities and local 
services that meet people’s day-to-day needs as the village grows in the future 

To promote a walkable village whilst minimising potential traffic problems – ensuring people can 
walk around the village safely and easily now and in the future 

To reinforce local character whilst creating attractive places to live which maintain the village 
form, its character, local features and important green spaces, and the amenity of those who live 
and work here 

To minimise flood risk – making sure that the flooding problems experienced in the past are not 
experienced in the future 

 

  

Page 173



Milborne St Andrew Neighbourhood Plan SUBMISSION DRAFTFinal Version MayOctober 20198 

Page 12 

4. Supporting a working, active village 

Housing, employment and community needs 

4.1. There is no specific housing or employment land targets or major infrastructure proposals 
for Milborne St Andrew set through the Local Plan.  The Local Plan’s Core Spatial Strategy (Policy 
2) seeks to focus significant development in locations which are or can be made sustainable, as 
required by national policy.  It states that for villages such as Milborne St Andrew, “the focus will 
be on meeting local (rather than strategic) needs”.  The supporting text says that “In the recent 
past, housing development in the rural areas significantly exceeded planned rates, yet did not 
always enable rural facilities to be retained or enhanced” and asserts that this unsustainable 
pattern of development should not be repeated.  The early indication in the Local Plan Review is 
that the Local Planning Authority is not proposing to alter its spatial strategy in respect of this 
village.  We have therefore undertaken a lot of research to establish what level and type of 
development would be appropriate over the lifetime of the Plan, and the infrastructure 
requirements that should be provided in tandem, to meet local needs. 

Housing 

4.2. To decide how much and what type of 
housing could be needed, we have looked at a 
wide range of factors, including what could be 
considered the area’s ‘fair share’ of general 
housing growth (taking into account the Local 
Plan’s strategy to focus development in the main 
towns), past build rates, the current housing mix 
and levels of affordability.  The following table 
summarises the main findings as at April 2018, 
suggesting that new sitesland for at least 32 
dwellings should be allocated, with an emphasis on providing more affordable house types. 

Table 1. Housing Need Figure Basis 

Source  Notes Target 

2016 Local Plan 
and housing need 
projections  

Population-based pro-rata target for rural 
areas used, based on Milborne St Andrew’s 
status as one of 19 ‘more sustainable 
villages’ in North Dorset, taking into 
account latest projections 

2.5 - 2.8 dwellings a year 

Past build rates Average build rate has varied considerably 
since 2000, including the re-development 
of the old school site to enable the new 
first school to be built 

1.6 - 3.9 dwellings a year 

Population and 
housing mix data 
and housing 
affordability data 

Known need with a local connection (14) – 
based on 40% delivery rate on large sites 
Slight under-representation of smaller and 
more affordable home types i.e. terraced / 
apartment.  No obvious need for larger (4+ 
bedroom) homes. 

2.3 dwellings a year on large 
sites (11 or more dwellings) 

and seek higher % of smaller 
and more affordable home 

types i.e. terraced / apartment 

Page 174



Milborne St Andrew Neighbourhood Plan SUBMISSION DRAFTFinal Version MayOctober 20198 

Page 13 

Source  Notes Target 

Local opinions Broad spread of opinion – with the median 
response being between 2 – 3 dwellings a 
year 

2 – 3 dwellings a year 

Proposed target Within a range of 1.6 - 3.9 dwellings a year 
– target based on latest need projections 

2.8 dwellings a year 

  2018-2033 target 

Post-2018Housing 
target 

2013 – 2033 target 20-year target 
(within range of 1.6 - 3.9 dwellings a year) 

56 dwellings 
(within 32 – 78 range) 

Minus completions 11 dwellings up to April 2018 -11 dwellings 

Minus sites with 
extant consent at 
April 2018 

5 dwellings at Gould’s Farm (2009/0206) 
1 dwelling at Manor Farm Lane (2015/1073) 
7 dwellings at Fox View (2017/0277) 

-13 dwellings 

Site Additional housing land requirement 
Within a range of 1.8 - 3.9 dwellings a year – averaging 2.8 
dwellings a year 

32 dwellings 
(within 8 – 54 range) 

4.3. The following criteria (as shown in Figure 2) were devised to help assess new housing sites 
to ensure that were both sustainable and addressed the hopes and concerns of local people, and 
that their development would reflect the Neighbourhood Plan’s objectives.   

Figure 2. Site Assessment Criteria 

 Support a working, active village  - would the development of the site support 
the improvement or continued use of key community facilities or provide 
opportunities to work locally? 

 Promote a walkable village  - would most of the main facilities (shop, school, pub, 
village hall) be in safe and easy walking distance of the site? 

 Retain important green spaces  – priority should be given to previously developed 
land, and would the development avoid harm to important views and landscape 
features? 

 Strengthen the village form and character  - is the site well related to the built-
up area of the village and not notably prominent in the wider landscape? 

 Create attractive places to live  - could the site be developed to be in character 
with the village (taking into account nearby heritage assets), and avoid problems with 
overlooking adjoining properties? 

 Minimise flood risk  - is the site outside any known flood risk area and unlikely to 
cause problems from surface water run-off (and potential reduce this further)? 

 Minimise the risk of traffic problems  - would the site avoid adding to existing 
traffic-related problems, and potentially alleviate these problems further? 

4.4. The following two policies establish the general principles for how this Plan will meet the 
need for housing.  The first sets out the amount of development that is needed locally, and how 
this should be delivered in a manner that supports the known requirements for improved 
infrastructure, whilst maintaining the character and social cohesion of the village.  The 
development of greenfield sites outside of the settlement boundary is not expected to be needed 

Page 175



Milborne St Andrew Neighbourhood Plan SUBMISSION DRAFTFinal Version MayOctober 20198 

Page 14 

in the plan period (given the allocation of a large brownfield site), however if there were 
substantial benefits over and above the standard requirements for affordable housing, recreation 
and infrastructure contributions, further development could be favourably considered.  Reference 
is also made to Supplementary Planning Documents that deal with the impact of new housing on 
the European sites (see section 6.16 onwards for further information on this issue). 

4.5. The second policy specifies the dwelling types needed as part of any future provision, 
which seeks to address the under-representation of smaller and more affordable home types.  A 
Community Land Trust is proposed to manage the affordable homes (see MSA Project 1).  Given 
that the need is for smaller homes, it would be appropriate to place conditions limiting the future 
extension of such homes delivered through this policy, so that the impact of the future extension 
of these homes on the overall availability of smaller, more affordable homes (including those sold 
on the open market) can be taken into account.  There may well be circumstances (such as the 
need to make adaptations for long-term care requirements) that would clearly justify extension 
and alterations, and it is not expected that permission should be withheld in such circumstances.   

 Meeting Local Needs – Amount and Location of New Development 

Sufficient sites areland is allocated in the Neighbourhood Plan, which together with other limited 
infill and rural conversion, should more than meet the projected housing need of about 2.8 
dwellings per annum over the plan period (2018 – 2033).   

The release of unallocated greenfield sites outside the settlement boundary for open market 
housing should be resisted unless it can be demonstrated that there is a local need for additional 
housing that will not otherwise be met, or that sites’ development would deliver substantial 
community benefits to justify its release.  In either case, the site’s development should align with 
all of the following objectives (as detailed in Figure 2): 

 Support a working, active village; 

 Promote a walkable village; 

 Retain important green spaces; 

 Strengthen the village form and character;  

 Create attractive places to live;  

 Minimise flood risk;  

 Minimise the risk of traffic problems. 

Any net new residential development will need to avoid giving rise to any adverse impacts on the 
integrity of a European site.  This can be achieved by adhering to the Dorset Heathlands Planning 
Framework SPD and the Nitrogen Reduction in Poole Harbour SPD.  

 Meeting Housing Needs – Dwelling Types 

The type and size of housing permitted should primarily provide:  

 affordable homes for rent, based on the current local need identified in the affordable 
housing register; 

 starter and shared-ownership affordable homes suitable for single adults, couples and 
young families;  

 one, two and three-bedroom open market homes (including semi-detached and terraced 
properties);  

 homes specifically designed for residents with more limited mobility and requiring an 
element of care. 

Where appropriate, conditions will be attached to planning permissions for new dwellings in order 
to restrict their future extension, so that the adverse impacts of any reduction in the availability of 

Page 176



Milborne St Andrew Neighbourhood Plan SUBMISSION DRAFTFinal Version MayOctober 20198 

Page 15 

smaller, more affordable homes (including open market dwellings) can be considered. 

Larger open-market homes (with the equivalent space for four or more bedrooms) will require 
special justification and should be designed to allow for potential future subdivision (e.g. into flats 
/ annexed accommodation or workspace / studio).   

Employment 

4.6. The main employment sites in Milborne St Andrew are the Milborne Business Centre site 
on Blandford Road (a 1.9ha site) and Deverel Farm (of a similar size).  There are further small 
business units at Barnes Croft (Coles Lane), and the local garage / car sales centre on the main 
road.  There is also employment provided by, several B&B / self-catering establishments 
(although for the avoidance of doubt, it is not intended that holiday accommodation should be 
considered as an employment use under the following policy), as well as employment provided in 
the village by the community facilities – the pub, shop and post office, and the first school and 
pre-school.  There are also several working farms operating in the local area that also provide 
local employment (and about 3.5% of local people in employment work in agriculture).   

4.7. A survey of the main employment sites’ 
owners was carried out during the Plan’s 
preparation, which highlighted that these were well 
used and not able to meet the level of enquiries for 
small workshops and larger manufacturing and 
servicing businesses.  The household questionnaire 
in 2015 also showed that most local people would 
like to see more businesses in the area (particularly 
workshops for light industry e.g. artisan crafts, 
electronics), if suitable sites could be found.  There 
were two (2) responses to the household questionnaire in 2016 from local people whose current 
premises in the parish were unlikely to be suitable in the future and would like to relocate to 
alternative premises in or close to the village, and a further six (6) responses from people who ran 
a business outside of the area and would want to relocate closer to the parish if possible.   

4.8. The Local Plan allows for the small-scale expansion of existing employment sites.  The 
expansion of the Milborne Business Centre is constrained by its treed surrounds (which are 
subject to Tree Preservation Orders).  Although there may be opportunities to expand the Barnes 
Croft site, the topography and access via a residential road would not make any significant 
expansion easy.  There is potential for expansion at Deverel Farm, given that the site is well-
located in a slight dip in the landscape (and is therefore not visually prominent), away from any 
sites of known historic or ecological interest, and has good access to the A354.  Being further 
removed from the village, with no near neighbours other than those involved in the site’s 
operation, this site lends itself to catering for the needs of businesses requiring larger premises or 
less compatible with a residential area, with the added bonus that the storage requirements of 
the continued farming enterprise are often seasonal and therefore can be used flexibly.  The farm 
complex does lie within a Groundwater Source Protection Zone and therefore, depending on the 
nature of the businesses proposed, measures may need to be included to prevent possible 
spillages and contamination of this important resource.  Other opportunities for further small-
scale employment units (including A-class uses such as hairdressers or café), can be through 
allowing some employment as part of any site allocations or on other sites within or adjoining the 
settlement boundary.  In all cases, further detailed consideration of the impact of development on 

Page 177



Milborne St Andrew Neighbourhood Plan SUBMISSION DRAFTFinal Version MayOctober 20198 

Page 16 

the local area, such as biodiversity, flood risk, traffic, and any adverse impacts on heritage assets 
or landscape character, will be required in relation to the specific policies addressing those issues.   

 Meeting Employment Needs – Business Requirements 

The existing employment premises at Milborne Business Centre, Deverel Farm, Barnes Croft and 
the local garage / car sales centre on the main road should be retained in employment use, and 
allowed to reconfigure to accommodate changing business needs insofar as this is compatible 
with the local area (in terms of traffic movements, heritage and other environmental impacts 
including the living conditions of nearby residents). 

The provision of new employment sites for small-scale A-Class uses or small-scale B1-type 
workshop / studios within or adjoining the settlement boundary will be supported, provided that 
the development would not give rise to levels of noise and disturbance, including from traffic 
movements, that would cause unacceptable harm to the living conditions of residents, or cause 
harm to designated heritage or other environmental assets.  

The expansion of Deverel Farm complex to accommodate large-scale premises for B1, B2 and B8 
type uses and incidental parking and external storage areas, will be supported provided all of the 
following criteria are met: 

a) Any new or extended buildings or external storage areas would not be clearly visible from 
public rights of way to the detriment of the local landscape character; 

b) Any external lighting is controlled to avoid creating unacceptable levels of light pollution;  

c) Any necessary measures are included to avoid potential harm to the groundwater 
protection zone from potential pollution;  

d) Proposals for development that is are likely to generate a significant level of traffic are 
accompanied by a traffic assessment to establish any measures that would be reasonably 
required to address accessibility and safety issues, including improvements to pedestrian 
and cycle routes into the village.  

Community facilities 

Figure 3. Graph showing resident’s support of local facilities 

Page 178



Milborne St Andrew Neighbourhood Plan SUBMISSION DRAFTFinal Version MayOctober 20198 

Page 17 

 

4.9. There are 11 community facilities based in the parish that serve the village.  When asked, 
local people made clear that they valued all the facilities.  Even the allotments and sports 
clubfield, which are on the outskirts of the village and less used than many of the other facilities, 
were felt to be important by two-thirds of villagers. 

4.10. The service providers were contacted in 2016 as part of the research undertaken for the 
Neighbourhood Plan, to establish what their future requirements may be, taking into account the 
likely population growth.  Where improved social infrastructure is deemed to be reasonable and 
necessary for a development to go ahead, it is possible to secure developer contributions towards 
such improvements. 

→ Healthcare 

4.11. The main surgery for the 
area is in Milton Abbas with 
parishioners using neighbourhood 
car schemes to access this as 
needed.  There is a small (84m2) 
branch surgery in the village, 
currently based in Milton Road 
Close, with limited parking.  Clinics 
are run on set days of the week - 
usually Mon afternoons, and 
Wednesday – Friday mornings. 

4.12. Although the current branch surgery is relatively modern and centrally located, a slightly 
larger surgery would be welcomed to support the increasing population and local healthcare 
requirements.  Unfortunately there is no scope to expand the building given the current footprint 

Key specs for new branch surgery premises:  
150m2 with flexibility for expansion / contraction 
of services 
Modular / standard room sizes are preferred (8m2, 
12m2, 16m2, 32m2) 
2 parking spaces per consulting room plus 1 for 
every full-time staff - suggesting approximately 8 
spaces would be needed 

Page 179



Milborne St Andrew Neighbourhood Plan SUBMISSION DRAFTFinal Version MayOctober 20198 

Page 18 

and plot size.  Talks with the local GP practice suggest that premises extending to 150m2 (over 
one or 2 floors) with associated parking, would be ideal for the longer-term needs of the 
community.  However at the current time (2018) the practice is unable to commit to such an 
initiative, given the lease restrictions on NHS primary care contracts are restrictive, and as such 
they are focusing on internal improvements to the existing premises.   

→ Education. 

4.13. The Ladybirds Pre- School has 
successfully run from the village hall for over 
15 years, but if it is to extend its offer to 
morning and afternoons for up to 25 children 
for ages 2 to 4 years, it needs to find 
alternative premises.  The current providers 
would like to offer a ‘forest school’ 
environment, which would require an outside 
area for general play where children can 
build dens, grow plants, dig, explore etc in all weathers.   

  

Key specs for new pre-school premises:  
Estimated total floorspace requirement: 105m2 
(minimum) - 150m2 (ideal) plus outdoor area and 
parking / drop-off facilities 
Access to safe play areas 
1 space per 2 full-time staff + visitor + disabled 
provision - suggesting approximately 5 spaces 
plus overflow provision for drop off / collection 
times 

Page 180



Milborne St Andrew Neighbourhood Plan SUBMISSION DRAFTFinal Version MayOctober 20198 

Page 19 

4.14. Milborne St Andrew has a 
one-form entry first school (for 4 
– 9 years), built in 2001 on the 
edge of Hopsfield.  Most of its 
children are from within the 
parish (which broadly reflects its 
catchment area)but it also serves 
a wider area with intake from 
Tolpuddle to the south and 
Milton Abbas to the north.  The 
school’s Sports Hall is available in 
the evenings for use by 
community groups.  The school roll has generally been around 80 - 90 children.  Although it was 
designed to have sufficient capacity for up to 115 children, the school currently has to 
accommodate 5 different year groups (Reception to Year 4) within 4 classrooms.  On this basis, 
there is likely to be a need for some expansion to at least one of the school classroom to enable 
‘bulges’ in the intake to be sensibly catered for through the most appropriate combination of year 
groups into fewer classes.  

4.15. Older children are bused to the middle school at Puddletown and the upper school of 
Thomas Hardy in Dorchester (or The Studio School at Kingston Maurward College). 

→ Social and spiritual. 

4.16. The Village Hall provides 
a hub for many village activities, 
supplemented by the sports hall 
at the First School and the 
pavilion at the Sports & Social 
ClubField.  Regular weekly 
activities (2018) include: 

 Badminton (School Sports Hall) 

 Beavers, Cub Scouts, Scouts (Village Hall) 

 Circuit training (School Sports Hall) 

 Dog Training (Sports & Social Club) 

 Karate (Village Hall) 

 Line Dancing (Village Hall) 

 Milborne Players (amateur dramatics) (Village Hall) 

 Pilates (School Sports Hall) 

 Table Tennis (Sports & Social Club) 

 Under 5 Play Group (Sports & Social Club). 

 Yoga (Village Hall, School Sports Hall and Sports & Social Club options) 

 Youth Club (Village Hall) 

4.17. Monthly and less frequent events include: 

 Artsreach Events / Moviola (Village Hall) 

 Gardening Club (Village Hall) 

 Village Lunch (Village Hall) 

Page 181



Milborne St Andrew Neighbourhood Plan SUBMISSION DRAFTFinal Version MayOctober 20198 

Page 20 

 Wednesday Club (Village Hall) 

 Women’s Institute (Village Hall) 

4.18. The Village Hall includes a large hall with stage, sound and lighting equipment, with 
seating available for up to 100 persons for concerts etc and up to 50 for sit-down meals (which can 
be served from the fully equipped kitchen).  There is also a smaller Committee Room that can 
accommodate up to 25 people.  Outside there is parking for up to 20 cars.   

4.19. In order for the Village Hall to be accessible, safe and appropriate for the users and for 
neighbours, further investment is required for the refurbishment of the kitchen and utility areas, 
including improved appliances.   

4.20. The Royal Oak pub is popular, 
frequented by many villagers, and is the 
venue for themed evenings, skittles, 
quizzes etc. 

4.21. It is unlikely that the level of 
development envisaged would require 
further expansion of these facilities other 
than the Village Hall, although potential 
demand for indoor sports facilities should 
be kept under review.  All of these venues 
have dedicated car parks, and.  the village 

hall car park has been at capacity on a 
number of occasions, but this may be due 
to cars being parked at the hall by people 
not using the hall or facilities.  The 
committee have therefore decided to lock 
the car park when not the hall is not being 
hired, to see if this remedies the problems 
experienced. 

4.22. St Andrew’s Church is a Norman 
Church on the edge of the village, part of 
the Puddletown Benefice.  Car parking 
can be a problem here on occasion, but 
the Frampton family do make land 
available to provide free church parking in the Grove when required.  The cemetery may need 
extending in about 10-15 years when it is anticipated to be at capacity, and the need for this 
should be kept under review. 

→ Shops and Retail. 

4.23. Grays Stores is the local shop located in the centre of the village on Milton Road.  It is open 
7 days a week providing a much-needed facility for both general and top-up shopping.  The Post 
Office in the Square is another facility that is considered to be vital to the village.   

4.24. A number of local residents have suggested that a cafe would be a desirable addition to 
the village.  At the time of writing this plan, no potential commercial operators or community 
groups had been identified to set up and run such a facility. 

Page 182



Milborne St Andrew Neighbourhood Plan SUBMISSION DRAFTFinal Version MayOctober 20198 

Page 21 

→ Outdoor Sport and Recreation  

4.25. Within the grounds of the Village 
Hall is a children's playground with 
swings, a slide, zip wire, climbing frames 
and activity circuit.  There is a Multi-Use 
Games Area (MUGA) with markings and 
equipment for football, tennis and 
basketball.  A large grassed area provides 
space for football or fetes. 

4.26. To the east of the village, off Lane 
End, is the Sports Field and associated 
Pavilion.  The land was purchased by the 
Parish Council in the 1990’s to realize a vision for a local sports facility.  The Sports & Social Club 
was established in 2000, and the land is leased to the Club (on a secure tenure to 2059).  In 2001 
the main pitch was formed, and external funding for more than £250K was secured to build the 
Pavilion and changing rooms.  The original main pitch has since been extended to form a youth 
pitch, and also has an illuminated training area.   

4.27. Also to the west of the village, 
between the Sports Field and main road, 
are the village allotments.  These were 
established through volunteer effort in 
2012, and the area has capacity for some 
34 plots.  12 whole plots are being 
cultivated, and the number of plots can be 
increased by expanding into the adjoining 
area when the level of demand justifies 
the expense of further rabbit-proof 
fencing.  Recently other options (such as a 
skate park) have also been suggested for 
the unused area.   

4.28. The above recreation areas have been identified as Local Green Spaces, and protected 
under Policy MSA11.   

→  Overview 

4.29. The emphasis on community facilities in 
this Neighbourhood Plan has therefore focused on 
supporting and improving the existing facilities, 
which are very much valued by the local 
community.  Opportunities are also highlighted for 
new / replacement facilities on the main housing 
site allocation (Policy MSA5).   

4.30. With the amount of affordable housing 
likely to be built over the plan period, together with 
other community buildings (that could then be 
rented by the service providers), it would make sense to establish a Community Land Trust.  

What is a Community Land Trust (CLT)? 

A Community Land Trust is a not-for-profit 
community-based organisation run by 
volunteers for the benefit of the 
community.  It delivers housing and other 
community facilities at permanently 
affordable levels for local people  Its 
membership is open to local people living 
and working in the community to join, and 
is normally run by a board elected from the 
membership. 

Page 183



Milborne St Andrew Neighbourhood Plan SUBMISSION DRAFTFinal Version MayOctober 20198 

Page 22 

Community Land Trusts have already been established in villages such as Buckland Newton and 
Maiden Newton.  Any new community buildings could then be owned and managed by a 
Community Land Trust, in order to ensure that they continue to benefit the village in perpetuity.   

4.31. The potential for future expansion of recreation opportunities is considered in Policies 
MSA4 and MSA12.  The ongoing management arrangements proposed for any new open space 
provision (including future maintenance costs) should be made clear and subject to agreement 
with the Parish Council. 

 Supporting Community Facilities  

Development proposals to improve the provision of community facilities (including those listed 
below) in a manner in keeping with the character of the area will be supported.   

a) Village Shop  
b) Post Office 
c) First School and Pre-School 
d) Village Hall and Playing Fields 
e) Parish Church and Cemetery 
f) Public House 
g) Sports Pavilion and Sports FieldGrounds 
h) Allotments 

Every effort should be made to work with the local community and relevant authorities to 
investigate potential solutions to avoid any loss of these valued assets.  

The area adjoining the allotments (as shown on the Policies Map) is reserved for the future 
expansion of the allotments or alternative informal recreation use.  

Developer contributions may be sought where reasonable and necessary for improvements to the 
above social infrastructure.   

MSA Project 1 Community Land Trust 

The Parish Council will support local volunteers to set up and run a Community Land Trust for the 
benefit of the village. 

Development Site Selection 

4.32. Landowners were invited to 
put forward sites that they would like 
to be considered for development in a 
“call for sites” in 2017 to see if there 
were any sites that had not been 
identified through the Local Planning 
Authority’s Strategic Housing Land 
Availability Assessment.  We had a 
terrific response, with just over 42 
hectares of land submitted for 
consideration.  To put this in context, 
42 hectares is almost 1½ times the 
size of the village (as defined by the 
settlement boundary), and far in excess of the amount of land needed and including more sites 
than identified through the Local Planning Authority’s exercise.  It was therefore clear that the 

Page 184



Milborne St Andrew Neighbourhood Plan SUBMISSION DRAFTFinal Version MayOctober 20198 

Page 23 

choice of sites needed to be whittled down, to find the best available location/s for development 
that could then be allocated for development through the Neighbourhood Plan.   

4.33. As a first step, the sites were visited and assessed by the Neighbourhood Plan Group 
based on the following criteria (as shown in Figure 2).  Those sites that scored generally positively 
against these criteria were the focus of the options consultation in Summer 2017, and from this, 
the top contenders supported by local people (and performing well in terms of general 
sustainability criteria) were identified: 

→ Land Opposite Milborne Business Centre / Camelco 

→ Land immediately adjoining on either side of the A354 on Blandford Hill (just up from 
South View and the Old Bakery), comprising 

 Blandford Hill North (part of the field opposite the Old Bakery) 

 Blandford Hill North (part of Homefield) 

→ The field at the top of Huntley Down, off Milton Road. 

Figure 4. Sites assessed, including Camelco, and Reasonable Alternatives 
  

Page 185



Milborne St Andrew Neighbourhood Plan SUBMISSION DRAFTFinal Version MayOctober 20198 

Page 24 

4.34. Landowners of these top-scoring sites 
were invited to present their ideas at an open 
meeting in November 2017.  Following these 
presentations, the Camelco site continued to 
be ranked as the most preferred site, which 
could deliver a wide range of benefits to the 
village whilst re-using previously developed 
land.  It can accommodate the identified 
need for housing, employment and 
community facilities, and has been put 
forward as a site allocation in this Plan.   

4.35. There was no clear ‘second place’ in terms of local opinion or sustainability, and although 
consideration has been given as to whether a reserve site should be identified, this seems 
unnecessary given that the Camelco site will more than meet the identified local need for the plan 
period.  Therefore, instead of identifying a reserve site, the site assessment criteria are reflected 
in Policy MSA1, which seeks to ensure that the release of unallocated sites, if justified, aligns with 
the aims and objectives of this Plan.  

Camelco 

4.36. The following Table 2 reflects the detailed findings of the site assessment and desk-top 
checks relating to the Camelco Site.   

Table 2. Camelco Site Assessment 

Site description Relatively flat elevated site, comprising previously developed (brownfield) 
site on the eastern end of the village.  Total site size: 2.2ha 
Large area of tarmac hardstanding with floodlights and waste treatment / 
lagoon at eastern end, not in any active ongoing use for over 20 years 

     

Neighbouring uses Adjoins mix of uses (Sports Field and Pavilion Club to south and allotments 
to east, factory premises across A354, residential to west). 

Access points / and 
suitability 

Existing access from Lane End, pavements / footpath along Lane End 
(going north) and A354 (north side) into village centre 
Suitable visibility splays would be needed for any access onto A354 (at 
current speed limits this would equate to 2.4m by 79.0m) and a 2.0m wide 
footway would be required along the frontage of the site and a crossing on 
the A354 to facilitate safe pedestrian movement to the village centre 

Page 186



Milborne St Andrew Neighbourhood Plan SUBMISSION DRAFTFinal Version MayOctober 20198 

Page 25 

Visual impact and 
landscape interest 

Potentially prominent site, visible in long-distance views from the Bere 
Road / Weatherby Castle, although set against existing large buildings of 
business centre site.  Hedges and occasional trees along site boundaries 
worthy of retention 

Wildlife interest Around 20% of the site is tarmac and concrete with the remainder a 
mosaic of grassland and scrub, some of the latter has recently been cleared 
(early 2018).  There is a small lagoon which is fenced off in the southeast 
corner.  Along the northern boundary of the site is an overgrown hedgerow 
which may qualify as important under the Hedgerow Regulations (1997).  
Although no protected species were identified at the time of the site 
survey, the scrub and trees provide potentially suitable feeding habitats for 
hedgehogs, birds and bats, the small brick building may also support a bat 
roost, and suitable habitat for Common Lizard and Slow Worn is present.  
There are records of Badger from the surrounding area and several 
mammal trackways noted which could have been fox or badger 

Historic interest There are no statutory listed buildings likely to be affected, the nearest 
comprising the Milestone (to the east) and 36 and 37 Blandford Hill (to the 
west).  The conservation area (also to the west) is largely invisible from the 
site.  There is some intervisibility between the scheduled monument of 
Weatherby Castle (to the south) and the site, but given the distance and 
surrounding development, any visual impact can be mitigated by 
strengthening planting along the southern edge of the site, to the north of 
the Sports Field and Pavilion, to avoid any harm to the setting of 
Weatherby Castle.  The Dorset Historic Environment Record identifies a 
locatioand north of the site within the Milborne Business Centre of as an 
early Iron Age/Romano British settlement dating from around 800 BC to 
409 AD, and given the topographical nature of the area that this may have 
extended southwards.  It is recommended that further site investigation of 
the archaeological potential of the site is undertaken with regard to its 
development. 

Flood risk / ground 
conditions  

No known flood risk, outside all mapped flood risk areas. 
Existing lagoon understood to have been used for processing waste water 
related to the factory’s food production (1990s) and more recently to 
discharge surface water from the business centre  

Summary – main 
benefits and issues 
to mitigate 

− Brownfield site 

− Potential for mixed use 

− Unlikely to contribute to 
flooding 

− Potential to soften visual 
impact of business centre  

− Good access to sports facilities / 
employment 

− Potential public access to 
woodland area adjoining 
Milborne Business Centre 

− Distance / uphill from village 
centre for pedestrians 

− Visibility due to elevated nature 
of site and potentially hard 
edge to the settlement unless 
properly landscaped 

− Possible noise / disturbance 
from business centre uses 

− Possible contamination from 
previous use to be mitigated 

− Busy nature of the A354 – 
difficulties crossing safely 

Page 187



Milborne St Andrew Neighbourhood Plan SUBMISSION DRAFTFinal Version MayOctober 20198 

Page 26 

4.37. Based on this assessment, discussions with the landowner (to ensure the proposals could 
be delivered) and the research underpinning this and other policies in this plan, the following 
policy will be considered in the event of a planning application being submitted for this site is 
allocated for a mixed-use development including housing, employment and community facilities, 
subject to a list of 15 detailed requirements. 

4.38. As well as housing and some employment workspace, the development of the site will 
deliver a number of community benefits, including improvements to the highways which should 
make it safer for pedestrians crossing the A354, the provision of community buildings that should 
be able to accommodate the future needs of the pre-school and surgery, and accessible green 
spaces for use by local residents.  A potential option for a community woodland is identified in 
Table 9 (REC 3), subject to providing for the on-going management of the woodland in a way 
which respects the privacy and security of neighbouring properties, but other options may be 
considered.  These community buildings and associated land should be secured for community 
use in perpetuity (potentially via a Community Land Trust as outlined in MSA Project 1).  If not 
required in the short-term, they can be leased to other users to enable an income stream for re-
investing in community facilities.   

4.39. Based on the site size and providing sufficient room for the employment uses and 
community buildings, there is sufficient room to deliver at least 32 houses within the site, but 
potentially a higher number given the need for smaller dwelling types which would have smaller 
than average plot sizes, and therefore the number of homes may be in excess of this minimum 
figure.   

 Development of the Camelco Site 

The Camelco site, as shown on the Policies Map, is allocated for mixed use of housing, 
employment and community facilities, and subject to all of the following requirements: 

a) The site is made good through the removal of redundant structures (unless their retention 
would be of demonstrable benefit), and measures are taken to ensure that any evidence of 
potential contamination before or during construction are investigated and remediation 
agreed by the Local Planning Authority 

b) A new vehicular access is provided onto the A354, designed to create adequate visibility to 
allow safe access / egress and to help slow traffic entering the village.  The existing vehicular 
entrance onto Lane End should be retained, to provide an alternative route and the 
potential to connect the two access points to create a permeable layout 

c) Pedestrian access from the village centre to the site should be improved, including the 
provision of a safe pedestrian crossing point of the A354 adjoining the site, a 2m footway 
along the frontage of the site and a safe and attractive link through the site to the Sports 
Field and allotments.  Developer contributions will also be sought towards pedestrian 
improvements to the A354 in the village centre, as identified in Table 3 

d) Sufficient space should be provided to allow the west-bound buses to pick up and set down 
without interrupting the movement of traffic along the A354, along with a new bus shelter 

e) The design of the development fronting onto the A354 is of high quality to create a 
welcoming entrance point into the village from the east, including suitable planting and 
design.  The location and design of any housing and garden areas along this frontage will 
need to take into account possible disturbance from the main road and existing business 
centre 

f) At least 32 dwellings are provided, and the dwellings provided are of a type and size that 

Page 188



Milborne St Andrew Neighbourhood Plan SUBMISSION DRAFTFinal Version MayOctober 20198 

Page 27 

accords with Policy MSA2, and their detailed design accords with Policy MSA14   

g) Community building/s and associated land and parking of suitable size and specification to 
accommodate a branch surgery and pre-school, are provided within the site in line with the 
requirements identified in section 4.10 to 4.13 (or to an alternative specification of equal 
community benefit, in agreement with the relevant service providers and Parish Council).  
These should be designed flexibly to allow B1 employment use should the need for the 
surgery or pre-school be delayed or delivered elsewhere 

h) In addition to the community buildings, at least 5% of the site area should comprise 
buildings and associated parking for small-scale A-Class or B1-type workshop / studios 
appropriate to a rural area (these may have residential uses above) 

i) The employment and community buildings should be co-located and their parking provision 
designed to allow shared / flexible use and minimise disruption to nearby residential 
occupants 

j) At least 180m² of equipped play space plus at least 430m² of informal amenity green space 
should be provided within or very close to the site, with the total provision of public open 
space delivered being in line with Policy MSA12 (a) 

k) A landscape scheme is secured that provides substantial landscape planting using native 
species along the southern and south-eastern site boundaries, and pockets of amenity 
space within the development of sufficient in size to support mature trees, to visually 
integrate the site in this edge-of-village location and soften the visual impact of the 
development in long-distance views from Weatherby Castle.  The management of these 
spaces should be secured so that they provide an on-going benefit 

l) A certified biodiversity mitigation and enhancement plan is secured so that the loss of 
hedgerow and wildlife habitats likely to support protected species is avoided as far as 
possible, and that mitigation and, if necessary, compensatory measures are agreed, to 
provide an overall biodiversity gain 

m) A Suitable Accessible Natural Greenspace (SANG) will be required to be provided within a 
safe and reasonable walking distance of the site, and its future management secured (which 
will include additional measures as necessary to provide appropriate mitigation in line with 
the requirements set out in Policy MSA12 (b)). The SANG may include a variety of features 
such as grassland, community woodland and ponds. In any event, any net new residential 
development will need to avoid giving rise to any adverse impacts on the integrity of a 
European site, which can be achieved by adhering to the Dorset Heathlands Planning 
Framework SPD and the Nitrogen Reduction in Poole Harbour SPD.  Improved access to the 
countryside via the provision of Link 1 (see Table 10 and Figure 10) should also be delivered 
if feasible 

n) Archaeological investigation is undertaken prior to the site’s development, and recording 
undertaken, to a level agreed as necessary by the County Archaeologist 

o) A surface water and drainage plan is secured to manage surface water run-off and foul 
water disposal from the site, including the consideration of any necessary off-site network 
capacity improvements that may be required to accommodate this development. 

Settlement Boundary 

4.40. A settlement boundary is an established planning tool that basically defines those built-up 
areas where further infill development can in principle happen, subject to site specific 

Page 189



Milborne St Andrew Neighbourhood Plan SUBMISSION DRAFTFinal Version MayOctober 20198 

Page 28 

considerations such as safe access, overlooking, local character, wildlife interest and avoiding risk 
from flooding, contamination etc  

Figure 5. The Revised Settlement Boundary 

Page 190



Milborne St Andrew Neighbourhood Plan SUBMISSION DRAFTFinal Version MayOctober 20198 

Page 29 

4.41. Figure 5 shows the settlement boundary as revised from the previous version (last 
examined in the 2003 Local Plan).  In addition to minor changes to better align the settlement 
boundary with features on the ground, the key changes have been to: 

 Include areas where housing development has been built or gained planning consent 
adjoining or otherwise well-related to the village core, and no specific exclusions to the 
principle of development in this location would apply in future.  This applied to 

− Planning consent granted adjoining Fox View 

− The cluster of development at Lynch Close 

− The Rings and the houses on the A354 / Lane End junction 

 Exclude undeveloped areas on the edge of the settlement where development would not 
be considered acceptable in principle.  This applied to 

− The area around the Church – including adjoining areas where development would 
be likely to impact on the setting of this key historic landmark 

− The area adjoining Gould’s Farm off the Causeway (part of which is in the flood risk 
zone and was not supported as a potential development site) 

− The area around the Dairy House (which was not supported as a potential 
development site) 

− Areas of undeveloped land adjoining the Bere Stream in the flood risk zone (mainly 
off Milton Road) 

 Exclude community buildings and their grounds where these are on the edge of the 
settlement, as in principle these should not be developed for open market housing (and 
their continued use and expansion is allowed for under this Neighbourhood Plan and 
existing Local Plan policies).  This applied to 

− The First School site 

− The Pumping Station on Milton Road 

− The Village Hall and playing fields 

4.42. The settlement boundaryies hasve not also been amended to accommodate the Camelco 
site-specific allocation, as although it may be revised in a future review to exclude any peripheral 
the exact settlement boundary is better established once this development is built-out, when 
areas of green space secured as part of the allocation which may be better retained within the 
countryside.  The boundary can be re-considered at the next available opportunity either at the 
next review of this Plan or through the Local Plan Review. 

 Settlement Boundary 

The settlement boundary for the village of Milborne St Andrew is amended as shown on the 
Policies Map.   

5. Promoting a walkable village and minimising potential traffic problems 

5.1. Planning decisions have to consider whether safe and suitable access to a site can be 
achieved.  Developments that generate significant levels of traffic should be located where the 
need to travel will be minimised and the use of sustainable transport modes can be maximised 
(though national policies recognises that public transport options may be limited or not available 
in rural areas). 

5.2. Most residents will walk to local facilities, rather than go by car, as most journeys are 
within easy walking distance.  The safety, attractiveness and connectivity of the various walkways 
is therefore critical.  However Milborne St Andrew is a rural village divided by the A354.  This main 

Page 191



Milborne St Andrew Neighbourhood Plan SUBMISSION DRAFTFinal Version MayOctober 20198 

Page 30 

road is part of the primary route network, providing an alternative and comparably less-used 
route connecting London to the South West (the alternatives being via Southampton or Bristol).  
A 12-hour vehicle count in 2016 showed: 

 the main road carries some 7,000 vehicles a day with 
about 760 vehicles / hour at peak times;  

 about 4% of the traffic is HGVs and buses / coaches; 

 more than 15% of vehicles exceed the 30mph 
restriction within the village, slightly more so for 
those travelling past the Royal Oak Public House 
toward The Square (where an 85 percentile speed of 
34.2 mph was recorded).   

5.3. Although there have not been any recorded fatalities 
from road traffic accidents, local residents are concerned 
about the safety for vehicles and pedestrians trying to cross 
the main road (the main ‘desire line’ being trips between 
Milton Road and The Causeway).  In particular: 

 the speed of vehicles, both within the village centre and on the approach to the village 
from the east on Blandford Hill and west on Dorchester Hill; 

 the restricted forward visibility, particularly into and through the Square, for drivers of 
vehicles exiting from Chapel Street on to the A354, and created by the location of the 
westbound bus stop in The Square 

 the narrowness of the carriageway and footways, particularly outside the Royal Oak Public 
House and in the vicinity of The Square; 

Where accidents have happened, measures have been introduced (such as on the Dorchester Hill 
approach to the village with the Armco barrier) which are not in keeping with the character of a 
village environment, reinforcing the perception that pedestrians are not safe.   

5.4. A survey of local residents (2018) indicated that a significant proportion of people tend to 
cross within The Square, instead of using the designated crossing point not far to the west, as 
shown in Figure 6.  This highlights the importance of understanding human behaviour, where the 
most direct route may still beis used in preference to the safest ‘designated’ one. 

Page 192



Milborne St Andrew Neighbourhood Plan SUBMISSION DRAFTFinal Version MayOctober 20198 

Page 31 

Figure 6. Pedestrian crossing focus, The Square 

 

Traffic Management 

5.5. As part of the preparation of the Neighbourhood Plan, a traffic consultant was engaged to 
identify practical solutions to address the specific problems of crossing and walking alongside the 
busy A354 main road, in consultation with local residents, the Highways Authority and the Police.  
The potential locations for future development were taken into account in identifying the best 
solutions.  Table 3 outlines the measures (west to east) that are proposed.  The concept for this 
scheme is shown diagrammatically in Appendix 2.   [NB minor updates may be made to this in the 
final draft to reflect the latest feedback from the Highways Authority] 

5.6. The traffic management measures are designed to raise driver awareness of the village 
environment and likelihood of pedestrian activity (and therefore decrease speeds), in a manner 
that is in keeping with a rural village setting.  Any highway schemes should adhere to the Rural 
Roads Protocol as adopted by the Highway Authority, particularly to preserve and enhance the 
historic character of the village, through: 

 Balancing the safety and access needs of users with care for the historic environment and 
landscape setting; 

 Using local materials with designs sympathetic to the character of the village; 

 Considering sustainability and climate change impacts, in particular local propensity of 
flood risk and problems associated with loose surface materials; 

 Keeping signs, lines and street furniture to the minimum and remove intrusive roadside 
clutter.  Where signs and markings are needed, adapting standard designs wherever 
possible to make them the best possible fit with local surroundings; 

 Encouraging and testing innovative approaches and making full use of the flexibility in 
national regulations, standards and codes of practice. 

Table 3. Traffic Management Measures 
West entrance / 
Dewlish junction 

→ Enhanced 30mph Gateway comprising distinct surfacing and additional 
gateway furniture 

Page 193



Milborne St Andrew Neighbourhood Plan SUBMISSION DRAFTFinal Version MayOctober 20198 

Page 32 

→ Upgrade junction warning sign to yellow-backed sign to increase visibility 

→ Provision of a carriageway ‘SLOW’ marking adjacent to existing 30mph 
repeater and Vehicle Activated Sign just before Dewlish turning 

Royal Oak Pub → Provision of distinct surfacing, tapered edge lines and removal of 
carriageway centre line to front of Royal Oak, with a 

→ Appropriate warning signs e.g. ‘road narrows’ and ‘oncoming vehicles in 
middle of road’ on approaches 

The Square → Provision of distinct surfacing within / approaching The Square to 
highlight this as a ‘place’ where pedestrian activity should be expected 

→ Relocation of westbound bus stop from The Square (to layby opposite 
Crown Court) 

Blandford Hill → Provision of a new uncontrolled crossing (dropped kerbs / tactile paving) 
and distinct surfacing or zebra crossing across from Crown House  

→ Provision of a carriageway ‘SLOW’ marking adjacent to existing 
westbound Vehicle Activated Sign  

→ Provision of repeater roundels up the hill, with distinct surfacing and 
tapered edge lines 

In conjunction with development on or east of Blandford Hill: 

→ Extend 30mph zone along Blandford Hill 

→ Future opportunity noted to provide new footway on south side (in 
conjunction with potential future development of Homefield) 

Camelco /  
The Rings /  
East entrance 

→ Enhanced 40mph Gateway comprising distinct surfacing and additional 
gateway furniture 

→ Provision of repeater roundels, with distinct surfacing and tapered edge 
lines 

In conjunction with development in this area: 

→ Extend 30mph zone to cover existing 40mph area 

→ Provision of uncontrolled crossing (dropped kerbs / tactile paving) 

→ Provision of new footway on south side, from Lanes End eastwards 

5.7. Housing growth will give rise to additional pedestrian movements, as future occupants 
access the local facilities that are dispersed around the village.  As such, until such time that the 
Community Infrastructure Levy is implemented, developer contributions will be sought from all 
proposals resulting in net increase in housing, towards the general proposals outlined in Table 3.  
Additional contributions will be sought from new housing development on or east of Blandford 
Hill, to implement those measures that relate specifically to development in that location.  The 
level of contributions sought should be proportionate to the development and not be to such an 
extent that the site’s development becomes unviable. 

 Creating safer roads and pedestrian routes 

Where development has the potential to connect via new or existing public rights of way to more 
than one road, pedestrian routes should be provided through the development, so that more 
people are likely to walk rather than drive around the village.  The design of any such paths 
should: 

a) be suitable for use of people with mobility difficulties, wheelchairs or buggies; 

b) be suitably overlooked and landscaped so as to be safe and attractive and be designed in a 
manner in keeping with the rural character of the area, taking into account the potential to 

Page 194



Milborne St Andrew Neighbourhood Plan SUBMISSION DRAFTFinal Version MayOctober 20198 

Page 33 

enhance biodiversity through the provision of wildlife corridors; 

c) enable reasonable direct links to nearby community facilities; and 

d) allow for future onwards connections where there is reasonable prospect that an adjoining 
site may be developed. 

Where development would give rise to increased pedestrian movements within and around the 
village, proportionate developer contributions should be sought for improvements to the 
highway infrastructure as identified in Table 3 and to be implemented through MSA Project 2. 

MSA Project 2. Traffic Management in Milborne St Andrew 

The traffic management measures outlined in Table 3 will be pursued by the Parish Council in 
conjunction with the Highways Authority, and be designed in accordance with the Rural Roads 
Protocol.   

5.8. In 2018 a Community Speedwatch Group was established to monitor and hopefully add a 
further deterrent to speeding within the village, both along the A354 and Milton Road.  The use of 
a speed indication device to help remind drivers to watch their speed is also being considered.  
The possible inclusion of additional measures to slow speeds along Milton Road may be 
considered in the future, once the success of the A354 traffic management measures has been 
established. 

Parking 

5.9. On street parking in the village is a notable problem in both older and more recent 
developments.  Although on-street parking can sometimes slow traffic down, parked cars too 
close to junctions can create more safety issues, reduced road widths can block access for 
emergency vehicles and deliveries / collections, cars parked on pavements can force pedestrians 
into the road, and front gardens can be turned into car parking areas can be to the detriment of 
the character of the local area. 

Figure 7. Parking problems observed – on roads, junctions, pavements… 

 

Page 195



Milborne St Andrew Neighbourhood Plan SUBMISSION DRAFTFinal Version MayOctober 20198 

Page 34 

5.10. A reality check was carried out based on a site in the village which was used in “The 
Bournemouth, Poole and Dorset Residential Parking Study May 2011”.  Described in the guidance 
as “characterised by its well-designed highway layout and thoughtful provision of on and off-road 
parking facilities”, the reality today is that the parking provision is inadequate and cars are 
frequently parked straddling the pavement.  In other parts of the village, problems have also 
arisen when garage blocks intended to serve the houses haves remained in separate ownership 
and not been made readily available, and where dwellings have been extended onto what was the 
off-road parking area.  

5.11. The county car parking guidelines are based on the projection that, in locations like 
Milborne St Andrew, car ownership levels are likely to be about 1.3 to 2.1 cars / household come 
2026, depending on house size.  Our household questionnaire, with a sample of over 200 
households, shows these levels have already been exceeded for 2 and 3-bedroom dwellings. 

Table 4.  Car ownership levels 
No. bedrooms ND Village 2026 car ownership projections Milborne St Andrew ‘reality’ 2016 

2 1.23 - 1.31 1.62 

3 1.50 - 1.78 1.99 

4 1.91 - 2.25 2.02 

5.12. Based on the data obtained from the household questionnaire, and accepting thate car 
ownership levels are unlikely to fall, the following optimum parking requirements provision would 
betterare proposed, to match the typical car ownership levels found.: 

Table 5. Car parking realityquirements  
Data Sample: Typical No. of Vehicles County 

Standard* 
Optimum car parking spaces 

requirements 

Bedrooms 0 1 2 3 4 5 6 Allocated
* 

Visitor 
allowanc

e** 

Total*** 

1 
 

4 
  

1 
  

1 + V 1 + 0.5 1.5 

2 
 

17 14 2 1 
  

1 to 2 + V 2 + 0.5 2.5 

3 2 32 46 19 3 2 1 2 + V 3 + 0.5 3.5 

4+ 2 13 29 14 2   2 to 3 + V 3 + 1 4.0 

V =   visitor spaces 
* Garages that may be used for storage will only count as 0.5 spaces.  open car ports / car barns will 

count as 1 space.  In-line provision of more than 2 spaces (i.e. three spaces end to end in a line or two 
spaces in front of a garage) will only count as a maximum of 2 spaces (due to the blocking effect 
created that renders this layout less flexible).Extra unallocated parking is needed for each garage at a 
rate of 0.5 spaces per garage.  1 visitor space will be required for sites of up to 5 dwellings.  For sites of 
more than 5 dwellings a more complex formula is used to calculate parking space requirements. 

**  Visitor allowance can be on plot, in a nearby dedicated parking area, or on spaces on the road side 
related to that dwelling (assuming these conform to the Highway Code and there would be adequate 
width left for emergency vehicles etc and sufficient passing spaces / forward visibility)  

*** Rounded up to nearest whole number 

5.13. The design and layout of the parking spaces also has a bearing on their effectiveness.  For 
example, garages are frequently used for storage, whereas open car ports / car barns tend to be 
better utilised.  In-line provision, particularly when this exceeds 2 spaces (i.e. three spaces end to 
end in a line or two spaces in front of a garage) creates a blocking effect that renders this layout 
less flexible and the parking spaces less effective. 

Page 196



Milborne St Andrew Neighbourhood Plan SUBMISSION DRAFTFinal Version MayOctober 20198 

Page 35 

5.13.5.14. The proposed parking requirements shouldDevelopers are therefore encouraged 
to provide more parking spaces than the county standard, to better reflect the real-life situation 
of the village where car ownership levels are high, and public transport simply not flexible enough 
to forego the need for a car.  They should also be applied to prevent the loss of areas provided for 
parking to alternative uses (even, for example, if the parking area is sold into different ownership 
or has been deliberately altered so as to no longer function as a parking area) can have a similar 
impact and should equally be taken into account in planning decisions. 

5.14.5.15. Care will need to be taken in designing parking into scheme to avoid large, 
unbroken expanses of tarmac.  Grassed verges, garages set slightly back from the building line, 
the use of street trees and hedgerow boundaries, and overflow parking areas using modular 
systems such as grasscrete that allow grass to grow within the parking area, can soften the 
impact of parked cars in the street scene and allow for sustainable drainage.  The use of loose 
gravel and other materials that can get washed into the drains in periods of high rainfall should 
not be used, given the flooding problems experienced in the village.   

 Parking Provision 

Parking provision for new or extended dwellings (including conversions) should meet or exceed 
the county car parking guidelinesspaces requirements set out in Table 5.  Development, including 
plot sub-division, that would result in the loss of parking will be resisted if this will result in a level 
of provision below the expected standards. 

The design of parking provision will need to respect the character of the area, use permeable, 
non-migrating surfacing materials, and avoid large areas of hard-standing that would be visible 
from the street or other public areas.    

Page 197



Milborne St Andrew Neighbourhood Plan SUBMISSION DRAFTFinal Version MayOctober 20198 

Page 36 

  

Page 198



Milborne St Andrew Neighbourhood Plan SUBMISSION DRAFTFinal Version MayOctober 20198 

Page 37 

6. Reinforcing local character and creating attractive places to live 

Landscape Character 

6.1. The plan area sits within the open chalk downland associated with the South Blandford 
Downs Landscape Character Area, with the Lower Milborne chalk valley cutting through the area 
from north to south.  Key characteristics noted in the North Dorset landscape character appraisal 
include: 

 An undulating open chalk downland 
landscape with medium to large 
scale fields bounded by low, 
straight and clipped hedgerows 

 Narrow, widely spaced out straight 
lanes are bounded by continuous 
clipped hedgerows with the 
occasional hedgerow trees. 

 A distinctive network of straight 
bridleways and paths, some of 
historic importance. 

 Flat valley floor with a narrow stream corridor often 
lined with willows and alders and farmed up to its 
edges. 

 Some important groups of trees on the side valley 
slopes and important woodland copses and regular-
shaped small plantation woodlands dotting the 
landscape.   

 Weatherby Castle is a key feature, surrounded by a 
more intimate valley landscape as it becomes tighter 
and constricted by topography and corresponding 
reduction in field size.  There are several tumuli and 
barrows across the area. 

6.2. The character assessment also notes that the road 
network and settlement pattern follow the valley floor, and 
where the urban settlement edges have 
developed up the side slopes of the downland, 
in places this has detracted from the 
landscape’s quality.  

6.3. About three-quarters of respondents 
agreed that the lack of street lights, and 
resulting dark skies that allow people to more 
clearly  see the stars, was a bonus – although 
this should not override safety and security 
issues.  This would suggest that street lighting 
and high level security / flood lighting should 
be avoided.  Where necessary, lighting should 
be low-level and focused downwards, to minimise unnecessary glare and light spillage. 

Page 199



Milborne St Andrew Neighbourhood Plan SUBMISSION DRAFTFinal Version MayOctober 20198 

Page 38 

6.4. Nearly all residents (95%) agreed on the importance of the 
stream corridor in defining the character of the area.  Over 90% of 
respondents to the village survey agreed that the hedgerows and 
trees in gardens and on the edge of the village, that generally 'green' 
the village, were important, together with the wooded areas in the 
wider landscape.  These include (but are not limited to) the wooded 
areas noted in Table 6 below (and are shown in Figure 9 and on the 
Policies Map).  Some of these can be enjoyed from public rights of 
way, but all are in private ownership. 

Table 6. Important Treed and Woodland Areas 

W1 Milborne Wood Ancient broadleaved woodland locally known for its bluebells, 
with limited public access via rights of way 

W2 Longthorns Wood Broadleaved woodland, a significant part of which is also ancient 
woodland.  No public rights of way (other than around 
perimeter). 

W3 Stileham Bank treed 
upper edge 

Important treed backdrop to village on higher ground.  No public 
rights of way. 

W4 Wooded hilltop of 
Weatherby Castle 

Ancient hillfort with mature trees providing locally significant 
landmark, with limited access via public rights of way 

W5 Milborne Business 
Centre woodland 

Important wooded backdrop to village on higher ground.  Site of 
an historic Iron Age / Romano-British settlement.  No public 
rights of way. 

W6 Woodland adjoining 
the Coffin Path 

Forms the setting of a historical path connecting to the church as 
well as an important landscape feature – with the woodland 
providing a backdrop to the village.  No public rights of way 
(other than around perimeter). 

6.5. The plan area is comparatively rich in archaeological features within the countryside, 
including many barrows as well as remains of former settlements abandoned in the Medieval 
period.  Some of these sites are under cultivation and not readily discernible, others such as 
Weatherby Castle (an Iron Age Hill Fort) are clearly seen in the landscape.  Most are on rural 
farmland and unlikely to be affected by development proposals, but there may be opportunities 
for better management through schemes such as countryside stewardship.  Historic England have 
indicated that they would be keen to talk to the landowners who own sites and look into any 
options there might be for helping improve the conservation of these monuments. 

 Reinforcing Local Landscape Character 

Development should respect and, where practicable, enhance local landscape character, 
including the retention and reinforcement of the following key characteristics: 

a) the general lack of light pollution; 

b) the hedge-lined rural lanes; 

c) the Bere Stream corridor, which has a rural character, in places being lined with trees 
(willows and alders) and in others farmed up to its edges; 

d) the important groups of trees, woodlands and copses dotting the landscape and within and 
on the edge of the village itself, softening the visual impact of the village in wider views – 
these include (but are not limited to)  

− Milborne Wood  

Page 200



Milborne St Andrew Neighbourhood Plan SUBMISSION DRAFTFinal Version MayOctober 20198 

Page 39 

− Longthorns Wood 

− Stileham Bank treed upper edge  

− Wooded hilltop of Weatherby Castle  

− Milborne Business Centre woodland  

− Woodland adjoining the Coffin Path 

e) the historic tumuli, barrows and ancient hillforts. 

Local Wildlife 

6.6. The main areas of potential ecological interest within the plan area relate to the Bere 
Stream, areas of ancient and semi-natural woodland, and well-established hedgerows with a mix 
of native species.  There are records of various protected species within the area – including 

 Badger: There have been many recorded sightings of the Eurasion Badger, mainly as road 
casualties. 

 Bats: known species include Soprano Pipistrelle and Brown Long-eared Bat.  These may 
use roof voids and old trees for roosts, and forage in a wide range of habitats (depending 
on the species) - waterways and ponds, trees, woodlands and their associated shrubbery, 
farmland, gardens and allotments.  Linear features like tree-lined footpaths are used by 
the bats as corridors to commute from one area of countryside to another 

 Birds: Mute Swan, Mallard, Hobby, Cuckoo, Barn Owl, Firecrest and Dunnock have all 
been recorded locally.  Hedgerows, scrub and trees offer nesting and foraging 
opportunities for common and widespread bird species.  

 Butterflies and Moths: of many different varieties, including the Adonis Blue, Marsh 
Fritillary, Dingy Skipper and others – many favouring the calcareous (chalk) grassland, as 
well as woodlands, streams and hedgerows 

 Dormouse: the Hazel Dormouse has been recorded in the area – it is particularly 
associated with deciduous woodland but also inhabits hedgerows and scrub where hazel, 
hornbeam and blackthorn provide rich pickings 

 Hedgehog: there are several records of Hedgehogs from sites within the village, with 
suitable habitat including woodland, hedgerows and gardens. 

 Otters and Water Voles: there are records of Otters upstream from the village (just 
outside of the parish), and the Water Vole has been recorded in the Bere Stream  

6.7. The Dorset Environment Record Centre have worked with the Dorset Local Nature 
Partnership to create a map showing existing and potential wildlife areas across Dorset 
(http://explorer.geowessex.com).  The data for Milborne St Andrew (as of 2018) is replicated in 
the Figure 8. 

6.8. It is important that measures are taken to assess the wildlife value of all development sites 
in order to ensure that proposals include measures that will achieve a net gain for nature, in line 
with national and local planning policies.   

6.9. The Dorset Biodiversity Protocol, which requires an approved biodiversity mitigation and 
enhancement plan to be submitted with a planning application, is a recognised way in which the 
impacts of a development proposal can be properly assessed and considered through the 
planning process.  These should be checked by Dorset Council’s Natural Environment Team who 
issue a Certificate of Approval, which can then be submitted as part of a planning application to 
demonstrate compliance with the following policy.  

Page 201

http://explorer.geowessex.com/?layers=51,14745,14746&basemap=26&x=380670.10&y=97805.68&epsg=27700&zoom=15


Milborne St Andrew Neighbourhood Plan SUBMISSION DRAFTFinal Version MayOctober 20198 

Page 40 

Figure 8. Existing and potential ecological network areas 

 

© Crown copyright and database right.  All rights reserved (100051154) 2018 

6.10. Such appraisals will be required where protected species or habitats are known or 
suspected to be present, which may well be the case where development would impact on 
species-rich hedgerows, unimproved grassland, natural watercourses and their margins, copses / 
woodland and mature tree specimens, rural barns and other roof voids (where bats may be 
present) or near wildlife sites.  Even where development is unlikely to impact on existing wildlife, 
measures can be taken to provide new habitats – such as the inclusion or bird, bat or bee boxes on 
buildings, creating a pond or other water feature in your garden, or even a compost heap. 

 Protecting Local Wildlife 

Development should protect and, where practicable, enhance biodiversity, through an 
understanding of the wildlife interest that may be affected by development, and the inclusion of 
measures that will protect the existing ecological network (as shown on Figure 8) and, again, 
where practicable, secure an overall biodiversity gain.   

A certified Biodiversity Mitigation and Enhancement Plan will be required where a development 
would involve: 

a) the loss of a hedgerow (in whole or part), copse / woodland area or mature tree specimen; 

Page 202



Milborne St Andrew Neighbourhood Plan SUBMISSION DRAFTFinal Version MayOctober 20198 

Page 41 

b) works within 10 metres of the Bere Stream or other areas identified as part of the existing 
ecological network, or within the potential ecological network (as shown in Figure 8); 

c) works involving the development of a greenfield site, or a brownfield site in excess of 0.1ha; 
or 

d) works involving a rural barn (including barn conversions) or other roof space where bats 
may be present. 

Works that would support the ecological improvement of the network of existing and potential 
ecological sites will be supported. 

6.11. Development within the parish has the potential to impact on sensitive designated 
heathland areas within 5km (for example, due to recreational pressures that arise from housing) 
and also on the sensitive estuarine habitat of Poole Harbour (which is deteriorating due to 
increased nitrogen levels from sewage and agricultural practices in the catchment).   Both the 
heathlands and Poole Harbour are protected under European legislation, government policy and 
the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations.  The Local Planning Authority has worked 
with Natural England to devise Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD) to provide further 
guidance on these issues.  The requirements in respect of these wildlife areas are dealt in Policy 
MSA12. 

Local Green Spaces  

6.12. National planning policy allows for green spaces, that are well related to existing 
settlements and hold a particular local value, to be designated Local Green Spaces.  This 
designation provides strong protection against development, similar to Green Belt designation.  
This protection will last well beyond the Neighbourhood Plan period, so is not appropriate for 
extensive tracts of countryside, or land which may need to be released for housing, employment 
or community buildings / infrastructure in the longer term.   

6.13. National planning policy also makes very clear that 
sports and recreational land, including playing fields, 
should not be developed for alternative uses unless the 
facility is: 

 clearly surplus to requirements; or 

 replaced by equivalent or better provision in an 
equally suitable location; or 

 replaced by alternative sports and recreational 
provision, the benefits of which clearly outweigh the 
loss of the former use. 

6.14. Table 7 lists the Local Green Spaces that have been 
identified as particularly important to the local community.  
The only form of development that would be appropriate in 
such locations would be ancillary development to support their on-going function (such as 
outdoor recreation facilities within the Sports Field site).  Consideration should also be given to 
development adjoining such sites, to ensure that this compliments and does not have an adverse 
impact on the Local Green Space – for example the approval of a noisy industrial unit adjoining a 
space noted for its tranquillity would be inappropriate, as would poor design adjoining an area 
noted for its landscape contribution.  Opportunities to use or extend the network of green spaces 
for recreation are covered in the following section. 
  

Page 203



Milborne St Andrew Neighbourhood Plan SUBMISSION DRAFTFinal Version MayOctober 20198 

Page 42 

Table 7. Local Green Spaces 

LGS1+2 St Andrews 
Churchyard and 
Cemetery 

Churchyard and Cemetery (opposite) – Provides setting to Grade ll* 
Listed Church, and recognised for its wildlife value by Dorset 
Wildlife Trust.  A pleasant tranquil area where villagers find comfort 
and peace.   Among the graves there are 3 Commonwealth War 
Graves Commission and a monument to a Victoria Cross recipient. 

LGS3 The Grove An area of parkland in the conservation area providing the setting 
of a number of historical features and buildings.  The Bere Stream 
cuts through this area, and is of significant wildlife interest.  
Although privately owned, there is an unclassified road an public 
footpaths through the area which are frequently used by dog 
walkers and hikers.   

LGS4 War memorial 
triangle  

A small triangle on the junction of The Causeway / Church Hill, 
home to the village’s War Memorial and also noted for its Weeping 
Willow tree and where the Bere Stream emerges from behind rear 
gardens to cross under the road and into the countryside.   

LGS5 The Coffin Path Attractive and historically important path connecting from the 
main road to the church, part of the public rights of way network 
and of no recognised ownership 

LGS6 Parish Pit (Ansty 
Lane Common) 

Small area of Common Land off Dewlish Road, with chestnut trees 
and bench 

LGS7 Village Hall 
Playing Fields 

Land surrounding the village hall which was gifted to the 
‘parishioners.  Used for village fetes and general recreation.  The 
lower field is used mainly as a playing field, and over the years, 
facilities such as a MUGA (the fenced Multi-Use Games Area), 
equipped children’s playground, zipwire, cycle track and sensory 
meadows have been created. 

LGS8 The Sports Field Well maintained football pitches used mainly for official games 
(with changing facilities available in the Pavilion), and available to 
hire for events. 

LGS9 Allotments Allotments providing an important resource for villagers who want 
to grow their own produce 

LGS10 The Green at 
Bladen View 

Grassed area within housing estate, believed to be highway land, 
providing local green space enjoyed by local residents 

6.16.6.15. Two other areas designated in the 2003 Local Plan as locally important were also 
considered but were not felt to meet the national criteria for Local Green Spaces.  These were the 
School Playing Fields (which are used exclusively by the school, and will be safeguarded as a 
community facility under Policy MSA4), and the Paddock East of Dairy House (which was less 
valued by the community compared to other green spaces, but was not a preferred option for 
development, and therefore has been placed outside of the settlement boundary). 

 Local Green Spaces 

The sites listed in Table 7 (and as shown in Figure 9) are designated as Local Green Spaces, and, 
other than in very special circumstances, no development will be permitted within or immediately 
adjoining them that would harm their reason for designation.   

Page 204



Milborne St Andrew Neighbourhood Plan SUBMISSION DRAFTFinal Version MayOctober 20198 

Page 43 

Figure 9. Local Green Spaces and Important Treed and Woodland Areas 

 

Page 205



Milborne St Andrew Neighbourhood Plan SUBMISSION DRAFTFinal Version MayOctober 20198 

Page 44 

Improving Recreation Opportunities, including Access to Nature 

6.17.6.16. As part of the preparation of the Neighbourhood Plan, thought was given to how 
the existing network of Local Green Spaces might be enhanced, and new areas provided, to 
support the recreation needs of the growing population.  The Local Plan uses Fields in Trust (FIT) 
standards for outdoor sport and play provision.  This recommends the equivalent of 250m² of 
equipped play, 300m² of other play (such as a multi-use games area of skatepark) plus 1,400m² of 
informal amenity green space per 100 population, and additional requirements for playing pitches 
etc).  The Local Plan also specifies the provision of one standard allotment plot for every 60 
people in a settlement.  The following table sets out what applying these recommended 
standards means for the Neighbourhood Plan area, based on its population and provision.   

Table 8. Further Recreation Opportunities 
Green Space Type FIT standard 

per 100 people 
MSA equivalent 

(1,060 people) 
Current (2018) Requirement 

per 10 homes* 
Amenity Space 600 m² 0.64 ha 0.06 ha** Below  56 m² 

Equipped play  250 m² 0.27 ha 0.04 ha Below  180 m² 

Other play*** 300 m² 0.32 ha 0.78 ha at 
village hall 

Below  67 m² 

Parks and gardens 800 m² 0.85 ha 135 m² 

Formal pitches 1,200 m² 1.27 ha 1.8 ha approx Above  n/a 

Allotments 1.7 plots 18 plots 12 plots Below  0.5 plots 

* based on average occupancy rate of 2.25 (2011 Census) 
** to be within 480m walking distance of the dwellings eg: Bladen View / War Memorial 
*** MUGA, skatepark etc 

6.18.6.17. It is clear from Table 8 that the village currently does not have the optimum level of 
accessible green space of the various types suggested by the Local Plan, with the exception of 
sports pitches.  A development of 32 dwellings would, for example, be expected to increase the 
population by 72 people (based on average occupancy) and create the need for a further 0.14ha of 
land for equipped play and other informal amenity green space.  As such, developers should make 
provision on-site where possible, and are encouraged to work with the Parish Council to identify 
appropriate projects that are suitably designed and readily managed in the long-term.   

6.19.6.18. In terms of natural and semi-natural green space, the Fields in Trust (FIT) standard 
is set at 1,800m² per 100 population, within 720m walking distance of people’s homes (which for 
the size of the local population would equate to about 2ha).  In 2018 there was very little provision 
other than the very small Parish Pit on Dewlish LaneRoad.  Due to the need to ensure there are no 
likely significant effects on European wildlife sites, the actual requirement is likely to be much 
higher than 2ha.  Milborne St Andrew falls within 5km of protected heathland, and evidence has 
shown that within this zone, residents will visit these sensitive heathland areas (unless other more 
attractive spaces are available nearby), leading to increased damage and wildlife disturbance.  
The legislation safeguarding these sites is very strict, and without adequate measures in place any 
new homes within this 5km zone should be refused.  The accepted solution (set out in the Dorset 
Heathlands Planning Framework SPD) is to put in place measures to divert recreational pressure 
away from heathland.  Because North Dorset was not party to this framework, The SPD does not 
identify anyre are no specific projects identified for this area close to Milborne St Andrew, and as - 
most of the projects that do exist are focused closer to Poole / Bournemouth, Wareham or 
Winfrith closernear to the main areas of heathland and larger populations.  The outlying nature of 
Milborne St Andrew, together with the cumulative impact of housing in the plan period which is 

Page 206



Milborne St Andrew Neighbourhood Plan SUBMISSION DRAFTFinal Version MayOctober 20198 

Page 45 

likely to exceed 50 dwellings,  suggests that a local project is required that secures improved 
access to one or more suitable alternative green spaces (SANGs) within easy walking distance of 
the developments.  These spaces should be designed with: 

 a variety of circular walks of about 2.4km within natural countryside 

 paths that are well-maintained, clearly signed (so that the routes available to visitors are 
readily understood), and safe to use – and not too urban in format (they don’t need to be 
hard-surfaced) 

 areas suitable for dog-walkers (ideally including places where dogs can be let off their 
lead) - this could include an accessible dog-training area. 

6.20.6.19. The village also lies within 
the catchment of Poole Harbour, and the 
impact of increased sewage on this 
European protected site needs to be 
mitigated.  One option available to 
developers is to take land out of a nitrogen 
intensive uses (such as intensively farmed 
land). and Any such land that is set aside 
could also provide opportunities for local 
recreational use.  An example is provided 
giving the amount of land that would need 
to be set aside.  However if this involved 
land alongside the Bere Stream and 
included managed wetland or other interventions (such as a beaver dam) to further reduce the 
nitrogen levels in the stream, a smaller area for nitrogen off-setting would be possible. 

6.21.6.20. Altogether, Natural England officers have suggested that it would be advisable to 
identify a suitable alternative green space of about 5ha in order to provide an effective level of 
provision that should address the legislative requirements for the plan period and potentially 
beyond.  At the time of writing this Plan the exact location had not been identified.  There are a 
number of areas that would appear to lend themselves to such a project, potentially connected 
with the recreation opportunities identified below, and the Parish Council has indicated it would 
be willing to take a lead role in liaising with local landowners to identify an agreed solution, the 
likely costs of its delivery and long-term maintenance.  It will then be possible to clearly indicate 
how future housing development will contribute towards its delivery.   

6.22.6.21. Applicants with additional residential units will therefore be expected to 
demonstrate how they have provided appropriate mitigation measures for their proposal, either 
through strategic contributions or direct mitigation measures. The cumulative impact of new 
dwellings in the parish requires a local SANG (Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace) in line 
with the Dorset Heathlands Planning Framework Supplementary Planning Document.  A 
contribution to Strategic Access Management and Monitoring (SAMM) of the heathland sites will 
also be required.  In addition, applicants will need to show how they are delivering nitrogen off-
setting as required through the Nitrogen Reduction in Poole Harbour Supplementary Planning 
Document. 

6.23.6.22. Table 9 lists the potential opportunities for off-site recreation provision that have 
been identified through the Neighbourhood Plan process so far.  Improvements to the existing 
public rights of way network (as outlined in the following section) will also be supported as 

How much land should be set aside for nitrogen 
off-setting? Example: 32 dwellings 

32 dwellings x 2.25 average occupancy (2011 
Census) = 72 persons 

Each person produces 0.000875 tonnes of nitrogen 
per year which isn't removed by sewage treatment 

Therefore 72 x 000875 = 0.063  tonnes of nitrogen 
would need to be mitigated 

Converting 1ha of land from high to low input 
would reduce nitrogen by 0.0298 tonnes per year 

0.063 / 0.0298 = 2.11ha to mitigate 32 dwellings 

Page 207



Milborne St Andrew Neighbourhood Plan SUBMISSION DRAFTFinal Version MayOctober 20198 

Page 46 

meeting this need.  Further opportunities may come to light during the lifetime of the Plan, and 
developers are encouraged to contact the Parish Council and consult the local community where 
off-site provision may be the most appropriate option for enhancing green infrastructure.   

Table 9. Further Recreation Opportunities 

REC1 Land north of 
the allotments 

There is an opportunity to extend the allotments northwards within 
land owned by the Parish Council, or to provide other complementary 
recreational opportunities within this area (such as community orchard) 

REC2 Sports Field Part of the Sports Field not used for formal sports could be used to 
establish a multi-wheeled (skate and bike) park, subject to sufficient 
funding and consents, or other recreation activities for which there is 
evidence of local demand 

REC3 Milborne 
Business Centre 
woodland 

The woodland area to the rear of The Rings could be made available for 
public access for informal recreation.  Measures would need to be 
secured to provide for access to and the on-going management of the 
woodland in a way which respects the privacy and security of 
neighbouring properties. 
NB a small area opposite the Lane End junction has been identified as a 
potential area for the exclusive use of the pre-school.   

REC4 Circular walks Improvements to the existing public rights of way network (as outlined 
in the following section) 

REC5 Village Hall 
Playing Fields 

The village hall committee has identified the need for improved fencing 
and tree surgery within the grounds to make the area safer and more 
user-friendly 

6.24.6.23. The various stages of public consultation 
showed how much local residents value having access to 
the countryside surrounding Milborne St Andrew, 
provided through the footpath network.  While the parish 
is already blessed by a good number of rights of way, 
useful for both "off tarmac" movement around the village 
and recreational purposes, feedback pointed to a number 
of possible improvements to enable the fuller use of the 
network as a whole, particularly by bridging gaps in the 
existing network to reduce the number of paths within 
the parish that are dead ends or terminate on roads now 
unsafe for pedestrian use.  These links are described in 
Table 10 and shown on Figure 10. 

6.25.6.24. Informal approaches to local landowners on providing new or improved 
recreational routes has flagged a number of understandable concerns, such as 

 Providing public access can reduce the value land and area of useable farmland  

 The landowners are responsible for maintaining the footpaths – including appropriate 
stock fencing, styles etc on their land 

 Walkers do not always act responsibly, leaving litter, not clearing up after their dogs and 
letting dogs off leads where livestock is present 

 There is no real benefit for the landowner in providing improved access. 

6.26.6.25. Although landowners have voiced their reluctance to provide new routes because 
of the issues highlighted above, these concerns could potentially be overcome through 

Page 208



Milborne St Andrew Neighbourhood Plan SUBMISSION DRAFTFinal Version MayOctober 20198 

Page 47 

negotiation, improved public responsibility, the provision of a dog-training area close to the 
village and financial contributions including the funding of fencing, new gateways and such like.  

Figure 10. Map showing existing route network and potential improvement projects 

 

Table 10. Potential projects to improve access to the countryside 

Ref From To Benefit 

Link 1 A354 / Lane End 
junction 

Footpath E14/3 
north of Milborne 
Business Centre 

Avoids the need to walk along a long and 
dangerous stretch of the A354 to create a 
potential circular route north-east of the village 

Link 2 Bridleway E14/9 
(Snag Lane) 

Footpath E14/8 via 
Foxpound 

Avoids the need to walk along a long and 
dangerous stretch of the Bere Regis road to create 
a potential circular route east of the village 

Link 3 Footpath E14/3 
(Warren Hill) 

Bridleway E14/3 (to 
West End Barn) 

Links current dead end (Warren Hill) to create a 
potential circular route 

Link 4 Bridleway E14/3 
(by West End 
Barn) 

Bridleway E19/14 
(south of Milborne 
Wood) 

Avoids the need to walk along a dangerous stretch 
of the A354 to create a shorter circular route west 
of the village 

Page 209



Milborne St Andrew Neighbourhood Plan SUBMISSION DRAFTFinal Version MayOctober 20198 

Page 48 

Link 5 Junction with 
Dewlish 
LaneRoad 

Bridleway E14/18 
(Ansty Lane) 

Avoids the need to walk along a dangerous stretch 
of the Dewlish Road to create a circular route 
north-west of the village 

 Improving Recreation Opportunities, and having regard to European and 
  internationally protected sites 

a) Development will be required to protect and where possible enhance opportunities for 
informal outdoor recreation (including the use of the public right of way network).  The 
amount of open space provided in relation to new housing development should be in line 
with requirements set in Table 8 (which reflects the FIT and allotment standards set in the 
Local Plan).  Such provision should be made within the site, particularly for development of 
10 or more dwellings where amenity green space could be planted with one or more tree 
specimens to reinforce the village character, unless it is not practical to do so.  Where the 
full requirement is not provided on-site, development will be expected to provide new, 
and/or enhance existing, recreation opportunities off-site elsewhere within the 
Neighbourhood Plan area.  This may be through the projects as outlined in Tables 9 and 10, 
or through alternative projects that have the clear support of the Parish Council. 

b) Development will be required to avoid having an adverse effect on the integrity of European 
and internationally important wildlife sites (Poole Harbour and the Dorset Heathlands).  In 
assessing the likely effects, consideration must be given to the likely effects of the 
developments alone and in-combination with any other project or planned development or 
pending applications in the Neighbourhood Plan area.  This can be achieved by adhering to 
the Dorset Heathlands Planning Framework SPD and the Nitrogen Reduction in Poole 
Harbour SPD.  A suitable SANG project (or Heathland Infrastructure Projects (HIPs)) and 
mechanism to secure timely delivery in the parish must be agreed by Natural England prior 
to the approval of any housing developments of 10 or more dwellings.  Consideration should 
also be given to whether the SANG land could also include measures to reduce nitrogen 
levels in the Bere Stream, and to secure this if practical.  Thereafter all new housing 
development resulting in a net gain of 1 or more dwellings will be expected to contribute 
proportionally towards this project in order to provide appropriate mitigation. 

MSA Project 3. Identifying where and how the SANG will be delivered 

The Parish Council will work with local landowners, the Local Planning Authority and Natural 
England to identify a Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace project for delivery within the 
Parish that will address the impact of further housing on European sites and internationally 
protected heathland sites.   

Locally Distinctive Features and Designs 

6.27.6.26. The centre of the village is rich with positive architectural features and buildings 
that are largely protected due to their Listing or Conservation Area status.  These include:  

 The Square as the village centre 

 The mix of uses and building types on the A354 that reflect the working status of the 
village 

 The stream running through Milborne St Andrew 

 The flint walls that run throughout the village and line many of the roads 

 Local landmarks, including the Stag on Stag House, on the junction with Chapel Street, 
and the Gate Piers in the Grove  

Page 210



Milborne St Andrew Neighbourhood Plan SUBMISSION DRAFTFinal Version MayOctober 20198 

Page 49 

Care should be taken to retain existing features that are particularly noteworthy to the character 
of the village, and to ensure that their prominence in the street scene is not diminished through 
poor or insensitive maintenance, poorly placed development or overgrown vegetation.   

Figure 11. Listed & Possible Locally Important Historic Buildings in the Conservation Area 

6.28.6.27. In addition to the many Listed Buildings within the Parish, there are many locally 
important historic buildings.  Some of these can be identified through a review of the Inventory of 
the Historical Monuments in Dorset, Volume 3, Central.  Others are obvious from historic maps 
and local knowledge.  Examples include: 

Page 211



Milborne St Andrew Neighbourhood Plan SUBMISSION DRAFTFinal Version MayOctober 20198 

Page 50 

 15 and the Old Bakery, Blandford Hill 

 Farm buildings and Cart Sheds west of Dairy House, Little England 

 Gould's Farm, The Causeway 

 The Corner House and associated outbuildings, The Square 

 The Post Office and Old School, The Square 

 Lakeshell and The Old Reading Room, Chapel Street 

 Little Thatch, Chapel Street 

 The Wesleyan Methodist Chapel, Chapel Street 

 The Old Rectory, Chapel Street 

 The former Village School, Chapel Street 

6.29.6.28. The above list of Locally Important Buildings is not exhaustive, and a Conservation 
Area Appraisal is needed to identify these and others that may be appropriate for Local Listing.   

MSA Project 4. Conservation Area Appraisal 

The Parish Council will work with the Local Planning Authority to re-appraise the Conservation 
Area, with the aim of identifying features of significance including buildings that merit Local 
Listing.   

6.30.6.29. Local residents like the fact that Milborne St Andrew is a working and farming 
village with a mix of housing, rural businesses and community facilities and green spaces.  Over 
85% of responses to the household questionnaire agreed that designs should reflect the Dorset 
materials – cob, thatch, local brick, flint etc – and retain a ‘village’ scale with very few 3 storey 
properties, and a predominance of simple cottage / estate worker / farm building styles. 

6.31.6.30. The character of housing development at Brooklands, Coles Lane (and the two 
cottages built on the opposite side of Milton Road), Fox View, Huntley Down and St Andrew’s 
View are broadly considered by local residents to be good examples, although not without their 
flaws – such as the lack of adequate parking or green spaces, and over-provision of larger house 
types.  These generally had a mix of building types and styles that respected the local vernacular – 
although the older examples (such as Huntley Down) still with too much repetition.  There was 
also support for more modern eco-friendly designs such as the straw bale house that was built to 
the rear of Grays Stores, on the south side of Milton Road Close. 

6.32.6.31. The following Table 11 summarises providesthe key guidelines for designs to be in 
harmony with the local vernacular.  New development should take the opportunity to reinforce 
the underlying character and appearance of the village by following these guidelines, unless 
justified by particular circumstances (either such as becausdue to the immediate surrounds 
justifying an alternative approach, or because deviating from this guidance would enable the 
achievement of much higher eco-credentials than required under Building Regulations and the 
resulting design would not detract from the character of the village). 

6.33.6.32. The density of development varies across the village, but overall averages around 
17dph (excluding significant open areas such as the playing fields).  A slightly more detailed 
analysis based on samples taken within the Conservation area and the developments cited as 
good examples (with the exception of St Andrew’s View which was criticised most strongly for its 
density, and Fox View as not completed) suggests that a housing density of around 20dph should 
be acceptable.  Higher densities will need greater scrutiny to ensure that they retain a village 
character whilst providing sufficient parking, garden areas and amenity green space.   

Page 212



Milborne St Andrew Neighbourhood Plan SUBMISSION DRAFTFinal Version MayOctober 20198 

Page 51 

6.34.6.33. Given the changes in topography found around the village, care also needs to be 
taken in considering potential overlooking – both in terms of back-to-back distance between 
windows and also from higher level windows into private garden areas.  Where this may be an 
issue, section drawings showing the relationship between new and existing properties, including 
sight lines between windows and private garden areas, should be submitted as part of any 
planning application.  As a guide, rear garden depths of at least 10m or more are likely to avoid 
overlooking issues and provide sufficient amenity space.  

Page 213



Milborne St Andrew Neighbourhood Plan SUBMISSION DRAFTFinal Version MayOctober 20198 

Page 52 

Table 11. Local vernacular design guidance 

Feature Guidance on local vernacular 
S

ca
le

 a
n

d
 o

ri
e

n
ta

ti
o

n
 

− predominantly 1½ to 2 storeys, with some single storey (bungalows and 
workshops) and some 2½ to 3 storey (primarily on the main roads or reflecting a 
higher status buildings such as the Manor House and Rectory).   

− floor-to-ceiling heights within buildings (and roof space) should reflect their 
status (i.e. more modest heights on farm worker and similar cottages, and larger 
spans on higher status buildings), adding to the variety within the street scene.   

− buildings generally facing onto the street, although a small proportion of 
dwellings are orientated side-on, and agricultural / workshop buildings are 
sometimes formed as a courtyard 

W
a

ll
s 

− use of brick (red / dark red and vitrified blue), flint / flint banding, rubble, natural 
stone (e.g. green sandstone) and rendered cob 

− dentil courses (where the bricks are orientated and spaced to project like teeth, 
usually just below the cornice / top course of a wall). simple buttresses (projecting 
out to support a wall) or similar features should be used to add interest, but 
without resulting in overly complex designs unless justified by the status of the 
building.   

R
o

o
fs

 

− roofs should generally use of natural slate, plain and decorative clay tiles, and or 
thatch (wheat straw).  More modest materials such as corrugated iron may be 
appropriate on outbuildings and non-domestic buildings, but should not be used 
in visually prominent positions.   

− roofs are generally gabled, with some hipped or half-hipped, partly reflecting the 
mix of roofing materials used.  Decorative ridge tiles may be used to add interest. 

− eaves generally project beyond the wall to create shadows.   

− brick chimneys should be incorporated unless inappropriate to the style of 
building, located on the roof ends, and of sufficient height to project strongly 
above the roof line, with a variety of cowls and chimney pot designs 

W
in

d
o

w
s 

/ f
e

n
e

st
ra

ti
o

n
 

− side hung timber casements or timber vertical sliding sash windows are the 
predominant style, set within a reveal to create shadowing, texture and interest 
(rather than sitting proud to the wall).  White paint is typical but heritage paints 
(including sage green and burgundy) are also found in the village. 

− the size and symmetry of windows should reflect the style of building and avoid 
leaving large areas of blank wall through too much spacing.  Windows on the 
upper floors commonly extend close to the eaves. 

− the use of stone lintels, decorative brick headers or similar may be used to create 
a distinctive pattern and visual interest, at a level appropriate to the type and 
grandeur of the building.   

D
o

o
rs

 a
n

d
 

p
o

rc
h

e
s 

− door types are varied including timber and modern equivalents, split / stable 
doors and loading bays associated with agricultural buildings.   

− stone or brick thresholds should also be used to demarcate the main entrance 
where appropriate to the design of building.   

− porches or set-backs are reasonably common to provide some shelter but 
generally tend to be simple and open (unless on grander buildings).   

B
o

u
n

d
-

a
ry

 
d

e
ta

il
s 

− a variety of low hedges, iron railings and brick flint or rendered walls enclosing 
gardens is a strong and often repeated feature of the village which not only 
produces an attractive townscape but also defensible space.   

Page 214



Milborne St Andrew Neighbourhood Plan SUBMISSION DRAFTFinal Version MayOctober 20198 

Page 53 

Figure 12. Illustrative photos – Brick and Flints samples 

 

Page 215



Milborne St Andrew Neighbourhood Plan SUBMISSION DRAFTFinal Version MayOctober 20198 

Page 54 

Figure 13. Illustrative photos – Cobb and Render samples 

 

Page 216



Milborne St Andrew Neighbourhood Plan SUBMISSION DRAFTFinal Version MayOctober 20198 

Page 55 

6.35.6.34. The topography also means that roof-mounted solar panels can be highly visible.  
Future development should ensure sustainable technology is successfully integrated into the 
property itself. 

 Locally important character features 

Care should also be taken to retain and, where possible, improve existing features that are 
particularly iconic to the character of the village, including consideration of their setting and 
visual prominence.  These include: 

a) The Square as the village centre 

b) The mix of uses and related building types on the A354 that reflect the working status of the 
village 

c) The many Listed Buildings and locally important historic buildings (to be identified through 
the Conservation Area Appraisal project, with consideration in the interim given to those 
identified in para 6.24 and on Figure 11) 

d) The Stag (on Stag House on the junction with Chapel Street) and Gate Piers in the Grove, as 
a local landmarks 

e) The Bere stream running through Milborne St Andrew and associated bridges 

f) The flint walls that run throughout the village and line many of the roads 

 Character and Design Guidance 

New development should be visually attractive as a result of layout, landscaping, and good 
architecture including the use of appropriate materials and workmanship, it should respond to the 
area’s local character and history to reinforce the area’s sense of place, and create places that are 
safe, inclusive and accessible, with a high standard of amenity. 

The density of housing areas should be below at a level that reflects 20dph in order to maintain 
the village character, provides .  Development proposals that exceed this density will not be 
supported unless it is clearly demonstrated that the resulting design will reinforce the village 
character, and that the scheme will provide sufficient parking (in line with Policy MSA8), and 
sufficient private garden areas (proportionate to the dwelling size,  ensuring sufficient space is 
included to meet occupiers’ needs (such as for an outdoor clothes line, and to store bins, cycles 
and gardening equipment), space for a sitting out area without excessive shade, and, in respect of 
family homes, space for children to play) and amenity green space within the development.  Rear 
garden depths should be at least 10m.  Where smaller rear gardens are proposed, the applicant 
should provide more detail on how outdoor clothes lines, garden shed and sitting out areas are 
accommodated without excessive shadowing, and sectional drawings should be provided to 
clearly demonstrate how overlooking and loss of privacy to the private amenity space will be 
avoided (both to the proposed dwelling and to neighbouring properties). 

A mix of building styles, types and designs is encouraged.  Clusters of similar building types and 
designs that clearly identify an area as part of a housing estate , obvious repetition (other than in 
one-off terraces or pairs of cottages) will not be supported.  Affordable housing should be 
indistinguishable from open market homes, and by its design, materials and siting (enclaves of 
affordable housing should be avoided).   

Designs should accord with the guidance provided in Table 10 in order to reinforce the underlying 
character and appearance of the village, unless a different approach is clearly justified and the 
resulting design would not detract from the character of the village. 

Sustainable technology (such as solar panels), bin stores, meter boxes and similar utility 

Page 217



Milborne St Andrew Neighbourhood Plan SUBMISSION DRAFTFinal Version MayOctober 20198 

Page 56 

requirements should be clearly shown on the planning application drawings to demonstrate how 
these are successfully integrated into the property and will not be prominent in the street scene. 

High boundary walls and fences should be avoided on the street frontage (or.  if these are 
unavoidable, these should be set slightly back with necessary for security and privacy reasons, 
measures should be taken to include planting included in to the front) to soften their visual 
impact. 

Page 218



Milborne St Andrew Neighbourhood Plan SUBMISSION DRAFTFinal Version MayOctober 20198 

Page 57 

7. Minimising flood risk 

7.1. Flood risk in the area is partly as a result of the Bere stream flooding its banks, but is also 
caused by surface water running off the surrounding hills in times of high rainfall (often bringing 
mud and gravel with it), and groundwater flooding where the ground becomes so saturated that 
it cannot absorb any more water.  Sewer flooding has also occurred due to ground and surface 
water entering into the foul sewers, causing surcharging. 

7.2. Responsibility for minimising flood 
risk falls on a number of different 
organisations and individuals 

 THE ENVIRONMENT AGENCY is 
the regulatory body for works in 
close proximity to main river 
channels and river (fluvial) flood 
risk and are consulted on all 
development proposals within 
Flood Risk Zones 2 and 3 (medium 
to high risk). 

 DORSET COUNCIL1 is the 
regulatory body for ‘ordinary 
watercourses’ (i.e. 
channels/streams not main rivers) 
and the Lead Local Flood Authority 
(LLFA) dealing with matters such 
as surface water and groundwater 
drainage, and are always consulted 
on major development proposals 
with sites over 1ha, or 10+ dwellings. 
As the Local Planning Authority it is also responsible for checking the validity of the data 
and conclusions in Flood Risk Assessments and determining all planning proposals. 

 WESSEX WATER is responsible for water supply and the sewerage network 

 FLOOD WARDENS appointed by the Parish Council are the local response co-ordinators 
during times of flooding and pass on information from the Environment Agency and 
emergency services to local residents, and vice-versa.  They also monitor the local 
watercourses and advise the Environment Agency should any potential flooding hazards 
arise (e.g. blockages). 

 LANDOWNERS are responsible for the maintenance of any waterways flowing through 
their land.  Drains and gullies should be kept clear of debris, as should the banks and bed 
of the stream.  Local residents whose property may be at risk of flooding can sign up to the 
Environment Agency website for local water levels and flooding information 
https://www.gov.uk/check-flood-risk.   

                                                             

 

1  The unitary authority of Dorset Council will be in place from April 2019, replacing Dorset County Council and 
North Dorset District Council. 

Local knowledge of flood incidences in Milborne St 
Andrew:  
1977/78: snow melt caused significant flooding in 
the village 

2000/2001:  a period of heavy rainfall and rising 
groundwater levels led to 30 properties including 
much of the village centre being flooded.  There 
was also a deluge of muddy water from the higher 
ground above Huntley Down that flowed into 
people’s houses in Bladen View to a depth of 
several feet.   

2013/14: a period of heavy rainfall and rising 
groundwater levels led to sustained flooding along 
Milton Road during the Winter, with the road 
temporarily closed as a result 

2018: a flash flood affected the A354 and Chapel 
Street during the Spring, as a result of a short 
period of moderately heavy rain. 

Page 219

https://www.gov.uk/check-flood-risk


Milborne St Andrew Neighbourhood Plan SUBMISSION DRAFTFinal Version MayOctober 20198 

Page 58 

7.3. After the flooding experienced in the village in 2013/2014, the Environment Agency, 
Dorset County Council, North Dorset District Council and Wessex Water made a concerted effort 
to tackle the flooding problems.  The village was surveyed by JBA Consulting, who produced a 
Property Level Protection Scheme for the village. This led to significant drainage enhancements 
to the existing networks in Milton Road and the Causeway.  Individual property owners were 
provided with flood barriers, pumps and other equipment as recommended by JBA Consulting.  It 
would appear that the improvements have helped many properties affected within the village.  
However there is no room for complacency – as recent as early 2018 a property in Chapel Street 
was inundated by run-off from higher ground when the highway drains had become blocked by 
gravel washed down the roads. 

7.4. In September 2017 Wessex Water produced a map of areas where it asked to be consulted 
because development presents a high risk of contributing towards groundwater levels and 
consequential sewer inundation.  The map basically included the whole of the village and 
adjoining land.  Wessex Water are continuing to undertake a programme of investigations and 
sewer re-lining to reduce the risk of sewer flooding in the area, and are committed to working 
with the Local Lead Flood Authority to agree and implement a groundwater management 
strategy.  This is likely to require higher levels of design and construction, to ensure that the 
proposed drainage is resilient to the impacts of groundwater infiltration when the water table 
rises.  The approach of pumping out the sewerage system from below March Bridge In times of 
sustained wet weather is not a sustainable, long-term solution. 

7.5. Given the significant 
history of flood risk, Wessex 
Water, and the Flood Risk 
Management Team at Dorset 
Council, should be consulted on 
all development proposals for 1 or 
more dwellings in areas of 
groundwater or surface water 
flood risk, and Wessex Water 
have recommended that they 
should be consulted on such 
developments in areas of 
groundwater flood riskand 
around the village.  The restrictions created by March Bridge and other pinchpoints upstream 
need to be considered in calculating the flows and flood risk implications.   

 Minimising Flood Risk 

All development proposals upstream of March Bridge (at the junction of Church Hill and The 
Causeway) that are likely to give rise to increased surface water run-off which will ultimately 
discharge to the Bere stream, should be supported by a site-specific Surface and Foul Water 
Drainage Strategy that sets out details of how surface water and foul water drainage will be 
managed.  This should demonstrate all of the following criteria are met: 

a) that there is no net increase in flood risk on and off-site as a result of the proposed 
development, including at times of max ground water levels (measured as 137m at 
Delcombe woods bore hole); 

b) that any surface water connections do not link into the foul drainage network; 

c) that existing private drainage (if to be used) is in good structural working order.  If private 

Page 220



Milborne St Andrew Neighbourhood Plan SUBMISSION DRAFTFinal Version MayOctober 20198 

Page 59 

drainage systems are discovered to be unsound and contributing to ground water ingress to 
the public sewer system, remedial measures should be identified and delivered; 

d) that any infiltration techniques, if used, are appropriate to the local geological and 
groundwater conditions. 

  

Page 221



Milborne St Andrew Neighbourhood Plan SUBMISSION DRAFTFinal Version MayOctober 20198 

Page 60 

Appendix 1 – Supporting Documents 

Produced as part of the plan-making process 

The following documents were produced as part of the research into the Neighbourhood Plan: 

→ Strategic Environmental Assessment, Dorset Planning Consultant Limited plus supporting 
documents 

− Ecological Assessment of Sites, Bryan Edwards, DERC 

− Heritage Assessment of Sites, Kevin Morris Heritage Planning Ltd 

→ Basic Conditions Statement, Dorset Planning Consultant Limited 

→ Consultation Statement, Milborne St Andrew NPG 

→ Character Review Analysis, Milborne St Andrew NPG  

→ Employment Needs Assessment Report, Milborne St Andrew NPG 

→ Housing Needs Assessment Report, Dorset Planning Consultant Limited 

→ Local Green Spaces Assessment, Milborne St Andrew NPG  

→ Parking Report, Milborne St Andrew NPG 

→ PLACE Assessment Report, Feria Urbanism 

→ Traffic Management Study, AECOM 

 

Background information – other supporting evidence 

Additional information was also sourced from the following weblinks: 

 An Inventory of the Historical Monuments in Dorset, Volume 3, Central (1970, RCHME) 
http://www.british-history.ac.uk/rchme/dorset/vol3/pp175-182 

 Dark Skies Map (CPRE) http://nightblight.cpre.org.uk/maps/  

 Dorset AONB traffic in villages toolkit (2011, Dorset AONB Partnership) 
http://www.dorsetaonb.org.uk/assets/downloads/Dorset_AONB_Partnership/trafficinvilla
ges-web.pdf   

 Dorset Explorer mapped constraints (various Dorset Local Planning Authorities) 
https://explorer.geowessex.com/  

 Guidance Notes for the Reduction of Obtrusive Light GN01 (2011, The Institute of Lighting 
Professionals) https://www.theilp.org.uk/documents/obtrusive-light/guidance-notes-light-
pollution-2011.pdf  

 Employment Land Review: Review of Existing Sites (April 2007, North Dorset District 
Council) https://www.dorsetforyou.gov.uk/planning-buildings-land/planning-policy/north-
dorset/local-plan-part-1/submission/local-plan-evidence-base/pdfs/supporting-economic-
development/sed0011.pdf  

 North Dorset Landscape Character Assessment (March 2008, North Dorset District 
Council) https://www.dorsetforyou.gov.uk/planning-buildings-land/planning-policy/north-
dorset/local-plan-part-1/submission/local-plan-evidence-base/pdfs/north-dorset-
landscape-character-assessment.pdf  

Page 222

http://nightblight.cpre.org.uk/maps/
http://www.dorsetaonb.org.uk/assets/downloads/Dorset_AONB_Partnership/trafficinvillages-web.pdf
http://www.dorsetaonb.org.uk/assets/downloads/Dorset_AONB_Partnership/trafficinvillages-web.pdf
https://explorer.geowessex.com/
https://www.theilp.org.uk/documents/obtrusive-light/guidance-notes-light-pollution-2011.pdf
https://www.theilp.org.uk/documents/obtrusive-light/guidance-notes-light-pollution-2011.pdf
https://www.dorsetforyou.gov.uk/planning-buildings-land/planning-policy/north-dorset/local-plan-part-1/submission/local-plan-evidence-base/pdfs/north-dorset-landscape-character-assessment.pdf
https://www.dorsetforyou.gov.uk/planning-buildings-land/planning-policy/north-dorset/local-plan-part-1/submission/local-plan-evidence-base/pdfs/north-dorset-landscape-character-assessment.pdf
https://www.dorsetforyou.gov.uk/planning-buildings-land/planning-policy/north-dorset/local-plan-part-1/submission/local-plan-evidence-base/pdfs/north-dorset-landscape-character-assessment.pdf


Milborne St Andrew Neighbourhood Plan SUBMISSION DRAFTFinal Version MayOctober 20198 

Page 61 

 Dorset Heathlands Planning Framework 2015-2020 (January 2016, Dorset Local Planning 
Authorities) https://www.dorsetforyou.gov.uk/article/387392/Dorset-Heathlands-
Planning-Framework  

 North Dorset Local Plan Part 1 (January 2016, North Dorset District Council) 
https://www.dorsetforyou.gov.uk/planning-buildings-land/planning-policy/north-
dorset/the-north-dorset-local-plan/the-north-dorset-local-plan.aspx  

 Bournemouth, Dorset and Poole Workspace Strategy (October 2016, produced in 
association with the Bournemouth, Dorset and Poole local authorities and the Dorset 
Local Enterprise Partnership) https://www.dorsetforyou.gov.uk/planning-buildings-
land/planning-policy/joint-planning-policy-work/pdfs/workspace/bournemouth-dorset-
and-poole-workspace-strategy-2016.pdf  

 Nitrogen Reduction in Poole Harbour (April 2017, various Dorset Local Planning 
Authorities) https://www.dorsetforyou.gov.uk/planning-buildings-land/planning-
policy/purbeck/guidance-and-supplementary-planning-documents/pdfs/nitrogen-
reduction-in-poole-harbour-spd-adopted.pdf  

 

 

Page 223

https://www.dorsetforyou.gov.uk/article/387392/Dorset-Heathlands-Planning-Framework
https://www.dorsetforyou.gov.uk/article/387392/Dorset-Heathlands-Planning-Framework
https://www.dorsetforyou.gov.uk/planning-buildings-land/planning-policy/north-dorset/the-north-dorset-local-plan/the-north-dorset-local-plan.aspx
https://www.dorsetforyou.gov.uk/planning-buildings-land/planning-policy/north-dorset/the-north-dorset-local-plan/the-north-dorset-local-plan.aspx
https://www.dorsetforyou.gov.uk/planning-buildings-land/planning-policy/joint-planning-policy-work/pdfs/workspace/bournemouth-dorset-and-poole-workspace-strategy-2016.pdf
https://www.dorsetforyou.gov.uk/planning-buildings-land/planning-policy/joint-planning-policy-work/pdfs/workspace/bournemouth-dorset-and-poole-workspace-strategy-2016.pdf
https://www.dorsetforyou.gov.uk/planning-buildings-land/planning-policy/joint-planning-policy-work/pdfs/workspace/bournemouth-dorset-and-poole-workspace-strategy-2016.pdf
https://www.dorsetforyou.gov.uk/planning-buildings-land/planning-policy/purbeck/guidance-and-supplementary-planning-documents/pdfs/nitrogen-reduction-in-poole-harbour-spd-adopted.pdf
https://www.dorsetforyou.gov.uk/planning-buildings-land/planning-policy/purbeck/guidance-and-supplementary-planning-documents/pdfs/nitrogen-reduction-in-poole-harbour-spd-adopted.pdf
https://www.dorsetforyou.gov.uk/planning-buildings-land/planning-policy/purbeck/guidance-and-supplementary-planning-documents/pdfs/nitrogen-reduction-in-poole-harbour-spd-adopted.pdf


Milborne St Andrew Neighbourhood Plan SUBMISSION DRAFTFinal Version MayOctober 20198 

Page 62 

Appendix 2 – Traffic Management Concept [to be updated with final draft] 

 

  

Page 224



Milborne St Andrew Neighbourhood Plan SUBMISSION DRAFTFinal Version MayOctober 20198 

Page 63 

  

  

  

Page 225



Milborne St Andrew Neighbourhood Plan SUBMISSION DRAFTFinal Version MayOctober 20198 

Page 64 

 

Page 226



Date of Meeting: 25 June 2019 

Lead Member: Cllr David Walsh – Lead Member for Planning 

Lead Officer: N. Cardnell - Senior Planning Officer

Executive Summary:

The Broadwindsor Neighbourhood Plan has recently been subject to independent 
examination.  The purpose of this report is to consider the content of the Examiner’s report 
and agree that the plan, as modified, can proceed to referendum on the basis that it meets 
the basic conditions, is compatible with Convention rights, and complies with the definition 
of a neighbourhood development plan. 

Equalities Impact Assessment:

Part of the role of the independent examiner is to consider whether the neighbourhood 
plan would breach, or otherwise be incompatible with the European Convention on Human 
Rights. The examiner was satisfied that the neighbourhood plan meets this requirement.

Budget: 

There is a cost associated with holding the referendum. This is estimated as being in the 
region of £4,000. However now that the examination on the neighbourhood plan has been 
completed successfully, Dorset Council will be eligible for a Government grant of £20,000 
once a date for the referendum has been set. This will be sufficient to cover the costs 
associated with the examination and referendum.

Risk Assessment: 

Having considered the risks associated with this decision, the level of risk has been 
identified as:
Current Risk: LOW
Residual Risk LOW

No risks identified for this stage. Neighbourhood plans will become part of the 
development plan and therefore this plan will be used in future planning decisions in the 
parish of Broadwindsor 

Other Implications:

The referendum will be organised by Electoral Services. Ongoing support for the plan will 
be provided by Planning and Community Services.

Cabinet

Broadwindsor Neighbourhood Plan – 
Independent Examiner’s Report and 
Progress to Referendum 

Page 227

Agenda Item 12



Page 2 

Recommendation:

The following recommendations are made:
a) That the  Broadwindsor Neighbourhood Plan, as modified by  the 

recommendations in the examiner’s report (Appendix A), can proceed to 
referendum;

b) That a recommendation to make the Broadwindsor Neighbourhood Plan part of 
the Development Plan be made to the next Cabinet meeting after the 
referendum, if the results of the referendum are in support of the making of the 
plan and there are no other issues identified that would go against such a 
decision.

Reason for Recommendation:

To progress the Broadwindsor Neighbourhood Plan to referendum so that pending a 
favourable vote, the plan can be made part of the Development Plan for the Broadwindsor 
Neighbourhood Area. 

Appendices:

Appendix A: Examiners Report
Appendix B: Broadwindsor Neighbourhood Plan – Referendum Draft

Background Papers:

Documents relating to the Broadwindsor Neighbourhood Plan are available at 
https://www.dorsetforyou.gov.uk/broadwindsor-neighbourhood-plan

Officer Contact 
Name: N Cardnell, Senior Planning Officer
Tel: 01305 838263
Email: nick.cardnell@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk

1. Background and Reason Decision Needed

1.1. In November 2018 the Broadwindsor Group Parish Council submitted the draft 
Broadwindsor Neighbourhood Plan and supporting evidence to West Dorset District 
Council (replaced by Dorset Council on 1st April 2019). The plan was subject to 
significant public consultation during its production.

1.2. Consultation on the submitted draft plan and supporting documents was undertaken 
between 12 December 2018 and 6 February 2019. An independent examiner, Mr Brian 
Dodd, was appointed with the agreement of the Broadwindsor Group Parish Council to 
undertake the examination of the neighbourhood plan. The results of this formal 
consultation were sent to him for consideration during the examination of the 
neighbourhood plan.

Page 228

https://www.dorsetforyou.gov.uk/broadwindsor-neighbourhood-plan
mailto:nick.cardnell@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk


Page 3 

1.3. The examiner’s role was to check that the plan meets the ‘basic conditions’ which 
includes consideration of whether the plan breaches or is incompatible with EU 
obligations or Convention Rights. In doing so, the examiner has three options:

a. To conclude that the plan meets all legal requirements and should proceed to 
referendum;

b. To suggest some modifications to the plan to ensure legal compliance and 
that the plan as modified should proceed to referendum; or

c. To conclude that the plan does not meet the legal requirements and that it 
should not proceed.

1.4. If the examiner recommends that the plan should proceed, he or she must also state 
the area in which the referendum should be held, which may be extended beyond the 
area to which the plan applies.

1.5. Dorset Council (formally West Dorset District Council), as the local planning authority 
is required to consider each of the recommendations in the examiner’s report and 
decide what action to take in response to each recommendation.

1.6. The examiner issued his report on the examination of the Broadwindsor 
Neighbourhood Plan to the council on 26 April 2019. This report is included in 
Appendix A. The report was forwarded to the Group Parish Council for their 
consideration. 

1.7. The examiner, in his report states that no issues have been raised in relation to the 
possible contravention of the human rights in consultations undertaken in preparation 
of the Plan. The examiner also raised no concerns with EU Obligations.  

1.8. The examiner made a series of recommendations to modify a number of policies and 
the text to ensure that the neighbourhood plan would meet the ‘basic conditions’ and 
other legal requirements. In his report, the examiner recommended that:

a. The plan, once modified, should proceed to referendum; and

b. The referendum should be held over the neighbourhood area only (i.e. the 
parishes of Broadwindsor, Seaborough and Burstock)

1.9. Therefore it is proposed to amend the neighbourhood plan, as submitted, to reflect the 
modifications recommended by the examiner (See Appendix A Examiners Report). 
The Plan as modified by the examiner’s recommendations is included as Appendix B.

1.10. The Group Parish Council formally considered the changes detailed in the examiner’s 
report at their meeting on 13 May 2019 confirming that the changes were agreed. The 
Group Parish Council will then be notified of Cabinet’s decisions.

Page 229



Page 4 

1.11. The referendum will be organised by the Returning Officer of Dorset Council, with the 
Group Parish Council, local members and Planning Portfolio Holder being kept 
informed of the arrangements. It is hoped that the referendum could be in August 
2019.

1.12. Should the referendum return a positive result, the council must make the plan part of 
the Development Plan for the neighbourhood area (bring it into legal force) within 8 
weeks of the referendum date unless legal challenges arise which are unresolved by 
the end of this 8 week period.

1.13. Subject to the result of the referendum and any legal challenges, the intention is for the 
plan to be brought to the next available cabinet meeting after the referendum with a 
recommendation that the plan be formally made part of the Development Plan for the 
neighbourhood area. 

Page 230



 

 

 

 

 

Broadwindsor Group Parishes 

Neighbourhood Plan  

2018 – 2031 
  

 

A report to Dorset Council1   

on the Examination of  

the Broadwindsor Group Parishes Neighbourhood Plan  

 

 

 

 

  

  

  

by Brian Dodd BA MPhil MRTPI 

Independent Examiner 
 

 

26 April 2019

                                                           
1 On 1 April 2019 the county's nine councils were replaced by two new organisations, Dorset Council and Bournemouth, 

Christchurch and Poole Council.  This report, which was prepared largely on the basis of the submitted documents and 

the Regulation 16 responses, refers to ‘West Dorset District Council’ throughout, except in the ‘Response’ sections of 

Appendix 2. 

Page 231



 

 

CONTENTS 

 

Summary of this report  

 

Abbreviations 

 

1. Introduction 

 

2. Location and characteristics 

 

3. The basis for this examination 

 

3.1 The basic conditions 

 

3.2 Other statutory requirements 

 

3.3 National policy  

 

3.4 Existing development plan and proposed new local plan 

 

4. Vision, Objectives and Policies 
 

4.1 Vision and Objectives 

 

4.2 Policy BGNP4A Local Wildlife Corridors and Protected Species 

 

4.3 Policy BGNP8  Meeting the area’s housing needs 

 

4.4 Policy BGNP10  Land south of Fullers, opposite Redlands Lane, Broadwindsor 

 

4.5 Policy BGNP11  Land at Manor Farm, Common Water Lane, Broadwindsor 

 

4.6 Policy BGNP14  Land East of Netherhay Lane, adjoining Drimpton 

 

4.7 Policy BGNP16  Land at Brent Paddock, Netherhay  

 

4.8 Policy BGNP17  Land at Axe Mill, Netherhay 

 

5. Other matters 

 

6. Conclusions on the basic conditions 

 

7. Formal recommendation 

 

Appendix 1 Summary table of recommendations 

 

Appendix 2 Examiner’s Questions to WDDC and BGPC, and their responses 

 

Page 232



 

BROADWINDSOR GROUP PARISHES NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN. EXAMINER’S REPORT.1 

 

Summary of this report 

 

It is clear that a great deal of commitment and effort has gone into the production of the 

Broadwindsor Group Parishes Neighbourhood Plan (BGPNP), and that it is founded on a desire to 

provide suitable and environmentally friendly homes, local employment and local services, whilst 

protecting the Dorset Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty which is highly valued by the local 

community. 

 

The vision and objectives convey comprehensively and clearly the key concerns of the BGPNP.  The 

policies of the BGPNP further these objectives. 

 

The Basic Conditions Statement sets out clearly and thoroughly the relationship between the 

policies of the BGPNP and national and local policy.  Sustainability has been addressed in the 

consideration of potential housing sites in the Strategic Environmental Assessment. 

 

There is no doubt that in these respects the basic conditions have been fully addressed. 

 

I make a small number of recommendations for modifications to the BGPNP.  These are mainly 

concerned with clarity, accuracy and internal consistency. 

 

I recommend that, once modified, the BGPNP should proceed to a referendum.  The area of the 

referendum should be the Neighbourhood Plan Area. 

 

 

 

 

Abbreviations 

 

AONB    Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 

BGPNP    Broadwindsor Group Parishes Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2031 

BGPNPSG Broadwindsor Group Parishes Neighbourhood Plan Steering Group 

BGPC    Broadwindsor Group Parish Council 

HRA    Habitats Regulations Assessment 

JLPR    Joint Local Plan Review for West Dorset and Weymouth & Portland  

LPA     Local Planning Authority (WDDC) 

NP    Neighbourhood Plan 

NPA    Neighbourhood Plan Area 

NPPF    National Planning Policy Framework 

PPG    Planning Practice Guidance 

SEA    Strategic Environmental Assessment 

The Council    West Dorset District Council 

The Framework   NPPF 

The Parish Council  Broadwindsor Group Parish Council 

WDWPLP West Dorset, Weymouth and Portland Local Plan 2011-2031 (adopted 

October 2015) 

WDDC     West Dorset District Council 

Page 233



 

BROADWINDSOR GROUP PARISHES NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN. EXAMINER’S REPORT.2 

1. Introduction 

 

1.1 The draft Broadwindsor Group Parishes Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2031 (BGPNP) has been 

prepared by Broadwindsor Group Parish Council (BGPC).  The designated Neighbourhood 

Plan Area (NPA) covers the three parishes of Broadwindsor, Seaborough and Burstock. 

 

1.2 I have been appointed by West Dorset District Council (WDDC), with the consent of BGPC, to 

carry out the independent examination of the BGPNP, in accordance with the relevant 

legislation2.  My appointment has been facilitated by the Independent Examination Service 

provided by Trevor Roberts Associates. 

 

1.3 As required by the legislation, I am independent of BGPC and WDDC, I do not have an interest 

in any land that may be affected by the draft plan, and I have appropriate qualifications and 

experience.  I am a chartered town planner and accredited mediator with wide experience in 

local and central government and private consultancy. 

 

1.4 In carrying out this examination I have visited the locality, unaccompanied, and had regard to 

the following documents: 

 

• Broadwindsor Group Parishes Neighbourhood Plan, Submission Draft, October 2018 

• Broadwindsor Group Parishes Neighbourhood Plan, Basic Conditions Statement, 

November 2018 

• Broadwindsor Group Parishes Neighbourhood Plan, Consultation Statement, November 

2018 

• Broadwindsor Group Parishes Neighbourhood Plan Strategic Environmental Assessment  

Submission Stage Environmental Report, October 2018 

• Background and supporting documentation on the dorsetforyou and Broadwindsor Group 

Parish Council websites 

• Regulation 16 representations 

• West Dorset, Weymouth and Portland Local Plan 2011-2031 (adopted October 2015) 

1.5 Representations on the BGPNP were submitted by National Grid, South West Water, West 

Dorset District Council and five local residents.  I have taken all these representations fully 

into account.  WDDC also sent me a late representation made by Historic England.  The fact 

that they sent it to me implies that they intended that I should take it into account.  The 

representation is in fact a re-statement of Historic England’s earlier advice, and does not raise 

any new issues.  I consider the matters raised by Historic England in the appropriate sections 

of my report, below.  

 

1.6 Where representations express support for the plan or make comments of a very general 

nature, I make no specific reference to them.  I deal with the remaining representations 

under the appropriate policy headings below.  In section 4, below, I list only those policies 

which require comment, either because of the representations or because I have identified 

matters which require modification. 

                                                           
2 Localism Act 2011 

  Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended 

  Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 as amended 

  The Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 as amended 

  Neighbourhood Planning Act 2017 

 
Page 234



 

BROADWINDSOR GROUP PARISHES NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN. EXAMINER’S REPORT.3 

1.7 Wherever possible, the examination of the issues by the examiner should be by consideration 

of the written representations.  The examiner must cause a hearing to be held where it is 

necessary to ensure adequate examination of a particular issue, or where it is necessary to 

give a person a fair chance to put a case3.  In this instance, the written representations are for 

the most part detailed, coherent, and supported by up to date evidence.  In my view it was 

not necessary for a hearing to be held.  

 

1.8 Throughout the process of preparing the BGPNP between 2015 and 2018 the Broadwindsor 

Parishes Neighbourhood Plan Steering Group (BGPNPSG) sought to inform and involve the 

community.  The means of doing so included: advertising in local media, house to house 

distribution of questionnaires and information, publication of minutes of Parish Council 

meetings and steering group meetings, public meetings, household and business 

questionnaire surveys, a call for sites to local landowners, and several roadshows. 
 

1.9 It is clear that a great deal of commitment and effort has gone into the production of the 

BGPNP, and that it is founded on a desire to provide suitable and environmentally friendly 

homes, local employment and local services, whilst protecting the Dorset Area of 

Outstanding Natural Beauty which is highly valued by the local community. 

 

2. Location and characteristics 

2.1 The parish has a population of around 1400, concentrated in the village of Broadwindsor, 

which is set in an undulating rural landscape.  There are 95 listed buildings within the NPA, 29 

of them lying within the Broadwindsor Conservation Area.  Broadwindsor is served by a 

community shop, a pub, a craft centre, a restaurant, a primary school, a community hall, a 

church, recreation areas and allotments.  Drimpton, the next largest settlement, has a pub, a 

village hall, a church and a recreation ground. 

2.2 Much of the Neighbourhood Plan Area is said to lie within the Dorset Area of Outstanding 

Natural Beauty (AONB).  It is clear from the Vision and Objectives of the plan, from its 

policies, and from the supporting text, that the AONB is of the utmost importance in the 

planning of the area.  However, nowhere in the plan is there a map showing the boundaries 

of the AONB, and it is not clear whether the villages are ‘washed over‘ by the AONB 

designation.  In the interests of clarity, I recommend that a map showing the extent of the 

AONB within the parish boundaries should be included in the plan, and that a reference to 

that map should be inserted at the end of the second sentence of paragraph 1.9.   

3. The basis for this examination 

 

3.1 The basic conditions 

 

3.1.1 In brief, the basic conditions which must be met by the BGPNP are: 

 

• it must have regard to national policy and advice 

• it must contribute to the achievement of sustainable development 

• it must be in general conformity with the strategic policies in the development plan for 

the local area 

                                                           
3   Paragraph 9 of Schedule 4B to the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) 

Page 235



 

BROADWINDSOR GROUP PARISHES NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN. EXAMINER’S REPORT.4 

• it must be compatible with EU obligations, including human rights requirements 

• the making of the plan must not breach the requirements of Chapter 8 of Part 6 of the 

Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017.  

3.1.2 I shall deal in more detail with each of these conditions below. 

 

3.1.3  The examination is meant to be carried out with a ‘light touch’.  I am not concerned with the 

‘soundness’ of the plan, but whether it meets the basic conditions. 

 

3.1.4 The BGPNP has been the subject of a full Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA). 

 

3.1.5 Consideration of the need for a Habitats Regulations Assessment was undertaken by West 

Dorset District Council in early October 2018.  In their opinion there are no pathways for the 

policies and allocations in the BGPNP to cause significant effects for any European sites. 

 

3.2 Other statutory requirements 

3.2.1 When submitted to the local planning authority (LPA), a Neighbourhood Development Plan 

should be accompanied by a map or statement identifying the area to which the plan relates, 

a `basic conditions statement’ explaining how the basic conditions are met, and a 

`consultation statement’ containing details of those consulted, how they were consulted, 

their main issues and concerns and how these have been considered and where relevant 

addressed in the plan. 

 

3.2.2 The submitted BGPNP was accompanied by a map of the area to which the plan relates. 

 

3.2.3 A basic conditions statement was submitted with the BGPNP. 

 

3.2.4 A consultation statement was submitted with the BGPNP. 

3.2.5 The BGPNP must meet other legal requirements, including: 

 

• that it is being submitted by a qualifying body (as defined by the legislation) 

 

• that what is being proposed is a NP as defined in the legislation 

 

• that the BGPNP states the period for which it is to have effect 

 

• that the policies do not relate to `excluded development’ 

 

• that the proposed BGPNP does not relate to more than one neighbourhood area 

 

• that there are no other NPs in place within the neighbourhood area. 

 

3.2.6 The requirements listed in paragraph 3.2.5 have all been met. 

 

3.3 National policy 

 

3.3.1 National policy is set out in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) originally 

published in 2012 and revised in July 2018 and February 2019.  Paragraph 214 of the revised 

Page 236



 

BROADWINDSOR GROUP PARISHES NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN. EXAMINER’S REPORT.5 

version of the NPPF says that where a neighbourhood plan is submitted to the LPA under 

Regulation 15 of the Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 on or before 24 

January 2019, as in this case, the policies in the 2012 NPPF will apply for the purposes of the 

examination. 

 

3.3.2 The Framework is supported by web-based Planning Practice Guidance (PPG). 

 

3.4 Existing development plan and proposed new local plan  

 

3.4.1 The existing development plan for Broadwindsor is the West Dorset, Weymouth and Portland 

Local Plan 2011-2031 (WDWPLP), adopted in October 2015. 
 

3.4.2 In the WDWPLP Broadwindsor is listed as a settlement with a defined development 

boundary.  Within the defined development boundary, residential, employment and other 

development to meet the needs of the local area will normally be permitted.  Outside that 

boundary, development will be strictly controlled.  Most of the development in West Dorset 

will take place around the larger and more sustainable settlements. 

  

3.4.3 WDDC have embarked upon a Local Plan Review.  A Preferred Options document was the 

subject of public consultation between August and October 2018.  I discuss the implications 

of the Local Plan Review for housing at paragraph 5.16 below.  Otherwise, at its present 

stage, the Local Plan Review appears to have little or no material bearing upon the issues 

before me in this examination. 

 

4. Vision, Objectives and Policies 

 

4.1   Vision and Objectives 

 

4.1.1 In summary, the vision and objectives of the BGPNP seek, amongst other things: to provide   

sufficient suitable and environmentally friendly homes, which fit into the Dorset Area of 

Outstanding Natural Beauty; to provide good schools, safe roadways and support for local 

employment and local services; to protect and enhance beautiful landscape, built heritage, 

rural character and environmental diversity; to support and improve community facilities and 

quality of life.  The policies of the BGPNP appear to me to further these objectives. 

 

4.1.2 The relationship of the BGPNP policies to national and local policies is set out 

comprehensively in the Basic Conditions Report.  

 

4.2 Policy BGNP4A.  Local Wildlife Corridors and Protected Species 

 

4.2.1 WDDC query the requirement for a Biodiversity Mitigation and Enhancement Plan to be 

submitted with any planning application on a site of more than 0.1 hectare.  They feel that it 

is unnecessary, as it appears in their standard list of requirements for submitting a valid 

planning application. 

 

4.2.2 I note that, strangely, the WDDC list also includes a less stringent (and on the face of it more 

reasonable) requirement, namely that a Biodiversity Appraisal accompanied by a 

standardised Biodiversity Mitigation Plan (BMP) is required for all greenfield or brownfield 

development sites over 0.1ha in size, where not currently used as existing residential or 

business premises. 

Page 237



 

BROADWINDSOR GROUP PARISHES NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN. EXAMINER’S REPORT.6 

 

4.2.3 The Parish Council wish to ensure that this requirement should be maintained within the NP 

area, should the WDDC list fail to be maintained in the future.  Given the importance 

attached by the BGPNP to biodiversity in this largely rural area, this does not seem to me to 

be an unreasonable position.  However, in order to ensure that developers in the NP area are 

not treated less favourably than those elsewhere, I recommend that the final sentence of 

Policy BGNP4A should be amended to read:  ‘A Biodiversity Mitigation and Enhancement Plan 

must be submitted with any planning application for greenfield or brownfield development 

sites over 0.1ha in size where not currently used as existing residential or business premises, 

and with any planning application which is likely to give rise to an adverse impact on 

biodiversity’. 

 

4.3 Policy BGNP8.  Meeting the area’s housing needs 

 

4.3.1 The policy and its supporting text say that an appropriate level of housing growth will be an 

average of 4 to 5 dwellings per annum.  WDDC query this figure, but they do not provide any 

convincing evidence for a different figure.  WDWPLP does not give any targets for the parish 

or for individual settlements within it.  The parish council rely upon their own research, a 

Housing Needs Review which examined a number of different indicators.  I see no good 

reason to change the figure in the policy. 

 

4.3.2 WDDC suggest the use of ‘homes for first time buyers’ rather than ‘starter homes’.  They give 

no convincing reason for this.   

 

4.3.3 Paragraph 5.3 of the plan, and its accompanying footnote, purport to define the meaning of 

‘starter home’ in law.  There are definitions in Planning Policy Guidance and in the Housing 

and Planning Act 2016.  There is a definition in the revised versions of NPPF (but not in the 

2012 version, which is the relevant version for this examination).  There may be other 

definitions. 

 

4.3.4 Footnote 1 of the BGPNP gives a very broad definition, which approximates to the statutory 

definition except in one regard.  It says that the restrictions applying to starter homes should 

apply for a minimum of 15 years.  This figure is taken from the ‘Government response to the 

technical consultation on starter homes regulations’ (February 2017) (see Appendix 2 of this 

report, responses to EQ3).  However, I am not aware that this proposal has yet been given 

legal force.  If it has, then the definition in Footnote 1 can stand.  If it has not, then the 

reference to the 15 year period should be deleted.  I so recommend.  

 

4.3.5 Policy BGNP8 sets out the local need and preference for smaller properties.  It says that 

larger homes will require special justification and that they should be designed to allow for 

future subdivision.  WDDC query the second of these requirements.  Whilst it is an unusual 

aspiration, the policy does recognise that such a design might be impracticable. 

 

4.4 Policy BGNP10.  Land south of Fullers, opposite Redlands Lane, Broadwindsor 

 

4.4.1 Planning permission has been granted for up to 22 dwellings on this site.  The BGPNP 

allocates only ‘up to 10’ dwellings.  In the interests of accuracy, the policy itself, and the 

supporting text, including paragraph 5.23 and Table 5 (‘Potential sites for inclusion’) should 

be amended, and I so recommend. 

Page 238



 

BROADWINDSOR GROUP PARISHES NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN. EXAMINER’S REPORT.7 

 4.5 Policy BGNP11.  Land at Manor Farm, Common Water Lane, Broadwindsor 

 

4.5.1 Paragraph 5.38 of the plan describes the setting of a proposed site for housing.  A 

neighbouring building, Manor Farmhouse, is described as a ‘Locally Important Building’.  

WDDC express concern about ‘a Grade II Listed Building in close proximity to the site’.  In 

response to my question (see Appendix 2, EQ4), it appears that WDDC are referring to 
Broadwindsor House, which is located about 60m to the south-east of the proposed housing 

site.  Moreover, it appears from the Parish Council’s response to my question that there may 

be a third building of importance, lying to the west of the site.  Since a heritage assessment is 

required by the policy, it is important that the location of the buildings which are of concern 

should be accurately identified.  I recommend that this matter should be resolved by 

discussion between WDDC and BGPC, and that the text of paragraph 5.38 should be 

amended if necessary. 

 

4.6 Policy BGNP14.  Land East of Netherhay Lane, adjoining Drimpton 

 

4.6.1 On page 35 of the plan there is a section headed ‘Site 7: Land East of Netherhay Lane: 

exception site for affordable housing’.  This is incorrect.  The site in question is numbered ‘7a’ 

on the Policies Map and in all the relevant documentation supporting the plan.  In the 

interests of accuracy and clarity I recommend that the heading on page 35 should be 

changed accordingly. 

 

4.6.2 Following a ‘call for sites’, eleven sites for housing and employment were evaluated as part of 

the SEA.  They included the whole of the important gap between Drimpton and Netherhay, 

known as ‘Site 7’.  Eight sites were taken forward into the plan, including part of Site 7, 

identified in the plan as ‘Site 7a’.  Site 7a is being promoted by the Broadwindsor Group 

Parish Community Land Trust for affordable housing development.   

 

4.6.3 This proposed housing site has provoked concern and opposition from a number of 

respondents.  The main issues are: that there is insufficient local demand to justify 15 

dwellings on the site; the site falls within an important gap separating Drimpton from 

Netherhay; the development of the site would affect the setting of two Listed Buildings in 

Netherhay; concerns about the drainage of the site; concerns about the impact upon 

Netherhay Lane, a narrow road without footways which is used by walkers and joggers; 

concerns about sustainability, Drimpton having few facilities;  concerns about the over-

development of Drimpton; allegations that the allocation of the site lacks local support; that 

there is a more suitable alternative site; that the site is within the AONB; that there is a risk of 

pollution from sewage treatment.  I deal with each of these matters in turn, below.  

 

Demand for dwellings  

 

4.6.4 The BGPNP sets out the justification for its housing requirements, and there is no convincing 

evidence before me to suggest that the proposed development would exceed that which is 

necessary to cater for local need in the NPA. 

 

 Effect upon the important gap separating Drimpton from Netherhay  

 

4.6.5 I have inspected the site from the public footpaths nearby.  Whilst the development of the 

site would have a significant impact upon the important gap, I think that there would still be 

a meaningful degree of separation between the two settlements.  The distance between the 

Page 239



 

BROADWINDSOR GROUP PARISHES NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN. EXAMINER’S REPORT.8 

proposed development and the nearest buildings in Netherhay would be at least 170 metres 

(see Appendix 2 of this report, responses to EQ7).   

 

Effect upon the setting of two Listed Buildings in Netherhay 

 

4.6.6 The distance between the Listed Buildings and the new development would be sufficient to 

preclude any sense of an overbearing presence or intrusion.  Clearly the new development 

would constitute a new feature in the setting of the Listed Buildings, but at such a distance 

the visual impact would not be great. 

 

Drainage of the site 

 

4.6.7 The policy requires the provision of a drainage strategy to ensure that run-off from the site is 

suitably managed.  This could be the subject of a planning condition if development were to 

be permitted on the site. 

 

Effect upon Netherhay Lane 

 

4.6.8 Netherhay Lane is a narrow road without footways which is used by walkers and joggers.  

According to the NP, the lane is not heavily trafficked, and the bus service which uses it is 

infrequent.  Although the design of an access onto Netherhay Lane would require care, no 

more than 15 dwellings would be permitted on the site, and there is no convincing evidence 

before me to suggest that the traffic generated would be sufficient to constitute a significant 

threat to safety or to amenity.  

 

Sustainability 

 

4.6.9 Drimpton has few facilities, and it is likely that the occupiers of the proposed dwellings would 

be reliant upon private transport for many of their daily needs.  To that extent the 

development would lack sustainability.  However, this would be true for any site other than 

those on the edge of Broadwindsor, and there is a balance to be struck between the need for 

sustainability and the need to provide affordable housing within the NP area.  The Parish 

Council have made a reasonable planning judgement taking into account the results of the 

SEA. 

 

Over-development of Drimpton 

 

4.6.10 Drimpton is a small settlement, housing around 25% of the NP area population (around 350 

people).  Broadwindsor houses around 40% (around 560 people).  The results of the ‘call for 

sites’, and the findings of the subsequent SEA, led to the allocation of sites for up to 27 

dwellings around Drimpton (46% of the total) and up to 32 around Broadwindsor (54% of the 

total).  Based solely on the existing populations of the two settlements (leaving aside the lack 

of facilities in Drimpton) these are not unreasonable numbers.   In any event, I do not think 

that the addition of 15 dwellings on this site adjoining the built up area of Drimpton would 

appear obviously disproportionate or overwhelming in the context of the existing 

development. 

 

Page 240



 

BROADWINDSOR GROUP PARISHES NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN. EXAMINER’S REPORT.9 

Lack of local support 

 

4.6.11 Objectors argue that a minority of local residents support this site.  However, examination of 

the Consultation Statement shows that 177 people commented upon the various site 

options.  80 people found this site acceptable, 69 found it unacceptable, and 28 did not give 

an opinion.  A majority of those who expressed an opinion were in favour.  

 

Alternative site 

 

4.6.12 Objectors suggest that Site 14 (Land at Axe Mill, Netherhay) should be developed for housing 

as well as employment (its present designation).  Whilst this would be an option, I saw that 

Site 14 is relatively isolated, and would be less sustainable than Site 7a. 

 

Impact upon the AONB 

 

4.6.13 The site is within the AONB, as are most of the sites assessed by the SEA.  The policy requires 

that appropriate landscaping should be provided to avoid the development being prominent 

in long-distance views. 

 

Risk of pollution 

 

4.6.14  There is no convincing evidence before me to suggest that a properly designed, installed and 

maintained sewage treatment plant would pose a significant risk of pollution. 

 

Summary 

 

4.6.15 Taking all these matters together, I consider that the Parish Council have properly identified 

the adverse effects of developing the site, as set out in the SEA, and have assessed the 

balance between those adverse effects and the benefits of development.  They have made a 

reasonable planning judgement that the site should be developed to help provide the 

affordable housing needed within the NP area.  The policy seeks to mitigate the impact of any 

scheme by requiring appropriate design and landscaping, safe access, a drainage strategy, 

and the protection of trees and hedgerows. 

 

4.7 Policy BGNP16.  Land at Brent Paddock, Netherhay  

 

4.7.1 WDDC are concerned that the development of this housing site would have an impact upon 

the setting of a Listed Methodist Chapel.  However, there is existing development between 

the site and the chapel, which lies some distance to the south, and the policy requires that 

buildings on the site should not exceed the height of that development.  Given that 

restriction, it is highly unlikely that development of this site could have a material impact 

upon the setting of the Listed Building. 

 

4.7.2 WDDC say that ‘there is now a requirement for a Heritage Assessment’.  This requirement 

does not appear in the policy or the supporting text.  If the Parish Council consider that such 

an assessment is required, it should be mentioned in the policy. 

  

 

 

 

Page 241



 

BROADWINDSOR GROUP PARISHES NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN. EXAMINER’S REPORT.10 

4.8 Policy BGNP17.  Land at Axe Mill, Netherhay 

 

4.8.1 WDDC are concerned about the preservation of the hedgerows along Axe Lane and on the 

southern boundary of the site, because of the proximity of the Listed Methodist Chapel.  The 

policy contains two clauses relating to hedgerows.  They are worded differently, one being 

concerned with screening outdoor storage and parking, the other being concerned with 

biodiversity.  It would be helpful to combine the two clauses, and to add a requirement that 

any hedgerows or trees that are removed or damaged should be replaced.  I so recommend. 

  

5. Other matters 

 

5.1 Once made, the plan will be a formal part of the Development Plan.  It is therefore vital that 

it can be fully understood by any interested reader, including those with no prior knowledge 

of the area.  Maps must therefore be clear and legible and easily understandable.  Not all of 

the maps in the BGNP meet these tests, and some should be improved or replaced (see 

below).  

 

5.2 Map 2 (‘Sites of Special Scientific Interest and Ecological Networks’) is so small and complex 

that in practice it is unreadable.  I recommend that it be replaced by a map which is fit for 

purpose. 

 

5.3 Map 3 (‘Assessment of Settlements and Gaps’) is very difficult to read, because of the scale, 

the choice of colours, and the choice of notation.  I recommend that the map should be 

revised in the interests of clarity. 

 

5.4 Map 4 (‘Flood risk from rivers’) has no key, and therefore lacks clarity and intelligibility.  I 

recommend that a key should be provided. 

 

5.5 The key (‘Legend’) to the Policies Map for the Broadwindsor area (page 42) contains a 

reference to ‘RES’.  There is no explanation for these initials.  They presumably mean ‘Rural 

Exception Site’.  I recommend that either these words should appear in the key, if relevant, 

or that the notation should be removed from the key to the Broadwindsor area map.  Ideally, 

precisely the same key should be used for all three pages of the Policies Map, and this is not 

the case at present.  

 

5.6 In Table 2 (‘Proposed Local Green Spaces’) the note against site LGS19 says ‘Common Land 

designated DWT as a wildlife site …’.  The meaning of this is not immediately clear.  No 

explanation of the initials ‘DWT’ appears in the plan.  The word ‘by’ appears to have been 

omitted from the note.  The note should be amended to read ‘Common Land designated by 

Dorset Wildlife Trust as a wildlife site …’ and I so recommend.  (See Appendix 2 of this report, 

response to EQ6.) 

 

5.7 In the interests of accuracy and clarity, I recommend that the word ‘of’ be inserted after the 

word ‘diversion’ in Policy BGNP4 (Green Way Community Path and Common Water Lane). 

 

5.8 In the interests of accuracy and clarity, I recommend that the word ‘providing’ be replaced by 

the word ‘provided’ in Policy BGNP5 (Important Gaps). 

 

5.9 In paragraph 2.37, in the interests of accuracy and clarity, I recommend that the word 

‘discretely’ should be replaced by the word ‘discreetly’.  

Page 242



 

BROADWINDSOR GROUP PARISHES NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN. EXAMINER’S REPORT.11 

 

5.10 Paragraphs 5.1 to 5.3 of the plan deal with housing.  Paragraphs 5.4 to 5.7 deal with 

employment.  Paragraph 5.8 deals with both.  Paragraphs 5.9 and 5.10 deal with housing.  

Paragraph 5.11 deals with employment.  I see no logical reason for interweaving the two 

subjects in this way.  The plan would in my view be clearer and easier to use if the two 

subjects were separated.  However, this is not a matter which bears upon the basic 

conditions and I make no formal recommendation on the matter. 

 

5.11 Policies BGNP10 to BGNP12 and Policies BGNP14 to 17 deal with individual sites for 

development.  It would help users of the plan to identify the sites on the Policies Map if the 

site reference numbers were included in the policy headings, and I so recommend. 

 

5.12 Paragraph 5.13 of the BGPNP says that the WDWPLP identifies Broadwindsor as the main 

focus for new development, and that ‘it would follow that most, if not all, new housing and 

employment should be located at this village’.  The subsequent text describes the process of 

site selection, and deals with the allocated sites in detail.  Sites for up to 32 dwellings have 

been allocated around Broadwindsor, and sites for up to 27 dwellings and an employment 

site have been allocated around Drimpton.  Whilst it can be inferred that the relative dearth 

of suitable sites put forward around Broadwindsor has led to this outcome (and it is stated in 

paragraph 5.30), it would be helpful if the reasons for the greater than expected focus on 

Drimpton were clearly explained in or immediately following paragraph 5.13, and I so 

recommend. 

 

5.13 Paragraph 5.30 of the BGPNP says that the Local Plan strategy suggests that ‘at least 70% of 

growth [should be] within or close to Broadwindsor’. 

 

5.14 However, paragraph 3.3.27 of the local plan says merely: ‘This plan does not include targets 

for development in these [the rural] areas’.  Policy SUS2 of the Local Plan says: ‘Development 

in rural areas will be directed to the settlements with defined development boundaries, and 

will take place at an appropriate scale to the size of the settlement. Settlements with no 

defined development boundary may also have some growth to meet their local needs’.  

These statements fall well short of the interpretation given in the BGPNP, and there is no 

reference to 70% of development taking place within or close to Broadwindsor. 

 

5.15 The Parish Council accept that there are no references to 70% in the Local Plan (see Appendix 

2 of this report, responses to EQ2).  The 70% figure is derived from the Parish Council’s 

attempt to interpret the SUS2 proposals that growth should be directed to the settlements 

with defined development boundaries and working out what this might mean in terms of the 

ideal distribution. 

 

5.16 The Parish Council also rely upon advice given by WDDC and the emerging Local Plan Review.  

However, the Local Plan Review’s Preferred Options document says:  “The local plan review’s 

strategic allocations provide the main development opportunities and are fundamental to 

delivering sufficient development.  These are located at Beaminster, Bridport, Chickerell, 

Crossways, Dorchester, Lyme Regis, the settlements on Portland, Sherborne and Weymouth 

(including an area north of Littlemoor that lies partly within West Dorset) and are indicated in 

Table 3.3.  Redevelopment and infill opportunities on sites within the defined development 

boundaries (DDBs) of the main towns and other settlements will also contribute towards 

meeting the requirements.  Development opportunities in rural areas will be focused 

primarily at the larger villages and should take place at an appropriate scale to the size of the 

Page 243



 

BROADWINDSOR GROUP PARISHES NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN. EXAMINER’S REPORT.12 

village (unless identified as a strategic allocation).  Neighbourhood development plans will 

also bring forward new development, and may allocate additional sites, or extend an existing 

(or add a new) development boundary to help deliver growth.  Away from existing 

settlements, development opportunities will be more limited and focussed on those activities 

that will help meet essential rural needs and support the rural economy.” 

 

5.17 This approach does not appear to me to differ significantly from that set out in the WDWPLP.  

It is in my view inappropriate for the BGPNP to suggest or imply that the 70% figure is in any 

way derived from established or emerging local plan policy.  Whilst it might seem reasonable 

for the Parish Council to adopt their own 70% target for the purposes of the BGPNP, it seems 

pointless to do so when the dearth of suitable development sites makes it impossible to 

achieve within the plan period. 

 

 5.18 I therefore recommend that paragraphs 5.13 and 5.30 be revised to reflect accurately the 

wording of the WDWPLP. 

 

5.19 WDDC say that ‘it is normal practice’ that the defined development boundary for 

Broadwindsor should be redrawn to incorporate the housing sites allocated by the NP.  

However, I do not consider that to be sufficient justification for extending the boundary; for 

example, it would not be appropriate in the case of rural exception sites, and there may be 

other good reasons for not re-drawing the boundary.  The issue does not weigh greatly in my 

consideration of the basic conditions, and is one which can readily be resolved by discussion 

between WDDC and BGPC.      

 

6. Conclusions on the basic conditions 

 

6.1 For the reasons set out above, I conclude that, subject to my recommended modifications, 

the BGPNP has appropriate regard to national policy and advice, conforms with the strategic 

policies of the development plan for the local area, and will contribute to the achievement of 

sustainable development. 

 

6.2  There is no evidence before me to suggest that the BGPNP is not compatible with EU 

obligations, including human rights requirements. 

 

6.3 There is no evidence before me to suggest that the BGPNP has any significant adverse effect 

on any `European site’, or that it breaches the requirements of Chapter 8 of Part 6 of the 

Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017. 

 

7. Formal recommendation 

 

7.1 I have concluded that, provided that the recommendations set out above are followed, the 

BGPNP would meet the basic conditions. 

 

7.2 I therefore recommend that the BGPNP, as modified, should proceed to a referendum. 

 

7.3 There is no evidence to suggest that the area of the referendum should be anything other 

than the Neighbourhood Plan Area, as defined by Map 1 of the BGPNP. 

 

 

  

Page 244



 

BROADWINDSOR GROUP PARISHES NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN. EXAMINER’S REPORT.13 

Brian Dodd 

                                              

Brian Dodd, BA MPhil MRTPI 

Chartered Town Planner and Accredited Mediator 

26 April 2019 

Page 245



 

BROADWINDSOR GROUP PARISHES NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN. EXAMINER’S REPORT.14 

APPENDIX 1 – SUMMARY TABLE OF RECOMMENDATIONS 

 

Examiner’s 

report 

paragraph 

BGPNP reference Recommendation 

2.2 Paragraph 1.9 Add to the plan a map showing the extent of the AONB within 

the parish boundaries, and insert a reference to that map at the 

end of the second sentence of paragraph 1.9.   

4.2.3 Policy BGNP4A Amend final sentence to read: ‘A Biodiversity Mitigation and 

Enhancement Plan must be submitted with any planning 

application for greenfield or brownfield development sites over 

0.1ha in size where not currently used as existing residential or 

business premises, and with any planning application which is 

likely to give rise to an adverse impact on biodiversity’. 

4.3.4 Page 23, 

Footnote 1 

If the 15 year restriction period has now been given legal force, 

the footnote can stand.  If not, the words ‘for a minimum 15 

year period’ should be deleted. 

4.4.1 Policy BGNP10 Amend the policy and the supporting text, including paragraph 

5.23 and Table 5 (‘Potential sites for inclusion’) to show that the 

site has permission for up to 22 dwellings. 

4.5.1 Policy BGNP11 The location and identity of the nearby sensitive buildings 

should be resolved by discussion between WDDC and BGPC, 

and the text of paragraph 5.38 should be amended accordingly 

if necessary. 

4.6.1 Policy BGNP14 Change the heading on page 35 to site ‘7a’. 

4.8.1 Policy BGNP17 Combine clauses (d) and (g), and add a requirement that any 

hedgerows or trees that are removed or damaged should be 

replaced. 

5.2 Page 10, Map 2 Replace with a map which is easily readable and 

understandable. 

5.3 Page 15, Map 3 Replace with a map which is easily readable and 

understandable. 

5.4 Page 22, Map 4 Replace with a map which is easily readable and 

understandable. 

5.5 Page 42, Policies 

Map 

Either replace ‘RES’ with the words ‘Rural Exception Site’ in the 

key, or remove ‘RES’ if not relevant. 

5.6 Page 8, Table 2, 

LGS19 

Amend note to read:  ‘Common Land designated by Dorset 

Wildlife Trust as a wildlife site …’ 

5.7 Policy BGNP4 Insert the word ‘of’ after the word ‘diversion’. 

5.8 Policy BGNP5 Replace ‘providing’ by ‘provided’. 

5.9 Paragraph 2.37 Replace ‘discretely’ by ‘discreetly’. 

5.11 Policies BGNP10-

12 and 14-17 

Include the site reference numbers in the policy headings. 

5.12 Paragraph 5.13 Explain the reasons for the greater than expected focus on 

Drimpton in or immediately following paragraph 5.13. 

5.18 Paragraphs 5.13 

and 5.30 

Revise these paragraphs to reflect accurately the wording of the 

WDWPLP. 
 

Page 246



 

BROADWINDSOR GROUP PARISHES NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN. EXAMINER’S REPORT.15 

APPENDIX 2 – EXAMINER’S QUESTIONS TO WWDDC AND BGPC, AND THEIR RESPONSES 

 

NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN EXAMINATION SERVICE 

 

EXAMINATION OF THE BROADWINDSOR GROUP PARISHES 

NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN (WEST DORSET DISTRICT COUNCIL) 

 

QUESTIONS FROM THE EXAMINER TO WEST DORSET DISTRICT COUNCIL AND BROADWINDSOR 

GROUP PARISH COUNCIL 

 

EQ1 WDDC question the need for the reference to 0.1ha in Policy BGNP4A.  In West Dorset, are 

Biodiversity Mitigation and Enhancement Plans routinely required on sites over 0.1ha, even 

if there is no good reason to suppose that there will be an adverse impact on biodiversity?   

 

What is the justification for this requirement? 

 

RESPONSE 

 

Dorset Council response 

  

Within the Adopted West Dorset, Weymouth & Portland Local Plan 2015, paragraph 2.2.19 

of the supporting text to Policy ENV2 Wildlife and Habitats states that:  

 

“In order to comply with all relevant government legislation on biodiversity and Natural 

England advice, an appraisal scheme has been set up in Dorset by the DCC natural 

environment team; if required, a Biodiversity Appraisal accompanied by a Biodiversity 

Mitigation Plan (BMP) should be submitted alongside the planning application. This 

standardised process is the councils’ preferential scheme but developers can, if they so 

wish, demonstrate in other ways how they have met the statutory and policy 

requirements.” 

 

West Dorset, Weymouth & Portland, Planning Application Requirements (February 2016) 

clarifies further:   

 

“A Biodiversity Appraisal accompanied by a standardised Biodiversity Mitigation Plan 

(BMP) is required for all greenfield or brownfield development sites over 0.1ha in size, 

where not currently used as existing residential or business premises. A BMP covers 

habitat as well as protected species matters.” 

 

Whilst we support policy BGNP4A in principle we would question the need for a 

Biodiversity Mitigation and Enhancement Plan for sites larger than 0.1 ha to be mentioned 

within the policy as it already forms part of the Council’s validation checklist and on this 

basis would replicate a well-known process. 

 

Planning Application Requirements (February 2016):   

https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/planning-buildings-land/planning/submit-planning-

application/pdfs/wdwp/validation-checklist-wdwp.pdf 

 

For further information on biodiversity appraisals in Dorset:   

https://www.dorsetforyou.com/article/401489/Biodiversity-Appraisal-in-Dorset  

 

Broadwindsor Group Parish Council response  

 

We based the plan on the advice on the website (as listed above).  We are also aware that 

a similar 0.1ha threshold has recently been made in a similar policy in the Holwell NP (also 

West Dorset) and in other North Dorset plans, and supported by Natural England.  

Page 247



 

BROADWINDSOR GROUP PARISHES NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN. EXAMINER’S REPORT.16 

Although the 0.1ha requirement may be in the validation list, the validation list is not 

policy and it only legally applies if it is reviewed at least every two years (NPPF para 44) – 

so the current validation list is not legally compliant and the PC has concerns that there 

will be future times when the LPA does not keep it under review as it should, hence the 

preference to include this in the policy.   

EQ2 Paragraph 5.13 of the BGPNP says that the Local Plan (West Dorset, Weymouth and Portland 

Local Plan 2011-2031) ‘identifies Broadwindsor as the main focus for new development … it 

would follow that most, if not all, new housing and employment should be located at this 

village’.  Paragraph 5.30 of the BGPNP says that the Local Plan strategy suggests that ‘at least 

70% of growth [should be] within or close to Broadwindsor’. 

 

Where are these statements made in the Local Plan? 

 

Paragraph 3.3.27 of the Local Plan says: ‘This plan does not include targets for development 

in these [the rural] areas’.  Policy SUS2 of the Local Plan says ‘Development in rural areas 

will be directed to the settlements with defined development boundaries, and will take 

place at an appropriate scale to the size of the settlement. Settlements with no defined 

development boundary may also have some growth to meet their local needs’. 

 

These statements appear to fall well short of the interpretation given in the BGPNP. 

 

Are there any other relevant references in the Local Plan? 

 

RESPONSE Dorset Council response 

 

In the adopted local plan, Broadwindsor has a defined development boundary (DDB) but 

no other settlements within the NP area do. As such, as the largest and most sustainable 

settlement within the area, the council would advise that it should be the focus for new 

development. There are no targets set for each settlement within the local plan. 

 

Broadwindsor Group Parish Council response  

 

There are no exact references to 70% in the Local Plan – the basis for this was the Parish 

Council’s attempt to interpret the SUS2 proposals that growth should be directed as the 

settlements with DDBs and working out what this might mean in terms of the ideal 

distribution.  The current population spread (as referenced in 5.13 of the NP) is estimated 

to be about 40% of the population living in Broadwindsor and Hursey, 25% at Drimpton 

and Netherhay and the remainder at smaller settlements.  The Local Plan Review is 

suggesting a 5% growth in the rural parishes that have settlements with a DDB and a 2% 

growth in those without (see below), which would at this level crudely indicate a 5:2 

(71.4%) split.  However as the parish populations are larger in the parishes with the larger 

settlements the figure would more likely higher than this.  We were not sure whether the 

5% or 2% target would be applied to Burstock as that parish does not include a settlement 

with a defined boundary in the Local Plan – but we have had the following advice from the 

LPA.   

 

We had therefore used the wording ‘would suggest’ which we felt reflected the thrust of 

what was being suggested at a strategic level – but it was not intended to imply that the 

adopted Local Plan goes as far as to say exactly what the split is.  We were also mindful of 

the feedback we have had throughout from the LPA that more development should be at 

Broadwindsor – and we have tried to explain in pages 5-6 of the Basic Conditions 

Statement why more sites were not included which also resulted in the inclusion of Policy 

BGNP13 

 

Page 248



 

BROADWINDSOR GROUP PARISHES NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN. EXAMINER’S REPORT.17 

With reference to the housing requirement the District Council have provided the 

following informal view of the likely indicative housing target should the Parish Council 

formally request such a figure (WDDC response received by email 29/3/19): 

 

Adopted and Emerging Local Plan Policy 

 

The currently adopted Local Plan is the West Dorset, Weymouth & Portland Local Plan, 

which was adopted in October 2015. This Local Plan was produced before the 2018 NPPF 

and before the March 2018 draft NPPF were published. It does not therefore set out any 

housing requirement figures for neighbourhood plans in its strategic policies. 

    

The councils consulted on how housing requirement figures for neighbourhood plans 

might be established in paragraphs 3.6.13 to 3.6.21 and Question 3-ix (on pages 97 to 99) 

of the Preferred Options document for the Local Plan Review.  

 

The proposed approach sought to reflect the overall strategy for the pattern and scale of 

development (set out in Policy SUS2: Spatial Strategy of the Preferred Options document) 

and any relevant housing or mixed use allocations (listed in Table 3.3: Housing Allocations 

of the Preferred Options document).  

 

Tables 3.3 and 3.4 confirm that the full assessed local need for housing can be met in the 

ten locations in the top two tiers of the settlement hierarchy, which are: 

• the ‘main towns’ of Dorchester and Weymouth (including Littlemoor and 

Chickerell); and 

• the ‘market and coastal towns’ of Beaminster, Bridport, Lyme Regis and 

Sherborne; the settlements on Portland; and the village of Crossways.   

 

No sites are allocated in the Preferred Options document at locations in the third and 

fourth tiers of the settlement hierarchy, which are: 

• settlements with Defined Development Boundaries (DDBs), where growth will be 

directed to in rural areas; and 

• settlements without DDBs in rural areas, which may have some growth to meet 

their local needs.   

 

Settlements with DDBs in rural areas defined through the Local Plan and / or Local Plan 

Review (i.e. in the third tier of the settlement hierarchy) are typically the larger, more 

sustainable settlements with some facilities.  

 

Settlements without DDBs in rural areas (i.e. in the fourth tier of the settlement hierarchy) 

are typically the smaller, less sustainable settlements with fewer facilities. Although not 

defined on the policies map, the smaller settlements where growth to meet local needs 

should be focused are listed in Figure 3.9 of the Preferred Options document. All of these 

settlements have a population of 200+.     

 

The Preferred Options document proposes different approaches to establishing housing 

requirement figures for neighbourhood plans according to the level of the settlement 

hierarchy at which any relevant settlement sits.   

 

In relation to settlements in the top two tiers of the settlement hierarchy, Paragraph 

3.6.19 of the Preferred Options document says:  

“For any neighbourhood area containing one of the ten locations in the top two tiers of the 

settlement hierarchy, it is proposed that any housing requirement figure would be the sum 

of: completions since 2016; extant planning permissions; housing allocations; capacity on 

major sites within DDBs identified in SHLAA; and a windfall allowance on minor sites.”       

Page 249



 

BROADWINDSOR GROUP PARISHES NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN. EXAMINER’S REPORT.18 

 

Paragraph 3.6.19 of the Preferred Options document confirms that “neighbourhood plans 

for these settlements would not need to identify any additional land to meet the overall 

plan review area housing need figure”. This paragraph also goes on to clarify that the 

deletion of (or proposing a different use on) a non-strategic housing site may be 

acceptable, provided that sufficient housing provision was made on other sites. Paragraph 

3.3.8 of the Preferred Options document confirms that sites of more than 50 dwellings are 

‘strategic allocations’, which cannot be changed through a neighbourhood plan.       

 

In relation to settlements in the third tier of the settlement hierarchy, where no 

allocations are identified in the Local Plan Review, Paragraph 3.6.20 of the Preferred 

Options document says: 

“In rural areas (i.e. excluding the settlements in the top two tiers of the settlement 

hierarchy), it is proposed that a housing requirement for any neighbourhood area 

containing a settlement with a DDB defined through the local plan or local plan review 

should plan for a level of housing growth which would increase the population of the 

neighbourhood planning area by a minimum of 5% over a 20-year period.” 

 

In relation to settlements in the fourth tier of the settlement hierarchy, where no 

allocations are identified in the Local Plan Review, Paragraph 3.6.20 of the Preferred 

Options document says: 

“Any neighbourhood area which does not contain a settlement with a DDB defined through 

the local plan or local plan review, should plan for a level of housing growth which would 

increase the population of the neighbourhood planning area by a minimum of 2% over a 

20-year period.” 

 

Plans in Preparation for Settlements in Rural Areas with DDBs 

 

Each NP should result in an increase in population of at least 5% over 20 years. This can be 

calculated by: 

• Establishing the current population (mid-2016 population estimates) of the 

parishes covered by the relevant NP; 

• Dividing it by the average household size (which in West Dorset is 2.15 people per 

dwelling); then 

• Multiplying that figure by 0.05 (i.e. 5%).  

 

Broadwindsor  

 

The result of applying this calculation to Broadwindsor NP is set out in the table below.  

 

Neighbourhood 

Plan 

Parishes Covered Current Pop’n Calculation Mi

Broadwindsor 

 

Broadwindsor & 

Seaborough  

1,440 

1,580 / 2.15 x 

0.05 

Burstock 140 

Total 1,580 

 
This calculates as a housing need of 2 dwellings (1.837) per annum.  

 

Caveats   

• This is a response to an informal request for further information (i.e. not a 

response to a formal request to supply the neighbourhood plan group with a 

housing figure).  

Page 250



 

BROADWINDSOR GROUP PARISHES NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN. EXAMINER’S REPORT.19 

• This is a housing figure supplied from a draft local plan and not an adopted local 

plan. The figure is therefore only ‘indicative’.  

• The proposed approach is set out in a preferred options plan which is at an earlier 

stage of plan making, the weight determined subject to NPPF 2019 paragraph 48.  

• The calculation is based on data that will regularly change and will require 

updating (i.e. updated population estimates). 

• The Council supports neighbourhood planning groups that use locally derived data 

to calculating their housing need target (i.e. a local housing needs assessments) as 

an alternative to a local plan figure.  

 

EQ3 Paragraph 5.3 of the plan, and its accompanying footnote, purport to define the meaning of 

‘starter home’.  There are definitions in Planning Policy Guidance and in the Housing and 

Planning Act 2016.  There is a definition in the revised versions of NPPF (but not in the 

original 2012 version, which is the relevant version for this examination).  There may be 

other definitions. 

 

Which definition does the BGPC rely on? 

 

Where is the reference to ‘a minimum 15 year period’ to be found?   

 

RESPONSE Dorset Council response 

 

The foreword and policy BGNP8 make reference to “Starter homes”. Starter homes have a 

specific definition and generally refer to homes which are available at a minimum 20% 

discount on market value and to first-time buyers under the age of 40.  We would suggest 

the reference to “Starter homes” be omitted. It may be more accurate to refer to them as 

“homes for first time buyers” instead. There would be consequential changes to the 

foreword if these changes were accepted. 

 

Broadwindsor Group Parish Council response  

 

We did consider the District Council’s response and suggested alternative wording (above), 

alongside the wording and intent of the Housing and Planning Act 2016, and felt that using 

the term starter home in the context of the 2016 Act was suitably clear and appropriate.   

 

The reference to 15 years is based on the Government response to the technical 

consultation on starter homes regulations 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachmen

t_data/file/589806/Government_response_to_the_starter_homes_technical_consultation

.pdf where they state in para 15 that “We have considered carefully the arguments for a 

longer period and as a result the restricted period will be 15 years. The detailed operation 

of the restricted period will be set out in the regulations”  

 

EQ4 Paragraph 5.38 of the plan describes the setting of a proposed site for housing.  A 

neighbouring building, Manor Farmhouse, is described as a ‘Locally Important Building’.  

WDDC express concern about ‘a Grade II Listed Building in close proximity to the site’.  

From the documents before me, the location of the listed building referred to by WDDC is 

not clear. 

 

Where is it in relation to the site? 

 

 

 

 

Page 251



 

BROADWINDSOR GROUP PARISHES NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN. EXAMINER’S REPORT.20 

RESPONSE Dorset Council response  

 

The Councils conservation team can 

confirm that the listed-building in question 

is the Grade II listed Broadwindsor House, 

which is located 60m to the south-east of 

the allocation site. The scale, materials and 

proportions of any new buildings on the 

allocation site should be selected to 

ensure that the Listed-building maintains 

its primacy within its wider setting. It 

should be noted that Historic England 

state that “effects on the setting of listed-

buildings are not limited to areas where 

the building can be viewed by the public” 

 

 

*The red star denotes the location of the 

Grade II listed Broadwindsor House.  

 

Broadwindsor Group Parish Council response  

 

We think there may have been some confusion on this as in their options stage response 

(email dated 10/10/17) WDDC refer only to the Old Manor House/Vicarage which is 

approx 60m west of the western end of the site.  They stated “There is a grade II listed 

building (Old Manor House/Vicarage) that is in close proximity to the proposed site and its 

setting may be affected if the existing buildings on-site are replaced or increased in 

height”.  However Broadwindsor House is about the same distance as the crow flies 

(approx 60m to the SE) and we have been fully aware of this in our deliberations.  In both 

cases there is intervening development. 

EQ5 What are the boundaries of the AONB? 

 

Are the settlements in the NP area ‘washed over’ by the AONB? 

 

RESPONSE Dorset Council response (agreed by Broadwindsor Group Parish Council) 

 

In the map below, the green wash denotes the extent of the Dorset AONB and red line the 

extent of the neighbourhood plan area. The settlements of Broadwindsor, Netherhay, 

Drimpton, Burton and Seaborough are ‘washed over’ by the AONB.  

Page 252



 

BROADWINDSOR GROUP PARISHES NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN. EXAMINER’S REPORT.21 

EQ6 In Table 2 (‘Proposed Local Green Spaces’), does ’DWT’ stand for ‘Dorset Wildlife Trust’? 

 

RESPONSE Dorset Council response (agreed by Broadwindsor Group Parish Council) 

 

Yes  

 

EQ7 What is the straight line distance between the northern edge of Housing Site 7a and (a) 

the nearest building and (b) the nearest curtilage in Netherhay? 

 

RESPONSE Dorset Council response  

 

The straight line distance between the northern edge of housing site 7a and Orchard Lodge 

(the nearest building) is approximately 174 meters and to the nearest curtilage 

approximately 132meters.  

Page 253



 

BROADWINDSOR GROUP PARISHES NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN. EXAMINER’S REPORT.22 

 
 

The Councils conservation team would also like to take this opportunity to clarify their 

earlier objection to site 7a made during the regulation 16 consultation. The Conservation 

Officer has commented that: “My response to site 7a was based upon the earlier allocation 

of the whole of this site for development and the impact of development within a small 

corner of the site will not have the same effect of filling in the gap between Drimpton and 

Netherhay. I am happy with the much reduced area of allocation.” 

 

Broadwindsor Group Parish Council response  

 

Our measurements from the mapping system on which the plans are plotted are much the 

same - The Lodge is the closest building at 179m distance – the edge of its curtilage (which 

is closest) is 127m (which is larger than the gap along the Crewkerne Road between 

Orchard Lodge and the first house in Orchard Close which is 72m) 

 

EQ8 Paragraph 5.25 refers to a planning application expected to be submitted in Spring/early 

Summer 2018. 

 

Has such an application been made? 

 

If so, what was the outcome? 

 

 

 

Page 254



 

BROADWINDSOR GROUP PARISHES NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN. EXAMINER’S REPORT.23 

RESPONSE Dorset Council response  

 

As at 1 April 2019 no planning application has been submitted on site 7a Land east of 

Netherhay Lane.  

 

Broadwindsor Group Parish Council response  

 

There has been a delay in progressing this application as it has taken over a year to sort 

the legal agreement between the CLT, Yarlington Homes (a Housing Association) and the 

landowner.  The signing of this agreement is very imminent in which case it is hoped that a 

planning application can be submitted shortly.   

 

We were surprised at the Reg16 consultation response by the District Council (referred to 

above) given that the whole field is identified in the SHLAA as having potential for a rural 

affordable housing site of up to 15 homes, and the CLT have had a pre-application 

discussion meeting with a senior officer of the development management team as well as 

numerous meetings with the housing enabling team and no concerns about the site 

selection have been raised.  The CLT have also received over £35K from the Council to 

cover legal costs (April 2016); initial surveys (July 2017) and most recently the planning 

fees (May 2018).  The CLT did get in touch with the case officer based on Reg 16 response 

who felt this potential deletion of the allocation could be seen as a negative sign in any 

future panning decision, which is why we hoped to clear up any misunderstanding that 

may have arisen from WDDC’s earlier response.  We are therefore happy to see the 

Conservation Team’s clarification on their (presumably withdrawn) concerns about this 

site in their response to EQ7.   

 

Page 255



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Broadwindsor Group Parishes 

Neighbourhood Plan 

2018 - 2031 
 

 

 

 

 

Final Version 
Prepared by the Neighbourhood Plan Steering Committee  
on behalf of Broadwindsor Group Parish Council 

Page 257



 

i | P a g e  

Our Vision and Objectives 

Our vision is that during the next twenty years residents will have enough suitable and 
environmentally friendly homes, which fit into the Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 
which they value so highly; and that there will be good schools, safe roadways and support 
for local employment and local services which ensure that all ages, in every part of our 
parish, are able to enjoy life to the full. 

 

Objective 1:  
Care for the Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 

− Maintain, protect and enhance the beautiful landscape, built heritage, rural character and 
environmental diversity of the Neighbourhood Plan Area. 

− Ensure that all sites identified and needed for development preserve the Area of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty. 

 

Objective 2: Plan for enough  
suitable and environmentally friendly homes 

− Provide the types of housing that the community needs, in appropriate locations. 

− Support development which is undertaken to recognised environmental and sustainability 
standards. 

 

Objective 3: Support local services and employment 

− Support the vitality of the local economy and extend opportunities for established local and 
appropriate new businesses, including: agriculture, arts, cafes, crafts, equestrian, horticulture, 
leisure, offices, pubs, restaurants, shops, small businesses, and tourism. 

 

Objective 4: Encourage the improvement of  
transport and communications 

− Seek opportunities to improve access for residents and visitors, particularly through increased 
passing places and improved safety for all road users. 

− Promote access to high quality telecommunications, for residents, business and visitors. 

 

Objective 5: Support the quality of social life  
and community spirit 

− Protect, support and improve community facilities including allotments, common land, 
playing fields and play grounds, the school, village halls and the village stores. 

  

Page 258



 

ii | P a g e  

Foreword 

It is very widely accepted, by policy makers and the public, that at least 300,000 new houses need 
to be built every year across England, to provide appropriate and affordable homes for the future.  
Whilst our large towns and cities need them, so do smaller, country towns and rural areas.  The 
Broadwindsor Neighbourhood Plan seeks to answer that need for the parishes it covers: 
Broadwindsor, Burstock and Seaborough.   

Equally, there is broad agreement that development in the past has sometimes been 
disorganized, and often inappropriate to the different places people live in as well as to the real 
needs of the population.   

Under the Localism Act of 2011, local communities have been given the chance to influence 
planning decisions that impact on how and where new housing and employment is built.  And in 
early 2015, Broadwindsor Parish Council decided to set up a committee of local people to consult 
and then bring forward for approval by the community a Neighbourhood Plan.  This Plan is the 
result of all that work. 

This Neighbourhood Plan includes a housing target of between 4 and 5 new homes per year on 
average, in the period up to 2031.  This equates to 0.6% growth in dwellings every year.  This is 
not as ambitious as the overall target for West Dorset, as a lot of the planned growth will happen 
in and adjoining the main towns.   

This Plan defines where development may happen.  New housing sites are focused at 
Broadwindsor, but also around Drimpton as the next largest village, and through the conversion 
of existing buildings in the wider countryside.  The AONB advisor, Dorset County Council’s 
Highways Team and West Dorset District Council’s Conservation Team have been involved in the 
selection of all the sites, which were suggested by landowners.  

This Plan identifies an employment site at Axe Mill that could be expanded if space is required for 
new businesses.  This is in addition to the employment sites that already exist locally – such as 
Horn Park Quarry.  Opportunities to set up new business enterprises may also exist within or 
adjoining the settlements across the area, and through the conversion of existing buildings.  

It also sets out the type of housing needed, which is in line with local residents’ wishes.  This was 
for mainly two and three-bedroom homes, starter homes and homes specifically designed for 
older residents such as those who may have more limited mobility.  The design guidance also 
highlights the need for renewable energy and sustainable drainage solutions. 

The community facilities that are currently enjoyed by local residents are shown on the Policies 
Map, so that they are known and earmarked for protection.  The Parish Council may make use of 
its share of the Community Infrastructure Levy funding (from developments) to support their 
improvement, as well as for other infrastructure improvements.  

It hopefully goes without saying that this Plan contains policies and proposals aimed specifically 
at protecting the many valued features of the local landscape, its AONB status, darks skies, local 
green spaces and the distinctive character of the various settlements.  

This Plan was drawn up by local people, to reflect the wishes of the community that live and work 
here.  It will be used by the Local Planning Authority (now Dorset Council) when determining 
planning applications within the Neighbourhood Plan area. 

Page 259



 

iii | P a g e  

Contents 

1 INTRODUCTION .......................................................................................................... 1 

Why a Neighbourhood Plan is important ............................................................................... 1 

The Neighbourhood Plan Area .............................................................................................. 1 

The Planning Context ............................................................................................................ 2 

The Vision and Objectives for our Neighbourhood Plan ......................................................... 3 

‘Should’ and ‘Will’ .................................................................................................................. 5 

Plan Period and Review ......................................................................................................... 5 

Supporting Evidence ............................................................................................................. 5 

2 THE LANDSCAPE AND HERITAGE OF THE AREA .................................................................... 6 

Local Landscape Character .................................................................................................... 6 

Policy BGNP1. Local Landscape Features ............................................................ 6 

Dark Skies ............................................................................................................................. 7 

Policy BGNP2. Dark Skies .................................................................................. 7 

Local Green Spaces and Green Corridors ............................................................................... 8 

Policy BGNP3. Local Green Spaces...................................................................... 9 

Policy BGNP4. Green Way Community Path and Common Water Lane .................. 10 

Local wildlife areas .............................................................................................................. 10 

Policy BGNP5. Local Wildlife Corridors and Protected Species .............................. 10 

Important views .................................................................................................................. 12 

Distinctive settlements and important gaps ........................................................................ 13 

Policy BGNP6. Important Gaps ......................................................................... 16 

Built character – locally distinctive places through design .................................................... 16 

Policy BGNP7. Built character .......................................................................... 19 

3 COMMUNITY FACILITIES AND TRANSPORT INFRASTRUCTURE .................................................. 20 

Important community buildings, public open space and recreational facilities ..................... 20 

Policy BGNP8. Important community facilities .................................................... 22 

Creating safer roads and pedestrian routes .......................................................................... 22 

4 FLOODING 23 

5 HOUSING AND EMPLOYMENT NEEDS .............................................................................. 24 

Housing and employment needs ......................................................................................... 24 

Policy BGNP9. Meeting the area’s housing needs ............................................... 26 

Policy BGNP10. Meeting the area’s employment needs ......................................... 27 

Locations for sustainable growth and site-specific allocations ............................................. 27 

Minimising environmental impacts ...................................................................................... 30 

Sites in and around Broadwindsor village (including Hursey) ................................................ 30 

Policy BGNP11. Site 1: Land south of Fullers, opposite Redlands Lane, Broadwindsor
 31 

Policy BGNP12. Site 3: Land at Manor Farm, Common Water Lane, Broadwindsor ... 32 

Policy BGNP13. Site 6: Land North of Hillside, Drimpton Road, Broadwindsor ......... 33 

Page 260



 

iv | P a g e  

Policy BGNP14. Small-scale exception sites adjoining Broadwindsor and Hursey ...... 34 

Sites in and around Drimpton village (including Greenham, Netherhay and Sandpit) ........... 35 

Policy BGNP15. Site 7a: Land East of Netherhay Lane, adjoining Drimpton .............36 

Policy BGNP16. Site 12: Land East of Manor Farm, Bridport Road, Drimpton ........... 37 

Policy BGNP17. Site 5: Land at Brent Paddock, Netherhay .................................... 38 

Policy BGNP18. Site 14: Land at Axe Mill, Netherhay ............................................39 

Opportunities for growth in the remaining hamlets (Blackdown, Burstock, Childhay, 
Kittwhistle, Littlewindsor and Seaborough) and wider countryside ...................................... 39 

Policy BGNP19. Rural Conversions ..................................................................... 40 

6 POLICIES MAP .......................................................................................................... 41 

Broadwindsor area .............................................................................................................. 41 

Drimpton Area .................................................................................................................... 42 

Rural Areas ......................................................................................................................... 43 

APPENDIX 1: LOCAL GREEN SPACES ASSESSMENTS .................................................................. 44 

 

With thanks to…. 

Thanks go to the work of the Neighbourhood Plan Group and volunteers in their efforts to collect 
the evidence and engage widely with local residents, businesses, service providers and planning / 
specialist advisors in the drafting of the plan.  Their names are as follows: 

 David Allerton 

 Tim Bassett  

 Sandra Burrows 

 Steve Chubb  

 Dave Chumbley  

 Martin Coulson 

 Prue Davies  

 David Glossop  

 Brian Hesketh 

 Rowland Hibbard  

 Charles Lawrence  

 Robin Loudon 

 Tim Marshall 

 Brian Ridley  

 Martin Rowan-Robinson  

 Jacqui Sewell 

 John Wallis 

Thanks also go to those who took the time to come along to the many consultation events or 
respond in writing, this plan is much richer for having everyone’s input. 

Consultation event on the Neighbourhood Plan 

Page 261



 

1 | P a g e  

1 INTRODUCTION 

Why a Neighbourhood Plan is important 

1.1 The Neighbourhood Plan is the community’s Plan.  It has been prepared by a steering group 
of local residents, overseen by the Parish Council.  The group has met regularly since May 
2015, collecting evidence and consulting on the issues that were identified as important to 
the community, before agreeing the draft plan for consultation. 

1.2 The Plan sets out the vision and priorities for how the community would like to see the area 
develop and change in the coming years, and in doing so it sets out planning policies which 
will be taken into account as and when any planning proposals and developments come 
forward in the Plan area - which comprises the three parishes of Broadwindsor, Burstock 
and Seaborough. 

1.3 The Plan cannot deal with every issue identified as being important to the community: it 
has a focus on responding to proposals for development and the appropriate use of land. In 
this way, it puts us as a community in the driving seat when it comes to having a say over 
what, how and where any development should take place when it needs planning 
permission. 

1.4 The Plan covers the period 2018 to 2031.  The Plan and its policies reflect our area’s own 
characteristics while recognising that it has a lot in common with other parts of the Dorset 
Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) 

The Neighbourhood Plan Area 

Map 1. Designated Neighbourhood Plan Area 

 
© Crown copyright and database right.  All rights reserved (100051431) 2017 

Page 262



 

2 | P a g e  

1.5 The Neighbourhood Plan area follows the parish boundaries of Broadwindsor, Seaborough 
and Burstock.  It covers an area of approximately 34 km2 (13 square miles).  It was 
designated by West Dorset District Council in September 2015 

1.6 The recorded population for the 
Neighbourhood Plan area at the last Census 
(2011) was 1,498 ‘usual residents’, living in 
662 dwellings and other residential 
establishments (a further 82 dwellings were 
unoccupied – such as holiday and second 
homes).  Although the area has a slightly 
older population profile than typical for 
West Dorset, most residents (79%) 
considered themselves to be in good or very 
good health, compared to 6% in bad health, 
which is in line with the district average.   

1.7 About two-thirds of working age adults (65%) are economically active, and unemployment 
levels have been low (2.9%).  What is notable is the greater reliance on self-employment 
(33% being self-employed, compared to 22% across the district).   

1.8 Average house prices (2016: approximately £275,000) are nearly 8 times greater than typical 
wage levels and household incomes (estimated at around £35,000). 

1.9 The Plan area sits largely within the undulating hills feeding the River Axe and its tributaries.  
Much of the area (with the exception of the north-western part) lies within the Dorset Area 
of Outstanding Natural Beauty – a nationally valued landscape.  Lewesdon Hill Fort is a 
nationally important scheduled monument within the plan area, and Pilsdon Pen and 
Waddon Hill (also scheduled monuments) lie just outside the area to the south.  A map 
showing the extent of the AONB, is included in Section 2. 

1.10 There is an extensive network of public rights of way and unclassified roads criss-crossing 
the area.  Hursey Common (west of Broadwindsor) and the area of Burstock Down within 
the parish below Lewesdon Hill are registered common land.  Significant tracts of land are 
locally important nature conservation sites.  

1.11 Broadwindsor Conservation Area was 
designated in 1993, and in total there are 95 
Listed buildings or structures within the 
Neighbourhood Plan area, 10 of which are 
Grade II*.  Seaborough Court is a locally 
listed historic garden.   

Seaborough Court 

The Planning Context 

1.12 When made, the Neighbourhood Plan, together with the adopted West Dorset and 
Weymouth Local Plan and the Dorset Minerals and Waste Plans, will form the development 
plan.  By law (section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990) decisions on 
planning applications should be made in accordance with the development plan, and any 
deviation from the plan must be justified.  

1.13 The strategy set out in the Local Plan (adopted in October 2015) recognises that the 
distribution of development in the area should be influenced by: 

Page 263



 

3 | P a g e  

> the needs, size, and roles of the area’s settlements, taking into account any current 
imbalances of housing or jobs; 

> the benefits of concentrating most development in locations where homes, jobs and 
facilities will be easily accessible to each other and there is a choice of transport modes; 

> the availability of land, and whether it has been previously developed (brownfield); and 
> the environmental constraints of the plan area. 

1.14 As a result most of the growth is directed towards the main settlements.  Within the 
Neighbourhood Plan area, development opportunities are to be focused primarily at 
Broadwindsor as it is one the West Dorset’s larger villages, and to a lesser extent at other 
existing settlements, at an appropriate scale to the size of the village.  Away from existing 
settlements, development opportunities will be more limited to those activities that will 
help to continue to support the rural economy or help in the long-term management of the 
countryside and its unique character. 

1.15 The Local Plan does not set a specific housing target for this area, although changes to 
national planning policy may require this in the future.  The District Council has provided 
support to the Parish Council in assessing likely housing need.  This research indicates that 
the provision of about 4 to 5 dwellings on average each year would be an appropriate basis 
on which to prepare this Neighbourhood Plan, provided that suitable, sustainable locations 
can be found.  

1.16 Similarly there is no target for economic growth, other than to consider information on local 
need for jobs and facilities, to reduce the need to travel and promote economic growth and 
social inclusion.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

The Vision and Objectives for our Neighbourhood Plan 

Our vision is that during the next twenty years residents will have enough suitable and 
environmentally friendly homes, which fit into the Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 
which they value so highly; and that there will be good schools, safe roadways and support 
for local employment and local services which ensure that all ages, in every part of our 
parish, are able to enjoy life to the full. 

 

Objective 1:  
Care for the Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 

This Plan contains policies aimed 
specifically at protected valued 

Page 264



 

4 | P a g e  

− Maintain, protect and enhance the beautiful 
landscape, built heritage, rural character and 
environmental diversity of the Neighbourhood Plan 
Area. 

− Ensure that all sites identified and needed for 
development preserve the Area of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty. 

features of the local landscape, its 
dark skies, local green spaces and the 
distinctive character of the various 
settlements. The AONB advisor and 
Conservation Team at the District 
Council have been involved in the 
selection of sites. 

Objective 2: Plan for enough  
suitable and environmentally friendly homes 

− Provide the types of housing that the community 
needs, in appropriate locations. 

− Support development which is undertaken to 
recognised environmental and sustainability 
standards. 

This Plan contains a specific policy on 
the number and type of housing 
needed.  New sites are focused at 
Broadwindsor, but also around 
Drimpton, and through the 
conversion of rural buildings.  The 
design guidance highlights the need 
for renewable energy and sustainable 
drainage solutions. 

Objective 3: Support local services and employment 

− Support the vitality of the local economy and extend 
opportunities for established local and appropriate 
new businesses, including: agriculture, arts, cafes, 
crafts, equestrian, horticulture, leisure, offices, pubs, 
restaurants, shops, small businesses, and tourism. 

This Plan identifies an employment 
site at Axe Mill that could be 
expanded if space is required for new 
businesses, in addition to the existing 
business area at Horn Park Quarry.  
Opportunities may also exist within or 
adjoining the settlements across the 
area, and through the conversion of 
existing buildings. 

Objective 4: Encourage the improvement of  
transport and communications 

− Seek opportunities to improve access for residents and 
visitors, particularly through increased passing places 
and improved safety for all road users. 

− Promote access to high quality telecommunications, 
for residents, business and visitors. 

These elements fall largely outside 
the remit of a Neighbourhood Plan.  
The Parish Council will consider how 
to take these forward, liaising with 
the highways and other infrastructure 
providers.  This may be through 
lobbying and the use of its share of 
the Community Infrastructure Levy 
funding from new housing 
development. 

Objective 5: Support the quality of social life  
and community spirit 

− Protect, support and improve community facilities 
including allotments, common land, playing fields and 
play grounds, the school, village halls and the village 
stores. 

This Plan identifies all the community 
facilities, so that these are given a 
suitable level of protection.  When the 
Parish Council receives its share of the 
Community Infrastructure Levy 
funding it will fund improvements to 
these facilities. 

1.17 Where policies are site-specific, their location is shown on the Policies Map in Section 5 

Page 265



 

5 | P a g e  

‘Should’ and ‘Will’ 

1.18 This plan has been drafted in the knowledge that all sorts of different proposals will be 
judged against the policies it contains.  This means that some flexibility is needed at times.  
Where the word “will” has been used to set out a requirement in a policy, failure to comply 
with the policy is not envisaged as acceptable under any circumstance, and this failure 
should be given significant weight in the decision.  The word “should” does not imply that 
the policy is optional or simply something the Parish Council desires if offered.  Where the 
word “should” is used, this is because it was thought conceivable that a proposal may not be 
able to fully comply with that policy’s requirements, but that if it aligned with the policy 
intention as far as possible, it may still on balance be found to be acceptable (depending on 
the reasons why complying wholly was not possible, and the extent to which the proposal 
aligned with that policy and the development plan as a whole).  Therefore, where the word 
“should” is used, if an applicant considers that there are good reasons why their proposal 
cannot meet the policy requirements, they should explain why as part of their application, 
and show how they have aligned with that policy’s intention as far as possible.   

Plan Period and Review 

1.19 Our Neighbourhood Plan looks forward to 2031.  To maintain the relevance of the 
Neighbourhood Plan, the Parish Council, as the body responsible for leading the 
Neighbourhood Plan process, will listen to the views and opinions of local residents in 
considering when a review needs to take place.  It is anticipated that the plan may need to 
be reviewed by 2026, or sooner if significant changes have occurred locally or nationally.   

Supporting Evidence 

1.20 A significant amount of research and consultation has gone into the preparation of this 
plan.  A list of the key documents is provided below: 

> Basic Conditions Statement – Dorset Planning Consultant Limited 
> Broadwindsor Conservation Area Appraisal – West Dorset District Council 
> Consultation Summary - Broadwindsor Neighbourhood Plan Group 
> Dorset AONB Management Plan 2014-2019 – Dorset AONB Partnership 
> Dorset Gardens of National and Local Significance – Seaborough Court - Dorset Garden 

Trust 
> General Design Guidelines for Broadwindsor, Drimpton, Seaborough, Kittwhistle – 

AECOM report 
> Housing Needs Assessment – Dorset Planning Consultant Limited report 
> Local Green Spaces assessments  
> National Character Area profile: 140. Yeovil Scarplands – Natural England and 147. 

Blackdowns – Natural England 
> National Heritage List for England – Neighbourhood Plan area extract – Historic 

England 
> Strategic Environmental Assessment – Dorset Planning Consultant Limited report 

(including Environmental records data and site surveys – Dorset Environmental Records 
Centre) 

> West Dorset Landscape Character Assessment – West Dorset District Council  
> West Dorset, Weymouth and Portland local plan – West Dorset District Council and 

Weymouth and Portland Borough Council    

Page 266



 

6 | P a g e  

2 THE LANDSCAPE AND HERITAGE OF THE AREA 

Local Landscape Character 

2.1 From the consultations on the Neighbourhood Plan, there was almost unanimous 
agreement that the landscape and scenery of the area was the most important factor in 
making the place special.  

2.2 Much of the area falls within the undulating hills of Axe Valley, as described in the West 
Dorset Landscape Character Area Assessment (2009), which includes detailed descriptions 
of the characteristics of the area.  It highlights the importance of deep, narrow winding 
lanes with their deep hedge banks, the predominance of grazed pastures that lead up to the 
open and undeveloped skylines, which afford long views over the rural landscape. These 
features can come under threat from both natural and human causes.  

Table 1. Important landscape characteristics and features 

→ Open hilltops and dramatic hillforts, visible in the landscape and providing long views 

→ Narrow lanes with deep hedgebanks 

→ Traditional finger post signing 

→ Strips of woodlands and a patchwork of small hedged pastures on valley floors 

→ The rivers, streams and ditches providing ecological interest and diversity 

→ Veteran and hedgerow trees, and small oak and ash coppice woodlands 

→ Locally distinctive building stones, imbuing distinctive local vernaculars 

→ Historically agricultural character of villages / farmsteads 

→ Occasional manor houses and parkland, and small rural settlements 

Narrow country lanes     Coppiced woodlands 

  

2.3 The following policy does not seek to prevent development but to ensure that it integrates 
successfully within the area.  However, in some cases alternative locations for development 
should be considered where the degree of harm to features of local landscape character 
would be substantial and cannot be avoided through sensitive design or mitigation.  One 
such example might be where development would generate significant levels of pedestrian 
movements along narrow lanes with deep hedgebanks – where alternative off-road 
pedestrian routes may need to be considered as opposed to road widening. 

Policy BGNP1. Local Landscape Features 

Development should reinforce the local landscape character and its typical features, as noted in 
Table 1. Development that would result in the removal or degradation of these features 
without mitigation, will be resisted. 

Page 267



 

7 | P a g e  

Dark Skies 

2.4 The intrinsically dark skies, that are a result of the rural nature of the area away from the 
main towns and other sources of light pollution, is a special quality of the Dorset AONB.  
Most towns (and many villages) in the UK have a ‘glow’ of light above them, caused by 
wasted light escaping upwards from street lights, flood lights and other light sources.   

2.5 Outside of the area impacted by lighting from Broadwindsor village, the Neighbourhood 
Plan area enjoys some of the darkest night skies in the country 
(http://nightblight.cpre.org.uk/maps/).  Although not all lighting falls within the control of 
planning, it is possible for Neighbourhood Plans to make clear the stance that should be 
taken where such development would require planning consent. 

2.6 In response to the household questionnaire, the majority view was that more road and 
street lighting was necessary, although not everyone agreed (the divide was about 60% in 
favour, 40% against).  Therefore the following policy isn’t looking to prevent lighting that 
may be required for safety or crime prevention reasons, but to ensure that unnecessary light 
pollution is prevented through considered and careful design in keeping with the rural 
character of the area. 

Policy BGNP2. Dark Skies 

Development should be designed to retain the dark skies, through minimising exterior lighting / 
illuminations and including measures to control light spillage and glare, particularly in areas of 
open countryside or on the edge of settlements.  Street lighting should not be provided in 
developments unless required to address site-specific safety or operational issues.  Where 
street lighting is required, heritage designs are to be preferred. 

Map 2. Extent of the Dorset Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 

 
© Crown Copyright and database right (2019).  Ordnance Survey Licence number 100060963 

Page 268

http://nightblight.cpre.org.uk/maps/


 

8 | P a g e  

Local Green Spaces and Green Corridors 

2.7 Local communities are encouraged to identify for protection those spaces within or close to 
settlements that are particularly valued, due to their recreational use, their historic 
significance, their wildlife value, or simply because they make such a strong contribution to 
the character of the area.  The list of such spaces is provided in Table 2 that follows.  These 
spaces can be designated as Local Green Spaces, which means that development in these 
locations will only be allowed in exceptional circumstances.  Such a designation is meant to 
last beyond the lifetime of this Neighbourhood Plan. 

Holy Trinity Churchyard, Blackdown    Bernards’ Place, Broadwindsor 

  

Table 2. Proposed Local Green Spaces 
Ref Description  Settlement Reason for importance* 

LGS 02 Bridge Farm Green Space Drimpton Small roadside greenspace by stream, used for poppy 
memorial and on church processions 

LGS 03 St Mary’s Churchyard Drimpton A tranquil, secluded churchyard forming the setting 
of the church, a place for quiet reflection 

LGS 05 St John’s Churchyard Seaborough An attractive churchyard forming the setting of this 
historic church, a pleasant and tranquil place 

LGS 07 
/08 

Axe Riverside - Crewkerne 
Road - NE and SW 

Drimpton / 
Netherhay 

Managed farmland alongside the Little Axe River – 
attractive and wildlife-rich river corridor  

LGS 09 Netherhay Chapel Burial 
Ground 

Netherhay An attractive burial ground around a Grade 2 listed 
chapel, a tranquil spot to relax and reflect. 

LGS 13 St John the Baptist’s 
Churchyard 

Broadwindsor An attractive churchyard forming the setting of this 
historic church, a place for quiet reflection. 

LGS 14 Bernards’ Place Broadwindsor An area bequeathed to the community, used for 
community events and a children’s playground.  

LGS 16 Hursey Playing Fields & 
Sports Ground 

Hursey Local playing fields and football pitch especially 
popular with village children and dogwalkers. 

LGS 17 Land adj Hyrst 
Down,Hursey 

Hursey An attractive, quiet area of land adjacent to Hyrst 
Down renowned for its wild flower meadow. 

LGS 18 St Andrew’s Churchyard Burstock An attractive churchyard forming the setting of this 
historic church, a pleasant and tranquil place 

LGS 19 Hursey Common Hursey Common Land designated by Dorset Wildlife Trust as 
a wildlife site, valued as a pleasant place to walk. 

LGS 22 Holy Trinity Churchyard Blackdown An attractive churchyard forming the setting of this 
rebuilt church, a pleasant and tranquil place 

See Appendix 1 for further details on each site, and Policies Map for their locations 

Page 269



 

9 | P a g e  

2.8 The following policy sets out to protect these local green spaces from inappropriate 
development.  This takes into account the fact that development adjoining these spaces 
can potentially impact on this enjoyment.  For example, the introduction of a use that 
generates noise adjoining a local green space designated for its peace and tranquillity.  
However, other forms of development, such as new housing adjoining play areas,could 
provide a degree of natural surveillance that would improve the feeling of safety.   

2.9 Local Green Space designation is not appropriate for community spaces where it is the use, 
but not the exact location, which is important.  This is particularly relevant if the use could 
be relocated to another (and possibly better) site.  As such, Broadwindsor School field, 
Drimpton recreation ground and play area, Broadwindsor Cricket Ground and Pavillion, 
Broadwindsor Allotments, and Oathill Allotments are protected, but under Policy BGNP7.  
The grounds of Broadwindsor House were also considered for designation as a Local Green 
Space, but instead have been included as a community space to allow this facility to expand 
and adapt – any such development would need to be carefully designed to avoid harm to 
the setting of the Listed building.   

Policy BGNP3. Local Green Spaces  

The local green spaces listed in Table 2 and shown in the Policies Map will be given special 
protection.  Development within these areas will only be supported where it would enhance the 
enjoyment of the space and not undermine its importance.  Development adjoining these areas 
must respect their reason for designation and should not significantly detract from their 
enjoyment. 

2.10 There are many rural lanes and tracks which perform a similar role to the local green spaces, 
providing public access to enjoy the beautiful views and tranquillity of the Dorset AONB, 
with hedgebanks and verges home to local wildlife.   

Green Way community path     Common Water Lane 

    

Page 270



 

10 | P a g e  

2.11 The Green Way Community Path is particularly notable.  The definition of this path was a 
community group initiative from 1999, using sections of existing footpaths, to highlight the 
historic importance of this Green Way and its potential as an accessible circular recreational 
route. Crossing fields, the Green Way joins together Drimpton and its neighbouring hamlets 
of Oathill, Greenham, Childhay and Netherhay leading over land walked in the past by the 
hundreds of workers at Greenham Flax Mill, by the congregation of Netherhay Chapel, and 
by the farmworkers who worked the many farms.   

2.12 Common Water Lane is the other notable track which is much enjoyed by local walkers, as 
part of the pre-Roman Wessex Ridgeway and the Monarch's Way.  There are many 
wonderful views from this lane, and the Dorset Wildlife Trust has designated the verges on 
both sides as a Site of Nature Conservation Interest.  There is a group (Friends of Common 
Water Lane) dedicated to its well-being. 

Policy BGNP4. Green Way Community Path and Common Water Lane 

Development should not result in the diversion of, or significantly detract from, the enjoyment 
of the Green Way Community Path or Common Water Lane as shown in the Policies Map 

Local wildlife areas 

2.13 There are nearly 150 different protected or notable species recorded by the Dorset 
Environmental Record Centre in or close to the Neighbourhood Plan area.  These include 
various birds (Black Kite, Red Kite, Short-eared Owl, Kingfisher), various species of Bat, and 
mammals such as the Hazel Dormouse, Water Vole, European Otter, Eurasian Badger and 
Polecat. 

2.14 Two Sites of Special Scientific Interest have been designated in the area, noted for their 
geological formations (Horn Park Quarry and Conegar Road cutting).  There is a much more 
extensive network of locally important nature conservation sites, as shown on the following 
map. 

Policy BGNP5. Local Wildlife Corridors and Protected Species 

All new development should have due regard for the local ecological network (existing and 
potential) as identified on Map 3, and potential presence of protected species; taking into 
account national policy to provide net gains in biodiversity where possible. 

To achieve this, the potential adverse or beneficial impact of the development on these 
ecological networks should be fully evaluated, and presence of protected species checked.  A 
Biodiversity Mitigation and Enhancement Plan must be submitted with any planning 
application for greenfield or brownfield development sites over 0.1ha in size where not 
currently used as existing residential or business premises, or with any planning application 
which is likely to give rise to an adverse impact on biodiversity. 

  

Page 271



 

11 | P a g e  

Map 3. Sites of Special Scientific Interest and Ecological Networks 

 

  

Page 272



 

12 | P a g e  

Important views  

2.15 The AONB Management Plan makes particular reference to areas of higher ground that 
allow the observer uninterrupted panoramic views to appreciate the complex pattern and 
textures of the surrounding landscapes.  Such views exist in the Neighbourhood Plan area, 
and although too many to mention, examples include: 

> views from Pilsdon Pen, from the Jubillee Trail, Monarch’s Way and the Wessex 
Ridgeway recreational routes; 

> views from Lewesdon Hill, from the Wessex Ridgeway and footpaths leading to and 
from Broadwindsor; 

> views from Seaborough Hill including the descent towards Seaborough on Footpath 
W41/6; 

> views from Conegar Hill on the lane heading south from Littlewindsor to Broadwindsor. 

Panoramic views across the AONB 

 

2.16 Within the Conservation Area, the 2015 Appraisal notes the following important key views 
and vistas: 

> from the east on the approach from Beaminster, where the Redlands Lane 
development and the old core are very visible;  

> along West Street in both directions across the watercourse;  
> into The Square from all four of its road entrances;  
> from High Street west towards The Square;  
> up Church Path to the Church;  
> from the Hollis Hill road west across the churchyard; and  
> from the eastern extremities of the Conservation Area along Common Water Lane and 

the B3163 towards the hills behind Beaminster. 

2.17 Large-scale and otherwise obtrusive developments can detract from the quality of views 
into, within and from the Dorset Area of Outstanding Beauty, and the Local Plan includes a 
policy to prevent harm to the special qualities and natural beauty of this valued landscape, 
including its uninterrupted panoramic views.  Likewise the Local Plan policy on heritage 
assets makes clear that planning decisions should prevent harm to the key views and vistas 
within the Conservation Area. 

Page 273



 

13 | P a g e  

Distinctive settlements and important gaps 

2.18 The following descriptions are taken from the 2012 Parish Plan, updated to 2018: 

2.19 Blackdown is a hamlet on the south-western part of the plan area.  In mediaeval times, it 
was part of the ‘liberty’ of Broadwindsor and the ‘tithing’ of Childhay. It has a Chapel of 
Ease, consecrated in 1840 and until 1938 had its own school. Blackdown House started life 
in 1647 as a modest farm and has gradually been changed into the fine, large house it is 
today. There are various other farms and a structural steel construction company, which 
provide employment for the local population.  

2.20 Broadwindsor nestles beneath Lewesdon hill, the highest point in Dorset. A lovely and 
lively community, and the largest settlement in the Neighbourhood Plan area, it clusters 
around the four roads that meet in the village square. When the church bells ring on a 
Sunday, three of them are so old they would have been heard in the 15th century, well 
before King Charles II stopped off in the village on his dramatic flight from the Battle of 
Worcester in 1651. Today, Broadwindsor has a thriving primary school, the White Lion pub, 
a renowned Craft Centre, and a community-run village shop.  It is close to the much smaller 
hamlet of Hursey.   

Broadwindsor 

   

2.21 Burstock (‘Burewinestock’ in the Doomsday Book) is a small hamlet, located halfway up the 
south slope of the Axe valley west of Broadwindsor. Its single street has, at one end, a fine 
farmhouse with a 17th-century front and mullioned windows and at the other, the 13th 
century church of St. Andrew. Paintings of the village on the church’s south wall suggest 
Burstock has always been much the same size. Many of the families whose names can be 
read on the gravestones in the churchyard still farm or live in the area. Those who have 
moved away often come back to visit, or to be christened, married or buried here. 

2.22 Childhay is a small hamlet linked to the Manor of Childhay, which belonged to the de 
Crukerne family in the time of Edward III. That manor house is built of stone, with a main 
hall-block and a kitchen wing dating from the C15, and the east porch is a good example of 
the late medieval period. The house was the scene of a skirmish during the Civil War. There 
is also a C16 barn and a C17 dairy. Childhay is a well-run farming enterprise and today 
incorporates small businesses premises including the famous Black Cow vodka producers 
and previously the well-respected Childhay Manor Ice Cream. 

2.23 Drimpton is the second largest village in the parish and lies on the Little Axe, and close to 
the hamlets of Netherhay, Greenham and Sandpits.  The village has a pub, the Royal Oak, 
with home cooked food and a skittle alley, and a place of worship, St Mary’s Church.  

Page 274



 

14 | P a g e  

Drimpton village hall is a vibrant social centre for clubs and local entertainment, and has a 
play area and sports field outside.  The hall itself has showers and changing facilities. 

2.24 Greenham was built around a large flax mill (1824).  At its peak the mill employed over 100 
workers supplying the local Bridport rope industry. The mill is now much smaller and makes 
animal bedding. The workers cottages, Greenham House and Lower Greenham Farm make 
up this small hamlet. 

2.25 Hursey has a mixture of old and newer houses along the single lane that runs through this 
quiet settlement and past a working farm in to the countryside. The ancient Hursey 
Common is home to wildlife and wild flowers, but also boasts a much-loved sports field. 

Hursey     Littlewindsor 

  

2.26 Kittwhistle is a very small hamlet that lies along the B3165 just north of its slightly larger 
neighbour Blackdown. It has two farms, a few houses and, famously, a garage which has 
been operating for over 70 years.  

2.27 Littlewindsor is a hamlet, one mile north of Broadwindsor village. It is centred on a Manor 
Farm, which is shown in the Domesday Book as one of a large number granted by the 
Conqueror, for services rendered, to William de Mohun of Dunster in North Somerset. A 
century later the Abbots of neighbouring Forde Abbey were tenants of the Mohuns, but at 
the beginning of the C15, the Crown had become the Chief Lord with the Abbots continuing 
as tenants until the Dissolution, after which there was a succession of owners until the Cox 
family of Cheddington acquired the Manor in about 1790.  Littlewindsor remains an 
agricultural and equine community. 

2.28 Netherhay is a small hamlet with records back to the 16th century. Built around Netherhay 
Farm (now Old Netherhay) in 1683 by the Paul family. A chapel (now the Methodist Church) 
was built in 1838 for all the farm labours and workers at the flax mill in nearby Greenham. 

Netherhay      Seaborough 

    

Page 275



 

15 | P a g e  

2.29 Sandpits covers most of the farmland between Broadwindsor and Drimpton. It is a 
collection of traditional family farms and historic farmhouses, some of which are listed. 

2.30 Seaborough is a ‘frontier’ hamlet and small parish in its own right, on the River Axe on the 
border with Somerset. Before 1896, it was in Somerset, and at that time it had only one 
farm and its steep main street would have required great skill to manoeuvre with a horse 
and cart. Horses are intrinsic to Seaborough and it is home to several farms and a very 
successful racehorse training stable which provides welcome employment in the parish.  

2.31 The importance of keeping the distinctive character of the different settlements was a clear 
theme that came out of the earlier consultations.  Local residents were canvassed their 
opinion on the relative importance of gaps (as indicated in Map 4, with the length of the gap 
measured as the distance travelled along public routes or where clearly inter-visible) and 
whether insensitive development could potentially undermine the feeling of separation 
provided.  The majority said that they considered the fragile and moderate gaps to be 
important or very important. 

Map 4. Assessment of Settlements and Gaps 

 

© Crown Copyright and database right (2019).  Ordnance Survey Licence number 100060963 

See Policies Map for more detailed definition of Important Gaps 

2.32 It is clearly evident that the gaps between Broadwindsor and Hursey, Drimpton and 
Netherhay and Drimpton and Greenham are the most fragile due to the very limited 
separation.  As such an important gap area has been defined on the Policies Map, within 
which development should not be permitted unless it would maintain the openness of these 
gaps.  The moderate gaps between Drimpton and Sandpit, Greenham and Childhay, and 
Kittwhistle and Blackdown, are greater but still potentially vulnerable to erosion if 
significant development were to take place, and as such although some minor development 

Page 276



 

16 | P a g e  

may be permissible in the gaps between these settlements, the extent to which this may 
cumulatively impact on the distinction between settlements and their rural setting should 
still be considered, as should also be the case in the assessment of major development 
proposals (particularly in the context of the AONB where major development will be refused 
unless there are exceptional circumstances and the proposed development is in the public 
interest).  The impact of any development on these gaps will be monitored to establish 
whether more clearly defined gaps between these larger settlements needs to be made in 
any future review of this Neighbourhood Plan. 

2.33 There may be occasions where development in the gaps is unavoidable and in the public 
interest (for example infrastructure improvements where the location is fixed by other 
factors), in which case the landscaping and design of the development will require careful 
consideration. 

Policy BGNP6. Important Gaps 

New buildings, structures or land uses that would undermine the rural, undeveloped and open 
nature of the countryside, should not be permitted within the defined gaps shown on the 
Policies Map.  Exceptions to this will only be supported where there are no alternative sites and 
the development would be in the overriding public interest, and provided that the landscaping 
and design of the development retain the rural character  and function of the gap as far as 
possible.   

Development in the countryside between Drimpton and Sandpit, Greenham and Childhay, and 
Kittwhistle and Blackdown, and the cumulative impact of minor development, should not 
compromise the rural setting of, and clear distinction between, these settlements. 

 

Built character – locally distinctive places through design 

2.34 With the many different types of buildings, settlements and materials used across the plan 
area, it is not an easy job to provide clear design guidance.  The starting point should be to 
understand the characteristic of the settlement (or wider rural area) in which the 
development is planned, and develop a style that reinforces what is positive about that 
area’s local character.  In some cases this will mean a building that blends in with its 
neighbours, in other cases it may be appropriate to introduce modern or innovative styles 
that still sit comfortably within their context, but add to that area’s character in a positive 
way.   

2.35 A detailed Conservation Area Appraisal was adopted for Broadwindsor in October 2015 and 
provides much more detailed guidance for this particular area.  As this area is designated for 
its historic and architectural interest, the guidance in the appraisal should be used.   

www.dorsetforyou.gov.uk/article/387608/Netherbury-and-Broadwindsor-conservation-area 

2.36 Elsewhere, the following table provides general guidance based on the typical 
characteristics found across the plan area, which should be considered in designs. The main 
thread running through all of these is the rural nature of the settlements, which have 
developed incrementally over many centuries, slowly evolving to changes in day-to-day 
living, such as the introduction of the motor car. 

  

Page 277

https://www.dorsetforyou.gov.uk/article/387608/Netherbury-and-Broadwindsor-conservation-area


 

17 | P a g e  

 Table 3. Design Guidance 
Settlement Pattern and Layout  

a) The general settlement pattern across the area 
is one of dispersed, scattered, linear 
settlements, except the larger settlements of 
Broadwindsor and Drimpton, both of which are 
more concentrated in nature.   

b) Streets and lanes tend to be linear, with gentle 
meandering to provide interest and evolving 
views.  The building line, where one exists, tends 
to be broadly aligned but with depressions and 
protrusions adding variety and character  

c) Within the settlements, the main façade and 
access to properties tends to face onto the 
street, with the main exception being farm 
buildings and courtyards.  The inclusion of small 
front garden or paved areas with planters can 
avoid potential problems where buildings would 
otherwise exit directly onto the street 

d) The provision of external storage (for bins etc) 
and service boxes / meters etc should not appear 
unduly prominent.    

 

 
Building Type, Scale and Forms  

e) There is variation in building typologies, with 
groupings generally comprising a good variety, 
and reflecting the slow pace of growth and 
incremental changes typical of small rural 
settlements.  There are examples of a range of 
terraced, semi-detached and detached dwellings 
in most settlements, including historic gentry 
houses and workers cottages alongside more 
modern-day equivalents, converted farm 
buildings and other building types evolved from 
the various rural industries that have taken place 
locally.  

f) Building heights are generally between one to 
two storeys, with occasional two-and-a-half (ie 
with 2 storeys plus dormer windows in the roof) 
and three storey (or equivalent) buildings 
including large barns, manor houses and 
congregational buildings.   

g) The typical roofline is pitched, some with gabled 
terminations, hips and half-hips and a 
comparative absence of gablets.  Chimneys 
(often relatively simple and unadorned), have 
variation in pitch or height, and differentiated 
coping and kneelers, all adding interest.   

h) Breaks between buildings and in the roofline 
allow views of mature trees within gardens, and 
also out to the surrounding hills. 

 

 
Building Materials  

Page 278



 

18 | P a g e  

i) The main traditional building materials noted in 
the Conservation Area appraisal for 
Broadwindsor are Upper Greensand chert and 
rich orange colour Inferior Oolite limestone. 
Ham Hill Stone, Forest Marble and Chalk / Cob 
are also present in the plan area.  Ashlared stone 
and dressed stone is commonly used in detailing 
such as ashlared window and door lintels or 
quoining. Fuller’s Earth clay has been used for 
brick making, and can be used to form lintels 
and quoins, in combination with stone rubble.  
Sheet materials are also encountered in 
commercial and farm buildings. 

j) There tends to be a hierarchy of stone quality 
according to the status of buildings: ashlar on 
the Church and gentry houses; dressed stone or 
squared and coursed rubble on cottages; and 
rubble on agricultural buildings and boundary 
walls.   

k) Roof coverings include tile, slate, thatch, 
pantiles and sheet materials, including metal 
and fibre-cement. Thatch roofs are less common 
in the eastern part of the plan area.  Chimneys 
are typically brick. 

l) Boundary treatments that complement local 
character tend to be low walls made of brick or 
stone (typically uncoursed rubble), wrought or 
cast ironmongery or hedgerows or a 
combination of these. The use of cheap panel 
fencing in publicly visible boundaries tends to 
detract from the streetscene. 

 

 

 
Architectural Details  

m) Porches and canopies are relatively common 
and varied, the Conservation Area appraisal 
notes solid stone and rendered types with slate 
or tile roofs to bracketed flat and gabled 
canopies.   

n) Door types and materials are mixed, with more 
traditional buildings typically wooden, with 
vertical planks, plain or with expressed or 
studded muntins, with and without glazed 
openings; including rectangular, segmental or 
semi-circular fanlights over. 

o) Depending on the age and style of building, 
windows may be spaced at regular intervals or 
more randomly placed.  Sash and casement 
windows are most common, but the 
Conservation Area appraisal notes the use of 
hollow-chamfered stone mullions, horizontally 
hung wooden casements, vertically sliding sash 
windows, with varying numbers of glazing bars. 
Lintels vary from stone, wood and brick, and 
include cambered arches.   

 

 

Page 279



 

19 | P a g e  

2.37 In respecting local character, it is important to remember that many of the older buildings 
would not meet today’s more rigorous building regulations for modern living, and were not 
necessarily designed with today’s requirements for servicing and infrastructure in mind.  
Half of all households own 2 or more cars, and therefore will require space to park.  Storage 
requirements mean that households have at least two wheelie bins, plus other containers, 
required for rubbish and recycling.  Meter boxes etc should be discreetly placed. 

2.38 Patterns of energy use and generation will continue to develop, spurred on by rising energy 
costs, and lack of mains gas as a viable alternative.  As a result, options for renewable 
energy will increasingly be investigated on existing buildings and as part of new 
developments. Such options, whether PV panels, or even plug-in points for electric cars, are 
best considered at the start, when they can be sensitively included in a scheme. 

Policy BGNP7. Built character 

Development should be designed to complement and reinforce the distinctive local character 
of the settlement or outlying rural area to which it relates.  This should include reference to and 
consideration of all of the following key characteristics, as described in more detail in Table 3: 

− Settlement Pattern and Layout; 

− Building Type, Scale and Forms; 

− Building Materials; and 

− Architectural Details 

The sensitive inclusion of renewable energy and other eco-friendly measures will be supported 
in the design of new buildings and extensions to existing buildings, subject to avoiding harm to 
nearby heritage assets and views from within the AONB 

The incorporation of parking and turning areas, service, utility and storage provision, including 
waste and recycling, should be designed to avoid being prominent in the streetscene. 

 

Page 280



 

20 | P a g e  

3 COMMUNITY FACILITIES AND TRANSPORT INFRASTRUCTURE 

Important community buildings, public open space and recreational facilities 

3.1 The Parish Plan and the results of the household questionnaire showed that having local 
services and shops, community facilities that support a good social life and community 
spirit, a good school and leisure, sport and recreation facilities, were all important factors in 
making this area a good place to live. 

White Lion pub and Church in Broadwindsor                Broadwindsor Community Stores 

    

3.2 The opening of the Broadwindsor Community Stores illustrates this community’s tenacity 
for continuing the many local services that are valued by local residents.  When the original 
shop in the Square closed at the end of August 2011, the return of a shop to Broadwindsor 
was the highest immediate priority for most people, as recorded in the Parish Plan.  A team 
of residents, with tremendous backing from the community, embarked on the road to prove 
that there could be another shop in the village.  Unsuccessful attempts were made to buy or 
rent the original shop, and despite setbacks, the breakthrough came when planning 
approval was given to turn the Old Telephone Exchange in Drimpton Road into a shop.  
Many local volunteers are now helping to run it, and we need to ensure it continues to 
thrive.  

3.3 The various community halls similarly play a key role in the social life of many local 
residents.  Activities available include social clubs, film shows, pantomimes and Artsreach 
events, short mat bowls, skittles, keep fit classes, coffee mornings, youth club activities and 
much more.  There is broadband available in all three village halls. 

3.4 The Local Plan includes policies that protect local community buildings and structures, 
public open space and recreational facilities, unless they will be replaced elsewhere with 
equal or better facilities, or the facility is no longer needed or viable to run (in which case 
alternative community use of the facilities should be considered first).  In the 
Neighbourhood Plan area, important community facilities that existed at the time this Plan 
was written are listed in Table 4 that follows, and their locations shown on the Policies Map. 

  

Page 281



 

21 | P a g e  

Table 4. Community buildings, public open space and recreational facilities 
Facility Ref Description 

Local shops CF10 
CF24 

Broadwindsor Community Stores 
Shops and Services at Broadwindsor Craft Centre 

Post offices CF21 Post Office outreach held at Comrades Hall (Broadwindsor) 

Banks / building societies  none at present 

Cafes, restaurants and public 
houses 

CF12 
CF11 
CF24 

White Lion Pub  (Broadwindsor) 
Royal Oak Pub (Drimpton) 
Craft Centre café / restaurant  (Broadwindsor) 

Petrol stations CF17 Kittwhistle Garage 

Education and training  CF15 Broadwindsor CE, VC Primary School 

Healthcare facilities CF06 Nursing home at Broadwindsor House 

Community halls, cultural 
facilities and places of worship 

CF21 
CF04 
CF02 
CF13 
CF03 
CF09 
CF22 
CF18 
CF05 

Comrades Hall (Broadwindsor) 
Drimpton Village Hall 
Blackdown Village Hall 
St John the Baptist’s Church (Broadwindsor) 
St Mary’s Church (Drimpton) 
Netherhay Methodist Chapel 
Holy Trinity Church (Blackdown) 
St Andrew’s Church (Burstock) 
St John's Church (Seaborough) 

Open space and recreational 
facilities 

CF04 
CF20 
CF23 
CF01 
CF15 

Drimpton Recreation Ground and Play area 
Broadwindsor Cricket Ground and Pavilion 
Broadwindsor Allotments 
Oathill Allotments 
Playing fields associated with Broadwindsor Primary School 
Hursey Football Field and Bernards’ Place are both protected as 
a Local Green Spaces. 

Broadwindsor Allotments     Drimpton Village Hall, play area and recreation ground 

    

3.5 The main concerns with local facilities raised through the earlier scoping consultations on 
the Neighbourhood Plan related to the need for improvements to the existing play areas 
(and a new Multi Use Games Area is being planned by the Parish Council) and allotment 
spaces. 

3.6 Local Service Providers who operate in the area were contacted in May / June 2017, and 
responses were received from Broadwindsor Community Store; Broadwindsor CE VC 
Primary School; Kittwhistle Garage; the Royal Oak Pub Drimpton and the White Lion Pub, 
Broadwindsor.  The survey asked whether the services would cater with an increase of up to 
30 homes; up to 60 homes; and up to 100 homes.   

Page 282



 

22 | P a g e  

3.7 No concerns were raised in catering for up to 30 more homes – although the school is 
broadly at capacity a small number of its pupils come from outside the local catchment 
area.  There could be a need to invest in on-site improvements to the school and shop or 
even to expand / relocate with a more sizeable increase in population (although as house 
prices become less affordable to young families there is also the risk that the school roll 
could decline).   

3.8 Both pubs felt that they would have capacity to take increased customers from up to 60 
new homes.  The Kittwhistle Garage noted a need to invest in facilities for hybrid / electrical 
vehicles regardless of housing growth. 

3.9 Any improvements to these facilities should be supported in principle, although 
consideration will still need to be given to avoiding any adverse impacts – such as amenity, 
road safety and environmental harm as set out in other policies.  

Policy BGNP8. Important community facilities 

Community facilities (as listed in Table 4) should be retained where possible.  The local 
community should be consulted on proposals to remove, diminish or replace an important 
community facility.  Proposals that allow existing facilities to modernise and adapt for future 
needs, or to diversify in a manner that would support a new or improved community facility to 
become viable, will be supported.   

Creating safer roads and pedestrian routes 

3.10 From the first consultation a lot of comments were about transport.  In rural areas such as 
here, investment in public transport solutions is limited, and the rural nature of the highway 
network does not readily accommodate the larger vehicles used by modern industries, 
increasingly higher traffic speeds, or provide safe passage for pedestrians, cyclists and 
equestrians that share the road with these motor vehicles. 

3.11 Our neighbourhood plan is limited in what it can achieve, but one project that was identified 
was the provision of passing places where this could improve safety for all road users.  The 
Parish Council are happy to receive suggestions and work with the Highway Authority to 
bring about such improvement works where these may be supported. 

Examples where passing places could be beneficial – Sandpit to Broadwindsor 

   

Page 283



 

23 | P a g e  

4 FLOODING 

4.1 Two streams flow through the Broadwindsor parish, Temple Brook and The Little Axe 
(named locally).  Water levels, in both streams, rise quickly after heavy rain.  The level drops 
after the rain stops so flooding does not remain for extended periods.  Keeping the road 
bridges clear of stones and detritus washed down in the floods reduces the risks of flooding. 

4.2 Temple Brook flows from Pilsdon Pen north to join the Axe River.  It passes under the B3162 
road bridge in Greenham and there are recent records of flooding at the bridge with a 
number of cottages being flooded.  The Little Axe starts on Lewesdon Hill, passes through 
both Broadwindsor and Drimpton and again joins the River Axe to the North of the parish. 
In Broadwindsor the Little Axe floods at the B3164 ( West Street ) bridge and cottages have 
been affected. In Drimpton it floods at the B3162 Chard Road (though significantly 
ameliorated since the bridge was rebuilt to a single span from 3 narrow culverts), again 
threatening properties.  In addition heavy rain causes road flooding with the B3163 at 
Honeycombe Farm, Crewkerne Road between Drimpton and Netherhay plus the 
Broadwindsor to Mosterton Road being the critical areas. 

4.3 Broadwindsor and Drimpton have separate foul sewage systems and the rest of the parish 
have private systems.  There are no reports of problems with the foul sewer in 
Broadwindsor.  In Drimpton flood water from the Little Axe enters the foul sewer causing it 
to overfill and discharge sewer water into the stream. South West Water say this is due to 
the poor state of old pipes, that pass under the stream, and are working to reduce the 
amount of flood water entering the sewer.  The overfull sewer causes some problems to 
residents but South West Water are working to reduce this and have installed additional 
sewer vents on 3 properties in Marksmead. 

Map 5. Flood risk from rivers 

 

Page 284



 

24 | P a g e  

5 HOUSING AND EMPLOYMENT NEEDS 

Housing and employment needs 

5.1 The Local Plan for West Dorset, Weymouth and Portland does not identify a specific 
housing development figure for the Neighbourhood Plan area, nor does it specify a target 
for individual settlements in the area.  Its strategic allocations provide the main 
development opportunities, and these are located at the main towns such as Beaminster, 
Bridport and Lyme Regis.  It also anticipates that the larger villages where the majority of 
services are located (ie those with defined development boundaries, such as at 
Broadwindsor) will also provide a considerable supply of smaller sites through 
redevelopment and infill opportunities.   

5.2 The Local Plan makes clear that Neighbourhood Development Plans can be used to help 
bring forward new development, and may allocate additional sites, or extend an existing (or 
add a new) development boundary to help deliver this growth.  It also includes policies to 
ensure that where new homes are built, these provide a mix of housing types and sizes.  The 
proposed mix is based on district-level housing need information, but this may be varied if 
justified by local circumstances.   

5.3 Our research into the level of housing need 
suggested that if an average of between 4 to 5 
dwellings were built each year over the Plan 
Period, this would be an appropriate level of 
housing growth for the Neighbourhood Plan 
area.  Through the household survey it was 
established that most local residents would be 
prepared to support this level of growth if the 
type and mix of housing was suitable.  
Support was also indicated for small as 
opposed to large sites.  Houses for sale on the open market and sites for private rental were 
not generally supported, however, adaptable, shared ownership and housing association 
homes, small (1 or 2 bedroom) starter homes suitable for first time buyers (what constitutes 
a starter home is defined in more detail in legislation1), small (2 or 3 bedroom) family homes  
and small (1 or 2 bedroom) homes for 'final purchase' downsizing, all attracted support.  
This mirrored the findings from the Census data and market research, which flagged up the 
ageing population profile and ‘over-provision’ of larger detached properties available on the 
open market.   

                                                             

1  Broadly speaking, a Starter Home is expected to be priced below the average price paid by a first time buyer, and 
should have restrictions imposed in terms of sale price and eligibility (in terms of age and income). 

Page 285



 

25 | P a g e  

5.4 Our research into local employment needs was based on a business survey in late 2016 (to 
which 52 local businesses responded), a review of Census data and feedback from the 
household questionnaire.  This showed 
that although farming occupies the largest 
part of this Area of Outstanding Natural 
Beauty and still accounts for a significant 
proportion of local employment, the 
biggest employers are in construction and 
light engineering.  Horn Park Quarry, 
between Broadwindsor and Beaminster, is 
the main business park in the area and 
considered to be a key employment site.  
Most (71%) of businesses in the Parish are 
people working from home, and where 
people do employ staff, about half of 
these live locally within the Neighbourhood Plan area.  There is also a significant amount of 
synergy between local businesses, with about half of the businesses in the Parish buying 
goods or services from each other. 

5.5 Only 5% of businesses said that they would be likely to look for new, improved or expanded 
premises during the next 5 years.  The key requirement (mentioned by two thirds of 
respondents) was for faster broadband and a much better mobile signal, with many 
indicating that this was essential to their survival. 

5.6 From the household survey, the consensus view was that the Neighbourhood Plan should 
seek to protect existing employment sites, encourage home working, support conversions 
of existing buildings to employment.  There were more mixed views over whether further 
land should be allocated for employment, with a 44:56 split for and against. 

5.7 As with housing, the Local Plan for West Dorset, Weymouth and Portland does not identify 
a specific employment development figure for the Neighbourhood Plan area.  The strategy 
set out in the Local Plan is to ensure that there is a continuing supply of land and premises 
suitable for employment uses, of a type and scale appropriate to the characteristics of the 
local area. It anticipates that new sites will mainly be needed in the towns, but also includes 
flexible policies to allow development to come forward on other suitable sites, including: 

> within or on the edge of a settlement; 

> through the intensification or extension of existing premises; 

> as part of a farm diversification scheme; 

> through the re-use or replacement of an existing building; or 

> in a rural location where this is essential for that type of business 

5.8 All of this research points towards a figure of about 4 to 5 dwellings on average each year 
over the 14 years of the Plan Period to 2031, but is less clear-cut on the need for further 
employment if the existing stock is maintained.  The housing figure is not in itself a 
definitive requirement nor a limit for growth in the local area.  It is a starting point for 
determining the need and benefit of making site allocations and changes to the defined 
development boundaries through this Neighbourhood Plan.   

5.9 Housing types should be focused on delivering smaller and more affordable housing, and 
homes specifically designed for residents with more limited mobility.  Affordable housing 

Page 286



 

26 | P a g e  

would include affordable housing for rent (at levels substantially below the open market 
level); discounted market sales housing (with the discount retained for future eligible 
households); and other forms of affordable home ownership (including, for example, shared 
ownership).  More affordable open market housing options would include self-build plots 
and smaller properties that would have a comparatively low open market value.  Homes 
that meet the higher optional building regulation standards for accessibility (Category 2 
accessible and adaptable dwellings and Category 3: wheelchair user dwellings) would clearly 
meet the needs of residents with more limited mobility.   

5.10 There is no apparent need for larger, detached properties other than to provide specifically 
for home-working.  The only circumstance where this may be readily justified is in the case 
of large barn conversions– although even in such situations thought should be given to 
whether the barn could be subdivided to create more flexible accommodation – such as the 
possibility to split into two units or allow for home working or annexed accommodation.   

5.11 Support for new employment is broadly in line with the policies contained in the Local Plan, 

that focuses on the retention and potential extension of existing sites, and the potential for 

new sites within or on the edge of an existing settlement.  Given the rural nature of the 

Neighbourhood Plan area, the latter is to be applied to all the settlements listed in section 

2, provided that such sites are small-scale in nature so as not to significantly impact on the 

characteristics of those settlements. 

Policy BGNP9. Meeting the area’s housing needs 

The amount of housing growth supported over the Plan Period will be an average of 4 to 5 
dwellings per annum, from: 

− site allocations; 

− infill sites within the defined development boundary of Broadwindsor; 

− rural affordable housing exception sites; 

− conversion of existing buildings; and 

− rural workers’ dwellings where there is an essential need for the worker to live on-site 

Affordable housing for local needs should be provided on all housing sites of 6 or more 
dwellings as 35% of the total dwelling floorspace.  Sites providing a higher level of affordable 
housing and starter homes than required will be supported.  The type and size of affordable 
homes should reflect the current local need as evidenced in the affordable housing register.  
Financial contributions equivalent to any shortfall will be required on completion of the open 
market units.  Legal agreements will be sought with the developers and providers of affordable 
housing to ensure that the housing remains affordable in perpetuity. 

The type and size of open market housing should primarily provide two and three bedroom 
homes, starter homes and homes specifically designed for residents with more limited mobility.  
Larger homes (with the equivalent space for four or more bedrooms) will require special 
justification and should be designed to allow for potential future subdivision (as two dwellings / 
annexed accommodation or workspace / studio) unless it can be demonstrated that this would 
not be practicable.   

. 

Page 287



 

27 | P a g e  

Policy BGNP10. Meeting the area’s employment needs 

There should be no net loss of employment land.  This should be achieved through: 

− the retention, intensification and extension of existing business premises where 
possible, including the key employment site of Horn Park Quarry; 

− employment site allocations; 

− small-scale employment sites within or on the edge of Broadwindsor, Drimpton or one 
of the smaller hamlets (as identified in section 2), in keeping with the character of that 
settlement; 

− farm diversification schemes and rural-based employment opportunities where a 
countryside location is essential. 

5.12 In all cases, further detailed consideration of the impact of development on the local area, 
such as flood risk, heritage assets, traffic impacts etc will be required at planning application 
stage.   

Locations for sustainable growth and site-specific allocations 

5.13 The distribution of housing and population has historically been spread between the various 
larger and smaller settlements and rural area.  Estimates from Census data suggest about 
40% of the population is based in or around Broadwindsor, about 25% in or around 
Drimpton, with the remaining population in the smaller settlements and scattered 
farmsteads, including places like Blackdown, Seaborough and Littlewindsor.   

5.14 The Local Plan identifies Beaminster, Bridport, Chickerell, Crossways, Dorchester, Lyme 
Regis, the settlements on Portland, Sherborne and Weymouth as the most sustainable 
locations for further development.  There are no Local Plan site allocations within the 
Neighbourhood Plan area.  The Local Plan identifies Broadwindsor (being the largest 
settlement in the Neighbourhood Plan area, with the most facilities) as the main focus for 
new development in this area, and on this basis it has defined a development boundary for 
this settlement within which new housing is in principle acceptable.  It would follow that 
most, if not all, new housing and employment should be located at this village.  However, as 
explained in more detail below, this distribution was not in practice deliverable due to the 
lack of available and suitable sites in and around Broadwindsor, and as a result this plan also 
allocates sites at Drimpton and Netherhay. 

Through the options consultation we asked local residents about whether some 
development should take place at some of the smaller settlements.  Whilst there was no 
clear consensus view, the option of avoiding development at the smallest settlements 
which have no facilities was broadly supported. 

5.15 Following a call for available sites in April 2017, potential sites were submitted by the 
landowners.  There were far more sites put forward for the Drimpton area and more remote 
locations than in or around Broadwindsor.  All the sites were assessed against a range of 
sustainability criteria and technical checks with the District and County Councils and the 
AONB team regarding landscape, heritage, highways, flooding, and land contamination.   

5.16 The results of the initial technical and sustainability checks were shared with the 
landowners, and a number of sites that performed poorly were voluntarily withdrawn from 
the process at that stage.  The strategic environmental assessment of the remaining site 
options did not suggest that there would be significant harm arising from any one site, with 

Page 288



 

28 | P a g e  

the possible exception of site 7 (Land east of Netherhay Lane, between Drimpton and 
Netherhay) and site 14 (Land at Axe Mill Industrial Estate, Netherhay) where the 
assessment identified the potential loss of a sizeable area of Grade 2 farmland.  Sites 09 
(Land south of the Mill House, Kittwhistle) and 15 (Land at Beck’s Field, Netherhay) were 
also noted as performing poorly with a number of topic areas, where possible (though not 
significant) harm was identified.   

5.17 The results of the assessments were then subject to consultation with local residents , 
through road show exhibitions, held in Blackdown, Drimpton and Broadwindsor, resulting in 
the return of 175 feedback forms.  The general consensus through the consultation was that 
six of the proposed sites were acceptable and likely to be supported by local parishioners.  
There was no clear consensus on three of the options, and clear opposition to the remaining 
three sites.   

Sites at or close to Broadwindsor village (including Hursey) 

5.18 Three sites have been identified at Broadwindsor to accommodate housing growth.   

5.19 The largest site put forward in Broadwindsor was land south of Fullers (site 01).  An outline 
planning application (ref WD/D/17/000800) was submitted for this site in April 2017 (at the 
same time as the call for sites).  The application was initially for up to 32 dwellings, but 
subsequently reduced to up to 22 dwellings.  There were a considerable number of 
objections to the plans, most notably regarding the impact on the Dorset AONB and 
highway network / site access.   

5.20 Despite the continued concerns raised by the AONB landscape officer (who advised that a 
further reduction in density should be made to allow further landscaping within the site), 
the case officer and committee considered that the site was large enough to accommodate 
appropriate landscaping and that any adverse impacts would not outweigh the benefits of 
allowing the application at that time.  The application was therefore approved on 14 
December 2018 (prior to this Neighbourhood Plan’s examination) following the completion 
of a legal agreement to secure the affordable housing and the provision and maintenance / 
management of the surface water drainage and landscaping areas.   

5.21 Due to the various concerns, the Neighbourhood Plan had assessed the capacity for the 
development of the site to be considerably less (at up to 10 dwellings on the area closest to 
the road) than the outline planning application proposed.  With the planning permission 
having been granted, the Examiner recommended that, in the interests of accuracy, the 
policy itself and the supporting text should be amended accordingly.   

5.22 As comparatively few sites were put forward for consideration in and around Broadwindsor, 
an additional policy has been included that would allow other small-scale sites to be 
considered for a mix of open market and affordable homes.  The Local Plan policy would 
also allow employment and community uses to be considered on land adjoining the 
settlement. 

Sites at or close to Drimpton village (including Greenham, Netherhay and Sandpit) 

5.23 The largest site put forward in Drimpton was the field off Netherhay Lane (site 7).  Part of 
the field, the south west corner (site 7a), had been identified by the Broadwindsor Group 
Parish Community Land Trust as their preferred site for an affordable housing development 
(in late 2016).  They require about 1.5 acres to build 15 homes (1-bed, 2-bed, 3-bed), mainly 
for rent but also 1 or 2 as shared ownership, reflecting the requirements of families currently 
on the Affordable Housing List.  A planning application has been submitted for this 
development. 

Page 289



 

29 | P a g e  

5.24 Two smaller housing sites have also been included – one on the eastern side of Drimpton 
the other at the nearby hamlet of Netherhay.  Altogether, these three sites meet the level 
of growth considered to be appropriate to a settlement of this size, and no further housing 
sites are needed in this general location.   

5.25 One other site was put forward for employment and housing (Axe Mill), but as it is more 
removed from the settlement and less suited for housing, it is has been allocated for 
employment.  This would complement the existing Horn Park Quarry business site on the 
eastern side of the plan area.  No other employment sites were offered through the call for 
sites. 

Sites in the wider rural area including the smaller hamlets of Blackdown, Burstock, Childhay, 
Kittwhistle, Littlewindsor and Seaborough 

5.26 Although a number of sites were put forward by landowners, these were all some distance 
from the larger and more sustainable settlements, and the advice received from the Local 
Planning Authority was that greenfield sites in these locations would not accord with the 
Local Plan strategy.   

5.27 The potential for the conversion of an existing rural building however was a possible option, 
and an assessment of one such example at Horn Ash (which had been submitted as part of 
the call for sites) was tested.  As a result, the ‘in principle’ acceptability of such conversions 
has been considered and a general policy covering this type of development has been 
included in the Plan. 

Table 5. Potential sites for inclusion - outcomes 
Site reference Suggested amount Public 

support 
Neighbourhood 

Plan 

Sites at or close to Broadwindsor village (including Hursey) 

01 Land south of Fullers up to 22 houses  Marginal Allocated  

03 Land at Manor Farm up to 5 houses, inc replacement YES Allocated 

06 North of Hillside, Drimpton Road up to 5 houses on lower ground  YES Allocated (part) 

 ➔ total potential: up to 32* homes plus infill & exception sites 

Sites at or close to Drimpton village (including Greenham, Netherhay and Sandpit) 

05 Land at Brent Paddock, Netherhay  up to 2 houses  YES Allocated (part) 

07a Land E of Netherhay Lane (S end) up to 15 units (all affordable) YES Allocated (part) 

12 East of Manor Farm, Bridport Rd up to 10 houses Marginal Allocated 

14 Land at Axe Mill, Netherhay  employment only YES Allocated 

 ➔ total potential: up to 27 homes, including the CLT site 

Sites in the wider rural area and smaller rural hamlets 

08 Barn rear of Ashleigh, Horn Ash (conversion) YES general policy 

 ➔ total potential: rural conversions 

 ➔➔ Overall potential: up to 59 homes plus windfall 

Sites assessed but excluded as unsuitable for development   

07b Land E of Netherhay Lane (N end), Netherhay Little public support, adverse heritage impacts 

11 Land west of Netherhay Lane, Drimpton Little public support, adverse landscape impacts 

15 Land at Beck’s Field, Netherhay  Little public support, adverse heritage impacts 

09 Land S of Mill House, Kittwhistle Marginal support, isolated and landscape impacts 

5.28 The distribution is considered deliverable, and broadly in conformity with the strategy as set 
out in the Local Plan.   

Page 290



 

30 | P a g e  

Minimising environmental impacts 

5.29 The following site allocations and the associated policy criteria have taken account of the 
potential environmental impacts and how such harm can be avoided or mitigated.   

5.30 The strategic environmental assessment that accompanied the drafting of this plan focused 
on minimising harm to biodiversity, landscape, heritage, soils, minimising flood risk, and 
directing development towards locations which were safe and accessible.  Where mitigation 
can provide multiple benefits, such as the planting of trees within catchments to reduce 
surface water runoff and strengthen local landscape character, create wildlife and 
recreational areas, this is to be encouraged. 

Sites in and around Broadwindsor village (including Hursey) 

Site 1: Land south of Fullers, opposite Redlands Lane: Housing 

Site Description and Access 

5.31 The site comprises the roadside 
portions of two relatively flat 
agricultural fields on the southern edge 
of Broadwindsor village.  The allocated 
area that has outline planning 
permission extends to about 0.86ha.  
The fields begin to slope downwards 
further away from the road, and adjoin 
residential areas to the north and east.  
The site fronts onto the B3162.  The 
existing access to the south is 
inadequate, with poor visibility, and therefore a new access will need to be created closer to 
the village.  There would be scope to improve pedestrian safety along this stretch of road 
through a suitable traffic calming scheme or other measures.   

Heritage, Landscape and Local Features 

5.32 This is a potentially prominent site within the Dorset AONB, visible from lower slopes of 
Lewesdon Hill and wider footpath network to the south-west.  Careful consideration of 
density, landscaping and design will be needed.  The hedges along the field boundaries are 
quite ecologically diverse and if affected by the proposed development would require an 
assessment under the Hedgerow Regulations Act (1997).  Where hazel is present this can 
provide suitable habitat for the dormouse. They are likely to be worthy of retention and 
enhancement.  

Flood Risk, Contamination and other matters 

5.33 No major risks identified, however nearby springs suggest that ground water may be high, 
and the sloping nature of site could result in run-off increasing flood risk to properties 
down-stream from surface water run-off.  There are domestic-scale pylons along the road 
frontage.  An 8” water main crosses through the southern section of the site before heading 
north-west – and will need to be taken into account (or diverted) in the detailed design.  The 
site is also partly within Minerals Safeguarding Area, and therefore extraction of this 
minerals resource in advance of the site’s development should be considered. 

Page 291



 

31 | P a g e  

Policy BGNP11. Site 1: Land south of Fullers, opposite Redlands Lane, Broadwindsor 

Land south of Fullers, opposite Redlands Lane, as shown on the Policies Map, is allocated for up 
to 22 dwellings, including affordable housing, subject to all of the following requirements: 

a) new buildings are limited to the area closest to the road (the allocated area);  

b) the overall height of the development should not exceed the ridge heights of the 
surrounding buildings, and buildings designed to complement and reinforce the 
distinctive local character in line with Policy BGNP6; 

c) the provision of affordable housing should comprise 35% of the total dwelling 
floorspace, and the type and size of open market housing should primarily provide two 
and three bedroom homes, starter homes and homes specifically designed for residents 
with more limited mobility, in line with Policy BGNP8; 

d) a landscape scheme is secured to reduce the visual prominence of development from 
long distant views from footpaths accessing Lewesdon Hill, to include landscaping on 
the western boundary and landscaped areas of sufficient size to incorporate mature 
trees within the site; 

e) a new vehicular access onto the B3162 is provided with a suitable visibility splay 
achieved; 

f) improved pedestrian access from the site into the village is secured; 

g) a surface water and drainage strategy is implemented to ensure run-off from the site is 
adequately dealt with without increasing flood-risk off-site, taking into account the 
underlying geology, down-stream flood records and potential for high groundwater in 
this location; 

h) the retention of the existing hedgerow boundaries as far as practicable, and the 
provision of biodiversity mitigation to secure a net biodiversity gain (in line with the 
Dorset Biodiversity Protocol). 

Site 3: Land at Manor Farm, Common Water Lane: Housing 

Site Description and Access 

5.34 A small site of about 0.2ha that 
comprises existing outbuildings and 
garden / orchard area of Manor Farm, 
on the northern edge of Broadwindsor 
village accessed from Common Water 
Lane. The site slopes down from the 
east and adjoins Common Water Lane. 

5.35 Vehicular access is from Common 
Water Lane, which is a narrow rural lane 
with no pavements.  There should be 
scope to improve access and 
incorporate adequate on-site parking and vehicle turning space within the site.  There are 
limited options for safe pedestrian access. 

Page 292



 

32 | P a g e  

Heritage, Landscape and Local Features 

5.36 The site lies within the Dorset AONB and partly within the Broadwindsor Conservation 
Area.  It is intimate and busy in character, opening out to wider countryside to east.  
Potentially visible in distant views from higher ground to the south.  There is an Area Tree 
Preservation Order over the  land immediately to the south.  The hedgebank bordering 
Common Water Lane is likely to be an old hedgerow and would need to be assessed under 
the Hedgerow Regulations (1997).  Manor Farm to the west is considered a Locally 
Important Building as a mid C19 stone and slate, coped gables, replacement windows, of 
group value with converted barns, and Broadwindsor House to the south-east is Grade II 
Listed, and the context of these buildings will need to be respected.  The Conservation Area 
Appraisal notes key view / vista from the eastern extremities of the Conservation Area along 
Common Water Lane and the B3163 towards the hills behind Beaminster.  The stone 
boundary wall bordering Common Water Lane is also worthy of retention. 

Flood Risk, Contamination and other matters 

5.37 No major risks identified.  The sloping nature of site could result in run-off.  Although water 
mains reinforcement is unlikely to be necessary, the development will need internal 
pumping to provide satisfactory water pressure levels (with associated development cost 
implications).  There is also potential for over-looking / loss of privacy that can be avoided 
through sensitive design. 

Policy BGNP12. Site 3: Land at Manor Farm, Common Water Lane, Broadwindsor 

Land at Manor Farm, Common Water Lane, as shown on the Policies Map, is allocated for up to 
5 dwellings (including the redevelopment of outbuildings), subject to all of the following 
requirements: 

a) The scale and design is sensitive to its context in line with Policy BGNP6 - this will 
require a detailed heritage impact assessment to identify appropriate mitigation, but as 
a minimum, the height of any new buildings should not to exceed current height of 
development and their design will need to ensure any overlooking / loss of privacy to 
adjoining properties is avoided; 

b) The vehicular access onto Common Water Lane will require a suitable visibility splay to 
be achieved, whilst retaining the rural nature of the lane with its stone boundary wall 
and hedgebank; 

c) The type and size of open market housing should primarily provide two and three 
bedroom homes, starter homes and homes specifically designed for residents with 
more limited mobility, in line with Policy BGNP8; 

d) On-site parking and vehicle turning space for residents and visitors should be provided 
to meet the likely anticipated need, taking into account the lack of available parking 
spaces nearby; 

e) Safer pedestrian access from the site into the village is secured, if achievable; 

f) A drainage strategy is secured to ensure run-off from the site is not increased over 
existing levels; 

g) The provision of biodiversity mitigation to secure a net biodiversity gain (in line with the 
Dorset Biodiversity Protocol). 

Page 293



 

33 | P a g e  

Site 6: Land North of Hillside, Drimpton Road: Housing 

Site Description and Access 

5.38 Sloping agricultural land rising up from 
the road, on the western edge of 
Broadwindsor heading towards 
Drimpton.  The site allocation extends 
to about 0.2ha of the field.  There is an 
existing vehicular access onto the 
B3162, but the visibility splay can 
become obscured by the roadside 
hedge and there are no pavements at 
this point along the B3162. 

Heritage, Landscape and Local Features 

5.39 This is a potentially prominent and open site within the Dorset AONB, with the higher 
ground likely to be visible in distant views from Lewesdon Hill and Pilsdon Pen, whereas the 
area closest to the road is much less prominent and partly screened by the strong 
hedgerows.  The area of grassland is semi-improved and species-poor.  The road bank 
hedge is shaded somewhat by mature trees.  The eastern hedge on the higher ground could 
well qualify as an Important Hedgerow under the Act. Where hazel is present this can 
provide suitable habitat for the dormouse.  No heritage or other features were noted that 
could be impacted by the development. 

Flood Risk, Contamination and other matters 

5.40 No major risks identified.  The sloping nature of site could result in run-off.  The existing 
water mains network servicing Broadwindsor will need to be extended to serve this 
development. 

Policy BGNP13. Site 6: Land North of Hillside, Drimpton Road, Broadwindsor 

Land North of Hillside, Drimpton Road, as shown on the Policies Map, is allocated for up to 5 
dwellings, subject to all of the following requirements: 

a) New buildings are limited to the lower ground (the allocated area) with no buildings or 
structures permitted within any residential curtilages that may extend onto the higher 
ground, and designed to complement and reinforce the distinctive local character in line 
with Policy BGNP6; 

b) The type and size of open market housing should primarily provide two and three 
bedroom homes, starter homes and homes specifically designed for residents with 
more limited mobility, in line with Policy BGNP8; 

c) The vehicular access onto Drimpton Road will require a suitable visibility splay to be 
achieved; 

d) A landscape scheme is secured to strengthen the screening provided by the hedgerows 
and trees along the site boundaries in long distant views; 

e) Safer pedestrian access from the site into the village is secured, if achievable; 

f) A drainage strategy is secured to ensure run-off from the site is suitably managed to 
avoid impacting on properties off-site; 

Page 294



 

34 | P a g e  

g) The retention of the existing hedgerow boundaries and mature trees as far as 
practicable, and the provision of biodiversity mitigation to secure a net biodiversity gain 
(in line with the Dorset Biodiversity Protocol). 

Land adjoining the defined development boundary 

5.41 It is clear from the call for sites that there were only limited options put forward in and 
around Broadwindsor village.  It is feasible that other sites may come forward during the 
lifetime of the plan that could continue to meet local needs in what is the area’s largest 
village, that are not unduly constrained by environmental designations or other factors.   

5.42 The Local Plan allows for rural exception sites to be promoted, but the requirement for 
100% affordable housing may be prohibitive, and a slightly more flexible approach is 
therefore suggested to encourage landowners to consider offering their sites to help meet 
these local needs in this particular location (in and around Broadwindsor village).   

5.43 This policy extends to land around the hamlet of Hursey, which has a very close relationship 
with Broadwindsor village.  A defined development boundary was suggested as a possible 
option for Hursey, but has not been adopted due to the complex nature and relationship 
between the dwellings and garden areas.  Instead reference is made to the ‘built-up area’ 
which should be interpreted as areas where buildings are situated and the curtilages 
associated with those buildings, extending as far along the lane as Moorlands (where 
Spillers Lane exit joins the track).  Closely related means visible from buildings within the 
built-up area, and not separated by an undeveloped area in which more than two houses 
could subsequently be built. 

5.44 Any open market housing allowed as part of this exception site policy should comply with 
the dwelling requirements (which in themselves are aimed at providing more affordable 
forms of open market housing).   

Policy BGNP14. Small-scale exception sites adjoining Broadwindsor and Hursey 

Small-scale exception sites for affordable housing with a limited element of open market 
housing will be supported, provided that all of the following requirements are met:  

a) the site adjoins or is otherwise closely related to the defined development boundary of 
Broadwindsor and the built-up area of Hursey, and is not within an area at risk of 
flooding, or a designated local green space or important gap; 

b) the scheme is of a character, scale and design appropriate to the location, new buildings 
are designed to complement and reinforce the distinctive local character in line with 
Policy BGNP6, and appropriate landscaping is included to avoid the development being 
prominent in long-distance views; 

c) the provision of biodiversity mitigation is achieved to secure a net biodiversity gain (in 
line with the Dorset Biodiversity Protocol); 

d) the provision of a drainage strategy to ensure run-off from the site is suitably managed 
to avoid impacting on properties off-site; 

e) the affordable housing will meet an identified, current, local need arising from within 
the parish and restrictions will be included that these homes are prioritised and remain 
affordable to local people (with a connection to the neighbourhood plan area) in 
perpetuity, in line with Policy BGNP8; 

Page 295



 

35 | P a g e  

f) any element of market housing must not exceed the level required to make the scheme 
viable and the application should be supported by an assessment which demonstrates 
this, taking into account that the open market house types should comply with policy 
BGNP8 (dwelling types).   

Sites in and around Drimpton village (including Greenham, Netherhay and Sandpit) 

Site 7a: Land East of Netherhay Lane: exception site for affordable housing 

Site Description and Access 

5.45 About 0.8ha of a gently sloping, large 
agricultural field, forming part of the 
gap between Drimpton and Netherhay.  
Netherhay and the Crewkerne Road lies 
to the north, the Little Axe tributary 
runs to the east (with part of Drimpton’s 
residential area beyond), and to the 
south the site backs onto residential 
properties off the B3162.  The site is 
accessed from Netherhay Lane which 
runs up its western boundary, with 
agricultural fields beyond.  There are no 
pavements at this point, the lane is not heavily trafficked and is currently part of a local bus 
route.  Public rights of way cross the field, linking south to Chard Road, west to Netherhay 
Lane and north to Axe Lane. 

Heritage, Landscape and Local Features 

5.46 An open, calm landscape character within the Dorset AONB with moderate visibility and 
having views to surrounding hills.  The road hedge which alongside Netherhay Lane has a 
large bank (and on the road side this supports a varied flora) although the hedgerow itself is 
patchy with only small sections with shrubs.  As part of any Biodiversity Mitigation Plan the 
hedge should be replanted with native species to enhance this important ecological and 
landscape feature.  There are several mature trees along this boundary.  There is a small 
section of intact hedge in the south of the site which will need to be assessed under the 
Hedgerow Regulations (1997).  Where hazel is present this can provide suitable habitat for 
the dormouse. 

5.47 There are two Listed buildings visible from the site: Grade II Listed Netherhay Methodist 
church to the north that faces onto the site; and a Grade II Listed c17 Old Netherhay 
Farmhouse that lies to the north-east.  Development in proximity to these buildings could 
harm their setting and would need careful consideration.  The field also separates Drimpton 
and Netherhay and a significant gap should be maintained between the two settlements. 

Flood Risk, Contamination and other matters 

5.48 The area near the Little Axe (outside the proposed site allocation) is prone to water-logging 
and is part of a mapped flood risk area.  The field slopes down towards the Little Axe, so the 
flood risk area does not extend over much of the field – however consideration will be 
needed to avoid increased surface-water run-off impacting on properties down-stream.  
There is no local water mains available, and network reinforcement may be necessary. 

Page 296



 

36 | P a g e  

Policy BGNP15. Site 7a: Land East of Netherhay Lane, adjoining Drimpton 

Land east of Netherhay Lane, adjoining Drimpton, as shown on the Policies Map, is allocated 
for a rural affordable housing exception site, subject to all of the following requirements: 

a) the scheme comprises no more than 15 dwellings, and the exact type and number of 
dwellings provided must meet an identified, current, local need within the 
neighbourhood plan area which cannot otherwise be met, and restrictions are included 
to ensure that these homes are prioritised and remain affordable to local people (with a 
connection to the neighbourhood plan area) in perpetuity;  

b) the scheme is of a character, scale and design appropriate to the location, new buildings 
are designed to complement and reinforce the distinctive local character in line with 
Policy BGNP6, and appropriate landscaping is included to avoid the development being 
prominent in long-distance views and to provide a soft landscaped edge to the 
remaining field; 

c) the layout should be designed to avoid impinging on the protection area of the mature 
trees along the site boundaries, and retain the hedgerow as far as practicable;  

d) any vehicular access onto Netherhay Lane must be provided with a suitable visibility 
splay achieved;   

e) the provision of a drainage strategy to ensure run-off from the site is suitably managed 
to avoid impacting on properties off-site; 

f) the retention and enhancement of the existing hedgerow boundaries and mature trees 
as far as practicable, and the provision of biodiversity mitigation to secure a net 
biodiversity gain (in line with the Dorset Biodiversity Protocol). 

Site 12: Land East of Manor Farm, Bridport Road, Drimpton: Housing 

Site Description and Access 

5.49 A broadly flat meadow of about 0.5ha, 
with residential to either side, farmland 
to rear, where linear development 
continues along the Bridport Road 
(B3162) heading out of Drimpton 
towards Sandpit.  There are no 
pavements at this point, the road width 
is relatively narrow, and the existing 
field access has poor visibility.  However 
there is potential to create a new access 
and also to provide a safe pedestrian 
route along this stretch of road.    

Heritage, Landscape and Local Features 

5.50 An open, exposed and unusually regular shaped field with a hedgerow boundary to the 
roadside, but just post and wire fence to south.  The site is within the Dorset AONB with 
moderate to high visibility from Blackdown Hill to the south-east and Pilsdon Pen to the 
south, and therefore careful consideration will need to be given to the scale and form of 
dwellings and landscaping along the southern boundary.  No notable heritage assets likely 
to be affected.  The grassland is semi-improved but herbs form a significant percentage of 

Page 297



 

37 | P a g e  

the sward although no Dorset Notable Grassland plant species were recorded.  The 
hedgerow along the frontage is species-rich and qualifies as a priority habitat under the UK 
Biodiversity Action Plan. 

Flood Risk, Contamination and other matters 

5.51 No major risks identified.  However there is anecdotal evidence of localised surface water 
flooding impacting on adjoining land, and therefore run-off from the site should be 
considered in detailed design so as to not exacerbate this.  It is likely that infiltration / 
soakaways will be needed to manage drainage and surface-water run-off given the 
apparent lack of any receiving system to drain into. 

Policy BGNP16. Site 12: Land East of Manor Farm, Bridport Road, Drimpton 

Land East of Manor Farm, Bridport Road, Drimpton, as shown on the Policies Map, is allocated 
for up to 10 dwellings, including affordable housing, subject to all of the following 
requirements: 

a) the provision of affordable housing should comprise 35% of the total dwelling 
floorspace, and the type and size of open market housing should primarily provide two 
and three bedroom homes, starter homes and homes specifically designed for residents 
with more limited mobility, in line with Policy BGNP8;   

b) buildings are designed to complement and reinforce the distinctive local character in 
line with Policy BGNP6; 

c) a landscape scheme is secured to screen the development from long distant views from 
Pilsdon Pen and Blackdown Hill;   

d) the roadside hedge is retained as far as practicable, or a replacement hedge of equal 
value provided, and the provision of biodiversity mitigation to secure a net biodiversity 
gain (in line with the Dorset Biodiversity Protocol); 

e) a new vehicular access onto the B3162 is provided with a suitable visibility splay 
achieved; 

f) vehicular access to the field to the south is retained to enable its continued agricultural 
use; 

g) a safe pedestrian route along the B3162 is provided, potentially to the south side of the 
roadside hedge.  

Site 5: Land at Brent Paddock, Netherhay: 
Housing 

Site Description and Access 

5.52 A small, level paddock between 
residential developments on the 
northern edge of Netherhay hamlet 
where linear development continues 
northwards along the eastern side of 
Axe Lane.  The roadside area allocated 
extends to just over 0.1ha.  There is 
potential to either share the existing 

Page 298



 

38 | P a g e  

vehicular access or create a new access onto this road.  There are no pavements at this 
point, but the lane is not heavily trafficked.    

Heritage, Landscape and Local Features 

5.53 A low-lying site of modest character within the Dorset AONB with limited visibility - mainly 
from hills to north.  Hedgerow boundaries along the roadside and to the north side of the 
site, are on distinct banks and also host occasional mature trees.  There is an active badger 
sett in the roadside hedge, and suitable habitat does exist for nesting birds.  The hedgerows 
may qualify as important and if they are to be affected by the proposed development will 
need to be assessed under the regulations. As well as disturbing the badger sett, the 
creation of a new vehicular access could also impact on the tree root protection area, and 
therefore access to the site may need to rely on sharing the existing access.  The Netherhay 
Methodist chapel to the south is Grade II Listed - however its setting is unlikely to be 
affected given intervening development and provided the building height does not exceed 
the existing house on Brent Paddock. 

Flood Risk, Contamination and other matters 

5.54 No major risks identified.  It is likely that infiltration / soakaways will be needed to manage 
drainage and surface-water run-off. 

Policy BGNP17. Site 5: Land at Brent Paddock, Netherhay 

Land at Brent Paddock, Netherhay, as shown on the Policies Map, is allocated for up to 2 
dwellings, subject to all of the following requirements: 

a) new buildings are limited to the area closest to the road (the allocated area), respect the 
building line (although any residential curtilages may extend further to the rear), do not 
exceed the height of Brent Paddock, and are designed to complement and reinforce the 
distinctive local character in line with Policy BGNP6; 

b) the type and size of housing should be in line with Policy BGNP8; 

c) vehicular access onto Axe Lane should be via the existing access (shared with Brent 
Paddock); 

d) the retention of the existing hedgerow boundaries and mature trees, including sufficient 
clearance from the badger sett to avoid disturbance, and the provision of biodiversity 
mitigation to secure a net biodiversity gain (in line with the Dorset Biodiversity 
Protocol). 

Site 14: Land at Axe Mill, Netherhay: 
Employment 

Site Description and Access 

5.55 A flat agricultural parcel of land 
extending to some 1.75ha, within a rural 
setting but also adjoining the existing 
industrial units at Axe Mill.  The existing 
vehicular access has been previously 
widened to accommodate employment 
uses, but the earlier planning consent 
for a larger industrial estate lapsed.   

Page 299



 

39 | P a g e  

Heritage, Landscape and Local Features 

5.56 Two regular shaped fields within the Dorset AONB with moderate visibility from hills to 
north and east.  Along the southern boundary is a mature hedgerow on a large bank and 
supports a wide variety of woody trees and shrubs, and suitable habitat does exist for 
nesting birds and the dormouse.  The roadside hedges appear less diverse, but due to their 
age all of the hedgerows will need to be assessed under the Hedgerow Regulations Act 
(1997). No notable heritage assets likely to be affected. 

Flood Risk, Contamination and other matters 

5.57 No major risks identified.  It is likely that infiltration / soakaways will be needed to manage 
drainage and surface-water run-off given the apparent lack of any receiving system to drain 
into. 

Policy BGNP18. Site 14: Land at Axe Mill, Netherhay 

Land Land at Axe Mill, Netherhay, as shown on the Policies Map, is allocated for employment, 
subject to all of the following requirements: 

a) the employment use is B1 (light industrial), B2 (general industrial), B8 (storage and 
distribution) or other similar uses.  Retail uses will not be supported; 

b) applications for development that would generate significant traffic movement will 
need to be accompanied by a transport assessment to demonstrate that the volume of 
traffic likely to be generated can be safely accommodated on the wider highway 
network; 

c) applications for B2 uses that may give rise to pollution will need to demonstrate that 
any necessary mitigation measures are included to avoid adverse impacts on the 
environment; 

d) the hedgerows and trees along the site boundaries are retained as far as practicable and 
any hedgerows or trees that are removed or damaged should be replaced, landscaping 
is provided to screen any outdoor storage or parking areas in long-distant views, and 
biodiversity mitigation is secured to provide a net biodiversity gain (in line with the 
Dorset Biodiversity Protocol); 

e) the scale and massing of any buildings, materials used, takes into account the rural 
setting and desire to minimise the site’s impact on long-distant views; 

f) the provision of a traffic impact assessment to identify and secure any appropriate 
mitigation in relation to any significant increase in vehicle movements arising from the 
development. 

Opportunities for growth in the remaining hamlets (Blackdown, Burstock, Childhay, 
Kittwhistle, Littlewindsor and Seaborough) and wider countryside 

Rural conversions 

5.58 The adopted Local Plan allows open market housing to be provided through the re-use of 
existing rural buildings.  This is subject to a number of conditions, including that the existing 
building must be of permanent and substantial construction, and would not need to be 
substantially rebuilt or extended; the proposed form, bulk and design will make a positive 
contribution to the local character; the building was in existence in 2011; and the building 
either: 

Page 300



 

40 | P a g e  

> is used to provide affordable housing, or 

> is used to provide a rural workers’ dwelling where it is essential for a worker to be 
resident on site to oversee the operation of the enterprise, or 

> adjoins a settlement with a defined development boundary at Broadwindsor, or  

> is within or adjoining Drimpton, or 

> will be tied to the wider holding / main property (which in effect restricts its use to 
family, renting privately or as a holiday let) 

5.59 Although in many parts of the country there are now permitted development rights for 
converting farm buildings into new homes, these do not apply within the AONB or where 
the building no longer forms part of a working farm.  The example put forward through the 
call for sites (a barn at Horn Ash within the curtilage of someone’s home) could therefore 
only have come forward if it were not sold off separately from the main house, which 
potentially prohibits perfectly suitable barns from being converted to residential use.  As 
such, the restriction that away from the main settlements, such buildings need to be tied to 
the wider holding, is proposed to be lifted.  The inclusion of a clause used in the permitted 
development rights (that the location should be neither impractical nor undesirable) has 
been adopted to ensure a consistent approach is taken to avoid locations that would be 
particularly detrimental, such as hill-top locations with no road access or utility services, or 
adjacent to unneighbourly uses such as a silage store or general industrial estate. 

5.60 This policy applies across the Neighbourhood Plan area 

Policy BGNP19. Rural Conversions 

The adaptation and re-use of rural buildings for open market housing will be supported, 
provided that all of the following criteria are met: 

a) the existing building must be of permanent and substantial construction, and would not 
need to be substantially rebuilt or extended;  

b) the building was in existence in 2011; 

c) the proposed form, bulk and design will make a positive contribution to the local 
character;  

d) the type and size of housing provided should accord with Policy BGNP8; and 

e) the location is neither impractical nor undesirable. 
 

5.61 The Local Plan also allows the provision of rural worker’s dwellings, where a need is justified 
for that person to be located on site.  There is no need to duplicate that policy in this 
Neighbourhood Plan. 

Page 301



 

41 | P a g e  

6 POLICIES MAP 

Broadwindsor area 

 

  

Page 302



 

42 | P a g e  

Drimpton Area 

 

 

  

Page 303



 

43 | P a g e  

Rural Areas 

 

Page 304



 

44 | P a g e  

APPENDIX 1: LOCAL GREEN SPACES ASSESSMENTS 

# Name Size 
(ha) 

Proximity to 
Settlement 

Attributes Description Vote of 
Support 

02 Bridge Farm 
Green Space 

0.01 Within 
Drimpton 

Recreation, 
Cultural, 
Wildlife 

Small roadside greenspace by 
stream, used for poppy memorial 
and on church processions 

91% 

03 St Mary’s 
Churchyard 

0.09 Within 
Drimpton 

Heritage, 
Wildlife, 
Tranquillity 

A tranquil, secluded churchyard 
forming the setting of the church, a 
place for quiet reflection 

95% 

05 St John’s 
Churchyard 

0.05 Within Sea-
borough 

Heritage, 
Wildlife, 
Tranquillity 

An attractive churchyard forming 
the setting of this historic church, a 
pleasant and tranquil place 

95%* 

07/ 
08 

Axe Riverside - 
Crewkerne Road 
- NE and SW 

1.15 Adjoins 
Drimpton / 
Netherhay 

Landscape, 
Wildlife 

Managed farmland alongside the 
Little Axe River – attractive and 
wildlife-rich river corridor  

92% 

09 Netherhay 
Chapel Burial 
Ground 

0.06 Within 
Netherhay 

Heritage, 
Wildlife, 
Tranquillity 

An attractive churchyard forming 
the setting for Grade 2 listed chapel, 
a tranquil spot to relax and reflect. 

97% 

13 St John the 
Baptist’s 
Churchyard 

0.38 Within 
Broadwind-
sor 

Heritage, 
Wildlife, 
Tranquillity 

An attractive churchyard forming 
the setting of this historic church, a 
place for quiet reflection. 

95% 

14 Bernards’ Place 0.10 Within 
Broadwind-
sor 

Recreation, 
Cultural 

An area adjoining Comrades Hall 
bequeathed to the community, 
used for community events and the 
site of a children’s playground.  

96% 

16 Hursey Playing 
Fields & Sports 
Ground 

0.54 Adjoins 
Hursey 

Recreation Local playing fields and football 
pitch especially popular with village 
children and dogwalkers. 

96% 

17 Land adj Hyrst 
Down,Hursey 

0.03 Within 
Hursey 

Wildlife, 
Tranquillity 

An attractive, quiet area of land 
adjacent to Hyrst Down renowned 
for its wild flower meadow. 

91% 

18 St Andrew’s 
Churchyard 

0.10 Adjoins 
Burstock 

Heritage, 
Wildlife, 
Tranquillity 

An attractive churchyard forming 
the setting of this historic church, a 
pleasant and tranquil place 

92% 

19 Hursey Common 1.81 Adjoins 
Hursey 

Recreation, 
Wildlife, 
Cultural 

Common Land designated by 
Dorset Wildlife Trust as a wildlife 
site, it is valued by villagers as a 
pleasant place to walk. 

94% 

22 Holy Trinity 
Churchyard 

0.15 Within 
Blackdown 

Heritage, 
Wildlife, 
Tranquillity 

An attractive churchyard forming 
the setting of this rebuilt church, a 
pleasant and tranquil place 

95%* 

* Not included in options consultation – based on support for similar churchyards 

Page 305



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	5 Forward Plan
	6 Revenues and Benefits Policies and Schemes
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	Appendix C
	Appendix D
	Appendix E

	7 Equitable Contributions - Day Care & Transport
	Appendix

	8 Dorset Council Local Plan and Local Development Scheme
	Appendix 1

	9 Adoption of Bournemouth, Christchurch,  Poole and Dorset Waste Plan
	Appendix

	10 Making of Bere Regis Neighbourhood Plan
	Appendix-2
	Appendix-3
	Appendix-4

	11 Milborne St Andrew Neighbourhood Plan 2018 to 2033 - Independent Examiner's Report and progress to Referendum
	Appendix A
	Appendix B

	12 Broadwindsor Neighbourhood Plan - Independent Examiners Report
	Appendix A
	Appendix B




